# Cardiovascular health in pregnant women and their children

The Generation R Study

### **Romy Gaillard**

### Acknowledgements

The general design of the Generation R Study is made possible by financial support from the Erasmus Medical Center, Rotterdam, the Erasmus University Rotterdam, the Netherlands Organization for Health Research and Development (ZonMw), the Netherlands Organisation for Scientific Research (NWO), the Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport and the Ministry of Youth and Families. Research leading to the results described in this thesis has received funding from the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007-2013), project EarlyNutrition under grant agreement n°289346.

The work presented in this thesis was conducted in the Generation R Study Group, in close collaboration with the Departments of Epidemiology, Pediatrics and Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Erasmus Medical Center, Rotterdam, the Netherlands.

Publication of this thesis was kindly supported by the Department of Epidemiology, the Generation R Study Group and the Erasmus University Rotterdam. Financial support by the Dutch Heart Foundation for the publication of this thesis is gratefully acknowledged. Additional financial support was kindly provided by Danone Nutricia Research, AbbVie B.V., ChipSoft B.V. and Pfizer B.V.

ISBN: 978 90 5291 113 7 Cover illustrations: Geertje Grom Thesis layout & printing: Datawyse | Universitaire Pers Maastricht

© 2014 Romy Gaillard, Rotterdam, the Netherlands

For all articles published or accepted the copyright has been transferred to the respective publisher. No part of this thesis may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means without prior permission of the author or when appropriate, of the publisher of the manuscript.

# Cardiovascular health in pregnant women and their children The Generation R Study

Cardiovasculaire gezondheid bij zwangere vrouwen en hun kinderen Het Generation R Onderzoek

#### Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van de graad van doctor aan de Erasmus Universiteit Rotterdam op gezag van de rector magnificus

Prof. dr. H.A.P. Pols

en volgens besluit van het College voor Promoties. De openbare verdediging zal plaatsvinden op 25 juni 2014 om 15.30 uur

door

Romy Gaillard

geboren te Schiedam

IVERSITEIT ROTTERDAM

### Promotiecommissie

Promotoren:	Prof. dr. V.W.V. Jaddoe
	Prof. dr. E.A.P. Steegers
Overige leden:	Prof. dr. A. Hofman
	Prof. dr. I.K.M. Reiss
	Prof. M.A. Williams

Paranimfen: Selma H. Bouthoorn Elisabeth T.M. Leermakers

### Contents

Chapter 1	General introduction	9
Chapter 2	Maternal influences	21
2.1	Blood pressure tracking and the risks of gestational hypertensive disorders	23
2.2	Maternal parity and hemodynamic adaptations during pregnancy	41
2.3	Maternal parity, early growth and childhood cardiovascular risk factors	59
2.4	Maternal obesity, excessive gestational weight gain and the risks of pregnancy complications	81
2.5	Maternal obesity and gestational hypertensive disorders	101
2.6	Childhood cardiovascular outcomes of maternal obesity	115
2.7	Maternal weight gain in different trimesters and childhood cardiovascular risk factors	135
Chapter 3	Placental and fetal influences	161
3.1	Placental haemodynamics and the risks of pregnancy complications	163
3.2	Placental vascular dysfunction, early growth and childhood cardiovascular risk factors	183
3.3	Tracking of fetal growth characteristics and adverse birth outcomes	207
3.4	First trimester fetal growth and cardiovascular risk factors in childhood	239
Chapter 4	General discussion	267
Chapter 5	Summary Samenvatting	293 299
Chapter 6	Authors' affiliations	307
	Publication list	308
	About the author	310
	PhD portfolio	311
	Dankwoord	315

### Manuscripts based on this thesis

#### Chapter 2.1

**Gaillard R**, Bakker R, Willemsen SP, Hofman A, Steegers EA, Jaddoe VW. Blood pressure tracking during pregnancy and the risk of gestational hypertensive disorders: The Generation R Study. *Eur Heart J.* 2011;32(24):3088-97

#### Chapter 2.2

Rurangirwa AA, **Gaillard R**, Steegers EA, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Hemodynamic adaptations in different trimesters among nulliparous and multiparous pregnant women; The Generation R Study. *Am J Hypertens*. 2012;25(8):892-9

#### Chapter 2.3

**Gaillard R**, Rurangirwa AA, Williams MA, Hofman A, Mackenbach JP, Franco OH, Steegers EA, Jaddoe VW. Associations of maternal parity with fetal and childhood growth, and cardiometabolic risk factors in childhood. The Generation R Study. *Hypertension. In press* 

#### Chapter 2.4

**Gaillard R**, Durmuş B, Hofman A, Mackenbach JP, Steegers EA, Jaddoe VW. Risk factors and outcomes of maternal obesity and excessive weight gain during pregnancy. *Obesity.* 2013;21(5):1046-55

#### Chapter 2.5

**Gaillard R**, Steegers EA, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Associations of maternal obesity with blood pressure and the risks of gestational hypertensive disorders. The Generation R Study. *J Hypertens. 2011;29(5):937-44* 

#### Chapter 2.6

**Gaillard R**, Steegers EA, Duijts L, Felix JF, Hofman A, Franco OH, Jaddoe VW. Childhood cardiometabolic outcomes of maternal obesity during pregnancy: The Generation R Study. *Hypertension. 2014:63(4):683-91* 

#### Chapter 2.7

**Gaillard R**, Steegers EA, Hofman A, Franco OH, Jaddoe VW. Maternal weight gain in different periods of pregnancy and childhood cardio-metabolic outcomes. The Generation R Study. *Submitted* 

#### Chapter 3.1

**Gaillard R**, Arends LR, Steegers EA, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Second- and third-trimester placental haemodynamics and the risks of pregnancy complications: The Generation R Study. *Am J Epidemiol. 2013;177(8):743-54* 

#### Chapter 3.2

**Gaillard R**, Steegers EA, Tiemeier H, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Placental vascular dysfunction, fetal and childhood growth and cardiovascular development: The Generation R Study. *Circulation. 2013;128(20):2202-10* 

#### Chapter 3.3

**Gaillard R**, Steegers EA, De Jongste JC, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Tracking of fetal growth characteristics during different trimesters and the risks of adverse birth outcomes. *Int J Epidemiol. 2014. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyu036* 

#### Chapter 3.4

Jaddoe VW, De Jonge LL, Hofman A, Franco OH, Steegers EA, **Gaillard R**. First-trimester fetal growth restriction and cardiovascular risk factors in childhood. *BMJ. 2014;348:g14* 

# Chapter 1

# **General introduction**



#### General introduction

#### Introduction

Cardiovascular disease is a major public health problem in the general adult population.<sup>1</sup> Cardiovascular disease leads to over 17.3 million deaths per year and is the leading cause of death and disability worldwide.<sup>1</sup> In the Netherlands, cardiovascular disease accounts for approximately 30% of current mortality rates among men and women.<sup>2</sup> Because of the clinical impact that cardiovascular and metabolic diseases have at older ages, research into related risk factors has mostly been focused on adults. However, in the last decades, an accumulating body of evidence suggested that cardiovascular health in younger age groups also has major long-term public health implications.

First, cardiovascular health status of women of reproductive age may complicate pregnancy. Obesity and insulin resistance are associated with increased risks of infertility in women.<sup>3</sup> During pregnancy, important adaptions occur in the maternal circulation and metabolism to meet the increased metabolic demands of the mother and fetus. Cardiovascular adaptations include an initial fall in systemic vascular tone, an increase in cardiac output and an expansion of plasma volume, which subsequently leads to gradual lowering of the systolic and diastolic blood pressure until mid-pregnancy and a rise from mid-pregnancy to delivery. Pregnancy also leads to adaptions in maternal glucose homeostasis and higher maternal cholesterol levels. Normally, these adaptations result in a better placental perfusion and nutrient supply to the fetus. However, suboptimal adaptations, which might occur due to adverse maternal cardiovascular health status, may lead to increased risks of pregnancy complications.<sup>4</sup> Suboptimal hemodynamic adaptions may lead to gestational hypertensive disorders, whereas suboptimal glucose metabolism adaptations may lead to gestational diabetes. Maternal obesity, hypertension and diabetes during pregnancy are associated with increased risks of maternal and perinatal mortality and morbidity.<sup>5-7</sup> Also, women who suffered from pregnancy complications have higher risks of cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes many decades after their pregnancy.<sup>8-10</sup>

Second, maternal cardiovascular health during pregnancy may have long-term offspring consequences. Maternal gestational hypertensive disorders are associated with increased risks of delivering preterm and small size for gestational age infants<sup>6</sup>, whereas gestational diabetes leads to higher risks of delivering large size for gestational age infants and neonatal hypoglycemia.<sup>11</sup> Studies have demonstrated that these associations are not only present in the extremes of maternal disease status, but also across the full range of maternal cardiovascular health status.<sup>12,13</sup> Large-scale epidemiological studies have also shown that children born with a low birth weight have higher risks of cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes in adulthood.<sup>14-18</sup> Based on these findings, it has been hypothesized that adverse exposures, acting at different stages of fetal and early postnatal development, lead to permanent adaptations in the structure, physiology and function of various organ systems. This early programming contributes to shortterm survival, but increases the susceptibility of cardiovascular and metabolic diseases in later life.<sup>19</sup> This hypothesis is not only supported by these observational studies showing that both low and high birth weight are associated with the risk of obesity, cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes in adulthood, but also by various mechanistic animal studies.<sup>19,20</sup> Thus, previous research suggests that both restricted and excessive nutritional in utero environments may lead to cardiovascular disease in later life.

In summary, cardiovascular health and disease in pregnant women and their children is important for clinically relevant, adverse short-term and long-term health outcomes. Identifying factors influencing cardiovascular health in pregnant women and their children, may help to develop future preventive strategies that improve cardiovascular health throughout the life course and in future generations. Therefore, studies presented in this thesis were designed to identify maternal, placental and fetal factors and critical developmental periods during pregnancy associated with cardiovascular health outcomes in mothers and children (**Figure 1.1**).





#### Maternal factors and critical periods during pregnancy

Various maternal socio-demographic and lifestyle related characteristics have been associated with adverse maternal and fetal pregnancy outcomes. These factors include, among others, maternal educational level, dietary factors and smoking during pregnancy. Not much is known about the role of maternal physical factors at the start of pregnancy. Therefore, the studies presented in this thesis are focused on the associations of maternal parity and weight throughout pregnancy with maternal and childhood cardio-

vascular development. We also studied the role of placental hemodynamic function and fetal growth in relation to pregnancy complications and childhood outcomes.

#### Maternal parity

Maternal nulliparity is an important risk factor for maternal pregnancy complications, such as pre-eclampsia.<sup>21</sup> Also, it is well-known that children from nulliparous mothers are smaller than children from multiparous mothers.<sup>22</sup> It has been suggested that the difference in birth weight between firstborn and second-born children is approximately 200 grams, which is of similar magnitude as the influence of maternal smoking during pregnancy on birth weight. Among multiparous mothers only, there is a much smaller increase in birth weight with each following pregnancy.<sup>22</sup> The mechanisms underlying these associations are largely unknown, but may involve permanent adaptations in the maternal vasculature following pregnancy, which leads to a more favorable environment for both placental development and fetal nutrition in consecutive pregnancies.<sup>23</sup> The long-term consequences of maternal nulliparity for cardiovascular health of off-spring remain unclear. As in Western countries, there is a high percentage of one-child families, maternal nulliparity may be an important risk factor for maternal and fetal pregnancy complications and adverse cardiovascular health outcomes in the offspring.<sup>24</sup>

#### Maternal prepregnancy body mass index and gestational weight gain

Overweight and obesity, defined as a body mass index (BMI)  $\geq 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$  and BMI  $\geq 30$ kg/m<sup>2</sup>, respectively, are common in both Western and non-Western countries.<sup>25</sup> Worldwide, the prevalence of overweight and obesity has nearly doubled in the last 20 years.<sup>25</sup> The strong increase in overweight and obesity prevalences is also present among women of reproductive age and children.<sup>26</sup> Maternal prepregnancy obesity is an important risk factor for maternal and fetal pregnancy complications and for childhood obesity.<sup>27,28</sup> It has been suggested that a maternal obesogenic environment during pregnancy leads to higher maternal plasma concentrations of glucose, amino acids and free fatty acids with increased placental transfer of nutrients during fetal development. This might cause permanent changes in appetite, energy metabolism and neuroendocrine function of offspring, predisposing an individual to a greater risk of obesity and cardiovascular disease in later life.<sup>29</sup> In line with this hypothesis, both epidemiological studies and animals studies have shown that maternal gestational diabetes and prepregnancy obesity are associated with higher fetal growth rates and higher birth weight, and increased risks of obesity in the offspring.<sup>29</sup> However, it remains unclear whether these associations are also present across the whole range of maternal prepregnancy body mass index. Next to maternal obesity at the start of pregnancy, weight gain during pregnancy may also affect maternal and childhood outcomes.<sup>30-33</sup> Gestational weight gain is a complex trait, which reflects multiple components including maternal nutritional status, tissue expansion due to fat storage and fluid expansion, and growth of fetus, placenta and uterus.<sup>30</sup> Not much is known about the effects of gestational weight

gain, independent of maternal prepregnancy body mass index, or about critical periods of gestational weight gain on maternal and childhood outcomes. As both maternal prepregnancy body mass index as well as gestational weight gain may be important modifiable factors for improving maternal health and health of offspring, obtaining a better understanding of these associations and their underlying mechanisms is of importance for preventive strategies.

#### Placental vascular function

The placenta forms the active interface between the maternal and fetal blood circulations and regulates both maternal physiological changes during pregnancy as well fetal nutrient supply and fetal development. To meet the increasing demands of the rapidly developing fetus, changes in the placental vasculature occur during pregnancy. Maternal blood enters the intervillious space in the placenta through the spiral arteries, which descend from the uterine arteries. Normally, during early pregnancy, the spiral arteries are remodeled due to trophoblastic invasion, which changes the spiral arteries from narrow muscular vessels into wide non-muscular arteries. Together with other maternal hemodynamic adaptations, this leads to the development of a high-flow and lowresistance circulation. On the fetal side, blood enters the placenta through the umbilical arteries, which form a capillary network in the terminal villi of the villous tree, which floats freely in the maternal blood in the intervillous space. The fetal villous and capillary surface areas increase during pregnancy to allow sufficient blood flow for the developing fetus. Impaired placentation leading to abnormal placental perfusion and placental damage may be a key factor in the development of pre-eclampsia and intrauterine fetal growth restriction.<sup>6,34</sup> Suboptimal placental growth and function may also persistently influence growth and cardiovascular function in later life.<sup>35</sup> Previous studies among adults suggested associations of both low and high placental weight with adverse cardiovascular outcomes in later life, but results are not consistent.<sup>36</sup> Placental weight is only a crude measure of placental growth and more detailed measures of placental function, assessed during pregnancy, might give further insight in long-term consequences of placental dysfunction.

#### Fetal and early childhood growth

Low and high birth weight are associated with cardiovascular disease in adulthood.<sup>14-18</sup> Birth weight is unlikely to be a causal factor per se leading to cardiovascular disease in later life. Birth weight is merely an end-point of different fetal exposures and growth patterns, and the starting point of childhood growth. Longitudinal studies showed that the risk of cardiovascular disease is highest among adults who were born with a low birth weight and had a high postnatal weight gain.<sup>37,38</sup> Thus, these studies suggest that there may be critical periods of growth in fetal and early postnatal life that influence the development of cardiovascular disease in later life. From a biological and preventive

perspective, it is of great importance to identify these specific critical periods for fetal and childhood growth.

#### General aim of this thesis

The general aim of this thesis was to identify maternal, placental and fetal factors leading to adverse cardiovascular outcomes in pregnant women and their children.

#### General design

The studies presented in this thesis were embedded in the Generation R Study, a population based prospective cohort study from fetal life until young adulthood in Rotterdam, The Netherlands.<sup>39</sup> The Generation R Study is designed to identify early environmental and genetic determinants of growth, development and health in fetal life and childhood. All pregnant women living in the study area with a delivery date between April 2002 and January 2006 were eligible for enrolment in this study. Enrolment was aimed at early pregnancy, but was possible until the birth of the child. In total, 9778 mothers were enrolled in the study, of whom 8880 (91%) were included during pregnancy (Figure 1.2). Assessments were planned in early pregnancy (<18 weeks of gestation), mid-pregnancy (18 - 25 weeks of gestation) and late pregnancy ( $\geq$ 25 weeks of gestation), and included parental physical examinations, maternal blood and urine collection, fetal ultrasound examinations, and self-administered questionnaires. In the preschool period, from birth to 4 years of age, data collection was performed in all children by questionnaires and visits to the routine child health care centers. All children were invited to a dedicated research center in the Erasmus MC – Sophia Children's Hospital to participate in detailed body composition and cardiovascular follow-up measurements at the age of 6 years. Measurements during this visit included anthropometrics, body composition, cardiovascular development and body fluid specimen collection.



#### Outline of this thesis

The objectives are addressed in several studies presented in this thesis. In **Chapter 2**, studies on maternal influences on maternal and childhood outcomes are described. In **Chapter 2.1**, we examined whether maternal blood pressure tracks during pregnancy, and whether this tracking is influenced by maternal characteristics and associated with the risk of gestational hypertensive disorders. The influence of maternal parity on maternal pregnancy-related hemodynamic adaptations, placental vascular function and pregnancy complications, and childhood cardiovascular development is described in **Chapter 2.2** and **Chapter 2.3**, respectively. We studied the associations of maternal pregrancy body mass index and weight gain during pregnancy complications, and childhood cardiovascular development.

In **Chapter 3**, we present studies focused on the associations of placental hemodynamic function and fetal growth with maternal and childhood outcomes. The influence of placental hemodynamic function on maternal and fetal pregnancy complications and cardiovascular development in childhood is studied in **Chapter 3.1** and **Chapter 3.2**, respectively. In **Chapter 3.3**, we examined whether fetal growth characteristics track during pregnancy and are associated with the risk of adverse birth outcomes. **Chapter 3.4** describes the association of first trimester fetal growth restriction with cardiovascular development in childhood.

Finally, **Chapter 4** provides a general discussion in which the studies described in this thesis are described in broader context, and implications and suggestions for future research are discussed.

#### References

- 1. Mendis S, Puska P, Norrving B. Global atlas on cardiovascular disease prevention and control. World Health Organization, 2011.
- 2. http://www.ehnheart.org/cvd-statistics.html.
- 3. Pantasri T, Norman RJ. The effects of being overweight and obese on female reproduction: A review. Gynecological endocrinology: the official journal of the International Society of Gynecological Endocrinology. 2014;30(2):90-4.
- Magnussen EB, Vatten LJ, Lund-Nilsen TI, Salvesen KA, Davey Smith G, Romundstad PR. Prepregnancy cardiovascular risk factors as predictors of pre-eclampsia: Population based cohort study. BMJ. 2007;335:978.
- Poston L, Harthoorn LF, Van Der Beek EM, Contributors to the IEW. Obesity in pregnancy: Implications for the mother and lifelong health of the child. A consensus statement. Pediatr Res. 2011;69:175-180.
- 6. Steegers EA, von Dadelszen P, Duvekot JJ, Pijnenborg R. Pre-eclampsia. Lancet. 2010;376:631-644.
- Casey BM, Lucas MJ, McIntire DD, Leveno KJ. Pregnancy outcomes in women with gestational diabetes compared with the general obstetric population. Obstetrics and gynecology. 1997;90:869-873.
- Bellamy L, Casas JP, Hingorani AD, Williams DJ. Pre-eclampsia and risk of cardiovascular disease and cancer in later life: Systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2007;335:974.
- 9. Mannisto T, Mendola P, Vaarasmaki M, Jarvelin MR, Hartikainen AL, Pouta A, Suvanto E. Elevated blood pressure in pregnancy and subsequent chronic disease risk. Circulation. 2013;127:681-690.
- 10. National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases. National diabetes statistics fact sheet: general information and national estimates on diabetes in the United States B, MD: US Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, 2005.
- Catalano PM, McIntyre HD, Cruickshank JK, McCance DR, Dyer AR, Metzger BE, Lowe LP, Trimble ER, Coustan DR, Hadden DR, Persson B, Hod M, Oats JJ, Group HSCR. The hyperglycemia and adverse pregnancy outcome study: Associations of gdm and obesity with pregnancy outcomes. Diabetes care. 2012;35:780-786.

- 12. Bakker R, Steegers EA, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Blood pressure in different gestational trimesters, fetal growth, and the risk of adverse birth outcomes: The generation r study. Am J Epidemiol. 2011;174:797-806.
- Group HSCR, Metzger BE, Lowe LP, Dyer AR, Trimble ER, Chaovarindr U, Coustan DR, Hadden DR, McCance DR, Hod M, McIntyre HD, Oats JJ, Persson B, Rogers MS, Sacks DA. Hyperglycemia and adverse pregnancy outcomes. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:1991-2002.
- 14. Barker DJ, Osmond C. Infant mortality, childhood nutrition, and ischaemic heart disease in england and wales. Lancet. 1986;1:1077-1081.
- Barker DJ, Winter PD, Osmond C, Margetts B, Simmonds SJ. Weight in infancy and death from ischaemic heart disease. Lancet. 1989;2:577-580.
- Whincup PH, Kaye SJ, Owen CG, Huxley R, Cook DG, Anazawa S, et al.. Birth weight and risk of type 2 diabetes: A systematic review. JAMA: the journal of the American Medical Association. 2008;300:2886-2897.
- 17. Curhan GC, Willett WC, Rimm EB, Spiegelman D, Ascherio AL, Stampfer MJ. Birth weight and adult hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and obesity in us men. Circulation. 1996;94:3246-3250.
- Curhan GC, Chertow GM, Willett WC, Spiegelman D, Colditz GA, Manson JE, Speizer FE, Stampfer MJ. Birth weight and adult hypertension and obesity in women. Circulation. 1996;94:1310-1315.
- Gluckman PD, Hanson MA, Cooper C, Thornburg KL. Effect of in utero and early-life conditions on adult health and disease. N Engl J Med. 2008;359:61-73.
- 20. Dabelea D, Crume T. Maternal environment and the transgenerational cycle of obesity and diabetes. Diabetes. 2011;60:1849-1855.
- Duckitt K, Harrington D. Risk factors for pre-eclampsia at antenatal booking: Systematic review of controlled studies. BMJ. 2005;330:565.
- 22. Hinkle SN, Albert PS, Mendola P, Sjaarda LA, Yeung E, Boghossian NS, Laughon SK. The association between parity and birthweight in a longitudinal consecutive pregnancy cohort. Paediatric and perinatal epidemiology. 2014;28(2):106-15.
- 23. Khong TY, Adema ED, Erwich JJ. On an anatomical basis for the increase in birth weight in second and subsequent born children. Placenta. 2003;24:348-353.
- 24. Gluckman PD, Hanson MA. Maternal constraint of fetal growth and its consequences. Seminars in fetal & neonatal medicine. 2004;9:419-425.
- 25. Consultation, W. H. O. "Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic." World Health Organization technical report series 894 (2000).
- Black RE, Victora CG, Walker SP, Bhutta ZA, Christian P, de Onis M, Ezzati M, Grantham-McGregor S, Katz J, Martorell R, Uauy R, Maternal, Child Nutrition Study G. Maternal and child undernutrition and overweight in low-income and middleincome countries. Lancet. 2013;382:427-451.
- 27. Wolfe H. High prepregnancy body-mass index--a maternal-fetal risk factor. N Engl J Med. 1998;338:191-192.
- Yu Z, Han S, Zhu J, Sun X, Ji C, Guo X. Pre-pregnancy body mass index in relation to infant birth weight and offspring overweight/obesity: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2013;8:e61627.
- Drake AJ, Reynolds RM. Impact of maternal obesity on offspring obesity and cardiometabolic disease risk. Reproduction. 2010;140:387-398.
- Institute of Medicine (US) and National Research Council (US) Committee to Reexamine IOM Pregnancy Weight Guidelines; Rasmussen KM, Yaktine AL, editors. Weight Gain During Pregnancy: Reexamining the Guidelines. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2009.
- 31. Poston L. Gestational weight gain: Influences on the long-term health of the child. Current opinion in clinical nutrition and metabolic care. 2012;15:252-257.
- 32. Hochner H, Friedlander Y, Calderon-Margalit R, Meiner V, Sagy Y, Avgil-Tsadok M, Burger A, Savitsky B, Siscovick DS, Manor O. Associations of maternal prepregnancy body mass index and gestational weight gain with adult offspring cardiometabolic risk factors: The jerusalem perinatal family follow-up study. Circulation. 2012;125:1381-1389.
- Fraser A, Tilling K, Macdonald-Wallis C, Sattar N, Brion MJ, Benfield L, Ness A, Deanfield J, Hingorani A, Nelson SM, Smith GD, Lawlor DA. Association of maternal weight gain in pregnancy with offspring obesity and metabolic and vascular traits in childhood. Circulation. 2010;121:2557-2564.
- 34. Baschat AA, Hecher K. Fetal growth restriction due to placental disease. Semin Perinatol. 2004;28:67-80.
- 35. Jansson T, Powell TL. Role of the placenta in fetal programming: Underlying mechanisms and potential interventional approaches. Clinical science. 2007;113:1-13.
- 36. Godfrey KM. The role of the placenta in fetal programming-a review. Placenta. 2002;23 Suppl A:S20-27.
- Barker DJ, Osmond C, Forsen TJ, Kajantie E, Eriksson JG. Trajectories of growth among children who have coronary events as adults. N Engl J Med. 2005;353:1802-1809.
- Bhargava SK, Sachdev HS, Fall CH, Osmond C, Lakshmy R, Barker DJ, Biswas SK, Ramji S, Prabhakaran D, Reddy KS. Relation of serial changes in childhood body-mass index to impaired glucose tolerance in young adulthood. N Engl J Med. 2004;350:865-875.
- Jaddoe VW, van Duijn CM, Franco OH, van der Heijden AJ, van lizendoorn MH, de Jongste JC, van der Lugt A, Mackenbach JP, Moll HA, Raat H, Rivadeneira F, Steegers EA, Tiemeier H, Uitterlinden AG, Verhulst FC, Hofman A. The generation r study: Design and cohort update 2012. Eur J Epidemiol. 2012;27:739-756.

# Chapter 2

# Maternal influences



# Chapter 2.1

# Blood pressure tracking and the risks of gestational hypertensive disorders

Romy Gaillard Rachel Bakker Sten P. Willemsen Albert Hofman Eric A.P. Steegers Vincent W.V. Jaddoe

Adapted from Eur Heart J. 2011;32(24):3088-97



#### Abstract

**Aims:** Blood pressure tracking can be used to examine the predictability of future values by early measurements. In a population-based prospective cohort study, among 8482 pregnant women, we examined whether blood pressure in early pregnancy tracks to third trimester and whether this tracking is influenced by maternal characteristics and is associated with the risk of gestational hypertensive disorders.

**Methods and results:** Blood pressure was measured in each trimester of pregnancy. Information about doctor-diagnosed pregnancy-induced hypertension and preeclampsia was obtained from medical records. Correlation coefficients between first and third trimester for systolic and diastolic blood pressure were 0.47 and 0.46, respectively. The Odds Ratio (OR) for staying in the highest tertile from first to third trimester for systolic blood pressure was 3.09 (95% Confidence Interval (CI): 2.73, 3.50) and for diastolic blood pressure 3.28 (95% CI: 2.90, 3.69). Blood pressure tracking coefficients were lower in younger, shorter, and non-European women and in women with higher gestational weight gain. Systolic and diastolic blood pressure changes from second to third trimester, but not from first to second trimester, were positively associated with the risks of pregnancy-induced hypertension and pre-eclampsia.

**Conclusions:** Blood pressure tracks moderately during pregnancy and is influenced by maternal characteristics. Second to third trimester increases in systolic and diastolic blood pressure are associated with an increased risk of gestational hypertensive disorders.

#### Introduction

Gestational hypertensive disorders complicate about 7% of all pregnancies and are associated with increased risks of both maternal and perinatal morbidity and mortality.<sup>1,2</sup> Blood pressure measurement is an important screening test used in obstetric care to detect or predict gestational hypertensive disorders.<sup>2</sup> However, the predictive accuracy of blood pressure measurement in early pregnancy still remains controversial.<sup>3,4</sup> A review among 34 studies showed that in first and second trimester, systolic and diastolic blood pressure predicted pre-eclampsia poorly.<sup>3</sup> This review compiled many studies with major methodological differences. The examined populations varied widely in their a priori risk of pre-eclampsia and blood pressure was measured at very different time-points in pregnancy. Also, many studies used different definitions of gestational hypertensive disorders.<sup>5</sup> Some studies suggested that blood pressure development differs between pregnancies uncomplicated and complicated by gestational hypertensive disorders and that small differences in blood pressure development may already occur in the first half of pregnancy.<sup>4,6</sup>

Tracking is used to describe the longitudinal development of a variable and focuses on the maintenance of one's relative position in a distribution of values over time.<sup>7,8</sup> Tracking can also be used to examine the predictability of future values by early measurements.<sup>7,8</sup> Examining tracking during pregnancy might give further insight in the predictive value of blood pressure measurement early in pregnancy. However, to the best of our knowledge, not much is known about blood pressure tracking during pregnancy.

Therefore, we examined in a population-based prospective cohort study among 8482 pregnant women, whether blood pressure in early pregnancy tracks to third trimester, and whether this tracking is influenced by maternal characteristics and is associated with the risk of gestational hypertensive disorders.

#### Methods

#### Study design

This study was embedded in the Generation R Study, a population-based prospective cohort study from early pregnancy onwards based in Rotterdam, the Netherlands.<sup>9,10</sup> The study has been approved by the Medical Ethical Committee of the Erasmus Medical Center in Rotterdam (MEC 198.782/2001/31). Written consent was obtained from all participating women. Assessments during pregnancy were planned in first, second, and third trimester. The individual timing of these assessments depended on the gestational age at enrolment. In total, 8880 women were enrolled during pregnancy. For the present study, we excluded women without any blood pressure measurement (n = 18). Also, we excluded women with pre-existent hypertension (n = 146) and pregnancies leading to fetal death (n = 72), induced abortion (n = 27), loss to follow-up (n = 45), and

twin pregnancies (n = 90). Thus, the cohort for analysis comprised 8482 pregnant women (Figure 2.1.1).



#### **Blood pressure**

Blood pressure was measured with the validated Omron 907<sup>\*</sup> automated digital oscillometric sphygmanometer (OMRON Healthcare Europe B.V. Hoofddorp, the Netherlands).<sup>11</sup> All participants were seated in upright position with back support, and were asked to relax for 5 minutes. A cuff was placed around the non-dominant upper arm, which was supported at the level of the heart, with the bladder midline over the brachial artery pulsation. In case of an upper arm exceeding 33 cm, a larger cuff (32 - 42 cm) was used. The mean value of 2 blood pressure readings over a 60s interval was documented for each participant. In total, blood pressure was measured in 6379 women in first trimester (median 13.2 weeks of gestation, 95% range 9.8 – 17.6), in 7913 women in second trimester (median 20.4 weeks of gestation, range 18.5 – 23.6), and in 7995 women in third trimester (median 30.2 weeks of gestation, 95% range 28.4 – 32.9). For the analysis, 22.287 blood pressure measurements were available. Three, two, and one

blood pressure measurements were available for 5857, 2091, and 534 women, respectively.

#### Pregnancy-induced hypertension and pre-eclampsia

Information on pregnancy complications was obtained from medical records. Women suspected of pregnancy complications based on these records were crosschecked with the original hospital charts. Details of these procedures have been described elsewhere.  $^{12}$ 

Briefly, the following criteria were used to identify women with pregnancy-induced hypertension: development of systolic blood pressure  $\geq$ 140 mmHg and/or diastolic blood pressure  $\geq$ 90 mmHg after 20 weeks of gestation in previously normotensive women. These criteria plus the presence of proteinuria (defined as two or more dipstick readings of 2+ or greater, one catheter sample reading of 1+ or greater, or a 24 h urine collection containing at least 300 mg of protein) were used to identify women with pre-eclampsia.<sup>13</sup> Information on pregnancy complications was available for 8236 women.

#### Covariates

Gestational age was established by fetal ultrasound examination during the first ultrasound visit.<sup>10</sup> Maternal age was assessed at enrolment. During visits in first, second, and third trimester, maternal anthropometrics were measured at one of the research centers. Height (cm) and weight (kg) were measured without shoes and heavy clothing and body mass index (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) was calculated for each pregnancy period. We defined gestational weight gain as the difference between weight before pregnancy and weight in third trimester. Information on educational level, ethnicity, and parity was obtained at enrolment. Information about smoking, alcohol consumption, and caffeine intake was assessed by questionnaires in each trimester.<sup>10</sup>

#### Statistical analysis

First, we analyzed the longitudinal systolic and diastolic blood pressure patterns in women with uncomplicated pregnancies and women with pregnancies complicated by hypertensive disorders using unbalanced repeated measurement regression models. These models take the correlation between repeated measurements of the same subject into account, and allow for incomplete outcome data.<sup>14</sup> Using fractional polynomials of gestational age, the best-fitting models were constructed. For this analysis, we categorized women in three categories: uncomplicated pregnancy, pregnancy-induced hypertension, and pre-eclampsia. The categories were included in these models as intercept and as an interaction term with gestational age.

To examine whether women maintain their position in the distribution of blood pressure (tracking), we estimated the Pearson's correlation coefficients and categorized systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, and mean arterial pressure in tertiles in first and third trimester. We used logistic regression models to calculate the Odds Ratio (OR) to remain in the same blood pressure tertile from first to third trimester. Next, we examined whether maternal characteristics influence blood pressure tracking. We categorized each maternal characteristic and for each category we estimated Pearson's correlation coefficients and blood pressure tracking coefficients using linear regression models. We further examined the associations of blood pressure change during pregnancy with the risks of pregnancy-induced hypertension and pre-eclampsia using multiple logistic regression models.

These models were adjusted for gestational age at intake, gestational age at each pregnancy period, maternal age, educational level, parity, ethnicity, prepregnancy body mass index, gestational weight gain, smoking habits, alcohol consumption, and caffeine intake. Missing data of the covariates were imputed using multiple imputation. The percentages of missing values within the population for analysis were lower than or equal to 15%, except for prepregnancy body mass index (19.4%) and gestational weight gain (23.1%). The repeated measurement analysis was performed using the Statistical Analysis System version 9.2 (SAS, Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA), including the Proc Mixed module for unbalanced repeated measurements. All other analyses were performed using the Statistical Package of Social Sciences version 17.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). P-values are two-tailed. All presented Confidence Intervals (CIs) are calculated at the 95% level.

#### Results

#### Subject characteristics

**Table 2.1.1** shows that, of all women, 306 women developed pregnancy-induced hypertension and 168 women developed pre-eclampsia. Women who developed pregnancyinduced hypertension and pre-eclampsia were more often nulliparous and had a higher prepregnancy body mass index. From first trimester onwards systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, and mean arterial pressure were higher for women who developed pregnancy-induced hypertension and pre-eclampsia in later pregnancy (**Table 2.1.2**).

	Non-hypertensive	Pregnancy-induced	y-induced	
	complicated pregnancy	hypertension	Pre-eclampsia	
Characteristics	n = 7762	n = 306	n = 168	P-value <sup>3</sup>
Age (yrs)	29.7 (5.3)	30.0 (5.1)	28.8 (5.3)	0.086
Height (cm)	167.1 (7.4)	168.6 (7.2)	165.7 (7.3)	0.001
Weight (kg)	65.5 (12.0)	74.9 (18.4)	68.5 (15.0)	0.001
Prepregnancy body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	23.4 (4.1)	26.3 (6.2)	24.8 (5.3)	0.001
Gestational weight gain (kg)	10.4 (5.0)	11.5 (6.9)	10.6 (6.5)	0.007
Parity (% nulliparous)	53.9	74.5	78.0	0.001
Gestational age at intake (wks) <sup>2</sup>	14.5 (10.4, 28.9)	13.7 (9.5, 24.0)	14.6 (10.3, 24.4)	0.011
Highest completed education (%)				
Primary school	10.6	7.8	12.5	0.016
Secondary school	41.7	48.4	49.4	
Higher education	38.7	39.2	28.0	
Missings	9.1	4.6	10.1	
Ethnicity (%)				
European	52.7	70.3	47.6	0.001
Non-European	39.7	26.8	44.6	
Missings	7.6	2.9	7.7	
Alcohol consumption (%)				
No	42.5	40.5	47.6	0.241
Yes	43.4	48.7	41.1	
Missings	14.1	10.8	11.3	
Smoking habits (%)				
No	63.8	63.7	63.7	0.527
Yes	21.6	25.2	22.6	
Missings	14.5	11.1	13.7	
Caffeine intake (%)				
No	4.3	3.6	4.2	0.797
Yes	87.4	91.2	85.7	
Missings	8.3	5.2	10.1	

**Table 2.1.1.** Subject characteristics by pregnancy health  $(n = 8236)^1$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values are means (standard deviation) or percentages. <sup>2</sup>Median (95% range). <sup>3</sup>Differences in subject characteristics between the groups were evaluated using one-way ANOVA tests for continuous variables and chi-square tests for proportions.

**Table 2.1.2.** Blood pressure levels during pregnancy  $(n = 8236)^1$ 

	Non-hypertensive Pregnancy-induced			
	complicated pregnancy	hypertension	Pre-eclampsia	
Pregnancy period	n = 7762	n = 306	n = 168	P-value <sup>2</sup>
First trimester				
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	114.7 (11.8)	124.1 (12.3)	119.7 (12.4)	0.001
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	67.5 (9.0)	75.7 (10.1)	72.7 (10.2)	0.001
Mean arterial pressure (mmHg)	83.2 (8.9)	91.8 (9.8)	88.3 (9.9)	0.001
Second trimester				
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	115.8 (11.6)	126.2 (12.3)	120.9 (12.9)	0.001
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	66.4 (8.9)	75.9 (9.2)	73.4 (9.4)	0.001
Mean arterial pressure (mmHg)	82.9 (8.8)	92.6 (9.1)	89.2 (9.5)	0.001
Third trimester				
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	117.4 (11.6)	128.8 (12.9)	124.9 (13.1)	0.001
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	68.2 (8.8)	79.1 (9.7)	76.7 (9.4)	0.001
Mean arterial pressure (mmHg)	84.6 (8.6)	95.7 (9.5)	92.8 (9.4)	0.001

<sup>1</sup>Values are means (standard deviation). <sup>2</sup>Differences in blood pressure levels between the groups were evaluated using oneway ANOVA tests.

#### Longitudinally measured blood pressure and gestational hypertensive disorders

**Figure 2.1.2** shows the systolic and diastolic blood pressure development during pregnancy. Systolic blood pressure was higher from first trimester onward in women who developed pregnancy-induced hypertension and pre-eclampsia. The steepest increase in systolic blood pressure was observed in women who developed pre-eclampsia. Diastolic blood pressure showed a mid-pregnancy dip, with an increase thereafter in pregnant women without hypertensive disorders. In women with pregnancies complicated by pregnancy-induced hypertension and pre-eclampsia, a minor dip was observed in early pregnancy. Diastolic blood pressure was the highest throughout pregnancy for women who developed pregnancy-induced hypertension, but the steepest increase in diastolic blood pressure was observed for women who developed pre-eclampsia. The exact regression coefficients for gestational age-independent (intercept) and gestational age-dependent differences (interaction hypertensive complication and gestational age) are given in the **Supplementary Material Table S2.1.1**.







Change in systolic blood pressure in mmHg for women with a pregnancy complicated by pregnancy-induced hypertension and women with a pregnancy complicated by pre-eclampsia compared with women with an uncomplicated pregnancy based on repeated measurement analysis (systolic blood pressure =  $\beta 0 + \beta 1 \times$  hypertensive complication +  $\beta 2 \times$  gestational age +  $\beta 3 \times$  gestational age<sup>-2</sup> +  $\beta 4 \times$  hypertensive complication × gestational age). P-value reflects the significance level of  $\beta 4$ , which reflects the difference in change in blood pressure per week per pregnancy hypertensive complication, when compared with uncomplicated pregnancies. Estimates are given in **Supplementary material Table S2.1.1.** \*P <0.05.



Figure 2.1.2. Blood pressure patterns in uncomplicated and complicated pregnancies (continued)



Change in diastolic blood pressure in mmHg for women with a pregnancy complicated by pregnancy-induced hypertension and women with a pregnancy complicated by pre-eclampsia compared with women with an uncomplicated pregnancy based on repeated measurement analysis (diastolic blood pressure =  $\beta 0 + \beta 1 \times hypertensive$  complication +  $\beta 2 \times gestational age + \beta 3 \times gestational age^{0.5} + \beta 4 \times hypertensive complication \times gestational age). P-value reflects the significance level of <math>\beta 4$ , which reflects the difference in change in blood pressure per week per pregnancy hypertensive complication, when compared with uncomplicated pregnancies. Estimates are given in **Supplementary Material Table S2.1.1**. \*P <0.05.

#### Blood pressure tracking during pregnancy

Correlation coefficients between first and third trimester for systolic and diastolic blood pressure and mean arterial pressure were 0.47, 0.46, and 0.49, respectively. The specific scatterplots are given in **Supplementary Figures S2.1.1–S2.1.3**.

**Table 2.1.3** shows that for systolic blood pressure, about 55% of the women, who started in the highest tertile in first trimester remained in the highest tertile in third trimester, while approximately 29% and 15% were in the middle and lowest tertiles, respectively. Similar patterns were observed for diastolic blood pressure and mean arterial pressure. The ORs for staying in the upper tertile from first to third trimester for systolic blood pressure and diastolic blood pressure were 3.09 (95% CI: 2.73, 3.50) and 3.28 (95% CI: 2.90, 3.69), respectively. A similar trend was observed for tertiles of mean arterial pressure. Blood pressure tracking coefficients were lower in younger, shorter, and non-European women and in women with higher gestational weight gain (**Table 2.1.4**). Corresponding correlation coefficients are given in **Supplementary Table S2.1.2**.

#### CHAPTER 2.1

**Table 2.1.5** shows that systolic and diastolic blood pressure change from first to second trimester was not associated with the risk of pregnancy-induced hypertension. Diastolic blood pressure change from first to second trimester was associated with the risk of pre-eclampsia (OR 1.20 (95% CI: 1.01, 1.44) per standard deviation of blood pressure change. Second to third trimester changes in diastolic blood pressure and mean arterial pressure were associated with the risk of pregnancy-induced hypertension (OR 1.20 (95% CI: 1.06, 1.35) and OR 1.18 (95% CI: 1.04, 1.33) per standard deviation of blood pressure change, respectively). Second to third trimester changes in systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, and mean arterial pressure were associated with the risk of pre-eclampsia (OR 1.22 (95% CI: 1.04, 1.43), OR 1.22 (95% CI: 1.03, 1.43), and OR 1.26 (95% CI: 1.07, 1.48) per standard deviation of blood pressure change, respectively).

	Tertiles third trimeste			
Tertiles first trimester	First	Second	Third	
Systolic blood pressure				n
First	2.73 (2.43, 3.07) **	0.90 (0.80, 1.01)	0.33 (0.28, 0.37) **	2228
	n = 1202 (53.9%)	n = 667 (29.9%)	n = 359 (16.1%)	
Second	0.92 (0.81, 1.03)	1.19 (1.06, 1.34) **	0.94 (0.83, 1.05)	2028
	n = 701 (34.6%)	n = 678 (33.4%)	n = 649 (32.0%)	
Third	0.29 (0.25, 0.34) **	0.92 (0.81, 1.04)	3.09 (2.73, 3.50) **	1797
	n = 284 (15.8%)	n = 524 (29.2%)	n = 989 (55.0%)	
n	2187	1869	1997	6053
Diastolic blood pressure				n
First	3.32 (2.95, 3.72) **	0.80 (0.71, 0.90) **	0.29 (0.25, 0.33) **	2209
	n = 1269 (57.4%)	n = 609 (27.6%)	n = 331 (15.0%)	
Second	0.76 (0.67, 0.85) **	1.42 (1.26, 1.60) **	0.95 (0.84, 1.07)	1865
	n = 626 (33.6%)	n = 658 (35.3%)	n = 581 (31.2%)	
Third	0.32 (0.29, 0.37) **	0.86 (0.76, 0.98) *	3.28 (2.90, 3.69) **	1979
	n = 371 (18.7%)	n = 551 (27.8%)	n = 1057 (53.4%)	
n	2266	1818	1969	6053
Mean arterial pressure				n
First	3.44 (3.06, 3.87) **	0.73 (0.65, 0.81) **	0.27 (0.23, 0.31) **	2095
	n = 1146 (54.7%)	n = 650 (31.0%)	n = 299 (14.3%)	
Second	0.67 (0.60, 0.75) **	1.48 (1.33, 1.66) **	1.01 (0.89, 1.14)	1957
	n = 587 (30.0%)	n = 775 (39.6%)	n = 595 (30.4%)	
Third	0.29 (0.25, 0.34) **	0.89 (0.79, 1.01)	3.40 (2.69, 3.50) **	2001
	n = 302 (15.1%)	n = 595 (29.7%)	n = 1104 (55.2%)	
n	2035	2020	1998	6053

**Table 2.1.3.** Blood pressure tracking from first to third trimester  $(n = 6053)^{1,2}$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values are Odds Ratios (95% CI) (number and percentage of women that remain in the same tertile) to remain in the same tertiles of systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure and mean arterial pressure from first to third trimester. Estimates are from multiple imputed data. <sup>2</sup>Model is adjusted for gestational age at intake, gestational age in each pregnancy period, maternal age, educational level, parity, ethnicity, prepregnancy body mass index, gestational weight gain, smoking habits, alcohol consumption and caffeine intake. \*P-value <0.05. \*\*P-value <0.01.

	Systolic blood pressure		Diastolic blood pressure		Mean arterial pressure	
	Regression coefficient		Regression coefficient		Regression coefficient	
Maternal characteristics	(95% CI)	P-value	(95% CI)	P-value	(95% CI)	P-value
Age (vrs)						
< 25 years $(n = 1801)$	0 43 (0 38 0 49)	<0.001	0 37 (0 31 0 42)	<0.001	0 37 (0 31 0 42)	<0.001
25 years ( $n = 5001$ )	0.43 (0.38, 0.43)	<0.001	0.37 (0.31, 0.42)	<0.001	0.37 (0.31, 0.42)	<0.001
23-33 years ( $n = 1240$ )	0.46 (0.43, 0.30)	<0.001	0.47 (0.43, 0.30)	<0.001	0.47 (0.43, 0.30)	<0.001
> 55 years (11 = 1249)	0.41 (0.54, 0.47)	<0.001	0.47 (0.40, 0.53)	<0.001	0.47 (0.40, 0.53)	<0.001
Height (am)	Interaction P=0.820		Interaction P<0.001		Interaction P=0.027	
$\frac{1}{100} = \frac{1}{100} = \frac{1}$	0 42 (0 20 0 40)	-0.001	0 42 (0 28 0 45)	<0.001	0 44 (0 41 0 48)	<0.001
< 105 CIII (// = 30//)	0.42 (0.39, 0.46)	<0.001	0.42 (0.38, 0.45)	<0.001	0.44 (0.41, 0.48)	<0.001
165 - 1/5  cm (n = 3626)	0.46 (0.42, 0.49)	<0.001	0.47 (0.44, 0.51)	<0.001	0.50 (0.47, 0.53)	<0.001
> 1/5 cm ( <i>n</i> = 1149)	0.44 (0.39, 0.49)	<0.001	0.48 (0.43, 0.53)	<0.001	0.50 (0.45, 0.55)	<0.001
	Interaction P=0.166		Interaction P<0.001		Interaction P=0.001	
Prepregnancy body mass						
$\frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \right)$	0.44 (0.41.0.40)	-0.001	0 42 (0 40 0 40)	<0.001	0 46 (0 42 0 40)	<0.001
Normal $(1 - 4500)$	0.44 (0.41, 0.40)	<0.001	0.45 (0.40, 0.40)	<0.001	0.40 (0.43, 0.49)	<0.001
Overweight $(n = 1298)$	0.45 (0.39, 0.51)	<0.001	0.39 (0.34, 0.45)	<0.001	0.42 (0.37, 0.48)	<0.001
Obesity $(n = 567)$	0.44 (0.35, 0.52)	<0.001	0.48 (0.39, 0.56)	<0.001	0.50 (0.42, 0.58)	<0.001
	Interaction P=0.590		Interaction P=0.715		Interaction P=0.592	
Gestational weight gain						
(kg)			/		/	
< 7  kg (n = 1638)	0.47 (0.42, 0.51)	<0.001	0.48 (0.44, 0.53)	<0.001	0.50 (0.46, 0.54)	<0.001
7-11.9 kg (n = 2877)	0.44 (0.41, 0.48)	<0.001	0.46 (0.42, 0.49)	<0.001	0.48 (0.44, 0.51)	<0.001
> 12 kg (n = 2010)	0.45 (0.40, 0.49)	<0.001	0.43 (0.39, 0.48)	<0.001	0.47 (0.43, 0.51)	<0.001
	Interaction P=0.014		Interaction P<0.001		Interaction P=0.005	
Parity						
Nulliparous ( <i>n = 4666</i> )	0.45 (0.42, 0.48)	<0.001	0.43 (0.40, 0.46)	<0.001	0.46 (0.43, 0.49)	<0.001
Multiparous (n = 3711)	0.46 (0.43, 0.50)	<0.001	0.47 (0.43, 0.50)	<0.001	0.50 (0.46, 0.53)	< 0.001
	Interaction P=0.574		Interaction P=0.099		Interaction P=0.115	
Highest completed						
education						
Primary school (n = 896)	0.43 (0.35, 0.51)	< 0.001	0.43 (0.35, 0.51)	< 0.001	0.47 (0.40, 0.55)	< 0.001
Secondary school						
(n = 3572)	0.48 (0.44, 0.51)	<0.001	0.46 (0.43, 0.50)	< 0.001	0.50 (0.46, 0.53)	< 0.001
Higher education						
(n = 3244)	0.45 (0.43, 0.48)	<0.001	0.45 (0.42, 0.49)	< 0.001	0.48 (0.44, 0.51)	< 0.001
	Interaction P=0.693		Interaction P=0.968		Interaction P=0.615	
Ethnicity						
European ( <i>n = 4508</i> )	0.45 (0.42, 0.48)	< 0.001	0.49 (0.46, 0.52)	< 0.001	0.51 (0.48, 0.54)	< 0.001
Non-European (n = 3335	) 0.43 (0.39, 0.47)	< 0.001	0.39 (0.35, 0.43)	< 0.001	0.43 (0.39, 0.47)	< 0.001
	Interaction P=0.448		Interaction P<0.001		Interaction P=0.001	
Alcohol consumption						
No (n = 3620)	0.46 (0.43, 0.50)	< 0.001	0.46 (0.42, 0.49)	< 0.001	0.49 (0.46, 0.52)	< 0.001
Yes (n = 3676)	0.45 (0.42, 0.49)	< 0.001	0.45 (0.42, 0.48)	< 0.001	0.48 (0.45, 0.51)	< 0.001
	Interaction P=0.433		Interaction P=0.666		Interaction P=0.553	
Smoking habits						
None ( <i>n</i> = 5045)	0.47 (0.44, 0.50)	< 0.001	0.47 (0.44, 0.49)	< 0.001	0.50 (0.47, 0.53)	< 0.001
Yes (n = 1847)	0.42 (0.37, 0.47)	< 0.001	0.42 (0.37, 0.47)	< 0.001	0.45 (0.40, 0.49)	< 0.001
. /	Interaction P=0.072		Interaction P=0.079		Interaction P=0.042	
Caffeine intake						
No (n = 359)	0.49 (0.38, 0.60)	< 0.001	0.54 (0.45, 0.64)	< 0.001	0.55 (0.46, 0.65)	< 0.001
Yes (n = 7404)	0.46 (0.43, 0.48)	< 0.001	0.45 (0.43, 0.47)	< 0.001	0.48 (0.46, 0.50)	< 0.001
. /	Interaction P=0.672		Interaction P=0.550		Interaction P=0.504	

Table 2.1.4. Maternal characteristics and blood pressure tracking coefficients<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Values are regression coefficients (95% CI) from first to third trimester for systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure and mean arterial pressure.

Pregnancy period	Pregnancy-induced hypertension	Pre-eclampsia
First to second trimester		
Systolic blood pressure	1.06 (0.93, 1.20)	1.00 (0.84, 1.20)
Diastolic blood pressure	1.05 (0.92, 1.20)	1.20 (1.01, 1.44) *
Mean arterial pressure	1.06 (0.93, 1.21)	1.14 (0.95, 1.37)
Second to third trimester		
Systolic blood pressure	1.09 (0.97, 1.23)	1.22 (1.04, 1.43) *
Diastolic blood pressure	1.20 (1.06, 1.35) **	1.22 (1.03, 1.43) *
Mean arterial pressure	1.18 (1.04, 1.33) **	1.26 (1.07, 1.48) **
First to third trimester		
Systolic blood pressure	1.15 (1.01, 1.31) *	1.23 (1.02, 1.47) *
Diastolic blood pressure	1.28 (1.12, 1.46) **	1.42 (1.18, 1.70) **
Mean arterial pressure	1.27 (1.11, 1.45) **	1.40 (1.16, 1.67) **

Table 2.1.5. Blood pressure development and the risks of pregnancy-induced hypertension and pre-eclampsia (n = 8236)<sup>1.2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Values are Odds Ratios (95% CI) that reflect the difference in risks of pregnancy-induced hypertension and pre-eclampsia per standard deviation change in blood pressure level between trimesters. Estimates are from multiple imputed data. <sup>2</sup>Model is adjusted for gestational age at intake, gestational age at each pregnancy period, maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, prepregnancy body mass index, gestational weight gain, smoking habits, alcohol consumption and caffeine intake. \*P-value <0.05. \*\*P-value <0.01.

#### Discussion

Results from this prospective cohort study showed that gestational blood pressure development is different from first trimester onwards between non-hypertensive pregnancies and pregnancies complicated by gestational hypertensive disorders. Systolic and diastolic blood pressure and mean arterial pressure track moderately during pregnancy. This tracking is influenced by maternal characteristics. Systolic and diastolic blood pressure changes from second to third trimester are positively associated with the risk of gestational hypertensive disorders.

#### Methodological considerations

Some methodological issues need to be considered. One of the strengths of this study was the prospective data collection from early pregnancy onwards. We had a large sample size of 8482 participants with 22.287 blood pressure measurements. The response rate at baseline for participation in the study was 61%. The non-response would lead to biased effect estimates if the associations would be different between those included and not included in the analyses. However, this seems unlikely because biased estimates in large cohort studies mainly arise from loss to follow-up rather than from non-response at baseline.<sup>15</sup> Detailed information about a large number of potential confounding factors was available in this study. However, because of the observational design, residual confounding due to other socio-demographic and lifestyle related determinants might still be an issue. In addition, information on many covariates in this study was self-reported, which may have resulted in underreporting of certain adverse lifestyle-related determinants. Furthermore, blood pressure has a large within subject-variation and is also liable to measurement error. Measurement error might cause an underestimation of the true tracking correlation of blood pressure.<sup>7</sup> However, when

tracking is used to examine the predictive value of early measurements to identify those at risk, measurement error will not bias the results, because measurement error also occurs in real clinical setting.<sup>7</sup> Finally, we had a relative small number of cases of pregnancy-induced hypertension and pre-eclampsia, which might indicate a selection towards a healthy, low-risk population. It might be of interest to perform a similar analysis in a high risk, hospital-based population.

#### Blood pressure development during pregnancy

Several studies have reported differences in blood pressure development between nonhypertensive-complicated pregnancies and pregnancies complicated by pregnancyinduced hypertension or pre-eclampsia.<sup>5,6</sup> A previous study among 202 primigravid women at high risk for gestational hypertensive disorders observed differences in the circadian variability of systolic and diastolic blood pressure between uncomplicated pregnancies and pregnancies complicated by gestational hypertensive disorders. Pregnancies leading to gestational hypertensive disorders had elevated blood pressure levels in first trimester.<sup>6</sup> In the same study, the known second trimester blood pressure dip was not present in complicated pregnancies, and blood pressure increased strongly in complicated pregnancies, particularly in those complicated by pre-eclampsia. We observed similar differences in the blood pressure patterns using office blood pressure measurements. Although we did not observe an absence of the mid-pregnancy dip in pregnancies complicated by gestational hypertensive disorders, we did observe that the mid-pregnancy dip was smaller and tended to occur earlier in pregnancy. We also observed a larger increase in blood pressure levels from second to third trimester in complicated pregnancies, particularly for pregnancies complicated by pre-eclampsia. Even though these observed differences in blood pressure development are highly statistically significant, it needs to be considered that both systolic blood pressure and diastolic blood pressure were within the physiological range of blood pressure variability. However, these differences might provide clues on how to earlier identify those women at increased risk of gestational hypertensive disorders.

#### Blood pressure tracking

We have previously shown that obese and overweight women already had a higher blood pressure in first trimester, when compared with normal weight women. These differences remained stable throughout pregnancy.<sup>16</sup> Our current study shows that systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, and mean arterial pressure track moderately from first to third trimester. Blood pressure tracking in pregnancy might help to early identify those women that are at high risk to develop gestational hypertensive disorders. Several variables have been identified that might influence or predict tracking in studies among children and adults. It has been shown that length of follow-up is inversely associated with the tracking correlation.<sup>17,18</sup> We observed that the tracking correlation for systolic and diastolic blood pressure was stronger between first and second

trimester and second and third trimester compared with the tracking correlation between first and third trimester. Also, some studies have suggested that blood pressure tracking is different in different ethnic populations.<sup>17,19,20</sup> Accordingly, we observed differences in tracking coefficients for diastolic blood pressure and mean arterial pressure in European women and non-European women. Furthermore, age, overweight, and weight change have been suggested to influence tracking.<sup>17,20,21</sup> A study among men and women showed the tracking correlation for different age categories; for women aged 20 - 24, the tracking correlation for systolic blood pressure was 0.43 and the tracking correlation for diastolic blood pressure was 0.59, while for women aged 35 -39 the tracking correlation was 0.64 and 0.68, respectively.<sup>20</sup> A study among Australian children reported that tracking of blood pressure, especially systolic blood pressure, was influenced by body mass index and change in body mass index.<sup>21</sup> Those individuals in the highest quartile of body mass index and those individuals in the highest quartile of weight gain had higher risks of persistence of high blood pressure levels. Similarly, maternal age, prepregnancy body mass index, and gestational weight gain might influence tracking. We observed that especially tracking of diastolic blood pressure and mean arterial pressure were influenced by maternal characteristics such as in older age and lower gestational weight gain.

Finally, systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, and mean arterial pressure tracked equally. However, diastolic blood pressure and mean arterial pressure were more strongly associated with the risks of pregnancy-induced hypertension and preeclampsia when compared with systolic blood pressure. This might indicate that diastolic blood pressure and mean arterial pressure have a higher predictive accuracy for gestational hypertensive disorders than systolic blood pressure.

#### Conclusion

Blood pressure tracks moderately during pregnancy. Second to third trimester increases in systolic and diastolic blood pressure are associated with the risk of gestational hypertensive disorders. Blood pressure tracking is related to maternal characteristics. Further research is needed focused on factors influencing blood pressure tracking and their associations with gestational hypertensive disorders.

#### References

- Nijdam ME, Janssen KJ, Moons KG, Grobbee DE, van der Post JA, Bots ML, Franx A. Prediction model for hypertension in pregnancy in nulliparous women using information obtained at the first antenatal visit. J Hypertens 2010;28: 119 – 126.
- 2. Steegers EA, von Dadelszen P, Duvekot JJ, Pijnenborg R. Pre-eclampsia. Lancet 2010;376:631 644.
- Cnossen JS, Vollebregt KC, de Vrieze N, ter Riet G, Mol BW, Franx A, Khan KS, van der Post JA. Accuracy of mean arterial pressure and blood pressure measurements in predicting pre-eclampsia: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ 2008; 336:1117 – 1120.
- Hermida RC, Ayala DE, Iglesias M. Predictable blood pressure variability in healthy and complicated pregnancies. Hypertension 2001;38:736 – 741.
- Poon LC, Kametas NA, Valencia C, Chelemen T, Nicolaides KH. Hypertensive disorders in pregnancy: screening by systolic diastolic and mean arterial pressure at 11-13 weeks. Hypertens Pregnancy 2010;30:93 – 107.
- 6. Hermida RC, Ayala DE, Mojon A, Fernandez JR, Alonso I, Silva I, Ucieda R, Iglesias M. Blood pressure patterns in normal pregnancy, gestational hypertension, and pre-eclampsia. Hypertension 2000;36:149 158.
- Hofman A, Valkenburg HA, Maas J, Groustra FN. The natural history of blood pressure in childhood. Int J Epidemiol 1985;14:91 – 96.
- Twisk JWR. Applied Longitudinal Data Analyses for Epidemiology: A Practical Guide. New York: Cambridge University Press; 2003.
- Jaddoe VW, Bakker R, van Duijn CM, van der Heijden AJ, Lindemans J, Mackenbach JP, Moll HA, Steegers EA, Tiemeier H, Uitterlinden AG, Verhulst FC, Hofman A. The Generation R Study Biobank: a resource for epidemiological studies in children and their parents. Eur J Epidemiol 2007;22: 917 – 923.
- Jaddoe VW, van Duijn CM, van der Heijden AJ, Mackenbach JP, Moll HA, Steegers EA, Tiemeier H, Uitterlinden AG, Verhulst FC, Hofman A. The Generation R Study: design and cohort update 2010. Eur J Epidemiol 2010;25:823 – 841.
- 11. El Assaad MA, Topouchian JA, Darne BM, Asmar RG. Validation of the Omron HEM-907 device for blood pressure measurement. Blood Press Monit 2002;7: 237 241.
- 12. Coolman M, de Groot CJ, Jaddoe VW, Hofman A, Raat H, Steegers EA. Medical record validation of maternally reported history of pre-eclampsia. J Clin Epidemiol 2010;63:932 937.
- Brown MA, Lindheimer MD, de Swiet M, Van Assche A, Moutquin JM. The classification and diagnosis of the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: statement from the International Society for the Study of Hypertension in Pregnancy (ISSHP). Hypertens Pregnancy 2001;20:IX – XIV.
- 14. Goldstein H. Multilevel Statistical Methods. 2nd edn. London: Edward Arnold; 1995.
- 15. Nohr EA, Frydenberg M, Henriksen TB, Olsen J. Does low participation in cohort studies induce bias? Epidemiology 2006;17:413 418.
- Gaillard R, Steegers EA, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Associations of maternal obesity with blood pressure and the risks of gestational hypertensive disorders. The Generation R Study. J Hypertens 2011;29:937 – 944.
- Chen X, Wang Y. Tracking of blood pressure from childhood to adulthood: a systematic review and meta-regression analysis. Circulation 2008;117:3171 – 3180.
- Clarke WR, Schrott HG, Leaverton PE, Connor WE, Lauer RM. Tracking of blood lipids and blood pressures in school age children: the Muscatine study. Circulation 1978;58:626 – 634.
- Manatunga AK, Jones JJ, Pratt JH. Longitudinal assessment of blood pressures in black and white children. Hypertension 1993;22:84 – 89.
- Rosner B, Hennekens CH, Kass EH, Miall WE. Age-specific correlation analysis of longitudinal blood pressure data. Am J Epidemiol 1977;106:306 – 313.
- 21. Burke V, Beilin LJ, Dunbar D. Tracking of blood pressure in Australian children. J Hypertens 2001;19:1185 1192.

# Supplementary Material

Supplementary Table S2.1.1. Longitudinal associations between pregnancy hypertensive complications and systolic and diastolic blood pressure  $^1$ 

Hypertensive	Intercept		Slope	
complication	(mmHg)	P-value <sup>2</sup>	(mmHg / week of gestation)	P-value <sup>2</sup>
	Difference in systo	lic blood pressure		
Uncomplicated	110.6	<0.001	Reference	
Pregnancy-induced hypertension	118.9	<0.001	0.10	0.020
Pre-eclampsia	112.3	0.273	0.19	0.002
	Difference in diast	olic blood pressure		
Uncomplicated	97.2	<0.001	Reference	
Pregnancy-induced hypertension	103.8	<0.001	0.14	< 0.001
Pre-eclampsia	99.8	0.031	0.20	<0.001

<sup>1</sup>Values are based on repeated non-linear regression models and reflect the change in blood pressure in mmHg per pregnancy hypertensive complication compared to the reference group of women with an uncomplicated pregnancy. <sup>2</sup>P-value reflects the significance level of the estimate.

			1
Supplementary Table S2.1.2.	Maternal characteristics	and blood pressure	correlation coefficients <sup>1</sup>

	Systolic blood pressure		Diastolic blood pressure		Mean arterial pressure	
Maternal characteristics	Correlation Coefficient	P-value	Correlation Coefficien	t P-value	Correlation Coefficien	t P-value
Age (vrs)						
< 25 years (n = 1801)	0.41	< 0.001	0.36	< 0.001	0.40	< 0.001
25 - 35 years ( $n = 5432$ )	0.49	< 0.001	0.49	<0.001	0.53	<0.001
> 35 years (n = 1249)	0.41	<0.001	0.45	<0.001	0.46	<0.001
	Interaction P=0.820	.0.001	Interaction P<0.001	.0.001	Interaction P=0.027	.0.001
Height (cm)						
< 165 cm (n = 3677)	0.43	< 0.001	0.41	< 0.001	0.45	< 0.001
165 -175 cm ( <i>n</i> = 3626)	0.46	< 0.001	0.48	< 0.001	0.50	< 0.001
> 175 cm ( <i>n</i> = 1149)	0.49	< 0.001	0.51	< 0.001	0.55	< 0.001
· · · ·	Interaction P=0.166		Interaction P<0.001		Interaction P=0.001	
Prepregnancy body mass	5					
index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )						
Normal (n = 4968)	0.44	< 0.001	0.42	< 0.001	0.45	< 0.001
Overweight (n = 1298)	0.45	< 0.001	0.40	< 0.001	0.43	< 0.001
Obesity ( <i>n</i> = 567)	0.46	< 0.001	0.50	< 0.001	0.53	< 0.001
	Interaction P=0.590		Interaction P=0.715		Interaction P=0.592	
Gestational weight gain						
(kg)						
< 7 kg ( <i>n</i> = 1638)	0.51	< 0.001	0.51	< 0.001	0.54	< 0.001
7-11.9 kg ( <i>n = 2877</i> )	0.45	< 0.001	0.46	< 0.001	0.49	< 0.001
> 12 kg (n = 2010)	0.45	< 0.001	0.42	< 0.001	0.47	< 0.001
	Interaction P=0.014		Interaction P<0.001		Interaction P=0.005	
Parity						
Nulliparous (n = 4666)	0.46	< 0.001	0.44	< 0.001	0.48	< 0.001
Multiparous (n = 3711)	0.46	< 0.001	0.47	< 0.001	0.50	< 0.001
	Interaction P=0.574		Interaction P=0.099		Interaction P=0.115	
Highest completed						
education						
Primary school (n = 896)	0.42	< 0.001	0.42	< 0.001	0.46	< 0.001
Secondary school						
(n = 3572)	0.47	< 0.001	0.47	< 0.001	0.49	< 0.001
Higher education						
(n = 3244)	0.48	< 0.001	0.46	< 0.001	0.50	< 0.001
	Interaction P=0.693		Interaction P=0.968		Interaction P=0.615	

	Systolic blood pressure           correlation Coefficient P-value		Diastolic blood pressure Correlation Coefficient P-value		Mean arterial pressure Correlation Coefficient P-value	
Maternal characteristics						
Ethnicity						
European ( <i>n = 4508</i> )	0.47	< 0.001	0.50	< 0.001	0.52	< 0.001
Non-European (n = 3335	)0.42	< 0.001	0.39	< 0.001	0.43	< 0.001
	Interaction P=0.448		Interaction P<0.001		Interaction P=0.001	
Alcohol consumption						
No ( <i>n = 3620</i> )	0.47	< 0.001	0.46	< 0.001	0.50	< 0.001
Yes (n = 3676)	0.46	< 0.001	0.45	< 0.001	0.49	< 0.001
	Interaction P=0.433		Interaction P=0.666		Interaction P=0.553	
Smoking habits						
None ( <i>n = 5045</i> )	0.49	< 0.001	0.47	< 0.001	0.51	< 0.001
Yes (n = 1847)	0.41	< 0.001	0.42	< 0.001	0.44	< 0.001
	Interaction P=0.072		Interaction P=0.079		Interaction P=0.042	
Caffeine intake						
No (n = 359)	0.47	< 0.001	0.58	< 0.001	0.56	< 0.001
Yes (n = 7404)	0.46	< 0.001	0.45	< 0.001	0.49	< 0.001
	Interaction P=0.672		Interaction P=0.550		Interaction P=0.504	

Supplementary Table S2.1.2. Maternal characteristics and blood pressure correlation coefficients<sup>1</sup> (continued)

<sup>1</sup>Values are correlation coefficients from first to third trimester for systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure and mean arterial pressure.

Supplementary Figure S2.1.1. Correlation of blood pressure between first and second trimester



2.1.1a. Systolic blood pressure

2.1.1b. Diastolic blood pressure



2.1.1c. Mean arterial pressure



Supplementary Figure S2.1.2. Correlation of blood pressure between second and third trimester







2.1.2c. Mean arterial pressure

Supplementary Figure S2.1.3. Correlation of blood pressure between first and third trimester



4. μα 4

2.1.3c. Mean arterial pressure

# Chapter 2.2

# Maternal parity and hemodynamic adaptations during pregnancy

Akashi A. Rurangirwa Romy Gaillard Eric A.P. Steegers Albert Hofman Vincent W.V. Jaddoe

Adapted from Am J Hypertens.2012;25(8):892-9



# Abstract

**Background**: It has been suggested that maternal vascular adaptations during pregnancy differ between nulliparous and multiparous women. Therefore, we examined the associations of parity with blood pressure, hemodynamic placental function during pregnancy and the risks of gestational hypertensive disorders.

**Methods**: The study was embedded in a population-based prospective cohort study among 8377 pregnant women. Information about parity and gravidity was obtained at enrollment. Blood pressure was repeatedly measured in each trimester and mean pulsatility and resistance indices of uterine artery were measured in second and third trimesters. Information on gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia was available from medical records.

**Results**: As compared with nulliparous women, multiparous women had a lower systolic and diastolic blood pressure in each trimester of pregnancy and slightly higher second and third trimester uterine artery resistance and pulsatility indices (all P-values <0.05), but a lower risk of third trimester uterine artery notching (Odds Ratio (OR) 0.67 (95% Confidence Interval (CI): 0.53, 0.84)). The risks of gestational hypertension and preeclampsia were lower among multiparous women as compared with nulliparous women (OR 0.32 (95% CI: 0.24, 0.43) and OR 0.24 (95% CI: 0.16, 0.37), respectively). Among multiparous women only, we did not observe associations of parity with hemodynamic parameters.

**Conclusions**: Nulliparous pregnant women have higher blood pressure levels throughout pregnancy and higher risks of notching and gestational hypertensive disorders. The first pregnancy might be a major risk factor for maternal hemodynamic maladaptations and vascular complications. Further studies are needed to explore the underlying mechanisms and consequences for fetal growth and development.

# Introduction

Gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia are common pregnancy complications and are considered to have at least part of their origin in cardiovascular maladaptation in early pregnancy because of suboptimal placentation.<sup>1–3</sup> Previously, we have shown that maternal age, smoking, folic acid supplement use, and maternal caffeine intake influence maternal hemodynamic adaptations during pregnancy.<sup>4–6</sup> During normal pregnancy, physiological cardiovascular adaptations occur to meet demands of the rapidly developing fetus. These cardiovascular adaptations include an initial fall in systemic vascular tone in order to increase the cardiac output and an expanding plasma volume,<sup>2,7,8</sup> which subsequently leads to gradual lowering of the systolic and diastolic blood pressure until mid-pregnancy and rise from mid-pregnancy to delivery.<sup>4,5</sup> Cardiovascular maladaptation during pregnancy may lead to gestational hypertension and preeclampsia in extreme cases, but also to differences in blood pressure and hemodynamic placental function within a normal population.<sup>9</sup> Parity might influence these cardiovascular adaptations during pregnancy.<sup>7,10,11</sup> Blood pressure levels have been found to be higher in nulliparous women than in multiparous women.<sup>7,12</sup> Also, nulliparous women seem to have a higher risk of pre-eclampsia and gestational hypertension as compared with multiparous women,<sup>13–15</sup> but results are not consistent.<sup>16–18</sup> Not much is known about the effect of parity on longitudinal blood pressure development and hemodynamic placental function during pregnancy. It is also not known whether there is an optimum number for previous pregnancies with regard to cardiovascular adaptations during pregnancy.

Therefore, we examined in a population-based prospective cohort study among 8377 pregnant women, the associations of parity with blood pressure and hemodynamic placental function in different trimesters and the risks of gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia.

# Methods

# Design

This study was embedded in the Generation R study, a population-based prospective cohort study from early pregnancy onwards in Rotterdam, The Netherlands.<sup>19,20</sup> The study has been approved by the medical Ethical Committee of Erasmus Medical Center in Rotterdam. Written consent was obtained from all participating women.<sup>21</sup> All pregnant women were enrolled between 2001 and 2005. Response rate at birth was 61%. Enrollment was aimed in first trimester, but allowed until delivery. In total, 8880 women were enrolled during pregnancy. For the present study, we excluded women without information about parity (n = 123). Next, we excluded women without any blood pressure measurement (n = 18). Also, we excluded women with pre-existing hypertension

(n = 145). Since we restricted our analysis to low risk pregnancies, we excluded pregnancies leading to fetal death (n = 70), induced abortion (n = 27), loss to follow-up (n = 30) and twin pregnancies (n = 90). Similar results were found after including fetal deaths in the analyses. Thus, the cohort for analysis comprised 8377 women (**Figure 2.2.1**).



Figure 2.2.1. Flow chart of participants

# Parity and gravidity assessment

Information about parity and gravidity was obtained by questionnaire at enrollment. First, parity was categorized into six categories (0, 1, 2, 3, 4, and  $\geq$ 5). Because of smaller number of cases, the highest three parity categories were combined for assessing the associations of parity with risks of notching, gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia (0, 1, 2, and  $\geq$ 3). Parity and gravidity were highly correlated (r = 0.82; P <0.001). Primary analyses were performed for parity and sensitivity analyses were performed using gravidity instead of parity to examine whether the associations differed between parity and gravidity.

# Blood pressure measurement

Blood pressure was measured in each trimester with an Omron<sup>®</sup> 907 automated digital oscillometric sphygmomanometer, which was validated in adults (OMRON Healthcare Europe B.V., Hoofddorp, The Netherlands).<sup>22</sup> All participants were seated in upright position with back support and were asked to relax for 5 minutes. A cuff was placed around a nondominant upper arm which was supported at the level of the heart, with bladder midline over the brachial artery pulsation. In case of an upper arm exceeding 33 cm, a larger cuff (32 – 42) was used. The mean value of two blood pressure readings over a 60s interval was documented for each participant. For the analysis, 22.065 blood pressure measurements were available. Three, two, and one blood pressure measurements were available for 5816, 2056, and 505 women, respectively.

# Hemodynamic placental function and placental weight measurement

Ultrasound examinations to assess uteroplacental vascular resistance were performed in second trimester (gestational age 20 weeks) and third trimester (gestational age 30 weeks). Uteroplacental vascular resistance was assessed by uterine artery resistance index, uterine artery pulsatility index and presence of third trimester notching in uterine arteries. The right and left uterine arteries were identified at the apparent crossover with external iliac arteries on color Doppler and pulsed wave Doppler was used to obtain the waveforms. The high-pass filter was set at 100 Hz and the transducer was placed in the lower lateral quadrant of the abdomen angled medially. The insonation angle was kept as close to 0° as possible and always below 20°. Only wave-forms with clear outline were accepted. For each measurement, three consecutive uniform waveforms were recorded by pulsed Doppler ultrasound during fetal apnea and without fetal movements. The mean of three measurements was used for further analyses. Raised uterine artery resistance indices indicate increased placental resistance.<sup>23</sup> A notch, which reflects an abnormal waveform resulting from increased blood flow resistance in uterine artery, was considered to be present when there was a clearly defined upturn of the flow velocity waveform at the beginning of diastole, which was present in all three waveforms, on both occasions when each uterine artery was sampled.<sup>24</sup> Medical records completed by midwives and obstetricians were used to obtain information about placental weight (g). Placental function was measured in one of the two research centers in n = 4467 and n = 4370 women for uterine artery resistance index and in n = 3703and n = 3698 women for uterine artery pulsatility index in second and third trimester, respectively.

# Gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia

Information on pregnancy complications was obtained from medical records. Women suspected of pregnancy complications based on these records were crosschecked with the original hospital charts. Details of these procedures have been described elsewhere.<sup>25</sup> Briefly, the following criteria were used to identify women with gestational hypertension: development of systolic blood pressure  $\geq$ 140 mmHg and/or diastolic blood pressure  $\geq$ 90 mmHg after 20 weeks of gestation in previously normotensive women. These criteria plus the presence of proteinuria (defined as two or more dipstick reading of 2+ or greater, one catheter sample reading of 1+ or greater, or a 24-h urine collection containing at least 300 mg of protein) were used to identify women with pre-eclampsia.

# Covariates

Gestational age was established by fetal ultrasound examination during first ultrasound visit.<sup>20</sup> Maternal age was assessed at intake. Weight and height were repeatedly measured and body mass index was calculated for each trimester.<sup>26</sup> Information about educational level, ethnicity, and folic acid supplementation use was obtained at enrollment. Information about smoking and alcohol consumption was assessed by questionnaires in each trimester.

# Statistical analysis

First, the associations of parity with repeatedly measured systolic and diastolic blood pressures were analyzed using unbalanced repeated measurement regression models. These models take the correlation between repeated measurements of the same subject into account, and allow for incomplete outcome data.<sup>27</sup> They are described in detail in the Supplementary material. In short, using fractional polynomials of gestational age, the best fitting models were constructed. Parity categories were included in these models as intercept and as an interaction term with gestational age. Next, we examined the associations of parity with systolic and diastolic blood pressure in each trimester and with placental vascular resistance (uterine artery resistance index and uterine artery pulsatility index) in second and third trimester using linear regression models. For these models, we examined whether the residuals were normally distributed using normal probability plots, whether the variance of the residuals was homoscedastic and whether the regression models were linear.<sup>28</sup> The associations of parity with the risks of third trimester notching, gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia were assessed using multiple logistic regression models. All models were adjusted for maternal age, gestational age at enrollment, gestational age at time of measurement, educational level, ethnicity, smoking habits, alcohol consumption and folic acid supplement use. Maternal age and body mass index were entered into linear and logistic regression models as continuous variables. We used Markov chain Monte Carlo approach for multiple imputation of missing values in the covariates. Five imputed datasets were created and analyzed together. The percentages of missing values within population for analysis were lower than 15% except for folic acid supplement use (25.2%). The repeated measurement analyses were performed using SAS version 9.2 (SAS, Cary, NC), including the Proc Mixed module for unbalanced repeated measurements. All other analyses were

performed using Statistical Package of Social Sciences version 17.0 for Windows (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA).

# Results

# Subject characteristics

**Table 2.2.1** shows subject characteristics according to parity. Multiparous women were more frequently less higher educated, of non-European origin and were less likely to consume alcohol during pregnancy. From first trimester onwards, systolic and diastolic blood pressure levels were lower among multiparous women (**Table 2.2.2**).

Parity	0	1	2	3	4	≥5	
	n = 4666	n = 2499	n = 858	n = 254	n = 68	n = 32	P-value <sup>3</sup>
Maternal characteristics							
Age, years	28.3 (5.3)	30.5 (4.8)	32.1 (4.3)	33.1 (4.1)	35.3 (3.6)	36.4 (3.9)	< 0.001
Body mass index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	24.2 (4.1)	24.9 (4.4)	26.3 (4.8)	27.6 (5.2)	28.3 (4.4)	27.8 (3.8)	< 0.001
Gestational age at	14.2	14.3	15.4	15.9	17.5	20.6	< 0.001
intake, weeks <sup>2</sup>	(10.3, 24.9)	(10.1, 24.9)	(10.5, 30.1)	(11.1, 31.2)	(11.6, 33.1)	(9.1, 33.6)	
Education, %							
Primary school	7.9	11.8	22.5	33.6	47.3	69.8	< 0.001
Secondary school	47.4	45.3	43.6	44.8	49.1	21.8	
Higher education	44.7	42.9	33.9	21.6	3.6	8.4	
Ethnicity, %							
European	60.6	59.8	44.6	29.8	18.3	18.3	< 0.001
Non-European	39.4	40.2	55.4	70.2	81.7	81.7	
Alcohol consumption, %							
No	63.2	59.8	65.9	77.0	86.5	86.4	<0.001
Yes	36.8	40.2	34.1	23.0	13.5	13.6	
Smoking habits, %							
No	83.0	82.8	82.4	83.4	78.8	81.0	<0.001
Yes	17.0	17.2	17.6	16.4	21.2	19.0	
Folic acid supplements, %							
None	23.0	30.2	48.7	65.0	82.2	95.2	< 0.001
1 <sup>st</sup> 10 weeks	34.4	28.8	26.1	16.0	15.6	-	
Periconception use	42.6	41.0	25.2	19.0	2.2	4.8	
Pregnancy complications, %							
Pre-eclampsia	3.0	1.2	0.2	2.4	-	-	< 0.001
Gestational							
hypertension	5.2	2.4	1.5	2.4	1.5	3.2	<0.001

**Table 2.2.1.** Subjects' characteristics by parity  $(n = 8377)^1$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values are means (standard deviation) or percentages. <sup>2</sup>Median (95% range). <sup>3</sup>Differences in subject characteristics between groups were evaluated using one-way-ANOVA-tests for continuous variables and Chi-square tests for proportions.

# CHAPTER 2.2

Parity	0	1	2	3	4	≥5	
·	n = 4666	n = 2499	n = 858	n = 254	n = 68	n = 32	P-value <sup>2</sup>
First trimester							
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	115.9 (12.2)	114.2 (11.7)	114.4 (11.5)	114.3 (11.2)	113.2 (12.7	) 112.0 (11.9)	< 0.001
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	68.4 (9.3)	67.1 (9.3)	67.6 (8.9)	68.3 (8.6)	67.6 (11.7)	68.2 (10.2)	< 0.001
Second trimester		. ,	. ,				
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	117.5 (11.8)	115.1 (11.7)	114.7 (11.7)	115.2 (11.1)	115.9 (12.3	) 112.8 (13.6)	< 0.001
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	67.6 (9.0)	65.9 (9.2)	66.1 (9.1)	66.7 (9.0)	68.2 (10.1)	64.2 (7.7)	< 0.001
Uterine artery							
resistance index	0.53 (0.09)	0.54 (0.08)	0.55 (0.09)	0.56 (0.08)	0.56 (0.08)	0.60 (0.09)	< 0.001
Uterine artery							
pulsatility index	0.89 (0.27)	0.90 (0.25)	0.91 (0.26)	0.94 (0.25)	0.96 (0.30)	1.11 (0.42)	0.01
Third trimester							
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	119.2 (11.8)	116.6 (11.7)	116.2 (12.1)	116.0 (10.9)	117.0 (12.1	) 115.6 (13.7)	< 0.001
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	69.9 (9.0)	67.5 (9.0)	67.1 (9.4)	67.5 (8.6)	68.0 (10.0)	70.3 (10.6)	< 0.001
Uterine artery							
resistance index	0.47 (0.08)	0.48 (0.07)	0.49 (0.07)	0.51 (0.07)	0.51 (0.07)	0.53 (0.06)	< 0.001
Uterine artery							
pulsatility index	0.72 (0.19)	0.74 (0.18)	0.75 (0.18)	0.82 (0.20)	0.77 (0.17)	0.83 (0.15)	< 0.001

**Table 2.2.2.** Blood pressure and placental flow characteristics by parity  $(n = 8377)^{1}$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values are means (standard deviation). <sup>2</sup>Differences in subject characteristics between groups were evaluated using oneway-ANOVA-tests for continuous variables.

### Parity and blood pressure in different trimesters

**Figure 2.2.2** shows that longitudinal measured systolic blood pressure throughout pregnancy was highest among nulliparous women. Also, the greatest increase in systolic blood pressure occurred among nulliparous women. Diastolic blood pressure showed a mid-pregnancy dip for all parity categories. The steepest increase in diastolic blood pressure was observed in nulliparous women and in women with five or more children. The exact regression coefficients are given in **Supplementary Table S2.2.1**. Cross-sectional analyses showed that, as compared with nulliparous women, multiparous women had lower first, second, and third trimester systolic blood pressure (differences for multiparous vs. nulliparous women: –2.17 mmHg (95% Confidence Intervals (CI): –2.77, –1.58), –2.74 mmHg (95% CI: –3.27, –2.22), and –2.83 mmHg (95% CI: –3.36, –2.29), respectively) and diastolic blood pressure (differences: –1.78 mmHg (95% CI: –3.47, –2.65), respectively). Similar differences for systolic and diastolic blood pressure were found when we used gravidity instead of parity (**Supplementary Tables S2.2.2** and **S2.2.3**).

# Parity, hemodynamic placental function and placental weight

**Table 2.2.3** shows that as compared with nulliparous women, multiparous women had slightly higher uterine artery resistance index (differences in uterine artery resistance indices in second and third trimester: 0.007 (95% CI: 0.001, 0.013), 0.007 (95% CI: 0.001, 0.013), respectively). We observed similar tendencies for second and third trimester uterine artery pulsatility indices. As compared with nulliparous women, multiparous women had a higher placental weight (difference in placental weight: 23.15 g (95%

# CI: 15.11, 31.19). When we used gravidity instead of parity, we observed similar results (**Supplementary Table S2.2.4**).



Figure 2.2.2. Blood pressure patterns during pregnancy in different categories of parity







Change patterns in systolic and diastolic blood pressure in mmHg during pregnancy for women who had given birth once, women who had given birth twice, women who had given birth twice, women who had given birth four times and women who had given birth five times or more as compared with women who had not given birth before based on repeated measurement analysis. Systolic blood pressure (SBP) =  $\beta_0 + \beta_1 x$  parity +  $\beta_2 x$  gestational age +  $\beta_3 x$  gestational age<sup>-2</sup> +  $\beta_4 x$  parity x gestational age. Diastolic blood pressure (DBP) =  $\beta_0 + \beta_1 x$  parity +  $\beta_2 x$  gestational age +  $\beta_3 x$  gestational age<sup>-5</sup> +  $\beta_4 x$  parity x gestational age. In these models ' $\beta_0 + \beta_1 x$  parity' reflects the intercept and ' $\beta_2 x$  gestational age +  $\beta_3 x$  gestational age<sup>-5</sup> +  $\beta_3 x$  gestational age<sup>-5</sup> +  $\beta_4 x$  parity' reflects the slope of change in blood pressure per week for systolic blood pressure. Our term of interest was ' $\beta_4 x$  parity x gestational age' which reflects the difference in change in blood pressure per week per parity category for either systolic or diastolic blood pressure. Estimates and P-values are given in **Supplementary Table S2.2.1**.

# Parity and risk of notching and gestational hypertensive disorders

The risk of notching was decreased among multiparous women as compared with nulliparous women (Odds Ratio (OR) 0.67 (95% CI: 0.53, 0.84). As compared with nulliparous women, the risks of gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia were lower among multiparous women (OR 0.32 (95% CI: 0.24, 0.43), OR 0.24 (95% CI: 0.16, 0.37) for gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia, respectively) (**Table 2.2.4**). Among multiparous women only, we did not observe consistent associations of parity with the risks of gestational hypertensive disorders. Effect estimates in unadjusted analyses showed a similar direction and strength as compared with the full model. Using gravidity instead of parity, we observed similar results (**Supplementary Table S2.2.5**).

		, ,		0 (	,
Parity	Second trimester uterine artery resistance index <sup>4</sup> n = 4467	Third trimester uterine artery resistance index <sup>5</sup> n = 4370	Second trimester uterine artery pulsatility index <sup>6</sup> n = 3703	Third trimester uterine artery pulsatility index <sup>7</sup> n = 3698	Differences in placental Weight <sup>2,8</sup> n = 6049
0	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
	n = 2558	n = 2487	n = 2131	n = 2115	n = 3466
≥1	0.007 (0.001, 0.013)	0.007 (0.001, 0.013)	0.009 (-0.010, 0.038)	0.009 (-0.004, 0.023)	23.15 (15.11, 31.19)*
	n = 1909	n = 1883	n = 1572	n = 1583	n = 2583
1	0.006 (0, 0.012)	0.005 (-0.001, 0.11)	0.006 (-0.014, 0.03)	0.006 (-0.008, 0.02)	23.37 (14.81, 31.93)*
	n = 1328	n = 1311	n = 1091	n = 1098	n = 1729
2	0.009 (-0.001, 0.019)	0.008 (0, 0.017)	0.013 (-0.019, 0.05)	0.008 (-0.015, 0.03)	22.79 (9.52, 36.05)*
	n = 412	n = 420	n = 344	n = 353	n = 602
3	0.021 (0.004, 0.04)	0.026 (0.011, 0.04)*	0.035 (-0.022, 0.09)	0.068 (0,029, 0.11)*	39.46 (16.92, 62.00)*
	n = 124	n = 119	n = 101	n = 102	n = 179
4	0.021 (-0.009, 0.05)	0.012 (-0.017, 0.04)	0.046 (-0.060, 0.15)	0.006 (-0.076, 0.09)	79.99 (39.46, 120.56)*
	n = 35	n = 25	n = 27	n = 22	n = 52
≥5	0.055 (-0.001, 0.11)	0.029 (-0.024, 0.08)	0.193 (0.015, 0.37)	0.066 (-0.068, 0.19)	-6.84 (-69.57, 55.89)
	n = 10	n = 8	n = 9	n = 8	n = 21
Trend <sup>3</sup>	0.006 (0.003, 0.01)*	0.005 (0.002, 0.01)*	0.012 (-0.001, 0.02)	0.010 (0.002, 0.02)*	13.34 (8.69, 17.99)*

**Table 2.2.3.** Associations of parity with uterine artery vascular resistance and placental weight  $(n = 8377)^{1}$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values are regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) and reflect differences in uterine artery resistance and pulsatility indices and placental weight for different parity categories as compared to nulliparous women. All values were adjusted for gestational age at time of measurement, maternal age, body mass index, ethnicity, education, folic acid supplementation, smoking and alcohol consumption. <sup>2</sup>Differences in placental weight (g) for different parity categories as compared to nulliparous women. <sup>3</sup>Tests for trend were based on multiple linear regression models with parity as a continuous variable. <sup>4</sup>R<sup>2</sup> = 0.2. <sup>6</sup>R<sup>2</sup> = 0.2.<sup>6</sup>R<sup>2</sup> = 0.2.<sup>6</sup>R<sup>2</sup> = 0.2.<sup>8</sup>R<sup>2</sup> = 0.5. \*P-value <0.05.

# Discussion

Results from this prospective population-based cohort study showed that as compared with multiparous women, nulliparous women have a higher systolic and diastolic blood pressure in each trimester of pregnancy and lower uterine artery resistance indices. Nulliparous women had higher risks of third trimester uterine artery notching, and higher risks of gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia. We did not observe significant associations of parity with placental hemodynamics among multiparous women.

	Notching	Gestational hypertension	Pre-eclampsia
Parity	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
0	Reference	Reference	Reference
n = 4666	$n_{\rm cases} = 314$	n <sub>cases</sub> = 228	n <sub>cases</sub> = 131
≥1	0.67 (0.53, 0.84)*	0.32 (0.24, 0.43)*	0.24 (0.16, 0.37)*
n = 3711	$n_{cases} = 156$	n <sub>cases</sub> = 78	n <sub>cases</sub> = 36
1	0.67 (0.52, 0.85)*	0.37 (0.27, 0.50)*	0.31 (0.20, 0.48)*
n = 2499	n <sub>cases</sub> = 108	$n_{cases} = 57$	$n_{cases} = 28$
2	0.59 (0.39, 0.90)*	0.19 (0.10, 0.35)*	0.04 (0.01, 0.19)*
n = 858	$n_{cases} = 32$	$n_{cases} = 13$	$n_{cases} = 2$
≥3	0.86 (0.48, 1.54)	0.28 (0.12, 0.61)*	0.25 (0.10, 0.63)*
n = 354	$n_{cases} = 16$	n <sub>cases</sub> = 8	$n_{cases} = 6$
Trend <sup>2</sup>	0.81 (0.71, 0.94)*	0.49 (0.40, 0.60)*	0.39 (0.29, 0.52)*

Table 2.2.4. Associations of pa	arity with notching and gestational	hypertensive disorders ( <i>n = 8377</i> )
---------------------------------	-------------------------------------	--

<sup>1</sup>Values are Odds Ratio and 95% Confidence Interval that indicate the differences in risks of developing a notch, gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia in different categories of parity compared to reference group of nulliparous women. Values were adjusted for maternal age, body mass index, educational level, ethnicity, folic acid supplements, smoking and alcohol consumption. <sup>2</sup>Tests for trend were based on logistic regression models with parity as a continuous variable. \*P-value <0.05.

#### Methodological considerations

One of the strengths of this study was the prospective data collection from early pregnancy onwards. We had a large sample size of 8377 participants with 22.065 blood pressure measurements. The response rate of the study was 61%. The percentages of women from ethnic minority groups and lower socio-economic status were slightly lower than expected from population figures in Rotterdam. This might indicate a selection toward a relatively healthy population, and might affect the generalizability of our results. However, it is unlikely that non-response has led to biased estimates, because biased estimates in large cohort studies mainly arise from loss to follow-up rather than from nonresponse at baseline.<sup>29</sup> Furthermore, not all women were already enrolled in the study in first trimester. Therefore, we did not have first trimester blood pressure measurements in ~25% of the participating women.<sup>20</sup> It seems unlikely that late enrollment has biased our results. We observed small differences in the associations of parity with the risk of gestational hypertensive disorders between women who were enrolled during first trimester or later in pregnancy. Detailed information about a large number of potential confounding factors was available in this study. However, because of the observational design, residual confounding because of other socio-demographic and lifestyle related determinants might still be an issue. In addition, information on many covariates in this study was self-reported, which may have resulted in underreporting of certain adverse lifestyle related determinants. Blood pressure and uteroplacental vascular resistance indices measurements provided only a fraction of 24h profile and may have been conducted under circumstances that influenced the measurements, which might have led to random misclassification and an underestimation of the observed differences. Finally, we had relatively small numbers of women with notching (n = 470), gestational hypertension cases (n = 306) and pre-eclampsia cases (n = 167). This might also reflect a selection toward a relatively healthy, low risk population.

# Parity, blood pressure, and hemodynamic placental function

Higher parity and gravidity have been hypothesized as possible protective factors for gestational hypertensive disorders. We have shown that parity influences systolic and diastolic blood pressure levels during pregnancy from first trimester onwards. For all parity categories, parous women had lower blood pressure levels as compared with nulliparous women in each trimester. This is in accordance with observations in smaller previous studies.<sup>7,12</sup> A study among 6662 women observed higher mean blood pressure levels in nulliparous gravidas compared with blood pressure levels in parous gravidas.<sup>8</sup> Another study among 600 pregnant women showed a greater increase of blood pressure in nulliparous than in multiparous women during pregnancy.<sup>7</sup> However, not all previous studies showed associations of parity with blood pressure.<sup>16,30</sup> A study among a small cohort of 205 normotensive white pregnant women did not observe differences in blood pressure in relation to parity.<sup>16</sup> In another prospective cohort study among 366 pregnant women, there was no difference in arterial blood pressure during pregnancy between nulliparous and multiparous women who remained normotensive during pregnancy.<sup>30</sup> These differences in results might be explained by the smaller study samples and selection of study participants. In our study, additional exclusion of women with gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia from our analysis did not change our results (data not shown).

Results in our study indicate that nulliparous women had a lower uterine artery resistance but a higher risk of notching. These results are in line with a previous study among 4132 pregnancies uncomplicated by pre-eclampsia, which observed slightly higher uterine artery resistance index values but less prevalent notching in parous women when compared with nulliparous women.<sup>31</sup> These findings might be explained by effects of parity on spiral arteries. During early placentation, trophoblastic cells infiltrate thick-walled spiral arteries and transform them into thin-walled vessels that can dilate and accommodate increased uteroplacental blood flow. It is possible that some permanent modifications persist in maternal vessels as an effect of this process, altering their compliance in future pregnancies. These changes may explain the lower prevalence of notches we observed in multiparous women.

# Parity and risk of gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia

Nulliparous women had a higher risk of developing both gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia. Multiple previous studies have examined the associations of parity with gestational hypertensive complications.<sup>1,14</sup> A systemic review of 52 studies reported an increased risk of pre-eclampsia in nulliparous women.<sup>14</sup> The mechanisms by which nulliparous women might have higher blood pressure levels throughout pregnancy and higher risks of gestational hypertensive disorders are not fully understood. It has been suggested that immunological and cardiovascular adaptations occur during the first pregnancy that might trigger altered cardiovascular responses in subsequent pregnancies.<sup>7,32</sup> Another possible mechanism is that initial maternal rejection of placental

cytotrophoblasts lead to inadequately remodeled spiral arteries during first pregnancy.<sup>3,31,32</sup> This might lead to shallow implantation and consequently to downstream hypoxia and appearance of maternal symptoms. In line with this hypothesis, we observed that placental weight was lower among nulliparous women. It is possible that some modifications that lead to a more positive immune response in future pregnancies persist in maternal vessels as an effect of this process.<sup>31</sup> Furthermore, the hormonal milieu of pregnancy has been shown to influence vessel structure, basal tone and reactivity via receptors for chorionic gonadotropin, estradiol, and progesterone located in vascular endothelium and smooth muscles.<sup>11,32</sup> Studies have suggested that these changes occur in early pregnancy and that they might persist.<sup>11,33</sup> This might partly explain the underlying pathway of the observed associations between parity and blood pressure and the risk of gestational hypertensive disorders.

# Conclusion

Parity has been suggested as a risk factor for gestational hypertensive disorders. Our study showed that as compared with multiparous women, nulliparous women have higher systolic and diastolic blood pressure in each trimester of pregnancy, and higher risks of third trimester uterine artery notching, and gestational hypertension and preeclampsia. We did not observe significant associations of parity with placenta hemodynamics among multiparous women. The first pregnancy might be a major risk factor for hemodynamic maladaptations and vascular complications. Future studies focused on mechanisms underlying the observed associations, particularly focused on early gestation are needed.

# References

- 1. Magnussen EB, Vatten LJ, Lund-Nilsen TJ, Salvesen KA, Davey Smith G, Romundstad PR. Prepregnancy cardiovascular risk factors as predictors of pre-eclampsia: population based cohort study. BMJ 2007; 335:978.
- Irgens HU, Reisaeter L, Irgens LM, Lie RT. Long term mortality of mothers and fathers after pre-eclampsia: population based cohort study. BMJ 2001; 323:1213–1217.
- 3. Steegers EA, von Dadelszen P, Duvekot JJ, Pijnenborg R. Pre-eclampsia. Lancet 2010; 376:631–644.
- 4. Bakker R, Steegers EA, Raat H, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Maternal caffeine intake, blood pressure, and the risk of hypertensive complications during pregnancy. The Generation R Study. Am J Hypertens 2011; 24:421–428.
- Gaillard R, Bakker R, Steegers EA, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Maternal age during pregnancy is associated with third trimester blood pressure level: the generation R study. Am J Hypertens 2011; 24:1046–1053.
- Timmermans S, Jaddoe VW, Silva LM, Hofman A, Raat H, Steegers-Theunissen RP, Steegers EA. Folic acid is positively associated with uteroplacental vascular resistance: the Generation R study. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2011; 21:54–61.
- Strevens H, Wide-Swensson D, Ingemarsson I. Blood pressure during pregnancy in a Swedish population; impact of parity. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2001; 80:824–829.
- 8. Hytten FE, Leitch I. The physiology of human pregnancy. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific Publications, 1971.
- 9. Gaillard R, Bakker R, Willemsen SP, Hofman A, Steegers EA, Jaddoe VW. Blood pressure tracking during pregnancy and the risk of gestational hypertensive disorders: the Generation R Study. Eur Heart J 2011; 32:3088–3097.
- 10. Turan OM, De Paco C, Kametas N, Khaw A, Nicolaides KH. Effect of parity on maternal cardiac function during the first trimester of pregnancy. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2008; 32:849–854.
- Clapp JF III, Capeless E. Cardiovascular function before, during, and after the first and subsequent pregnancies. Am J Cardiol 1997; 80:1469–1473.

- Christianson RE. Studies on blood pressure during pregnancy. I. Influence of parity and age. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1976; 125:509–513.
- Ness RB, Kramer RA, Flegal KM. Gravidity, blood pressure, and hypertension among white women in the Second National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Epidemiology 1993; 4:303–309.
- 14. Duckitt K, Harrington D. Risk factors for pre-eclampsia at antenatal booking: systematic review of controlled studies. BMJ 2005; 330:565.
- North RA, McCowan LM, Dekker GA, Poston L, Chan EH, Stewart AW, Black MA, Taylor RS, Walker JJ, Baker PN, Kenny LC. Clinical risk prediction for pre-eclampsia in nulliparous women: development of model in international prospective cohort. BMJ 2011; 342:d1875.
- Ayala DE, Hermida RC. Influence of parity and age on ambulatory monitored blood pressure during pregnancy. Hypertension 2001; 38:753–758.
- Lee-Feldstein A, Harburg E, Hauenstein L. Parity and blood pressure among four race-stress groups of females in Detroit. Am J Epidemiol 1980; 111: 356–366.
- Okonofua FE, Balogun JA, Amiengheme NA, O'Brien SP. Blood pressure changes during pregnancy in Nigerian women. Int J Cardiol 1992; 37:373–379.
- Jaddoe VW, Bakker R, van Duijn CM, van der Heijden AJ, Lindemans J, Mackenbach JP, Moll HA, Steegers EA, Tiemeier H, Uitterlinden AG, Verhulst FC, Hofman A. The Generation R Study Biobank: a resource for epidemiological studies in children and their parents. Eur J Epidemiol 2007; 22:917–923.
- 20. Jaddoe VW, van Duijn CM, van der Heijden AJ, Mackenbach JP, Moll HA, Steegers EA, Tiemeier H, Uitterlinden AG, Verhulst FC, Hofman A. The Generation R Study: design and cohort update 2010. Eur J Epidemiol 2010; 25:823–841.
- 21. World Medical Association I. Declaration of Helsinki. Ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. J Indian Med Assoc 2009;107:403–405.
- 22. El Assaad MA, Topouchian JA, Darné BM, Asmar RG. Validation of the Omron HEM-907 device for blood pressure measurement. Blood Press Monit 2002; 7:237–241.
- 23. Baschat AA, Hecher K. Fetal growth restriction due to placental disease. Semin Perinatol 2004; 28:67–80.
- 24. Verburg BO, Jaddoe VW, Wladimiroff JW, Hofman A, Witteman JC, Steegers EA. Fetal hemodynamic adaptive changes related to intrauterine growth: the Generation R Study. Circulation 2008; 117:649–659.
- Coolman M, de Groot CJ, Jaddoe VW, Hofman A, Raat H, Steegers EA. Medical record validation of maternally reported history of pre-eclampsia. J Clin Epidemiol 2010; 63:932–937.
- Gaillard R, Steegers EA, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Associations of maternal obesity with blood pressure and the risks of gestational hypertensive disorders. The Generation R Study. J Hypertens 2011; 29:937–944.
- 27. Goldstein H. Multilevel statistical models. London, New York: E. Arnold; Oxford University Press, 1995.
- 28. Altman DG. Practical statistics for medical research. Chapman & Hall: London, UK, 1999.
- Nohr EA, Frydenberg M, Henriksen TB, Olsen J. Does low participation in cohort studies induce bias? Epidemiology 2006; 17:413–418.
- Moutquin JM, Bilodeau R, Raynault P, Amyot G, Blair JF, Labelle L, Rainville C, Gagnon L. Prospective study of arterial pressure during pregnancy. Prediction of hypertensive complications. J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod (Paris) 1982; 11:833–837.
- Prefumo F, Bhide A, Sairam S, Penna L, Hollis B, Thilaganathan B. Effect of parity on second trimester uterine artery Doppler flow velocity and waveforms. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2004; 23:46–49.
- 32. Kumar V, Abbas AK, Fausto N, Robbins SL, Cotran RS. Pathologic basis of disease. Philadelphia: Saunders, 2005.
- Robson SC, Hunter S, Boys RJ, Dunlop W. Serial study of factors influencing changes in cardiac output during human pregnancy. Am J Physiol 1989; 256:H1060–H1065.

# Supplementary Material

#### Supplementary Methods S2.2.1. Unbalanced repeated measurements regression models

The associations of parity with repeatedly measured systolic and diastolic blood pressure were analysed using unbalanced repeated measurement regression models. These models take the correlation between repeated measurements of the same subject into account, and allow for incomplete outcome data. Using fractional polynomials of gestational age, the best fitting models were constructed (1). For this analysis, parity was categorized into 6 groups (0; 1; 2; 3; 4;  $\geq$ 5) and included in these models as intercept and as an interaction term with gestational age. These models can be written as:

Systolic blood pressure =  $\beta_0 + \beta_1 \times \text{parity} + \beta_2 \times \text{gestational age} + \beta_3 \times \text{gestational age}^{-2} + \beta_4 \times \text{parity} \times \text{gestational age}^{-2}$ 

Diastolic blood pressure =  $\beta_0 + \beta_1 \times \text{parity} + \beta_2 \times \text{gestational age} + \beta_3 \times \text{gestational age}^{0.5} + \beta_4 \times \text{parity} \times \text{gestational age}^{0.5}$ 

In these models,  ${}^{\prime}G_0 + G_1 \times \text{parity'}$  reflects the intercept. The intercept reflects the mean systolic and diastolic blood pressure value for these parity categories.  ${}^{\prime}G_2 \times \text{gestational age} + G_3 \times \text{gestational age}^{2r}$  reflects the slope of change in blood pressure per week for systolic blood pressure, and  ${}^{\prime}G_2 \times \text{gestational age} + G_3 \times \text{gestational age}^{-5r}$  reflects the slope of change in blood pressure per week for diastolic blood pressure. Main interest was in the term  ${}^{\prime}G_4 \times \text{gestational age}^{\prime}$ , which reflects the difference in change in blood pressure per week between the different parity categories for systolic and diastolic blood pressure. The exact regression coefficients for gestational age independent (intercept) and gestational age dependent differences (interaction parity and gestational age) are given in the **Supplementary Table S2.2.1** below.

#### References

[1]. Royston P, Ambler G, Sauerbrei W. The use of fractional polynomials to model continuous risk variables in epidemiology. Int J Epidemiol 1999;28:964-74.

Parity	Intercept (mmHg)	P-value <sup>2</sup>	Interaction (mmHg) (95% CI)	P-value <sup>2</sup>
Differences in systoli	c blood pressure			
0	111.51	<0.0001	Reference	
1	110.10	0.003	-0.038 (-0.07, -0.001)	0.04
2	110.28	0.113	-0.068 (-0.12, -0.01)	0.02
3	112.32	0.55	-0.144 (-0.24, -0.03)	0.006
4	109.47	0.48	0.002 (-0.21, 0.21)	0.98
≥5	106.48	0.30	0.054 (-0.31, 0.41)	0.76
Differences in diasto	lic blood pressure			
0	98.25	<0.0001	Reference	
1	98.05	0.59	-0.073 (-0.10, -0.04)	< 0.0001
2	99.20	0.11	-0.12 (-0.16, -0.07)	< 0.0001
3	100.67	0.02	-0.15 (-0.24, -0.07)	< 0.0001
4	100.28	0.36	-0.11 (-0.27, 0.05)	0.20
≥5	94.91	0.37	0.09 (-0.18, 0.37)	0.50

Supplementary Table S2.2.1. Longitudinal associations between parity and systolic and diastolic blood pressure<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Values are based on repeated non-linear regression models and reflect the change in blood pressure in mmHg per parity category compared to the reference group of nulliparous women. <sup>2</sup>P-value reflects the significance level of the estimate.

	First trimester	Second trimester	Third trimester	
Parity	n = 6323	n = 7831	n = 7911	
	Differences in systolic blood	pressure <sup>A</sup>		
0	Reference	Reference	Reference	
	n = 3627	n = 4410	n = 4448	
≥1	-2.17 (-2.77, -1.58)*	-2.74 (-3.27, -2.22)*	-2.83 (-3.36, -2.29)*	
	n = 2696	n = 3421	n = 3463	
1	-2.17 (-2.80, -1.53)*	-2.60 (-3.16, -2.03)*	-2.70 (-3.29, -2.13)*	
	n = 1912	n = 2333	n = 2354	
2	-2.15 (-3.20, -1.11)*	-3.22 (-4.11, -2.33)*	-3.20 (-4.10, -2.30)*	
	n = 569	n = 774	n = 791	
3	-2.38 (-4.18, -0.57)*	-3.10 (-4.63, -158)*	-3.39 (-4.93, -1.84)*	
	n = 167	n = 229	n = 231	
4	-2.40 (-6.09, 1.28)	-2.28 (-5.10, 0.53)	-1.78 (-4.69, 1.11)	
	n = 37	n = 62	n = 60	
≥5	-4.16 (-10.85, 2.51)	-5.01 (-9.54, -0.48)*	-2.77 (-7.03, 1.48)	
	n = 11	n = 23	n = 27	
Trend <sup>3</sup>	-1.14 (-1.51, -0.76)*	-1.41 (-1.73, -1.09)*	-1.37 (-1.69, -1.05)*	
	Differences in diastolic blood	pressure <sup>B</sup>		
0	Reference	Reference	Reference	
	n = 3627	n = 4410	n = 4448	
≥1	-1.78 (-2.25, -1.31)*	-2.29 (-2.71, -1.88)*	-3.05 (-3.47, -2.65)*	
	n = 2696	n = 3421	n = 3463	
1	-1.77 (-2.26, -1.27)*	-2.16 (-2.60, -1.72)*	-2.82 (-3.26, -2.37)*	
	n = 1912	n = 2333	n = 2354	
2	-1.85 (-2.66, -1.03)*	-2.68 (-3.38, -1.98)*	-3.75 (-4.45, -3.05)*	
	n = 569	n = 774	n = 791	
3	-1.76 (-3.17, -0.35)*	-2.89 (-4.08, -1.70)*	-3.96 (-5.16, -2.76)*	
	n = 167	n = 229	n = 231	
4	-1.73 (-4.60, 1.14)	-2.01 (-4.22, 0.18)	-3.62 (-5.88, -1.36)*	
	n = 37	n = 62	n = 60	
≥5	-2.38 (-7.57, 2.81)	-5.92 ( -9.47, -2.38)*	-1.02 (-4.35, 2.30)	
	n = 11	n = 23	n = 27	
Trend <sup>3</sup>	-0.91 (-1.20, -0.61)*	-1.22 (-1.47, -0.98)*	-1.54 (-1.79, -1.29)*	

Supplementary Table S2.2.2. Cross-sectional associations of parity with blood pressure  $(n = 8377)^{1,2}$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values are regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) that reflect the difference in blood pressure in mmHg between parity categories as compared to the reference group of nulliparous women. Estimates are from multiple imputed data. <sup>2</sup>Models were adjusted for gestational age at visit, maternal age, body mass index, educational level, ethnicity, folic acid supplement use, smoking habits and alcohol consumption. <sup>3</sup>Tests for trend were based on multiple linear regression models with parity as a continuous variable. <sup>A</sup>R<sup>2</sup> for systolic blood pressure in first, second and third trimester = 0.16, 0.16, 0.15, respectively. <sup>B</sup>R<sup>2</sup> for diastolic blood pressure in first, second and third trimester = 0.16, 0.14, respectively. \*P-value <0.05.

	First trimester	Second trimester	Third trimester	
Gravidity	n = 6323	n = 7831	n = 7911	
	Differences in systolic blood	pressure		
1	Reference	Reference	Reference	
	n = 2895	n = 3471	n = 3504	
2	-1.90 (-2.55, -1.25)*	-1.77 (-2.34, -1.18)*	-1.62 (-2.21, -1.03)*	
	n = 1942	n = 2374	n = 2397	
3	-1.84 (-2.71, -0.96)*	-2.49 (-3.25, -1.72)*	-1.98 (-2.75, -2.21)*	
	n = 879	n = 1137	n = 1158	
4	-3.01 (-4.28, -1.73)*	-2.94 (-4.02, -1.87)*	-3.54 (-4.63, -2.45)*	
	n = 355	n = 499	n = 501	
5	-2.04 (-3.94, 0.13)	-2.01 (-3.57, -0.43)*	-0.65 (-2.25, 0.95)	
	n = 147	n = 212	n = 209	
≥6	-1.71 (-3.95, 0.54)	-3.55 (-5.49, -1.62)*	-3.42 (-5.37, 1.48)*	
	n = 105	n = 138	n = 142	
Trend <sup>3</sup>	-0.68 (-0.94, -0.42)*	-0.78 (-1.01, -0.56)*	-0.66 (-0.88, -0.43)*	
	Differences in diastolic blood	pressure		
1	Reference	Reference	Reference	
	n = 2895	n = 3471	n = 3504	
2	-1.27 (-1.77, -0.76)*	-1.62 (-2.07, -1.16)*	-1.98 (-2.44, -1.53)*	
	n = 1942	n = 2374	n = 2397	
3	-1.10 (-1.78, -0.42)*	-1.76 (-2.36, -1.16)*	-2.64 (-3.24, -2.03)*	
	n = 879	n = 1137	n = 1158	
4	-2.11 (-3.11, -1.11)*	-2.42 (-3.26, -1.58)*	-3.49 (-4.34, -2.65)*	
	n = 355	n = 499	n = 501	
5	-1.27 (-2.76, 0.22)	-2.07 (-3.31, 0.84)*	-2.48 (-3.74, -1.23)*	
	n = 147	n = 212	n = 209	
≥6	-0.63 (-2.39, 1.13)	-2.12 ( -3.63, -0.60)*	-2.43 (-3.95, 0.91)*	
	n = 105	n = 138	n = 142	
Trend <sup>3</sup>	-0.42 (-0.63, -0.22)*	-0.58 (-0.75, -0.41)*	-0.77 (-0.94, -0.59)*	

Supplementary Table S2.2.3. Cross-sectional associations of gravidity with blood pressure  $(n = 8377)^{1,2}$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values are regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) that reflect the difference in blood pressure in mmHg between gravidity categories as compared to the reference group of women who were pregnant for the first time. Estimates are from multiple imputed data. <sup>2</sup>Models were adjusted for gestational age at visit, maternal age, body mass index, educational level, ethnicity, folic acid supplement use, smoking habits and alcohol consumption. <sup>3</sup>Tests for trend were based on multiple linear regression models with gravidity as a continuous variable. \*P-value <0.05.

# CHAPTER 2.2

Gravidity	Second trimester uterine artery resistance index n = 4467	Third trimester uterine artery resistance index n = 4370	Second trimester uterine artery pulsatility index n = 3703	Third trimester uterine artery pulsatility index n = 3698	Differences in placental weight <sup>2</sup> n = 6049
1	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
	n = 2014	n = 1978	n = 1686	n = 1690	n = 2755
2	0 (-0.006, 0.006)	0.002 (-0.003, 0.08)	-0.012 (-0.033, 0.009)	0.003 (-0.012, 0.017)	15.29 (6.49, 24.09)*
	n = 1370	n = 1338	n = 1116	n = 1116	n = 1744
3	0.004 (-0.004, 0.013)	0.009 (0.002, 0.016)	-0.006 (-0.033, 0.022)	0.015 (-0.004, 0.035)	26.40 (14.92, 37.88)*
	n = 619	n = 630	n = 516	n = 531	n = 877
4	0.021 (0.01, 0.033)*	0.017 (0.007, 0.027)*	0.027 (-0.013, 0.066)	0.03 (0.002, 0.05)*	31.69 (15.69, 47.68)*
	n = 273	n = 254	n = 224	n = 212	n = 385
5	0.016 (-0.001, 0.033)	0.022 (0.007, 0.038)*	0.053 (-0.003, 0.11)	0.007 (-0.035, 0.049)	23.9 (0.5, 47.68)
	n = 118	n = 102	n = 99	n = 88	n = 167
≥6	0.018 (-0.003, 0.04)	0.018 (-0.001, 0.037)	0.063 (-0.008, 0.135)	0.048 (-0.002, 0.098)	5.5 (-21.91, 33.09)
	n = 73	n = 68	n = 62	n = 61	n = 121
Trend <sup>3</sup>	0.004 (0.002, 0.007)*	0.005 (0.002, 0.007)*	0.008 (0, 0.017)	0.007 (0.001, 0.013)	5.85 (2.62, 9.07)*

**Supplementary Table S2.2.4.** Associations of gravidity with uterine artery vascular resistance and placental weight  $(n = 8377)^{1}$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values are regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) and reflect differences in uterine artery resistance and pulsatility indices and placental weight for different categories of gravidity compared to women who were pregnant for the first time. All values were adjusted for gestational age at time of measurement, maternal age, body mass index, ethnicity, education, folic acid supplementation, smoking and alcohol consumption. <sup>2</sup>Differences in placental weight (g) for different categories of gravidity as compared to women who were pregnant for the first time. <sup>3</sup>Tests for trend were based on multiple linear regression models with gravidity as a continuous variable. \*P-value <0.05.

Supplementary Table S2.2.5. Associations of gravidity with risks of notching and gestational hypertensive disorders<sup>1</sup>

	Notching	Gestational hypertension	Pre-eclampsia
Gravidity	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
1 n = 3684	Reference	Reference	Reference
	n <sub>cases</sub> = 239	$n_{cases} = 191$	$n_{cases} = 111$
2 n = 2518	0.82 (0.65, 1.04)	0.48 (0.36, 0.64)*	0.39 (0.26, 0.58)*
	$n_{cases} = 129$	n <sub>cases</sub> = 74	n <sub>cases</sub> = 35
3 <i>n</i> = 1232	0.78 (0.57, 1.08)	0.29 (0.18, 0.45)*	0.18 (0.09, 0.36)*
	n <sub>cases</sub> = 58	$n_{cases} = 26$	n <sub>cases</sub> = 10
≥4 <i>n</i> = 943	0.98 (0.67, 1.42)	0.21 (0.11, 0.37)*	0.21 (0.10, 0.42)*
	n <sub>cases</sub> = 44	$n_{cases} = 15$	n <sub>cases</sub> = 11
Trend <sup>2</sup>	0.97 (0.88, 1.07)	0.63 (0.54, 0.73)*	0.53 (0.43, 0.65)*

<sup>1</sup>Values are Odds Ratio and 95% Confidence Interval that indicate the differences in risks of notching, gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia in different categories of gravidity compared to reference group of women were pregnant for the first time. Values were adjusted for maternal age, body mass index, educational level, ethnicity, folic acid supplementation, smoking and alcohol consumption. <sup>2</sup>Tests for trend were based on logistic regression models with gravidity as a continuous variable. \*P-value <0.05.

# Chapter 2.3

# Maternal parity, early growth and childhood cardiovascular risk factors

Romy Gaillard Akashi A. Rurangirwa Michelle A. Williams Albert Hofman Johan P. Mackenbach Oscar H. Franco Eric A.P. Steegers Vincent W.V. Jaddoe

Adapted from Hypertension. In press

# Abstract

**Background:** We examined the associations of maternal parity with fetal and childhood growth characteristics, and childhood cardio-metabolic risk factors in a population-based prospective cohort study among 9031 mothers and their children.

**Methods:** Fetal and childhood growth were repeatedly measured. We measured childhood anthropometrics, body fat distribution, left ventricular mass, blood pressure, blood lipids and insulin levels at the age of 6 years.

**Results:** As compared to nulliparous mothers, multiparous mothers had children with higher third trimester fetal head circumference, length and weight growth and lower risks of preterm birth and small size for gestational age at birth, but a higher risk of large size for gestational age at birth (P-values <0.05). Children from multiparous mothers had lower rates of accelerated infant growth, and lower levels of childhood body mass index, total fat mass percentage and total- and LDL-cholesterol than children of nulliparous mothers (P-values <0.05). They also had a lower risk of childhood overweight (Odds Ratio (OR) 0.75 (95% Confidence Interval (CI): 0.63, 0.88)) and tended to have a lower risk of childhood clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors (OR 0.82 (95% CI: 0.64, 1.05)). Among children from multiparous mothers, we observed consistent tendencies towards lower risks of childhood overweight and lower cholesterol levels with increasing parity (P-value <0.05).

**Conclusions:** Offspring from nulliparous mothers have lower fetal but higher infant growth rates and higher risks of childhood overweight and adverse metabolic profile. Maternal nulliparity may have persistent cardio-metabolic consequences for the offspring.

# Introduction

The first pregnancy is associated with maternal hemodynamic maladaptations and higher risks of vascular complications during pregnancy.<sup>1-3</sup> Maternal and placental hemodynamic maladaptations may adversely affect fetal nutrient supply and fetal growth. Previous studies showed that nulliparous mothers have higher risks of delivering small size for gestational age children.<sup>4,5</sup> Fetal growth restriction and small size for gestational age at birth are associated with increased risks of neonatal morbidity and mortality, and with higher risks of obesity, higher blood pressure levels and insulin resistance in childhood and adulthood.<sup>6-10</sup> Most previous studies used birth weight as proxy for early growth but did not examine the associations of maternal parity with longitudinally measured fetal and childhood growth characteristics. Also, whether maternal nulliparity has persistent cardio-metabolic consequences for the offspring remains unclear.

Therefore, in a population-based prospective cohort study of 9031 mothers and their children, we examined the associations of maternal parity with longitudinally measured fetal and childhood growth characteristics. We also examined the associations of maternal parity with adverse birth outcomes, infant catch-up growth and childhood cardiometabolic risk factors.

# Methods

# Study design

This study was embedded in the Generation R Study, a population-based prospective cohort study from early fetal life onwards in Rotterdam, the Netherlands.<sup>11</sup> The study has been approved by the Medical Ethical Committee of Erasmus Medical Center, Rotterdam. Written consent was obtained from all participating mothers.<sup>12</sup> Response rate at birth was 61%. In total, 9778 mothers were enrolled in the study. 9147 mothers had information on parity available and gave birth to singleton live-born children. We excluded mothers and children without any fetal or childhood follow-up measurement available. Our cohort for analysis comprised 9031 mothers and their children (**Supplementary Figure S2.3.1**).

# Parity assessment

Information about parity (defined as the number of times that a woman had given birth to a fetus with a gestational age of 24 weeks or more, regardless of whether the child was born alive or was stillborn) was obtained by questionnaire at enrollment. Parity was categorized into 4 categories (0; 1; 2;  $\geq$ 3).

# Fetal and early childhood growth measurements

Fetal ultrasound examinations were performed in 2 dedicated research centers in first (median: 13.5 wks of gestation, 95% range: 10.6, 17.5), second (median: 20.6 wks of gestation, 95% range: 28.4, 33.0). We established gestational age by using data from the first ultrasound examination.<sup>13</sup> In the second and third trimesters, we measured fetal head circumference, abdominal circumference and femur length to the nearest millimeter using standardized ultrasound procedures.<sup>14</sup> Estimated fetal weight was calculated using the formula of Hadlock et al.<sup>15</sup> Gestational-age-adjusted standard deviation scores (SDS) were constructed for all fetal growth measurements.<sup>13</sup> Information about gender, gestational age, weight, length, and head circumference at birth was obtained from medical records. Gestational-age-adjusted SDS for birth weight, length and head circumference were constructed using North-European growth standards.<sup>16</sup>

Well-trained staff in the Community Health Centers obtained postnatal growth characteristics according to standard schedule and procedures at the ages of 3 months (median: 3.3, 95% range: 3.0, 3.9), 6 months (median: 6.2, 95% range: 5.2, 8.3), 12 months (median: 11.0, 95% range: 10.1, 12.6), 24 months (median: 24.8, 95% range: 23.4, 28.2), 36 months (median: 36.7, 95% range: 35.4, 40.8) and 48 months (median: 45.8, 95% range: 44.5, 48.6). SDS for postnatal growth characteristics were obtained with Dutch growth reference charts (Growth Analyzer 3.0; Dutch Growth Research Foundation, Rotterdam, Netherlands).

# **Birth outcomes**

Preterm birth was defined as a gestational age of <37 weeks at delivery. Low birth weight was defined as birth weight <2500 g. Small size for gestational age at birth and large size for gestational age at birth were defined as a sex and gestational age adjusted birth weight below the 5<sup>th</sup> percentile (<-1.77 SDS) and above 95<sup>th</sup> percentile in the study cohort (>1.59 SDS), respectively.

# Childhood cardio-metabolic outcomes

At the age of 6 years (median: 72.6 months, 95% range: 68.4, 96.2) childhood height and weight were measured without shoes and heavy clothing in a dedicated research facility in the Erasmus Medical Center, Sophia Children's Hospital. Body mass index was calculated. Overweight and obesity were defined according to the definition of Cole et al.<sup>17</sup> Body fat was measured by Dual-Energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) (iDXA, General Electrics – Lunar, 2008, Madison, WI, USA).<sup>18</sup> Total body fat mass percentage was calculated as percentage of total body weight. Android/gynoid fat mass ratio was calculated. Two-dimensional M-mode echocardiographic measurements were performed using methods recommended by the American Society of Echocardiography, and used to calculate the left ventricular mass using the formula derived by Devereux et al.<sup>19,20</sup> Systolic and diastolic blood pressure were measured at the right brachial artery, four times with one minute intervals, using the validated automatic sphygmanometer Datascope Accutor Plus TM (Paramus, NJ, USA). A cuff was selected with a cuff width approximately 40% of the arm circumference and long enough to cover 90% of the arm circumference. Thirty minutes fasting venous blood samples were obtained and cholesterol, Low-Density-Lipoprotein (LDL)-cholesterol, High-Density-Lipoprotein (HDL)-cholesterol, triglycerides and insulin levels were measured. In line with previous definitions used among paediatric populations to define childhood metabolic-syndrome-likephenotype<sup>21</sup>, we defined clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors as having any of the 3 or more following components: android fat mass percentage  $\geq 75^{\text{th}}$  percentile, systolic blood pressure or diastolic blood pressure  $\geq 75^{\text{th}}$  percentile. We used android fat mass percentage as a proxy for waist circumference as waist circumference is not available in our study.

# Covariates

Maternal age, weight and height were assessed at intake.<sup>11</sup> Maternal prepregnancy body mass index was calculated. Information on maternal education level, ethnicity and folic acid supplementation use was obtained at enrolment. Information on smoking and alcohol consumption was assessed by questionnaires during pregnancy. Maternal first trimester nutritional information was obtained by a food frequency questionnaire.<sup>11</sup> Maternal weight gain until a gestational age of 30 weeks (median: 30.2, 95% range: 28.5, 32.9) was measured. We used records from midwives and obstetricians to collect information on pregnancy complications.<sup>22</sup> Information about breastfeeding, timing of introduction of solid foods and average television watching time was obtained by questionnaires.<sup>11</sup>

# Statistical analysis

First, we explored the associations of maternal parity with repeatedly measured fetal and childhood growth characteristics (head circumference, (femur) length, and (estimated fetal) weight) using unbalanced repeated measurement regression models. These models take the correlation between repeated measurements of the same subject into account, and allow for incomplete outcome data.<sup>23</sup> For presentation purposes of the longitudinal analyses, we combined the upper maternal parity categories, and used 3 categories (0, 1,  $\geq$ 2). We also performed regular multivariate linear regression analyses to analyse the associations of maternal parity with fetal and childhood growth characteristics in absolute values.

Second, we used multivariate logistic regression models to analyze the associations of maternal parity with the risks of adverse birth outcomes. We used multivariate linear regression models to assess the associations of maternal parity with infant growth in different intervals. Finally, we used similar models to analyze the associations of maternal parity with childhood cardio-metabolic outcomes and the risks of childhood overweight and childhood clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors. Tests for trend were performed by analysing parity as per original number. Sensitivity analyses were performed among European mothers only. To take into account the potential effect of miscarriages, we performed a sensitivity analysis using maternal gravidity instead of parity for the analyses focused on birth and childhood outcomes.

All models were adjusted for gestational age at enrolment, maternal age, ethnicity, educational level, prepregnancy body mass index, gestational weight gain, smoking and alcohol consumption during pregnancy, folic acid supplementation use, total calorie intake during pregnancy, pregnancy complications, and fetal sex. The models focused on childhood growth outcomes were additionally adjusted for child's age at visit, gestational age at birth, infant breastfeeding, timing of introduction of solid foods and average duration of television watching, whereas the models focused on childhood body fat outcomes and cardio-metabolic outcomes were additionally adjusted for birth weight, child's age at measurement and child's height (body fat outcomes) or child's body mass index (cardio-metabolic outcomes). We tested for potential interactions between maternal parity and birth weight for the analyses focused on postnatal growth and cardio-metabolic outcomes, but no significant interactions were present. Missing data of covariates were imputed using multiple imputations. Analyses were performed using Statistical Package of Social Sciences version 17.0 for windows (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL, USA) and Statistical Analysis System version 9.2 (SAS, Institute Inc. Cary NC, USA).

# Results

# Subject characteristics

Characteristics of the participants according to maternal parity are shown in **Table 2.3.1**. **Supplementary Table S2.3.1** shows that mothers with children with follow-up at the age of 6 years were more often higher educated and from European-descent.

# Maternal parity and longitudinally measured fetal and childhood growth

**Figure 2.3.1** gives the results of the longitudinal analyses, and shows that as compared to nulliparous mothers, multiparous mothers had children with higher fetal head circumference, length and weight growth from third trimester onwards, resulting in a higher head circumference, length and weight at birth (all P-values <0.05). From the postnatal age of 6 months onwards, differences in children's head circumference, height and weight between parity categories became smaller. At the age of 6 years, children of multiparous mothers had a lower stature and a lower weight (P-values <0.05), as compared to children of nulliparous mothers, but no differences in childhood head circumference were present. The associations of maternal parity with fetal and

childhood growth characteristics from regular linear regression models in absolute values are given in **Supplementary Tables S2.3.2** and **S2.3.3**.

	Parity				
	0	1	2	≥3	
Characteristics	n = 4994	n = 2721	n = 939	n = 377	P-value
Maternal characteristics					
Age, years	28.5 (5.3)	30.8 (4.9)	32.4 (4.5)	34.0 (4.3)	< 0.01
Height, cm	167.6 (7.4)	167.2 (7.4)	165.9 (7.2)	164.3 (7.3)	< 0.01
Prepregnancy weight, kg	65.2 (12.6)	66.9 (12.5)	69.0 (14.3)	70.2 (12.7)	< 0.01
Prepregnancy body mass index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	23.2 (4.2)	23.8 (4.3)	24.9 (4.9)	26.0 (4.8)	< 0.01
Gestational weight gain, kg	10.9 (5.0)	9.9 (4.6)	9.8 (5.6)	9.4 (5.8)	< 0.01
Gestational age at intake, weeks	13.8 (9.9, 24.2)	13.9 (9.8, 24.6)	14.8 (9.9, 29.8)	16.1 (11.1, 31.4)	< 0.01
Education (higher education), %	44.9	43.4	35.9	17.0	< 0.01
Ethnicity (European),%	60.9	59.9	45.2	26.3	< 0.01
Alcohol consumption during pregnancy					
(Yes), %	53.0	50.9	42.7	25.1	< 0.01
Smoking habits during pregnancy (Yes),%	18.1	18.8	19.8	20.7	0.02
Folic acid supplements (%)					
None	23.0	30.3	48.0	71.8	< 0.01
1 <sup>st</sup> 10 weeks	34.4	28.7	26.1	13.7	
Periconception use	42.6	41.0	25.9	14.5	
Total calorie intake (kcal)	2032 (561)	2046 (560)	2056 (616)	2003 (634)	0.58
Pregnancy complications (%)	( )	· · · ·	( )	( )	
Pre-eclampsia	3.1	1.2	0.2	1.8	< 0.01
Gestational hypertension	53	2.4	15	2.4	<0.01
Gestational diabetes	0.7	1.4	1.4	33	<0.01
	0.7	1	1.1	0.0	.0.01
Birth and infant characteristics		10 1 (0 0 1 10 1)			
Gestational age at birth, weeks	40.1 (34.7, 42.4)	40.1 (36.1, 42.1)	40.0 (35.7, 42.4	)40.0 (35.8,42.4)	0.52
Male sex, %	50.2	51.2	51.7	51.2	0.77
Birth weight, g	3325 (567)	3502 (532)	3529 (569)	3546 (562)	<0.01
Breastfeeding (Yes), %	93.2	89.4	92.0	94.2	<0.01
Timing of introduction of solid foods					
(<6 months),%	90.0	88.5	91.2	88.8	0.05
Average duration of television watching					
(> 2 hours/day) (%)	16.7	20.3	27.7	36.0	<0.01
Childhood characteristics					
Age at follow up, months	72.5 (67.9, 95.1)	72.7 (67.8, 95.9)	72.9 (68.0, 95.2	)73.7 (69.2, 98.0)	< 0.01
Height, cm	119.5 (5.9)	119.3 (6.2)	119.7 (6.0)	119.2 (6.4)	0.41
Weight, kg	23.2 (4.1)	23.3 (4.3)	23.8 (5.1)	23.3 (3.9)	0.02
Body mass index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	16.2 (1.8)	16.3 (1.9)	16.5 (2.3)	16.3 (1.8)	< 0.01
Total fat mass,%	25.0 (5.6)	24.7 (5.6)	25.2 (6.3)	25.4 (5.7)	0.09
Android/gynoid fat mass ratio, %	25.2 (6.3)	25.0 (6.2)	25.5 (7.2)	25.1 (5.9)	0.43
Left ventricular mass, g	53.4 (11.6)	53.7 (11.7)	54.0 (12.1)	53.5 (12.4)	0.64
Systolic blood pressure, mmHg	102.9 (8.3)	102.4 (8.0)	102.9 (8.3)	104.1 (7.9)	0.02
Diastolic blood pressure, mmHg	60.9 (6.8)	60.4 (6.9)	60.6 (6.7)	61.4 (7.1)	0.05
Cholesterol. mmol/L	4.2 (0.6)	4.2 (0.6)	4.2 (0.6)	4.1 (0.6)	0.20
Low Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol.	( )	· · ·	( )	( )	
mmol/l	2.4 (0.6)	2.4 (0.6)	2.3 (0.5)	2.3 (0.5)	0.04
, High Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol.	. /	· · /	× 7	· · /	
mmol/L	1.3 (0.3)	1.4 (0.3)	1.4 (0.3)	1.4 (0.3)	0.02
Triglycerides, mmol/L	1.0 (0.4.2.4)	0.9 (0.4.2.2)	0.9 (0.4.2.7)	0.9 (0.3.2.6)	0.26
Insulin, pmol/L	112.3	117.4	105.3	91.6	0.30
, F	(17.5. 398.0)	(15.8. 395.8)	(11.4. 393.2)	(19.7.487.9)	

**Table 2.3.1.** Characteristics of study population by maternal parity  $(n = 9031)^1$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values are means (standard deviation) or median (95% range) or percentages.



circumference, length and weight at 20, 30 and 40 weeks of gestation and at 6, 12, 24, 36, 48 months and 72 months postnatally among different maternal parity categories. As the reference <sup>1</sup>etal and childhood head circumference, length and weight growth among different maternal parity categories (1, >2) as compared to nulliparity (reference group, shown as zero-line in the graphs). Results are based on repeated measurement regression models. Effect estimates (95% CI represented by error bars) reflect the differences in (gestational)-age-adjusted SDS scores of head category, nulliparity, is represented by the zero-line in the graphs, non-crossing of the zero-line by the effect estimates and Confidence Intervals for parity=1 and parity=2, indicates that the effect estimates for these categories are statistically significant. Estimates are from multiple imputed data. Models were adjusted for gestational age at enrolment, maternal age, ethnicity, educational level, prepregnancy body mass index, gestational weight gain, smoking and alcohol consumption during pregnancy, folic acid supplementation use, total calorie intake during pregnancy, pregnancy complications, and fetal sex.

**Figure 2.3.1.** Associations of maternal parity with fetal and childhood growth characteristics $^1$ 

			Small size for	Large size for
	Preterm birth	Low birth weight	gestational age	gestational age
Parity	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
0	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
n = 4992	$n_{cases} = 317$	$n_{cases} = 317$	$n_{cases} = 321$	n <sub>cases</sub> = 160
≥1	0.62 (0.50, 0.77)**	0.42 (0.33, 0.53)**	0.44 (0.34, 0.55)**	2.47 (1.97, 3.10)**
n = 4035	$n_{cases} = 168$	$n_{cases} = 121$	$n_{cases} = 124$	n <sub>cases</sub> = 286
1	0.64 (0.51, 0.80)**	0.42 (0.32, 0.55)**	0.45 (0.35, 0.58)**	2.35 (1.85, 2.97)**
n = 2721	$n_{cases} = 114$	n <sub>cases</sub> = 79	n <sub>cases</sub> = 85	n <sub>cases</sub> = 182
2	0.59 (0.41, 0.86)**	0.42 (0.28, 0.63)**	0.43 (0.28, 0.65)**	2.88 (2.08, 4.01)**
n = 937	$n_{cases} = 40$	n <sub>cases</sub> = 30	n <sub>cases</sub> = 30	n <sub>cases</sub> = 75
≥3	0.52 (0.30, 0.90)*	0.36 (0.20, 0.67)**	0.32 (0.17, 0.62)**	3.26 (2.02, 5.27)**
n = 377	n <sub>cases</sub> = 17	$n_{cases} = 13$	$n_{cases} = 11$	n <sub>cases</sub> = 30
Trend <sup>2</sup>	0.77 (0.67, 0.88)**	0.60 (0.52, 0.72)**	0.61 (0.52, 072)**	1.48 (1.32, 1.65 )**
Trend among				
multiparous				
mothers only <sup>2</sup>	0.87 (0.69, 1.09)	0.86 (0.66, 1.12)	0.86 (0.65, 1.14)	1.19 (1.01, 1.40)*

**Table 2.3.2.** Associations of maternal parity with birth outcomes  $(n = 9027)^1$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values are Odds Ratios (95% Confidence Interval) that indicate the differences in risks of preterm birth (gestational age <37 weeks at delivery), low birth weight (birth weight <2500 g), small size for gestational age at birth (sex and gestational-ageadjusted birth weight below 5<sup>th</sup> percentile) and large size for gestational age at birth (sex and gestational-ageadjusted birth weight above 95<sup>th</sup> percentile) for different categories of parity compared nulliparous mothers. Estimates are based on multiple imputed data. Models were adjusted for gestational age at enrolment, maternal age, ethnicity, educational level, prepregnancy body mass index, gestational weight gain, smoking and alcohol consumption during pregnancy, folic acid supplementation use, total calorie intake during pregnancy, pregnancy complications, and fetal sex. <sup>2</sup>Tests for trend were based on logistic regression models with parity as a continuous variable. \*P-value <0.05.\*\*P-value <0.01.

# Maternal parity, birth outcomes and infant growth patterns

**Table 2.3.2** shows that as compared to nulliparous mothers, multiparous mothers had lower risks of preterm delivery (Odds Ratio (OR) 0.62 (95% CI: 0.50, 0.77)) and small size for gestational age children (OR 0.44 (95% CI: 0.34, 0.55)) but a higher risk of large size for gestational age children (OR 2.47 (95% CI: 1.97, 3.10)). Trend analyses showed that among all mothers a higher parity was associated with lower risks of preterm birth and small size for gestational age at birth, and with a higher risk of large size for gestational age at birth (all P-values <0.05). These trends, although in similar direction, were not significant among multiparous mothers only. **Table 2.3.3** shows that compared to infants of nulliparous mothers, infants of multiparous mothers had a lower weight gain between ages of 0 and 3 months, 3 and 6 months and 6 and 12 months (P-values <0.05). Similar significant but weaker associations were present for height in the first year of life.

# Maternal parity and childhood cardio-metabolic risk factors

**Table 2.3.4** shows that, as compared to children of nulliparous mothers, children of multiparous mothers had a lower body mass index (difference:  $-0.12 \text{ kg/m}^2$  (95% CI: -0.22, -0.02)) and total fat mass percentage (difference: -0.42 % (95% CI: -0.69, -0.14)), but not android/gynoid fat mass ratio, at the age of 6 years. Among all mothers and multiparous mothers only, consistent trends in similar direction were present (P for trends <0.05). No significant associations were present of maternal parity with

childhood cardiac outcomes. Trend analyses showed that higher maternal parity was associated with lower total-cholesterol and LDL-cholesterol levels in children (P for trend among all mothers and among multiparous mothers only <0.05), but no associations were present for triglycerides and insulin levels. Children of multiparous mothers had a lower risk of childhood overweight (OR 0.75 (95% CI: 0.63, 0.88)) and tended to have a lower risk of childhood clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors (OR 0.82 (95% CI: 0.64, 1.05)) as compared to children of nulliparous mothers (**Figure 2.3.2**). We observed significant trends towards a lower risk of childhood overweight and childhood clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors with increasing parity (P for trend among all mothers <0.05). Among multiparous mothers only, trend analysis showed similar tendencies. We observed similar results when we restricted our analyses to mothers of European origin (**Supplementary Table S2.3.4**). We did not adjust our analyses for previous miscarriages. However, when we repeated our analyses using maternal gravidity instead of maternal parity, effect estimates for the associations with birth and childhood outcomes were in similar direction (results not shown).

# Discussion

In this prospective cohort study, we observed that as compared to maternal nulliparity, multiparity was associated with higher fetal growth rates from third trimester onwards and with lower risks of delivering preterm and small size for gestational age infants, but a higher risk of delivering large size for gestational age infants. Children of multiparous mothers had lower rates of accelerated infant growth and a better cardio-metabolic profile at 6 years. Among multiparous mothers only, a higher parity was associated with a lower risk of childhood overweight and a better cholesterol profile.

# Methodological considerations

We had a prospective data collection from early fetal life onwards, and a large sample size of 9031 pregnant women and their children. Detailed, repeatedly measured, fetal and childhood growth characteristics were available. A potential limitation might be the response rate of 61%. Pregnant women who participated were more highly educated, healthier and more frequently of Dutch origin than were those who did not participate.<sup>11</sup> Follow-up data at 6 years were available in 69% of our study population. The non-response would lead to biased effect estimates if the associations would be different between those included and not included in the analyses. This seems unlikely.<sup>24</sup> The non-response at baseline and at follow-up might have led to a selection of a more healthy population, and might affect the generalizability of our results. Differences in maternal health and lifestyle-related determinants between families with one child and multiple children might be an important confounding aspect within our study. We had detailed information about a large number of potential confounding socio-demographic and lifestyle-related factors available in this study.

	Length (change in SDS)			Weight (change in SDS)		
arity	0 – 3 months	3 – 6 months	6 – 12 months	0 – 3 months	3 – 6 months	6 – 12 months
0	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
	1488	2048	2645	2755	2614	2957
21	-0.11 (-0.20, -0.02)*	-0.05 (-0.10, -0.01)*	-0.08 (-0.12, -0.04)**	-0.23 (-0.29, -0.17)**	-0.09 (-0.12, -0.06)**	-0.06 (-0.10, -0.03)**
ι	1203	1550	1999	2098	1960	2239
_	-0.10 (-0.20, -0.01)*	-0.04 (-0.09, 0.01)	-0.09 (-0.13, -0.05)**	-0.20 (-0.26, -0.13)**	-0.09 (-0.12, -0.05)**	-0.08 (-0.11, -0.04)**
	844	1082	1414	1462	1379	1581
2	-0.15 (-0.31, 0.00)*	-0.10 (-0.18, -0.02)*	-0.06 (-0.12, 0.01)	-0.33 (-0.43, -0.23)**	-0.11 (-0.17, -0.06)**	-0.01 (-0.06, 0.05)
L	270	348	437	473	432	492
23	0.01 (-0.25, 0.26)	-0.08 (-0.21, 0.04)	-0.03 (-0.13, 0.08)	-0.35 (-0.52, -0.19)**	-0.03 (-0.12, 0.06)	-0.06 (-0.15, 0.03)
L	89	120	148	163	149	166
Trend <sup>2</sup>	-0.05 (-0.10, 0.01)	-0.04 (-0.07, -0.01)**	-0.03 (-0.05, -0.01)*	-0.14 (-0.18, -0.10)**	-0.04 (-0.06, -0.02)**	-0.02 (-0.05, -0.00)*
Trend among multiparous						
mothers only <sup>2</sup>	-0.01 (-0.11, 0.10)	-0.04 (-0.09, 0.01)	0.04 (-0.01, 0.08)	-0.07 (-0.14, -0.01)*	0.01 (-0.03, 0.04)	0.01 (-0.02, 0.05)

**Table 2.3.3.** Associations of maternal parity with growth rates in different intervals during infancy<sup>1</sup>

as compared to nulliparous mothers. Values are based on multiple imputed data. Models were adjusted for gestational age at enrolment, maternal age, ethnicity, educational level, prepregnancy body mass index, gestational weight gain, smoking and alcohol consumption during pregnancy, folic acid supplementation use, total calorie intake during pregnancy, pregnancy complications, and fetal sex, gestational age at birth, infant breastfeeding, timing of introduction of solid foods, average duration of tv watching, and age at visit. <sup>2</sup>Tests for trend were based on multiple linear regression models with parity as a continuous variable. \*P-value <0.05. \*\*P-value <0.01.

		Diffe	trence (95% CI) in childh	ood ca	ardio-metabolic risk fac	ctors for different parity	· categories			
	u	0	≥1	0	1	2	23	Trend	Trend among multiparous mothers only	
<b>Adiposity outcomes</b> Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	6295	Ref	-0.12 (-0.22, -0.02)**	Ref	-0.09 (-0.19, 0.02)	-0.17 (-0.34, -0.01)*	-0.64 (-0.91, -0.37)**	-0.13 (-0.19, -0.07)**	-0.17 (-0.28, -0.06)**	
Total fat mass (%)	6131	Ref	-0.42 (-0.69, -0.14)**	Ref	-0.34 (-0.63, -0.05)*	-0.60 (-1.06, -0.15)**	-1.20 (-1.96, -0.44)**	-0.32 (-0.49, -0.14)**	-0.30 (-0.60, -0.00)*	
Android/gynoid fat mass ratio (%)	6126	Ref	-0.10 (-0.45, 0.26)	Ref	-0.05 (-0.52, 0.33)	-0.12 (-0.70, 0.47)	-1.13 (-2.09, -0.16)*	-0.19 (-0.41, 0.04)	-0.36 (-0.73, 0.02)	
Cardiovascular outcomes										
Left ventricular mass (g)	5934	Ref	-0.33 (-0.93, 0.27)	Ref	-0.38 (-1.01, 0.25)	-0.17 (-1.17, 0.82)	0.07 (-1.53, 1.68)	-0.05 (-0.43, 0.33)	0.27 (-0.37, 0.91)	
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	6055	Ref	-0.36 (-0.83, 0.10)	Ref	-0.42 (-0.91, 0.06)	-0.32 (-1.08, 0.45)	0.77 (-0.45, 2.00)	0.01 (-0.28, 0.30)	0.28 (-0.20, 0.75)	
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	6055	Ref	-0.32 (-0.71, 0.07)	Ref	-0.32 (-0.73, 0.08)	-0.38 (-1.03, 0.26)	0.10 (-0.94, 1.14)	-0.11 (-0.35, 0.14)	-0.03 (-0.45, 0.39)	
Metabolic outcomes										
Cholesterol (mmol/L)	4177	Ref	-0.04 (-0.08, 0.01)	Ref	-0.02 (-0.07, 0.03)	-0.09 (-0.17, -0.02)*	-0.13 (-0.24, -0.01)*	-0.04 (-0.06, -0.01)*	-0.05 (-0.10, -0.01)*	
HDL (mmol/L)	4181	Ref	0.02 (-0.01, 0.04)	Ref	0.02 (-0.00, 0.04)	0.00 (-0.03, 0.04)	0.02 (-0.04, 0.08)	0.01 (-0.01, 0.02)	0.00 (-0.03, 0.02)	
LDL (mmol/L)	4180	Ref	-0.04 (-0.08, 0.00)*	Ref	-0.03 (-0.07, 0.02)	-0.09 (-0.16, -0.03)**	-0.12 (-0.23, -0.02)*	-0.04 (-0.06, -0.01)**	-0.06 (-0.10, -0.01)*	

**Table 2.3.4.** Associations of maternal parity with childhood cardio-metabolic risk factors (n = 6295)<sup>1,2</sup>

Values are linear regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) and reflect the differences in childhood outcomes for different parity categories as compared to nulliparous mothers. Values are based on multiple imputed data. Models were adjusted for gestational age at enrolment, maternal age, ethnicity, educational level, prepregnancy body mass index, gestational weight gain, smoking and alcohol consumption during pregnancy, folic acid supplementation use, total calorie intake during pregnancy, pregnancy complications, and fetal sex, gestational age and weight at birth, infant breastfeeding, timing of introduction of solid foods, average duration of tv watching, and age at measurement. Models for fat mass outcomes were additionally adjusted for current childhood height. Models for cardio-metabolic outcomes were additionally adjusted for current childhood body mass index. <sup>2</sup> Tests for trend were based on multiple linear regression models with parity as a

continuous variable. <sup>3</sup>Triglycerides and insulin had a skewed distribution and were logtransformed and square root transformed, respectively.\*P-value <0.05. \*\*P-value <0.01.

-0.12 (-0.41, 0.18) 0.00 (-0.03, 0.04)

-0.01 (-0.03, 0.01) 0.05 (-0.13, 0.23)

-0.02 (-0.10, 0.07) 0.16 (-0.61, 0.92)

-0.01 (-0.07, 0.04) -0.03 (-0.50, 0.44)

-0.03 (-0.06, 0.01) 0.30 (0.00, 0.60)

Ref Ref

Ref -0.02 (-0.06, 0.02) Ref 0.24 (-0.05, 0.53)

4166 4138

Triglyceride (mmol/L)<sup>3</sup>

Insulin (pmol/L)<sup>3</sup>



Figure 2.3.2. Associations of maternal parity with childhood overweight and obesity and childhood clustering of cardiometabolic risk factors<sup>1,2,3,4</sup>

2.3.2a. Overweight and obesity in the offspring



<sup>1</sup>Values are Odds Ratios (95% Confidence Interval) that reflect the difference in risks of childhood overweight and obesity and childhood clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors for different parity categories  $(1, 2, \ge 3)$ , as compared to nulliparous mothers (0). Estimates are from multiple imputed data. <sup>2</sup>Models were adjusted for gestational age at enrolment, maternal age, ethnicity, educational level, prepregnancy body mass index, gestational weight gain, smoking and alcohol consumption during pregnancy, folic acid supplementation use, total calorie intake during pregnancy, pregnancy complications, and fetal sex, gestational age and weight at birth, infant breastfeeding, timing of introduction of solid foods, average duration of tv watching, and age at measurement. <sup>3</sup>OR for children born from multiparous mothers, as compared to children born from nulliparous mothers for risk of childhood overweight and obesity OR 0.75 (95% CI: 0.63, 0.88) and for childhood clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors OR 0.82 (95% CI: 0.64, 1.05). <sup>4</sup>Trend among multiparous mothers only for childhood overweight or obesity: OR 0.76 (95% CI: 0.64, 0.90). Trend among multiparous mothers only for childhood clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors: OR 0.77 (95% CI: 0.58, 1.02).

Extensive adjustment for these factors in our analyses did not explain the associations of maternal parity with birth and childhood outcomes. However, residual confounding due to other lifestyle-related variables, such as maternal and childhood nutritional factors and physical activity, might still be an issue. Also, ethnic background was strongly related to maternal parity in our study, and the influence of ethnic background on childhood outcomes might affect our findings. However, all analyses were adjusted for maternal ethnic background and analyses among European mothers only showed similar results. Finally, we had a relatively small number of cases of adverse birth and childhood outcomes among multiparous mothers within our study, which might explain nonsignificant findings for these outcomes among multiparous mothers only.

# Maternal parity and fetal and childhood outcomes

We observed that nulliparous mothers had children with lower fetal growth rates and higher risks of delivering preterm and small size for gestational age children. Among multiparous women only, trend analysis showed a tendency towards decreasing risks of adverse birth outcomes with increasing parity. Our findings are in line with a previous study among 25.614 singleton births, which showed that the rates of intra-uterine growth restriction and preterm delivery were higher among nulliparous women as compared to multiparous women.<sup>5</sup> As compared to infants of nulliparous mothers, infants of multiparous mothers had lower rates of accelerated infant growth, lower childhood body mass index, fat mass percentage and cholesterol levels. Among multiparous women only, consistent trends with increasing parity in similar direction were present. Although the observed effect estimates were small and they are mainly of interest from a cardiovascular developmental perspective, previous studies have shown that these childhood cardio-metabolic risk factors tend to track into adulthood and are related to development of cardiovascular disease in later life.<sup>25,26</sup>

In line with our findings, a previous prospective cohort study among 1335 infants showed that infants of nulliparous mothers had dramatic catch-up growth and from 12 months onwards these infants were heavier and taller as compared to infants of multiparous mothers.<sup>27</sup> A study, which examined the combined effect of maternal and child risk factors in generating risk profiles for overweight and obesity among preschool children observed that parity played an important role.<sup>28</sup> Parity has also been identified as an independent determinant of neonatal body composition.<sup>29</sup> Furthermore, a study among 276 men and women reported that adiposity in early adulthood is influenced by maternal parity independent of birth weight and current lifestyle-related factors.<sup>30</sup> In our study, the associations of maternal parity with cardio-metabolic risk factors in childhood were also independent of birth weight and not explained by socio-demographic and lifestyle-related factors. A recent study among 1.065.710 Swedish men also reported that birth order was negatively associated with body mass index.<sup>31</sup>

We observed no associations of maternal parity with childhood left ventricular mass and blood pressure. Studies examining associations of parity with offspring blood pressure have reported conflicting results.<sup>31-36</sup> A study among 3360 children reported that maternal parity was inversely associated with offspring blood pressure.<sup>32</sup> However, this study suggested that as associations of both older and younger siblings with childhood blood pressure were equally strong, the association is likely a postnatal effect instead of a prenatal maternal effect.<sup>32</sup> A study among 453 Brazilian adolescents also showed that significant associations of parity with systolic and diastolic blood pressure disappeared in fully adjusted models, which further supports a postnatal effect.<sup>36</sup>

To our knowledge, no previous studies have examined the associations of maternal parity with childhood metabolic outcomes. The concept of metabolic syndrome in childhood is controversial, as there may be variability in its manifestation with age, gender and ethnicity and there is lack of understanding of underlying pathophysiological mechanisms.<sup>21</sup> However, defining children with clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors for research purposes might identify children at high risk of cardiovascular and metabolic diseases in later life.<sup>21</sup> We observed that children of nulliparous mothers had higher cholesterol levels and a higher risk of clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors. A study among young Brazilian adults showed that firstborns had higher cholesterol and triglycerides levels, and a higher metabolic risk as compared to later-borns.<sup>33</sup> The
association of maternal parity with metabolic risk was not explained by birth weight, but was largely explained by rapid postnatal growth.<sup>33</sup> In our study, the associations between maternal parity and childhood overweight and childhood clustering of cardiometabolic risk factors were not explained by birth weight, but they were also only partly explained by infant growth.

### **Biological mechanisms**

The mechanisms by which nulliparity might be associated with impaired fetal growth, accelerated infant growth and an adverse childhood metabolic profile are not clear. Shared family-based, lifestyle-related, and parenting behaviour factors, which differ between families from nulliparous and multiparous mothers, may explain part of the observed associations. However, since our findings were not explained by a large number of socio-demographic and lifestyle-related characteristics, and we already observed differences in birth and early childhood outcomes, biological mechanisms may also play a role.

Maternal constraint, which involves non-genetic influences by which the mother limits fetal growth, may be greater among nulliparous mothers. Maternal constraint may involve suboptimal adaptations in the utero-placental vasculature.<sup>37</sup> During the first pregnancy the spiral arteries, which provide maternal blood to the placenta, are remodeled.<sup>3</sup> Multiparous women may offer, through remodelling of maternal vascular structures in their previous pregnancies, a more favourable environment for placental development, placental function and fetal nutrition in the next pregnancies.<sup>38-41</sup> Furthermore, differences in maternal metabolic and hormonal environment between nulliparous and multiparous women may influence foeto-placental development.<sup>42,43</sup> Impaired fetal growth, followed by infant catch-up growth may influence risks of adiposity and adverse cardio-metabolic outcomes in later life.<sup>6,44</sup> Animal studies also suggested an increase in fat mass and alterations in endocrine sensitivity in adipose tissue in firstborn offspring, which may also be important risk factors for obesity and related disorders in later life.<sup>40</sup>

### Conclusion

We observed that children of nulliparous mothers have slower fetal growth rates and accelerated infant growth rates. Maternal nulliparity is associated with increased risks of adverse birth outcomes, and childhood adiposity and adverse metabolic profile in offspring. Among multiparous mothers only, increasing parity tends to be associated with a decreasing risk of adverse health outcomes in offspring. Maternal nulliparity may have persistent cardio-metabolic consequences for the offspring. Further studies are needed to explore underlying mechanisms.

### References

- Duckitt K, Harrington D. Risk factors for pre-eclampsia at antenatal booking: Systematic review of controlled studies. BMJ. 2005;330:565.
- Ness RB, Kramer RA, Flegal KM. Gravidity, blood pressure, and hypertension among white women in the second national health and nutrition examination survey. Epidemiology. 1993;4:303-309.
- Rurangirwa AA, Gaillard R, Steegers EA, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Hemodynamic adaptations in different trimesters among nulliparous and multiparous pregnant women; the generation r study. Am J Hypertens. 2012;25(8):892-9.
- 4. Camilleri AP, Cremona V. The effect of parity on birthweight. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw. 1970;77:145-147.
- Shoham-Vardi I, Leiberman JR, Kopernik G. The association of primiparity with intrauterine growth retardation. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 1994;53:95-101.
- Gluckman PD, Hanson MA, Cooper C, Thornburg KL. Effect of in utero and early-life conditions on adult health and disease. N Engl J Med. 2008;359:61-73.
- Pallotto EK, Kilbride HW. Perinatal outcome and later implications of intrauterine growth restriction. Clin Obstet Gynecol. 2006;49:257-269.
- 8. Desai M, Beall M, Ross MG. Developmental origins of obesity: Programmed adipogenesis. Curr Diab Rep. 2013;13:27-33.
- 9. Barker DJ. The developmental origins of insulin resistance. Horm Res. 2005;64 Suppl 3:2-7.
- Chen W, Srinivasan SR, Yao L, Li S, Dasmahapatra P, Fernandez C, Xu J, Berenson GS. Low birth weight is associated with higher blood pressure variability from childhood to young adulthood: The bogalusa heart study. Am J Epidemiol. 2012;176 Suppl 7:S99-105.
- Jaddoe VW, van Duijn CM, Franco OH, van der Heijden AJ, van lizendoorn MH, de Jongste JC, van der Lugt A, Mackenbach JP, Moll HA, Raat H, Rivadeneira F, Steegers EA, Tiemeier H, Uitterlinden AG, Verhulst FC, Hofman A. The generation r study: Design and cohort update 2012. Eur J Epidemiol. 2012;27:739-756.
- 12. Declaration of helsinki. Ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. J Indian Med Assoc. 2009;107:403-405.
- Verburg BO, Steegers EA, De Ridder M, Snijders RJ, Smith E, Hofman A, Moll HA, Jaddoe VW, Witteman JC. New charts for ultrasound dating of pregnancy and assessment of fetal growth: Longitudinal data from a population-based cohort study. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2008;31:388-396.
- 14. Royal College of O, Gynaecologists. Routine ultrasound screening in pregnancy : Protocol, standards and training. Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists; 2000.
- Hadlock FP, Harrist RB, Sharman RS, Deter RL, Park SK. Estimation of fetal weight with the use of head, body, and femur measurements--a prospective study. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1985;151:333-337.
- Niklasson A, Ericson A, Fryer JG, Karlberg J, Lawrence C, Karlberg P. An update of the swedish reference standards for weight, length and head circumference at birth for given gestational age (1977-1981). Acta Paediatr Scand. 1991;80:756-762.
- 17. Cole TJ, Bellizzi MC, Flegal KM, Dietz WH. Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: International survey. BMJ. 2000;320:1240-1243.
- Helba M, Binkovitz LA. Pediatric body composition analysis with dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry. Pediatr Radiol. 2009;39:647-656.
- Schiller NB, Shah PM, Crawford M, DeMaria A, Devereux R, Feigenbaum H, Gutgesell H, Reichek N, Sahn D, Schnittger I, et al. Recommendations for quantitation of the left ventricle by two-dimensional echocardiography. American society of echocardiography committee on standards, subcommittee on quantitation of two-dimensional echocardiograms. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 1989;2:358-367.
- Devereux RB, Alonso DR, Lutas EM, Gottlieb GJ, Campo E, Sachs I, Reichek N. Echocardiographic assessment of left ventricular hypertrophy: Comparison to necropsy findings. Am J Cardiol. 1986;57:450-458.
- 21. Steinberger J, Daniels SR, Eckel RH, Hayman L, Lustig RH, McCrindle B, Mietus-Snyder ML. Progress and challenges in metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents: A scientific statement from the american heart association atherosclerosis, hypertension, and obesity in the young committee of the council on cardiovascular disease in the young; council on cardiovascular nursing; and council on nutrition, physical activity, and metabolism. Circulation. 2009;119:628-647.
- Coolman M, de Groot CJ, Jaddoe VW, Hofman A, Raat H, Steegers EA. Medical record validation of maternally reported history of pre-eclampsia. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 2010;63:932-937.
- 23. Goldstein H. Multilevel statistical models. London. New York: E. Arnold ;Oxford University Press; 1995.
- 24. Nohr EA, Frydenberg M, Henriksen TB, Olsen J. Does low participation in cohort studies induce bias? Epidemiology. 2006;17:413-418.
- Juhola J, Magnussen CG, Viikari JS, Kahonen M, Hutri-Kahonen N, Jula A, et al. Tracking of serum lipid levels, blood pressure, and body mass index from childhood to adulthood: the Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study. The Journal of pediatrics. 2011;159:584-90.
- 26. Franks PW, Hanson RL, Knowler WC, Sievers ML, Bennett PH, Looker HC. Childhood obesity, other cardiovascular risk factors, and premature death. N Engl J Med. 2010;362:485-93.

- Ong KK, Preece MA, Emmett PM, Ahmed ML, Dunger DB. Size at birth and early childhood growth in relation to maternal smoking, parity and infant breast-feeding: Longitudinal birth cohort study and analysis. Pediatr Res. 2002;52:863-867.
- 28. Kitsantas P, Gaffney KF. Risk profiles for overweight/obesity among preschoolers. Early Hum Dev. 2010;86:563-568.
- Harvey NC, Poole JR, Javaid MK, Dennison EM, Robinson S, Inskip HM, Godfrey KM, Cooper C, Sayer AA. Parental determinants of neonatal body composition. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92:523-526.
- Reynolds RM, Osmond C, Phillips DI, Godfrey KM. Maternal bmi, parity, and pregnancy weight gain: Influences on offspring adiposity in young adulthood. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010;95:5365-5369.
- 31. Jelenkovic A, Silventoinen K, Tynelius P, Myrskyla M, Rasmussen F. Association of birth order with cardiovascular disease risk factors in young adulthood: A study of one million swedish men. PLoS One. 2013;8:e63361.
- Whincup PH, Cook DG, Papacosta O. Do maternal and intrauterine factors influence blood pressure in childhood? Archives of disease in childhood. 1992;67:1423-1429.
- Siervo M, Horta BL, Stephan BC, Victora CG, Wells JC. First-borns carry a higher metabolic risk in early adulthood: Evidence from a prospective cohort study. PLoS One. 2010;5:e13907.
- 34. Law CM, Barker DJ, Bull AR, Osmond C. Maternal and fetal influences on blood pressure. Archives of disease in childhood. 1991;66:1291-1295.
- Whincup PH, Cook DG, Shaper AG. Early influences on blood pressure: A study of children aged 5-7 years. BMJ. 1989;299:587-591.
- Wells JC, Hallal PC, Reichert FF, Dumith SC, Menezes AM, Victora CG. Associations of birth order with early growth and adolescent height, body composition, and blood pressure: Prospective birth cohort from brazil. Am J Epidemiol. 2011;174:1028-1035.
- 37. Gluckman PD, Hanson MA. Maternal constraint of fetal growth and its consequences. Seminars in fetal & neonatal medicine. 2004;9:419-425.
- Clapp JF, 3rd, Capeless E. Cardiovascular function before, during, and after the first and subsequent pregnancies. Am J Cardiol. 1997;80:1469-1473.
- 39. Zalud I, Shaha S. Three-dimensional sonography of the placental and uterine spiral vasculature: Influence of maternal age and parity. J Clin Ultrasound. 2008;36:391-396.
- 40. Hyatt MA, Keisler DH, Budge H, Symonds ME. Maternal parity and its effect on adipose tissue deposition and endocrine sensitivity in the postnatal sheep. J Endocrinol. 2010;204:173-179.
- 41. Khong TY, Adema ED, Erwich JJ. On an anatomical basis for the increase in birth weight in second and subsequent born children. Placenta. 2003;24:348-353.
- 42. Gunderson EP, Lewis CE, Murtaugh MA, Quesenberry CP, Smith West D, Sidney S. Long-term plasma lipid changes associated with a first birth: the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults study. Am J Epidemiol. 2004;159(11):1028-39.
- 43. Toriola AT, Vääräsmäki M, Lehtinen M, Zeleniuch-Jacquotte A, Lundin E, Rodgers KG, et al. Determinants of maternal sex steroids during the first half of pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol. 2011;118(5):1029-36.
- 44. Ong KK, Ahmed ML, Emmett PM, Preece MA, Dunger DB. Association between postnatal catch-up growth and obesity in childhood: Prospective cohort study. BMJ. 2000;320:967-971.

### Supplementary Material

#### Supplementary Figure S2.3.1. Flowchart of the participants



**Supplementary Table S2.3.1.** Non-response analysis  $(n = 9031)^1$ 

	Complete population	Follow-up at	Follow-up at
	for analysis	6 years: Yes	6 years: No
Characteristics	n = 9031	n = 6304	n = 2727
Maternal characteristics			
Age (years)	29.8 (5.3)	30.5 (5.2)	28.4 (5.5)
Height (cm)	167.1 (7.4)	167.5 (7.4)	166.3 (7.4)
Prepregnancy weight (kg)	66.2 (12.8)	66.5 (12.6)	65.7 (13.4)
Prepregnancy body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	23.6 (4.4)	23.6 (4.2)	23.7 (4.7)
Gestational age at intake (weeks) <sup>2</sup>	14.1 (9.9, 24.8)	13.9 (9.9, 24.4)	14.5 (9.9, 27.5)
Parity (No., %)			
0	4994 (55.3)	3560 (56.5)	1434 (52.6)
1	2721 (30.1)	1911 (30.3)	810 (29.7)
2	939 (10.4)	623 (9.9)	316 (11.6)
≥3	377 (4.2)	210 (3.3)	167 (6.1)
Education (No., %)	. ,	. ,	
Primary school	926 (11.4)	562 (9.7)	364 (15.6)
Secondary school	3756 (46.1)	2555 (44.0)	1201 (51.3)
Higher education	3470 (42.6)	2696 (46.4)	774 (33.1)
Ethnicity (No., %)		. ,	
European	4944 (57.7)	3771 (61.2)	1173 (48.7)
Non- European	3625 (42.3)	2388 (38.8)	1237 (51.3)
Alcohol consumption (No., %)			
No	3674 (49.7)	2384 (46.0)	1290 (58.1)
Yes	3725 (50.3)	2795 (54.0)	930 (41.9)
Smoking habits (No., %)			
No	5460 (72.7)	3876 (74.0)	1584 (70.3)
Yes	2034 (27.1)	1365 (26.0)	669 (29.7)
Folic acid supplements (No., %)			
None	1870 (29.4)	1131 (25.2)	739 (39.5)
1 <sup>st</sup> 10 weeks	1979 (31.1)	1421 (31.7)	558 (29.8)
Periconception use	2511 (39.5)	1937 (43.1)	574 (30.7)
Pregnancy complications (No., %)			
Gestational diabetes	96 (1.1)	62 (1.0)	34 (1.3)
Pre-eclampsia	170 (2.2)	106 (1.9)	64 (2.7)
Gestational hypertension	310 (3.9)	235 (4.2)	75 (3.1)
Birth characteristics			
Gestational age (weeks) <sup>2</sup>	40.1 (35.4, 42.3)	40.1 (35.7, 42.3)	40.0 (34.7, 42.4)
Male sex (No., %)	4578 (50.7)	3156 (50.1)	1423 (52.2)
Birth weight (g)	3409 (565)	3422 (556)	3378 (583)

<sup>1</sup>Values are means (standard deviation) or numbers (percentages). <sup>2</sup>Median (95% range).

### CHAPTER 2.3

Trimester of measurement	Head circumference	Femur length	Estimated fetal weight
and parity category	(mm)	(mm)	(g)
Second trimester			
0	Reference	Reference	Reference
≥1	-0.1 (-0.4, 0.2)	0.1 (0, 0.2)	3.6 (1.4, 5.8)**
1	-0.2 (-0.5, 0.2)	0 (-0.1, 0.1)	2.3 (0, 4.7)*
2	0.1 (-0.4, 0.6)	0.2 (0.1, 0.4)**	7.3 (3.6, 11.0)**
≥3	0 (-0.7, 0.8)	0.3 (0, 0.5)*	9.4 (3.8, 15.0)**
Trend <sup>3</sup>	0 (-0.2, 0.2)	0.1 (0, 0.1)**	3.0 (1.7, 4.3)**
Third trimester			
0	Reference	Reference	Reference
≥1	0.2 (-0.2, 0.7)	0.2 (0.1, 0.3)**	26.3 (17.3, 35.3)**
1	0.1 (-0.3, 0.6)	0.2 (0.1, 0.3)**	23.9 (14.4, 33.3)**
2	0.6 (-0.1. 1.3)	0.3 (0.1, 0.5)**	33.2 (18.4, 48.0)**
≥3	0.5 (-0.7, 1.6)	0.4 (0.1,0.7)**	38.1 (14.8, 61.5)**
Trend <sup>3</sup>	0.2 (-0.1, 0.5)	0.2 (0.1, 0.2)**	15.2 (9.8, 20.6)**
At birth	Head circumference	Birth length	Birth weight
	(cm)	(cm)	(g)
0	Reference	Reference	Reference
≥1	0.5 (0.4, 0.6)**	0.4 (0.3, 0.6)**	188.9 (169.2, 208.5)**
1	0.5 (0.4, 0.6)**	0.4 (0.3, 0.5)**	174.3 (153.5, 195.2)**
2	0.6 (0.4, 0.8)**	0.5 (0.3, 0.7)**	222.3 (190.0, 254.6)**
≥3	0.9 (0.6, 1.2)**	0.7 (0.3, 1.0)**	284.9 (235.3, 334.5)**
Trend <sup>3</sup>	0.3 (0.3, 0.4)**	0.3 (0.2, 0.3)**	103.4 (91.8, 114.9)**

Supplementary Table S2.3.2. Associations of maternal parity with fetal growth characteristics during pregnancy and at birth<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Results are from linear regression analyses. Values are regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) that reflect the differences in each growth characteristic measured in second trimester, third trimester and at birth, for different parity categories as compared to nulliparity. Estimates are based on multiple imputed data. <sup>2</sup>Models were adjusted for gestational age at enrolment, maternal age, ethnicity, educational level, prepregnancy body mass index, gestational weight gain, smoking and alcohol consumption during pregnancy, folic acid supplementation use, total calorie intake during pregnancy, pregnancy variable. \*P-value <0.05. \*\*P-value <0.05.

	Weight				
Parity	12 months (g)	24 months (g)	36 months (g)	48 months (g)	72 months (kg)
0	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
≥1	59.5 (-0.3, 119.3)	-45.2 (-135.7, 45.3)	-77.0 (-193.0, 38.9)	-33.8 (-180.1, 112.4)	-0.3 (-0.6, -0.1)*
1	55.2 (-7.8, 118.2)	-58.4 (-153.9, 37.2)	-88.6 (-210.3, 33.0)	-38.0 (-192.0, 116.1)	-0.3 (-0.5, 0.0)
2	56.7 (-43.8, 157.3)	-18.8 (-172.9, 135.3)	-58.9 (-258.7, 141.0)	-23.5 (-269.6, 222.7)	-0.4 (-0.8, 0.1)
≥3	154.0 (-12.5, 320.5)	90.4 (-161.2, 342.1)	62.7 (-259.3, 384.6)	-3.4 (-403.6, 396.9)	-1.0 (-1.7, -0.3)*
Trend	42.8 (5.4, 80.1)*	3.6 (-53.1, 60.3)	-13.2 (-86.1, 59.6)	14.0 (-77.1, 105.1)	-0.2 (-0.4, -0.1)**
	Length				
Parity	12 months (cm)	24 months (cm)	36 months (cm)	48 months (cm)	72 months (cm)
0	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
≥1	/				
	-0.0 (-0.2, 0.1)	-0.4 (-0.6, -0.2)**	-0.3 (-0.5, -0.0)*	-0.27 (-0.5, 0.0)	-0.4 (-0.69, -0.13)**
1	-0.0 (-0.2, 0.1) -0.1 (-0.2, 0.1)	-0.4 (-0.6, -0.2)** -0.4 (-0.6, -0.2)**	-0.3 (-0.5, -0.0)* -0.4 (-0.6, -0.1)**	-0.27 (-0.5, 0.0) -0.32 (-0.6, -0.0)*	-0.4 (-0.69, -0.13)** -0.4 (-0.72, -0.12)**
1 2	-0.0 (-0.2, 0.1) -0.1 (-0.2, 0.1) 0.1 (-0.2, 0.3)	-0.4 (-0.6, -0.2)** -0.4 (-0.6, -0.2)** -0.2 (-0.5, 0.2)	-0.3 (-0.5, -0.0)* -0.4 (-0.6, -0.1)** 0.1 (-0.3, 0.5)	-0.27 (-0.5, 0.0) -0.32 (-0.6, -0.0)* -0.06 (-0.5, 0.4)	-0.4 (-0.69, -0.13)** -0.4 (-0.72, -0.12)** -0.3 (-0.75, 0.19)
1 2 ≥3	-0.0 (-0.2, 0.1) -0.1 (-0.2, 0.1) 0.1 (-0.2, 0.3) 0.3 (-0.1, 0.7)	-0.4 (-0.6, -0.2)** -0.4 (-0.6, -0.2)** -0.2 (-0.5, 0.2) 0.0 (-0.5, 0.6)	-0.3 (-0.5, -0.0)* -0.4 (-0.6, -0.1)** 0.1 (-0.3, 0.5) 0.1 (-0.6, 0.7)	-0.27 (-0.5, 0.0) -0.32 (-0.6, -0.0)* -0.06 (-0.5, 0.4) -0.24 (-1.0, 0.5)	-0.4 (-0.69, -0.13)** -0.4 (-0.72, -0.12)** -0.3 (-0.75, 0.19) -0.9 (-1.68, -0.16)*

Supplementary Table S2.3.3. Associations of maternal parity with childhood growth characteristics during the first 6 years of childhood  $^{1,2}$ 

<sup>1</sup>Results are from linear regression analyses. Values are regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) and reflect the differences in growth for each characteristic for different parity categories as compared to nulliparity. Models were adjusted for gestational age at enrolment, maternal age, ethnicity, educational level, prepregnancy body mass index, gestational weight gain, smoking and alcohol consumption during pregnancy, folic acid supplementation use, total calorie intake during pregnancy, pregnancy complications, and fetal sex, gestational age at birth, infant breastfeeding, timing of introduction of solid foods, average duration of tv watching, and age at measurement.<sup>2</sup>Tests for trend were based on multiple linear regression models with parity as a continuous variable. \*P-value <0.05. \*\* P-value <0.01.

		Diffe	rence (95%CI) in cardio-n	netabol	lic outcomes for differe	ent parity categories			
	u	0	21	0	1	2	23	Trend	Trend among multiparous women only
<b>Adiposity outcomes</b> Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> ) Total fat mass (%)	3765 3668	Ref Ref	-0.08 (-0.18, 0.03) -0.33 (-0.64, -0.02)*	Ref Ref	-0.06 (-0.17, 0.06) -0.30 (-0.62, 0.03)	-0.14 (-0.33, 0.05) -0.50 (-1.06, 0.06)	-0.36 (-0.76, 0.04) -0.41 (-1.58, 0.76)	-0.08 (-0.15, -0.00)** -0.24 (-0.45, -0.02)*	-0.14 (-0.29, 0.01) -0.24 (-0.66, 0.18)
Android/Gynoid fat mass ratio (%)	3667	Ref	0.03 (-0.38, 0.44)	Ref	0.09 (-0.34, 0.52)	-0.25 (-1.00, 0.49)	0.07 (-1.49, 1.62)	-0.03 (-0.32, 0.25)	-0.29 (-0.85, 0.26)
<b>Cardiovascular outcomes</b> Left ventricular mass (g)	3544	Ref	-0.35 (-1.12, 0.42)	Ref	-0.28 (-1.08, 0.53)	-0.84 (-2.25, 0.57)	0.45 (-2.50, 3.40)	-0.23 (-0.77, 0.31)	0.02 (-1.06, 1.10)
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	3626	Ref	-0.49 (-1.07, 0.10)	Ref	-0.62 (-1.23, -0.01)*	-0.21 (-1.26, 0.84)	2.08 (-0.12, 4.28)	-0.07 (-0.48, 0.35)	0.60 (-0.19, 1.39)
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	3626	Ref	-0.46 (-0.95, 0.03)	Ref	-0.51 (-1.02, 0.00)	-0.47 (-1.36, 0.42)	1.03 (-0.84, 2.89)	-0.18 (-0.52, 0.17)	0.28 (-0.41, 0.96)
Metabolic outcomes									
Cholesterol (mmol/L)	2506	Ref	-0.04 (-0.10, 0.01)	Ref	-0.03 (-0.09, 0.03)	-0.08 (-0.18, 0.03)	-0.25 (-0.44, -0.04)*	-0.05 (-0.08, -0.01)*	-0.08 (-0.16, -0.01)*
HDL (mmol/L)	2506	Ref	0.03 (0.00, 0.05)*	Ref	0.03 (-0.00, 0.05)	0.06 (0.01, 0.11)*	-0.02 (-0.12, 0.09)	0.02 (-0.00, 0.04)	-0.00 (-0.04, 0.04)
LDL (mmol/L)	2506	Ref	-0.06 (-0.11, -0.01)*	Ref	-0.04 (-0.10, 0.01)	-0.11 (-0.20, -0.02)*	-0.20 (-0.38, -0.01)*	-0.05 (-0.09, -0.02)**	-0.07 (-0.14, -0.01)*
Triglyceride (mmol/L) <sup>3</sup>	2502	Ref	-0.03 (-0.08, 0.01)	Ref	-0.03 (-0.08, 0.01)	-0.05 (-0.12, 0.03)	0.02 (-0.13, 0.17)	-0.02 (-0.05, 0.01)	0.01 (-0.05, 0.06)
Insulin (pmol/L) <sup>3</sup>	2486	Ref	0.34 (-0.02, 0.70)	Ref	0.44 (0.07, 0.81)*	-0.14 (-0.79, 0.51)	0.06 (-1.26, 1.38)	0.11 (-0.14, 0.36)	-0.37 (-0.85, 0.11)
<sup>1</sup> Values are linear regression coeff	icients (	95%	Confidence Interval) and	l reflect	: the differences in chil	ldhood outcomes betw	een different categorie	es of parity as compared	to nulliparity. Values are

**Supplementary Table S2.3.4.** Associations of maternal parity with childhood cardio-metabolic risk factors among Dutch and European mothers only  $(n = 4944)^{1,2}$ 

e i based on multiple imputed data. Models were adjusted for gestational age at enrolment, maternal age, educational level, prepregnancy body mass index, gestational weight gain, smoking and alcohol consumption during pregnancy, folic acid supplementation use, total calorie intake during pregnancy, pregnancy complications, and fetal sex, gestational age and weight at birth, infant breastfeeding, timing of introduction of solid foods, average duration of tv watching, and age at measurement. Models for fat mass outcomes were additionally adjusted for current childhood height. Models for cardio-metabolic outcomes were additionally adjusted for current childhood body mass index. <sup>2</sup> Tests for trend were based on multiple linear regression models with parity as a continuous variable. <sup>3</sup>Triglycerides and insulin had a skewed distribution and were logtransformed and square root transformed respectively. \*P-value <0.05. \*\*P-value <0.01.

### Chapter 2.4

### Maternal obesity, excessive gestational weight gain and the risks of pregnancy complications

Romy Gaillard Büşra Durmuş Albert Hofman Johan P. Mackenbach Eric A.P. Steegers Vincent W.V. Jaddoe

Adapted from Obesity. 2013;21(5):1046-55



### Abstract

**Objective**: The prevalence of overweight and obesity among women of reproductive age is increasing. We aimed to determine risk factors and maternal, fetal and childhood consequences of maternal obesity and excessive gestational weight gain.

**Design and Methods**: The study was embedded in a population-based prospective cohort study among 6959 mothers and their children. The study was based in Rotterdam, The Netherlands (2001 - 2005).

**Results:** Maternal lower educational level, lower household income, multiparity, and FTO risk allel were associated with an increased risk of maternal obesity, whereas maternal European ethnicity, nulliparity, higher total energy intake, and smoking during pregnancy were associated with an increased risk of excessive gestational weight gain (all P-values <0.05). As compared to normal weight, maternal obesity was associated with increased risks of gestational hypertension (Odds Ratio (OR) 6.31 (95% Confidence Interval (CI): 4.30, 9.26)), pre-eclampsia (3.61 (95% CI: 2.04, 6.39)), gestational diabetes (OR 6.28 (95% CI: 3.01, 13.06)), caesarean delivery (OR 1.91 (95% CI: 1.46, 2.50)), delivering large size for gestational age infants (OR 2.97 (95% CI: 2.16, 4.08)), and childhood obesity (OR 5.02 (95% CI: 2.97, 8.45)). Weaker associations of excessive gestational weight gain with maternal, fetal and childhood outcomes were observed, with the strongest effects for first trimester weight gain.

**Conclusions**: Our study shows that maternal obesity and excessive weight gain during pregnancy are associated with socio-demographic, lifestyle, and genetic factors and with increased risks of adverse maternal, fetal and childhood outcomes. As compared to prepregnancy overweight and obesity, excessive gestational weight gain has a limited influence on adverse pregnancy outcomes.

### Introduction

Maternal obesity seems to be associated with short-term adverse maternal and fetal outcomes.<sup>1-5</sup> It has also been suggested that maternal obesity is associated with long-term maternal and offspring consequences, such as postpartum weight retention, metabolic syndrome, and obesity in the offspring.<sup>1,3,6</sup> Excessive gestational weight gain might also influence the risk of adverse maternal and fetal outcomes.<sup>4,5,7</sup> The mechanisms of these associations remain unclear, as gestational weight gain reflects both maternal nutritional status, as well as tissue expansion during pregnancy, because of fat storage and fluids.<sup>4</sup> Not much is known about the specific risk factors for maternal obesity and excessive weight gain during pregnancy. Identification of these risk factors and critical periods of gestational weight gain might be useful for the development of preventive strategies.

In a population-based prospective cohort study among 6959 mothers and their children, we examined the associations of several socio-demographic, lifestyle, and genetic factors with the risks of maternal obesity and excessive gestational weight gain. Next, we examined the associations of maternal obesity, excessive gestational weight gain, and trimester-specific weight gain with the risks of adverse maternal, fetal, and childhood outcomes.

### Methods

### Study design

This study was embedded in the Generation R Study, a population-based prospective cohort study from early pregnancy onward in Rotterdam, the Netherlands.<sup>8</sup> Pregnant women were enrolled between 2001 and 2005. Of all the eligible children in the study area, 61% participated at birth in the study. The Medical Ethical Committee of the Erasmus Medical Center, Rotterdam, approved the study (MEC 198.782/2001/31). Written informed consent was obtained from all mothers.<sup>8</sup> In total, 8880 mothers were enrolled during pregnancy, of whom information about prepregnancy body mass index was available in 7201 subjects. We excluded pregnancies not leading to singleton live births (n = 242). The population for analysis was 6959 mothers and their children (**Figure 2.4.1**).





### Maternal anthropometrics, obesity, and weight gain during pregnancy

Maternal anthropometrics were measured in the first, second, and third trimester of pregnancy. Height (cm) and weight (kg) were measured without shoes and heavy clothing, and body mass index  $(kg/m^2)$  was calculated. Information about maternal weight just before pregnancy was obtained by questionnaire. In our population for analysis, 46.2% of all women were enrolled before a gestational age of 14 weeks. Correlation of prepregnancy weight, obtained by questionnaire, and weight measured at enrolment was 0.95 (P-value <0.001) (regression coefficient for this correlation: 0.93 (95% Confidence Interval (CI): 0.93, 0.94)). Prepregnancy body mass index was categorized into four categories: underweight (<20 kg/m²), normal weight (20 - 24.9 kg/m²), overweight  $(25 - 29.9 \text{ kg/m}^2)$ , and obesity ( $\geq 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ). Weight gain until a gestational age of 30 weeks was measured and available for 6623 mothers. Information about maximum weight during pregnancy was available in a subgroup of 3314 mothers and was assessed by questionnaire 2 months after delivery. Maximum weight from questionnaire and weight measured at 30 weeks were strongly correlated (r = 0.87 (P-value < 0.001)). According to Institute of Medicine guidelines, we defined excessive gestational weight gain in relation to maternal prepregnancy body mass index (for underweight and normal weight mothers: total weight gain >16 kg; for overweight mothers: total weight gain >11.5 kg; for obese mothers: total weight gain >9 kg.<sup>9</sup> Weight gain was further analyzed in each trimester of pregnancy.

### **Risk factors**

### Socio-demographic exposures

Maternal age was assessed at intake. The highest completed maternal educational level (primary school; secondary school; higher education) and maternal ethnicity (European; Surinamese; Turkish; Moroccan; Cape-Verdian and Dutch Antilles) were available from questionnaire.<sup>8</sup>

### Diet- and lifestyle-related exposures

First trimester nutritional information (total energy intake [kcal], carbohydrates [energy %], fat [energy %], protein [energy %]) was obtained by a food frequency questionnaire at enrolment.<sup>10</sup> Mothers who were enrolled after the first trimester of pregnancy did not receive this food frequency questionnaire. Information about folic acid supplementation use was obtained at enrolment. Information about smoking and alcohol consumption was assessed by questionnaire in each trimester.<sup>8</sup> Maternal smoking and alcohol consumption were categorized in smoking during pregnancy (yes/no) and alcohol consumption during pregnancy (yes/no).

### Maternal FTO polymorphism

Maternal genotyping of the FTO polymorphism (rs8050136) was performed using Taqman allelic discrimination assay (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) and Abgene QPCR ROX mix (Abgene, Hamburg, Germany). The genotyping reaction was amplified using the GeneAmpVR PCR system 9600 (95 C [15 min], then 40 cycles of 94 C [15 sec], and 60 C [1 min]). The fluorescence was detected on the 7900HT Fast Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems) and individual genotypes were determined using SDS software (version 2.3, Applied Biosystems).

### Paternal exposures

Information on paternal age was obtained at enrolment in the study.<sup>8</sup> At enrolment, paternal height (cm) and weight (kg) were measured and body mass index (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) was calculated.<sup>8</sup>

### Gestational hypertension, pre-eclampsia, and gestational diabetes

Information on pregnancy complications was obtained from medical records. Details of these procedures have been described elsewhere.<sup>11</sup> Briefly, the following criteria were used to identify women with gestational hypertension:  $\geq$ 140 mmHg and/or diastolic blood pressure  $\geq$ 90 mmHg after 20 weeks of gestation in previously normotensive women. These criteria plus the presence of proteinuria (defined as two or more dipstick

reading of 2+ or greater, one catheter sample reading of 1+ or greater, or a 24-h urine collection containing at least 300 mg of protein) were used to identify women with preeclampsia.<sup>11</sup> Information about gestational diabetes was obtained from medical records. Gestational diabetes was diagnosed by a community midwife or an obstetrician according to Dutch midwifery and obstetric guidelines using the following criteria: either a random glucose level >11.0 mmol/l, a fasting glucose ≥7.0 mmol/L, or a fasting glucose between 6.1 and 6.9 mmol/L with a subsequent abnormal glucose tolerance test.<sup>12</sup> In clinical practice and for this study sample, an abnormal glucose tolerance test was defined as a glucose level greater than 7.8 mmol/L after glucose intake.

### Delivery and birth complications

Information about assisted delivery, including prelabor rupture of membranes (PROM), Caesarian delivery, ventouse extraction, and postpartum hemorrhage, was obtained from midwife registries and hospital registries at birth. Gestational age was established by fetal ultrasound examination during the first ultrasound visit. Dating of the pregnancy was performed using the first ultrasound measurement of crown-rump length or biparietal diameter, using dating curves derived from this cohort.<sup>13</sup> Gestational age at birth, birth weight, and sex were obtained from midwife and hospital registries at birth.<sup>8</sup> Preterm birth was defined as a gestational age of <37 weeks at birth. Small size for gestational age at birth and large size for gestational age at birth were defined as a gestational age at birth weight below the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile and above the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile in the study cohort.

### Childhood overweight and obesity

In children aged 4 years, growth was measured at the Community Child Health Centers.<sup>8</sup> Height and weight were measured in standing position and body mass index (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) was calculated. Childhood overweight and obesity were defined by the International Obesity Task Force cutoffs.<sup>14</sup>

### Statistical analysis

We examined the associations of risk factors with maternal underweight, overweight, obesity, and excessive gestational weight gain using multivariate logistic regression models. Using similar models, we explored the associations of maternal underweight, overweight, obesity, and excessive gestational weight gain with the risks of pregnancy complications in mothers and children. These models were adjusted for maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, folic acid supplementation use, smoking habits, and alcohol consumption. The models in which we examined maternal overweight and obesity as exposure were also adjusted for maximum gestational weight gain. We tested potential interactions between maternal body mass index and gestational weight gain for these models, but after adjustment for multiple testing, we found no significant

interactions. Furthermore, we used stepwise regression analyses to compare the strength of the associations of prepregnancy overweight and obesity and excessive gestational weight gain with the risks of adverse pregnancy outcomes (data not shown). We performed a sensitivity analysis to examine whether the associations of prepregnancy body mass index with the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes differed between women enrolled in the first trimester (before 14 weeks of gestation) and women enrolled later in pregnancy. Sensitivity analyses using weight gain until third trimester instead of maximum weight gain were performed for the analyses focused on excessive gestational weight gain and the risk of adverse outcomes. Finally, we examined the associations of trimester-specific weight gain with pregnancy, delivery, fetal, and childhood outcomes using multivariate logistic regression models. Missing data of the covariates were imputed using multiple imputation. The percentages of missing values within the population for analysis were lower than 10%, except for information on maternal nutrition (23.7%) and folic acid supplementation use (17.3%). All analyses were performed using the Statistical Package of Social 17.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL).

### Results

### Subject characteristics

Characteristics of the included mothers, fathers, and children are given in **Table 2.4.1**. Of all mothers, 16.2%, 55.8%, 19.2%, and 8.8% were underweight, normal weight, overweight, and obese, respectively, and 44.5% had excessive weight gain. Subject characteristics according to maternal body mass index category are given in **Supplementary Table S2.4.1**.

### Risk factors of maternal overweight and obesity and excessive gestational weight gain

In the multivariate analyses, maternal low educational level, multiparity, no alcohol consumption during pregnancy, FTO risk allele and higher paternal body mass index were all associated with the risk of maternal overweight and obesity (all P-values <0.05) (**Table 2.4.2**). Maternal European ethnicity, nulliparity, higher total energy, carbohydrate, protein and fat intake, no alcohol consumption during pregnancy, smoking during pregnancy, and higher paternal body mass index were associated with a higher risk of excessive gestational weight gain (all P-values <0.05).

#### Table 2.4.1. Characteristics of mothers, fathers and their children (n = 6959)

Characteristics	Value
	Value
Age median (90% range) years	30.3(20.4 - 37.9)
Height mean (SD) cm	167 A (7 A)
Weight mean (SD), km	107.4 (7.4) 60.2 (12.1)
Pody Mass Index, mean (SD), kg/m <sup>2</sup>	$22 \in (4, 4)$
bouy Mass muex, mean (SD), kg/m	23.0 (4.4)
First trimester weight gain, mean (SD), kg	13.0 (8.0)
First trimester weight gain, mean (SD), kg	2.3 (3.0)
Third trimester weight gain, mean (SD), kg	5.5 (2.4)
Filing thimester weight gain, mean (SD), kg	5.0 (2.7)
Education, No. (%)	2870 (57.0)
	3879 (37.0)
Higher	2852 (42.4)
Household Income per month, No. (%)	1000 (20.2)
	1606 (29.3)
> € 1600 - € 2200	834 (15.3)
> € 2200	3035 (55.4)
Race / Ethnicity, No. (%)	2252 (57.2)
Dutch or European	3958 (57.8)
Surinamese	618 (9.0)
Turkish	640 (9.3)
Moroccan	444 (6.5)
Cape Verdian or Dutch Antilles	496 (7.2)
Others	689 (10.1)
Parity, No. nulliparous (%)	3959 (56.9)
Folic acid supplement use, No. (%)	4085 (71.0)
Diet	
Total energy intake, mean (SD), Kcal	2044 (563)
Carbohydrates, mean (SD), Energy%	48.7 (5.9)
Proteins, mean (SD), Energy%	14.8 (2.5)
Fat, mean (SD), Energy%	36.3 (5.2)
Smoking, No. (%)	1713 (25.9)
Alcohol consumption, No. (%)	3353 (50.5)
FTO rs8050136, No. (%)	
CC	2235 (38.3)
AC	2737 (46.8)
AA	869 (14.9)
Maternal pregnancy complications	
Gestational hypertension, No. (%)	264 (4.0)
Pre-eclampsia, No. (%)	133 (2.1)
Gestational diabetes, No. (%)	70 (1.0)
Prelabour rupture of membranes, No, (%)	260 (3.9)
Postpartum hemorrhage, No. (%)	342 (5.1)
Paternal characteristics	. ,
Age, median (90% range), years	33.1 (22.0 - 44.9)
Height, mean (SD), cm	181.2 (7.7)
Weight, mean (SD), kg	83.5 (11.6)
Body Mass Index, mean (SD), $kg/m^2$	25 4 (3 2)
Delivery and child characteristics	2011 (012)
Caesarian section No. (%)	778 (12 3)
Ventouse extraction, No. (%)	858 (13.6)
Males No (%)	3518 (51)
Cectational are median (90% range) weeks	40.1(36.9 - 42.0)
Ucstational age, Meuldin (30/0 range), weeks	40.1 (30.3 - 42.0) 254 (5 1)
Pirth weight moon (SD) g	2410 (EEZ)
bit in weight, iffed i (5D), g $c_{mail}$ for gostational $a_{mail}^{-1}$ (210 <sup>th</sup> birth contile). Markov (20)	24T3 (221)
Small for gestational age (<10 birth centile), No. (%)	602 (10 0)
Large for gestational age (>90 birth centile), NO. (%)	92 (10.0)
Preschool overweight and obesity, No. (%)	/U8 (15.5)

<sup>1</sup>SGA is defined as  $<10^{th}$  percentile of age-and sex-adjusted birth weight; LGA is defined as  $>90^{th}$  percentile of age-and sex-adjusted birth weight; preterm birth is defined as <37 weeks of gestation.

	Maternal	Maternal	Maternal	Excessive
	underweight	overweight	obesity	weight gain
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
	n = 1123	n = 1334	n = 611	n = 1474
Maternal risk factors				
Age (1 SD = 5.3y)	0.83 (0.75, 0.93)**	1.03 (0.94, 1.14)	1.04 (0.90, 1.19)	0.97 (0.85, 1.07)
Education	, , ,		, , ,	
Primary	0.91 (0.68, 1.22)	1.64 (1.26, 2.12)**	2.48 (1.71, 3.59)**	0.92 (0.62, 1.34)
Secondary	1.00 (0.84, 1.19)	1.39 (1.18, 1.65)**	2.75 (2.12, 3.56)**	1.13 (0.96, 1.36)
Higher	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
Household income per month	5		5	
<€1600	1.10 (0.86, 1.41)	1.05 (0.84, 1.31)	1.36 (1.03, 1.79)*	0.91 (0.69, 1.14)
>€1600-2200	1.03 (0.79, 1.34)	1.09 (0.89, 1.35)	1.20 (0.84, 1.72)	0.90 (0.72, 1.12)
>€2200	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
Ethnicity	5	,	5	5
Dutch or European	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
Non-European	0.94 (0.79, 1.12)	1.23 (1.03, 1.44)*	1.06 (0.87, 1.36)	0.78 (0.65, 0.94)**
Parity			, , ,	
Nulliparous	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
Multiparous	0.98 (0.84, 1.15)	1.51 (1.31, 1.75)**	1.68 (1.37, 2.06)**	0.71 (0.61, 0.83)**
Folic acid supplement use			, , ,	
No	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
Yes	1.07 (0.86, 1.31)	0.94 (0.78, 1.15)	0.81 (0.61, 1.07)	1.25 (1.00, 1.56)
Total Energy intake (1 SD = 563 kcal)	1.01 (0.93, 1.10)	0.95 (0.88, 1.04)	0.88 (0.79, 0.98)*	1.13 (1.03, 1.23)**
Carbohydrates (1 SD = 6.5% Energy)	1.21 (0.62, 2.36)	1.21 (0.54, 2.70)	5.38 (1.42, 20.21)*	4.49 (1.61, 12,46) **
Proteins (1 SD = 2.6% Energy)	0.94 (0.71, 1.24)	1.18 (0.87, 1.59)	2.23 (1.32, 3.75)**	1.91 (1.26, 2.88)**
Fat (1 SD = 5.6% Energy)	1.19 (0.66, 2.13)	1.12 (0.55, 2.27)	4.51 (1.40, 14.39)*	4.00 (1.62, 9.83)**
Smoking	( ) )		( ) /	
No	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
Yes	1.09 (0.93, 1.29)	0.96 (0.82, 1.13)	1.01 (0.81, 1.25)	2.08 (1.74, 2.48)**
Alcohol	( ) )		( ) )	
No	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
Yes	1.08 (0.92, 1.26)	0.76 (0.65, 0.89)**	0.73 (0.59, 0.90)**	0.83 (0.71, 0.98)*
FTO rs8050136			, , ,	
CC	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
AC	1.00 (0.94, 1.16)	1.11 (0.96, 1.28)	1.25 (0.99, 1.58)	1.10 (0.86, 1.41)
AA	0.99 (0.80, 1.25)	1.30 (1.06, 1.58)*	1.64 (1.21, 2.23)**	1.14 (0.95, 1.36)
Paternal risk factors				
fact (15K   dcl015)		1 02 (0 03 1 11)	1 05 (0 01 1 19)	0.08 (0.88 1.08)
Age at middle (1 SD - 3.0 y) Rody mass index (1 SD - 3.5 units)	1.07 (0.37, 1.17)	1 20 (1 21 1 1 //)**	1 52 (1 25 1 72)**	1 12 (1 02 1 22)*
Body mass index (1 SD = 3.5 units)	0.80 (0.73, 0.87)**	1.32 (1.21, 1.44)**	1.53 (1.35, 1.73)**	1.12 (1.02, 1.22)*

**Table 2.4.2.** Risk factors of maternal overweight, obesity and excessive weight gain during pregnancy using multivariate analyses (n = 6959)<sup>1</sup>

Abbreviations: OR; Odds Ratio, CI; Confidence Interval; SD, Standard Deviation

<sup>1</sup>Values are multivariate logistic regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval). For continuous variables, estimates reflect the risk of maternal underweight, overweight and obesity and excessive gestational weight gain per standard deviation change of the risk factor. For categorical variables or dichotomous variables, the effect estimates represent the risk of maternal underweight, overweight and obesity and excessive gestational weight gain, compared to reference group. Estimates are based on multiple imputed data. \*P-value <0.05. \*\*P-value <0.01.

Table 2.4.3. Associations of maternal underweight, overweight, obesity and excessive gestational weight gain with maternal, delivery, birth and childhood complications

		0 12	ol :: <sup>12</sup>	Excessive gestational
	Underweight"	Overweight"	Obesity"	weight gain?"
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
Maternal complications				
n = 6956	n = 1123	n = 1334	n = 611	n = 1474
Gestational hypertension	0.65 (0.41, 1.02)	2.15 (1.55, 2.97)**	6.31 (4.30, 9.26)**	2.07 (1.43, 2.99)**
Pre-eclampsia	1.25 (0.76, 2.06)	1.91 (1.21, 3.00)**	3.61 (2.04, 6.39)**	1.12 (0.67, 1.89)
Gestational diabetes	0.61 (0.18, 2.06)	4.25 (2.32, 7.76)**	6.28 (3.01, 13.06)**	1.54 (0.66, 3.56)
Delivery complications				
n = 6956	n = 1123	n = 1334	n = 611	n = 1474
PROM	1.61 (1.17, 2.22)**	0.95 (0.65, 1.37)	1.66 (1.08, 2.55)*	0.69 (0.47, 1.03)
Ventouse extraction	0.98 (0.79, 1.20)	1.00 (0.81, 1.23)	1.12 (0.82, 1.52)	1.21 (0.98, 1.48)
Caesarean section	0.94 (0.74, 1.18)	1.52 (1.24, 1.85)**	1.91 (1.46, 2.50)**	1.26 (1.00, 1.57)*
Postpartum hemorrhage	0.92 (0.66, 1.27)	1.34 (1.01, 1.78)*	1.44 (0.96, 2.16)	1.04 (0.76, 1.42)
Birth complications				
n = 6956	n = 1123	n = 1334	n = 611	n = 1474
Preterm birth <sup>4</sup>	1.29 (0.96, 1.72)	1.04 (0.77, 1.42)	1.53 (1.05, 2.20)*	0.67 (0.46, 0.98)*
Large size for gestational age	0.42 (0.30, 0.57)**	1.69 (1.35, 2.12)**	2.97 (2.16, 4.08)**	2.17 (1.72, 2.74)**
Small size for gestational age	1.66 (1.36, 2.07)**	0.81 (0.64, 1.03)	0.54 (0.38, 0.78)**	0.34 (0.26, 0.46)**
5 minute APGAR <7	0.65 (0.30, 1.39)	1.56 (0.90, 2.71)	2.05 (1.04, 4.01)*	1.09 (0.50, 2.39)
Childhood complications				
n = 4571	n = 736	n = 844	n = 372	n = 1263
Overweight <sup>5</sup>	0.62 (0.44, 0.87)**	1.48 (1.15, 1.91)**	2.41 (1.75, 3.33)**	1.51 (1.16, 1.97)**
Obesity <sup>5</sup>	0.61 (0.29, 1.28)	1.61 (0.94, 2.74)	5.02 (2.97, 8.45)**	0.93 (0.51, 1.68 )

Abbreviations: OR; Odds Ratio, CI; Confidence Interval; PROM, prelabour rupture of membranes

<sup>1</sup>Values are Odds Ratios (95% Confidence Interval) that reflect the difference in risks of complications for underweight, overweight and obese women as compared to women with a normal body mass index, 20 - 24.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, and for women with excessive gestational weight gain as compared to women with a recommended or less than recommended gestational weight gain. Estimates are from multiple imputed data. <sup>2</sup>Models for underweight, overweight and obesity are adjusted for maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, folic acid supplement use, smoking habits, alcohol consumption and gestational weight gain. <sup>3</sup>Models for excessive gestational weight gain. <sup>a</sup>Models are adjusted for maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, folic acid supplement use, smoking habits, alcohol consumption. <sup>4</sup>Models are adjusted for gender as well. <sup>5</sup>Models are also adjusted for breastfeeding (yes/no). \* P <0.05. \*\*P <0.01.

### Maternal body mass index, excessive gestational weight gain and risks of pregnancy, delivery, birth, and childhood outcomes

As compared to normal weight, maternal underweight was associated with a higher risk of PROM (Odds Ratio (OR) 1.61 (95% CI: 1.17, 2.22)) and a higher risk of delivering a small size for gestational age infant (OR 1.66 (95% CI: 1.36, 2.07)), but with a lower risk of delivering a large size for gestational age infant (OR 0.42 (95% CI: 0.30, 0.57)) and a lower risk of childhood overweight of the offspring (OR 0.62 (95% CI: 0.44, 0.87)). As compared to normal weight mothers, mothers with overweight had increased risks of gestational hypertension (OR 2.15 (95% CI: 1.55, 2.97)), pre-eclampsia (OR 1.91 (95% CI: 1.21, 3.00)), gestational diabetes (OR 4.25 (95% CI: 2.32, 7.76)), Caesarean delivery (OR 1.52 (95% CI: 1.24, 1.85)), postpartum hemorrhage (OR 1.34 (95% CI: 1.01, 1.78)), large size for gestational age infants (OR 1.69 (95% CI: 1.35, 2.12)), and childhood overweight (OR 1.48 (95% CI: 1.15, 1.91)) (**Table 2.4.3**). We observed stronger effect estimates for the associations of maternal obesity with these outcomes. Repeating these analyses

among women who were enrolled during first trimester and among women enrolled later in pregnancy showed that effect estimates differed only slightly between first trimester enrolled and later enrolled women (**Supplementary Table S2.4.2**).

As compared to low or recommended weight gain, excessive gestational weight gain was associated with a higher risk of gestational hypertension (OR 2.07 (95% CI: 1.43, 2.99)), Caesarean delivery (OR 1.26 (95% CI: 1.00, 1.57)), and large size for gestational age infants (OR 2.17 (95% CI: 1.72, 2.74)), and a lower risk of preterm delivery (OR 0.67 (95% CI: 0.46, 0.98)), and small size for gestational age infants (OR 0.34 (95% CI: 0.26, 0.46)). Excessive gestational weight gain was associated with the risk of childhood overweight (OR 1.51 (95% CI: 1.16, 1.97)). Associations of excessive gestational weight gain with these adverse pregnancy outcomes attenuated when prepregnancy overweight and obesity were included in the model (data not shown). Similar results for the associations with excessive gestational weight gain were found when we used weight in third trimester instead of maximum weight (**Supplementary Table S2.4.3**).

## Trimester specific weight gain and risks of pregnancy, delivery, birth, and childhood outcomes

**Table 2.4.4** shows that first trimester weight gain was associated with the risk of gestational hypertension, gestational diabetes, and Caesarean delivery (OR 1.24 (95% CI: 1.12, 1.39), OR 1.29 (95% CI: 1.10, 1.51), and OR 1.19 (95% CI: 1.10, 1.29) per standard deviation of change in gestational weight gain per week, respectively). First trimester weight gain was also associated with the risk of childhood overweight and obesity (OR 1.20 (95% CI: 1.08, 1.34) and OR 1.44 (95% CI: 1.21, 1.70) per standard deviation of change in gestational weight gain per week, respectively). Weight gain in third trimester was associated with the risk of gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia (OR 1.27 (95% CI: 1.06, 1.51) and OR 1.35 (95% CI: 1.08, 1.69) per standard deviation of change in gestational weight gain per week, respectively). The risks of delivering a large size for gestational age infant and a small size for gestational age infant were influenced by first-, second-, and third-trimester weight gain.

### CHAPTER 2.4

	First trimester <sup>1,2</sup>	Second trimester <sup>1,2</sup>	Third trimester <sup>1,2</sup>
	OR (95% CI) per sd	OR (95% CI) per sd	OR (95% CI) per sd
	change in gestational	change in gestational	change in gestational
Complication	weight gain per week	weight gain per week	weight gain per week
Maternal complications			
n = 6956	n = 5695	n = 5469	n = 3313
Gestational hypertension	1.24 (1.12, 1.39)**	1.18 (1.03, 1.34)*	1.27 (1.06, 1.51)**
Pre-eclampsia	1.10 (0.92, 1.32)	1.14 (0.96, 1.37)	1.35 (1.08, 1.69)**
Gestational diabetes	1.29 (1.10, 1.51)**	1.31 (1.04, 1.64)*	1.03 (0.72, 1.46)
Delivery complications			
n = 6956	n = 5695	n = 5469	n = 3313
Caesarean delivery	1.19 (1.10, 1.29)**	1.05 (0.96, 1.15)	1.00 (0.90, 1.20)
Birth complications			
n = 6956	n = 5695	n = 5469	n = 3313
Preterm delivery <sup>3</sup>	1.04 (0.93, 1.17)	1.00 (0.88, 1.14)	0.96 (0.80, 1.14)
Large size for gestational age	1.24 (1.14, 1.34)**	1.41 (1.29, 1.53)**	1.42 (1.26, 1.60)**
Small size for gestational age	0.91 (0.82, 0.99)*	0.72 (0.66, 0.80)**	0.74 (0.66, 0.84)**
Childhood complications			
n = 4571	n = 3812	n = 3712	n = 2777
Overweight <sup>4</sup>	1.20 (1.08, 1.34)**	1.17 (1.04, 1.30)**	0.94 (0.83, 1.07)
Obesity <sup>4</sup>	1.44 (1.21, 1.70)**	0.93 (0.75, 1.16)	0.94 (0.73, 1.20)

Table 2.4.4. Associations of trimester specific weight gain with maternal, delivery, birth and childhood complications

Abbreviations: OR; Odds Ratio, CI; Confidence Interval; sd; standard deviation

<sup>1</sup>Values are Odds Ratios (95% CI) for the risks of complications per standard deviation change in gestational weight gain per week. Estimates based on multiple imputed data. <sup>2</sup>Models are adjusted for maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, folic acid supplement use, smoking habits, alcohol consumption and maternal prepregnancy body mass index. <sup>3</sup>Models are adjusted for gender as well. <sup>4</sup>Models are also adjusted for breastfeeding (yes/no). \*P-value <0.05. \*\*P-value <0.01.

### Discussion

Results from this prospective cohort study showed that the risks of maternal overweight and obesity were higher among lower educated, non-European origin, and multiparous mothers and mothers with an obese partner. The risk of excessive gestational weight gain was increased by maternal European ethnicity, nulliparity, higher dietary intake, smoking during pregnancy, and having an obese partner. Maternal overweight and obesity were strongly associated with increased risks of gestational hypertensive disorders, gestational diabetes, Caesarean delivery, large size for gestational age infants, and overweight and obesity in the offspring. Excessive gestational weight gain was associated with increased risks of gestational hypertension, Caesarean delivery, large size for gestational age infants and overweight in the offspring. However, the risk of delivering a small size for gestational age infant and the risk of delivering preterm were decreased among women who gained excessively. As compared to prepregnancy overweight and obesity, excessive gestational weight gain tended to have a limited influence on adverse pregnancy outcomes. Prepregnancy overweight and obesity were associated with more adverse pregnancy outcomes compared with excessive gestational weight gain. Furthermore, stepwise regression analysis showed that the effect estimates for the associations of excessive gestational weight gain with pregnancy complications attenuated when prepregnancy overweight and obesity were taken into account.

Some methodological issues need to be considered. One of the strengths of this study was the prospective data collection from early pregnancy onward. We had a large sample size of 6959 participants. The response rate at baseline for participation in the Generation R Study cohort was 61%. The nonresponse would lead to biased effect estimates if the associations were different between those included and not included in the analyses. However, this seems unlikely because biased estimates in large cohort studies mainly arise from loss to follow-up rather than from nonresponse at baseline.<sup>15</sup> Furthermore, not all women were already enrolled in the study in first trimester. Therefore, we did not have first trimester weight measurements in approximately 53% of the participating women. It seemed unlikely that late enrollment has biased our results. We observed small differences in the effect estimates for the associations of prepregnancy body mass index with the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes between women who were enrolled during first trimester or later in pregnancy. For all associations, effect estimates were in similar direction in women enrolled during first trimester or later in pregnancy. Detailed information about a large number of potential risk factors and confounding factors was available in this study. However, because of the observational design, residual confounding because of other socio-demographic and lifestyle-related determinants might still be an issue. In addition, information on many covariates in this study was self-reported, which may have resulted in underreporting of certain adverse lifestyle-related determinants. Some data of these covariates were missing. It is unlikely that these data were missing completely at random, so a complete case analysis might lead to biased results. To avoid bias and to maintain statistical power, we used multiple imputations for missing information of the covariates. As compared to the complete case analysis, effect estimates only changed marginally after using multiple imputations to deal with the missing values. Information on maternal prepregnancy weight was selfreported. Self-reported weight tends to be underestimated, so some misclassification might have occurred. Also, maximum weight during pregnancy was self-reported 2 months after delivery. Weight assessment by questionnaire might have led to an underestimation of maximum pregnancy weight. This might have led to an underestimation of the observed effects. However, self-reported prepregnancy weight and weight measured at intake, and self-reported maximum weight and weight measured at 30 weeks of gestation, were highly correlated in our study. Furthermore, for the analyses focused on the associations between trimester-specific weight gain and the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes, we performed a sensitivity analyses among normal weight women only, as overweight and obese women are more likely to underestimate self-reported weight (results not shown). The effect estimates changed slightly, when overweight and obese women were excluded from the analyses, but were in similar direction. The observed smaller effect sizes might be explained by smaller numbers of subjects and less power to detect differences because of the exclusion of extremes.

The risk of maternal obesity and excessive gestational weight gain varied among different ethnic groups and socioeconomic groups, which is in line with previous studies.<sup>16-18</sup> We observed that multiparous women were more frequently obese and had a lower risk of excessive gestational weight gain, as compared to nulliparous women. Accordingly, a study among 57.700 Danish women showed that women with low gestational weight gain were more often multiparous.<sup>17</sup> The risk of overweight and obesity was higher among women who carry the risk variants of the FTO gene. Many studies have already shown an association of the FTO polymorphism with the risk of obesity in children and adults.<sup>19,20</sup> Among pregnant women, the FTO gene has been suggested to influence prepregnancy weight as well.<sup>21</sup> We also showed an association of the FTO gene with the risk of prepregnancy overweight and obesity in pregnant women. However, we did not replicate our findings. Therefore, our results should be considered as hypothesis generating and need replication in further studies. Furthermore, we observed that excessive gestational weight gain was more likely among women who smoked during pregnancy and among women who did not consume alcohol during pregnancy, which is in agreement with the study among Danish women.<sup>17</sup> Higher total energy intake was also associated with an increased risk of excessive gestational weight gain, which has been reported by a previous study.<sup>22</sup>

Previous studies suggested associations between maternal overweight and obesity and the risks of gestational hypertensive disorders and gestational diabetes.<sup>16,23-26</sup> A large review among 13 cohort studies showed that there was a strong positive association between prepregnancy body mass index and pre-eclampsia.<sup>24</sup> Another review suggested that the risk of developing gestational diabetes was two times higher for overweight women and four times higher for obese women compared with normal weight women.<sup>26</sup> We observed similar results as maternal overweight and obesity were strongly associated with the risk of gestational hypertensive disorders and gestational diabetes. For the associations with gestational diabetes, it needs to be noted that accurate diagnosis of gestational diabetes is difficult. A fasting glucose greater than 7.0 mmol/L might also represent preexisting diabetes, and a fasting glucose between 6.1 and 6.9 mmol/L might also represent impaired glucose tolerance, instead of gestational diabetes. Unfortunately, in our study, no data were available on glucose tolerance before pregnancy. Excessive gestational weight gain was associated with the risk of gestational hypertension, but not associated with the risk of gestational diabetes and preeclampsia. This might be because of the small number of cases of gestational diabetes and pre-eclampsia in our study population. Overweight and obese mothers, and mothers with excessive weight gain, were at increased risk of Caesarean delivery. This is in line with observations in other studies that examined the association of maternal obesity and antenatal complications.<sup>16-18,27</sup> These associations might be influenced by the effect of obesity and excessive gestational weight gain on birth weight. However, after additional adjustment for birth weight, the associations only changed slightly and remained highly significant (results not shown). The association between maternal obesity and the risk of instrumental delivery remains more controversial. A study among 18.643 women reported that maternal obesity was not associated with the risk of instrumental delivery.<sup>28</sup> Accordingly, we observed no association of maternal body mass index and excessive gestational weight gain with ventouse extraction. We observed a positive association between prepregnancy obesity and the risk of preterm delivery, which might partly be explained by the association of prepregnancy obesity with the risk of PROM. In our study, we do not have further data available about the specific causes of preterm birth. Further research to assess whether maternal obesity is associated with the risk of idiopathic or indicated preterm birth is necessary. We also observed that the risk of preterm delivery was lower among women who gained excessive weight. Thus far, published studies focused on the associations of maternal anthropometrics with the risk of preterm delivery seem to be inconsistent. Some studies found no association between maternal obesity and preterm delivery, whereas other studies suggested that the risk of preterm birth is higher among obese women.<sup>16,28-30</sup> A study among 76.682 adolescent women reported that the risk of preterm delivery was lower among women who gained excessively, independently of prepregnancy body mass index.<sup>31</sup> It has also been suggested that the association between gestational weight gain and preterm delivery is a modest U-shape.<sup>32</sup> A study among 33.872 women reported that compared with a gestational weight gain of 10 - 14 kg, women who gained less than 10 kg and women who gained more than 20 kg were at increased risk of preterm delivery.<sup>32</sup> In our study population, approximately 65% of the women who gained excessive weight gained below 20 kg. Modest excessive weight gain might have a protective effect for preterm delivery. We observed that maternal obesity and excessive gestational weight gain were associated with an increased risk of large size for gestational age infants and a lower risk of small size for gestational age infants. Similar findings have been reported by other studies.<sup>4,17,18</sup> Previously, we have shown that maternal prepregnancy body mass index is positively associated with birth weight of the offspring.<sup>4</sup> The associations between maternal obesity and excessive gestational weight gain with the risk of delivering a small size for gestational age infant or large size for gestational age infant attenuated after adjustment for gestational hypertensive disorders and gestational diabetes, but remained highly significant (results not shown). Furthermore, multiple studies have suggested that prepregnancy overweight and obesity are associated with an increased risk of longer length of hospital stay, an increased risk of having a neonate with a low Apgar score, and a higher risk of referral to neonatal intensive care unit.<sup>33-35</sup> We also observed that maternal obesity was associated with a higher risk of having a neonate with a low APGAR score. Other information about the neonate's health is not available within our study.

The fetal overnutrition hypothesis suggests that higher maternal plasma concentrations of glucose and free fatty acids because of maternal obesity during pregnancy might increase placental transfer of nutrients during fetal development. This might cause permanent changes in appetite, energy metabolism, and neuro-endocrine function of offspring, predisposing an individual to a greater risk of obesity in later life.<sup>6</sup> In line with this suggested pathway, we observed that maternal overweight and obesity are associated with overweight and obesity in the offspring. Maternal underweight has also been suggested to be associated with adverse pregnancy outcomes. A large review among 78 studies showed that underweight women had a higher risk of both spontaneous and induced preterm birth and a higher risk of delivering a low birth weight infant.<sup>36</sup> In line with these findings, we observed that maternal underweight was associated with an increased risk of PROM, and an increased risk of delivering a small size for gestational age infant. We did not observe a significant effect on overall preterm birth.

Weight gain during pregnancy may vary greatly, and the effect of gestational weight in first, second, and third trimester on maternal and fetal outcomes might be different. We observed that maternal weight gain was low in first trimester and increased in second and third trimester. Few studies have examined the influence of trimester-specific weight gain on adverse outcomes.<sup>37-39</sup> We observed that weight gain in first trimester was associated with the risk of gestational diabetes and gestational hypertension and weight gain in third trimester was associated with the risk of pre-eclampsia and gestational hypertension. When examining the associations between third-trimester gestational weight gain and the risk of these disorders, it is difficult to differentiate between cause and consequence. The occurring edema might partly explain the excessive gestational weight gain. Further research is necessary to explore reversed causation and to examine underlying mechanisms of these associations. Studies examining the effect of gestational weight gain per trimester have mainly focused on the association of low weight gain and the risk of low birth weight infants.<sup>37-39</sup> A study among 10.696 women showed that low weight gain in second and third trimester, but not in first trimester, was associated with the risk of intrauterine growth retardation.<sup>39</sup> Accordingly, we observed that higher maternal weight gain in second and third trimester was more strongly associated with a lower risk of delivering a small size for gestational age infant, as compared to first-trimester weight gain. Furthermore, higher weight gain in each trimester was associated with a higher risk of delivering a large size for gestational age infant, but the strongest effects of weight gain were during second and third trimester. After additional adjustment for total weight gain and weight gain in the other trimesters, results only changed marginally (results not shown). These associations suggest that the effect of weight gain in early pregnancy might be different from the effect of weight gain later in pregnancy.

Current preventive strategies have mainly focused on restricting gestational weight gain during pregnancy. A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials, focusing on diet and physical activity during pregnancy as intervention, showed that interventions may be effective to control weight gain during pregnancy.<sup>40</sup> However, as maternal overweight and obesity are strongly associated with short-term and long-term adverse consequences, future preventive strategies should also focus on prepregnancy overweight and obesity.

### Conclusion

Maternal socio-demographic characteristics and lifestyle habits are associated with increased risks of maternal obesity and excessive weight gain during pregnancy. Both maternal underweight, overweight, obesity, and excessive gestational weight gain are associated with increased risks of adverse maternal, fetal, and childhood health outcomes. Future preventive strategies, focused on especially prepregnancy body mass index, are needed to improve maternal pregnancy outcomes and health of offspring.

### References

- 1. Ruager-Martin R, Hyde MJ, Modi N. Maternal obesity and infant outcomes. Early Hum Dev 2010;86:715-722.
- Bhattacharya S, Campbell DM, Liston WA. Effect of body mass index on pregnancy outcomes in nulliparous women delivering singleton babies. BMC Public Health 2007;7:168.
- 3. Poston L, Harthoorn LF, Van Der Beek EM, Contributors to the IEW. Obesity in pregnancy: implications for the mother and lifelong health of the child. A consensus statement. Pediatr Res 2011;69:175-180.
- 4. Ay L, Kruithof CJ, Bakker R, et al. Maternal anthropometrics are associated with fetal size in different periods of pregnancy and at birth. The Generation R Study. BJOG 2009 ;116:953-963.
- Flick AA, Brookfield KF, de la Torre L, Tudela CM, Duthely L, Gonzalez-Quintero VH. Excessive weight gain among obese women and pregnancy outcomes. Am J Perinatol 2010;27:333-338.
- 6. Lawlor DA, Smith GD, O'Callaghan M, et al. Epidemiologic evidence for the fetal overnutrition hypothesis: findings from the mater-university study of pregnancy and its outcomes. Am J Epidemiol 2007;165:418-424.
- Crane JM, White J, Murphy P, Burrage L, Hutchens D. The effect of gestational weight gain by body mass index on maternal and neonatal outcomes. J Obstet Gynaecol Can 2009;31:28-35.
- Jaddoe VW, van Duijn CM, Franco OH, et al. The Generation R Study: design and cohort update 2012. Eur J Epidemiol 2012;27:739-756.
- Institute of Medicine (US) and National Research Council (US) Committee to Reexamine IOM Pregnancy Weight Guidelines; Rasmussen KM, Yaktine AL, editors. Weight Gain During Pregnancy: Reexamining the Guidelines. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2009.
- 10. Klipstein-Grobusch K, den Breeijen JH, Goldbohm RA, et al. Dietary assessment in the elderly: validation of a semiquantitative food frequency questionnaire. Eur J Clin Nutr 1998;52:588-596.
- 11. Coolman M, de Groot CJ, Jaddoe VW, Hofman A, Raat H, Steegers EA. Medical record validation of maternally reported history of pre-eclampsia. J Clin Epidemiol 2010;63:932-937.
- 12. Silva LM. Fetal origins of socioeconomic inequalities in early childhood health. The Generation R Study, Erasmus University Rotterdam, The Netherlands.
- 13. Verburg BO, Steegers EA, De Ridder M, et al. New charts for ultrasound dating of pregnancy and assessment of fetal growth: longitudinal data from a population- based cohort study. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2008;31:388-396.
- 14. Cole TJ, Bellizzi MC, Flegal KM, Dietz WH. Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey. BMJ 2000;320: 1240-1243.
- 15. Nohr EA, Frydenberg M, Henriksen TB, Olsen J. Does low participation in cohort studies induce bias? Epidemiology 2006;17:413-418.
- 16. Athukorala C, Rumbold AR, Willson KJ, Crowther CA. The risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes in women who are overweight or obese. BMC Pregnancy Child- birth 2010;10:56.
- 17. Nohr EA, Vaeth M, Baker JL, Sorensen T, Olsen J, Rasmussen KM. Combined associations of prepregnancy body mass index and gestational weight gain with the outcome of pregnancy. Am J Clin Nutr 2008;87:1750-1759.
- 18. Weiss JL, Malone FD, Emig D, et al. FASTER Research Consortium. Obesity, obstetric complications and cesarean delivery rate-a population-based screening study. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2004;190:1091-1097.
- 19. Loos RJ, Bouchard C. FTO: the first gene contributing to common forms of human obesity. Obes Rev 2008;9:246-250.
- Dina C, Meyre D, Gallina S, et al. Variation in FTO contributes to childhood obesity and severe adult obesity. Nat Genet 2007;39:724-726.
- Lawlor DA, Fraser A, Macdonald-Wallis C, et al. Maternal and offspring adiposity-related genetic variants and gestational weight gain. Am J Clin Nutr 2011;94: 149-155.
- 22. Stuebe AM, Oken E, Gillman MW. Associations of diet and physical activity during pregnancy with risk for excessive gestational weight gain. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2009;201:58 e1-8.

- Heude B, Thiebaugeorges O, Goua V, et al. The EDEN Mother-Child Cohort Study Group. Pre-pregnancy body mass index and weight gain during pregnancy: relations with gestational diabetes and hypertension, and birth outcomes. Matern Child Health J 2012;16:355-363.
- 24. O'Brien TE, Ray JG, Chan WS. Maternal body mass index and the risk of pre-eclampsia: a systematic overview. Epidemiology 2003;14:368-374.
- 25. Gaillard R, Steegers EA, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Associations of maternal obesity with blood pressure and the risks of gestational hypertensive disorders. The Generation R Study. J Hypertens 2011;29:937-944.
- 26. Chu SY, Callaghan WM, Kim SY, et al. Maternal obesity and risk of gestational diabetes mellitus. Diabet Care 2007;30:2070-2076.
- Poobalan AS, Aucott LS, Gurung T, Smith WC, Bhattacharya S. Obesity as an independent risk factor for elective and emergency caesarean delivery in nulliparous women-systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. Obes Rev 2009;10: 28-35.
- 28. Abenhaim HA, Kinch RA, Morin L, Benjamin A, Usher R. Effect of prepregnancy body mass index categories on obstetrical and neonatal outcomes. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2007;275:39-43.
- 29. Driul L, Cacciaguerra G, Citossi A, Martina MD, Peressini L, Marchesoni D. Pre-pregnancy body mass index and adverse pregnancy outcomes. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2008;278:23-26.
- Nohr EA, Bech BH, Vaeth M, Rasmussen KM, Henriksen TB, Olsen J. Obesity, gestational weight gain and preterm birth: a study within the Danish National Birth Cohort. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol 2007;21:5-14.
- 31. Harper LM, Chang JJ, Macones GA. Adolescent pregnancy and gestational weight gain: do the Institute of Medicine recommendations apply? Am J Obstet Gynecol 2011;140:e1-8.
- 32. Savitz DA, Stein CR, Siega-Riz AM, Herring AH. Gestational weight gain and birth outcome in relation to prepregnancy body mass index and ethnicity. Ann Epidemiol 2011;21:78-85.
- 33. Mamun AA, Callaway LK, O'Callaghan MJ, et al. Associations of maternal pre-pregnancy obesity and excess pregnancy weight gains with adverse pregnancy outcomes and length of hospital stay. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2011;11:62.
- Ovesen P, Rasmussen S, Kesmodel U. Effect of prepregnancy maternal overweight and obesity on pregnancy outcome. Obstet Gynecol 2011;118:305-312.
- 35. Rosenberg TJ, Garbers S, Chavkin W, Chiasson MA. Prepregnancy weight and adverse perinatal outcomes in an ethnically diverse population. Obstet Gynecol 2003;102:1022-1027.
- Han Z, Mulla S, Beyene J, Liao G, McDonald SD. Knowledge Synthesis Group. Maternal underweight and the risk of preterm birth and low birth weight: a systematic review and meta-analyses. Int J Epidemiol 2011;40:65-101.
- 37. Abrams B, Selvin S. Maternal weight gain pattern and birth weight. Obstet Gynecol 1995 ;86:163-169.
- Scholl TO, Hediger ML, Ances IG, Belsky DH, Salmon RW. Weight gain during pregnancy in adolescence: predictive ability of early weight gain. Obstet Gynecol 1990;75:948-953.
- Strauss RS, Dietz WH. Low maternal weight gain in the second or third trimester increases the risk for intrauterine growth retardation. J Nutr 1999;129:988-993.
- Streuling I, Beyerlein A, von Kries R. Can gestational weight gain be modified by increasing physical activity and diet counseling? A meta-analysis of interventional trials. Am J Clin Nutr 2010;92:678-687.

### Supplementary Material

	Underweight	Normal	Overweight	Obesity	
	(<20 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	(<20-24.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	(25-29.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	(≥30 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	
Maternal characteristics	n = 1123	n = 3888	n = 1334	n = 611	P-value <sup>3</sup>
Height (cm), mean (SD)	168.4 (7.1)	167.8 (7.3)	166.3 (7.5)	165.7 (7.5)	<0.01
Prepregnancy weight (kg), mean (SD)	53.6 (5.3)	62.7 (6.4)	74.7 (7.5)	93.4 (13.2)	< 0.01
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> ), mean (SD)	18.9 (0.9)	22.6 (1.4)	27.0 (1.4)	34.0 (3.7)	< 0.01
Maximum weight gain (kg), mean (SD)	15.0 (5.3)	15.4 (5.4)	14.0 (6.6)	11.3 (8.6)	< 0.01
Age (yrs), mean (SD)	29.1 (5.4)	30.0 (5.3)	29.8 (5.2)	29.3 (5.1)	< 0.01
Parity, nulliparous (%)	63.4	60.4	47.3	43.5	< 0.01
Gestational age at intake (wks),	14.5	14.2	14.4	14.6	0.13
median (95% range)	(10.2, 28.9)	(10.4, 25.5)	(10.2, 24.9)	(10.5, 28.2)	
Highest completed education (%)					
Primary school	9.1	9.0	15.8	17.5	< 0.01
Secondary school	45.7	42.9	50.2	64.3	
Higher education	45.1	46.1	34.0	18.1	
Ethnicity (%)					
European	61.3	62.2	48.9	42.5	< 0.01
Non-European	38.7	37.8	51.1	57.5	
Alcohol consumption (%)					
None	45.0	45.2	58.8	66.3	< 0.01
Yes	55.0	54.8	41.2	33.7	
Smoking habits (%)					
None	70.8	73.7	75.8	73.9	0.04
Yes	29.2	26.3	24.2	26.1	
Folic acid supplement use (%)					
None	26.5	25.5	34.8	43.7	0.01
Yes	73.5	74.5	65.2	56.3	

Supplementary Table S2.4.1. Characteristics by maternal body mass index  $(n = 6959)^{1,2}$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values are means (standard deviation) or percentages. <sup>2</sup>Median (95% range). <sup>3</sup>Differences in subject characteristics between the groups were evaluated using one-way ANOVA tests for continuous variables and chi-square tests for proportions.

Supplementary Table S2.4.2. Associations of prepregnancy overweight and obesity with the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes according to gestational age at  $enrollment^{1,2}$ 

	Overweight		Obesity	
	First trimester	Second or third	First trimester	Second or third
	enrolled	trimester enrolled	enrolled	trimester enrolled
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
	n = 601	n = 733	n = 254	n = 357
Maternal complications				
Gestational hypertension	1.78 (1.13, 2.80)*	2.66 (1.66, 4.25)**	6.01 (3.59, 10.01)*	7.18 (4.02, 12.78)**
Pre-eclampsia	1.69 (0.83, 3.44)	2.07 (1.15, 3.73)*	4.06 (1.71, 9.57)**	3.38 (1.57, 7.28)**
Gestational diabetes	3.94 (163, 9.49)**	4.42 (1.91, 10.20)**	7.96 (3.13, 20.19)**	4.26 (1.14, 15.19)*
Delivery complications				
PROM	0.84 (0.45, 1.56)	1.03 (0.65, 1.64)	1.99 (1.01, 3.93)*	1.47 (0.84, 2.58)
Ventouse extraction	1.05 (0.78, 1.41)	0.93 (0.69, 1.26)	1.53 (1.00, 2.32)	0.82 (0.52, 1.29)
Caesarean section	1.62 (1.21, 2.15)**	1.46 (1.09, 1.91)*	1.59 (1.05, 2.40)*	2.24 (1.56, 3.21)**
Postpartum haemorrhage	1.09 (0.71, 1.65)	1.64 (1.11, 2.43)*	1.15 (0.62, 2.12)	1.73 (1.00, 2.99)
Birth complications				
Preterm birth <sup>4</sup>	1.08 (0.67, 1.74)	1.02 (0.68, 1.51)	1.60 (0.86, 2.97)	1.50 (0.92, 2.44)
Large size for gestational age	1.42 (1.02, 1.96)*	2.01 (1.49, 2.70)**	2.53 (1.59, 4.01)**	3.33 (2.27, 4.88)**
Small size for gestational age	0.88 (0.62, 1.25)	0.77 (0.55, 1.05)	0.53 (0.30, 0.93)*	0.55 (0.35, 0.89)*
Childhood complications				
Overweight <sup>5</sup>	1.69 (1.18, 2.43)	1.32 (0.92, 1.87)	2.85 (1.75, 4.63)**	2.15 (1.38, 3.33)**
Obesity <sup>5</sup>	1.72 (0.67, 4.41)	1.56 (0.80, 3.02)	6.37 (2.65, 15.22)**	4.07 (2.10, 7.89)**

Abbreviations: OR; Odds Ratio, CI; Confidence Interval; PROM, prelabour rupture of membranes

<sup>1</sup>Values are Odds Ratios (95% Confidence Interval) that reflect the difference in risks of complications for overweight and obese women as compared to women with a normal body mass index, 20 - 24.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Estimates are from multiple imputed data. <sup>2</sup>Models for overweight and obesity are adjusted for maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, folic acid supplement use, smoking habits, alcohol consumption and gestational weight gain. <sup>4</sup>Models are adjusted for gender as well. <sup>5</sup>Models are also adjusted for breastfeeding (yes/no). \*P-value <0.05. \*\*P-value <0.01.

Supplementary Table S2.4.3. Associations of excessive gestational weight gain with maternal, delivery, birth and childhood complications using weight gain until third trimester (*n* = 6956)

	Excessive gestational weight gain <sup>1,2</sup>	
	OR (95% CI)	
Maternal complications	n = 2996	
Gestational hypertension	1.57 (1.21, 2.04)**	
Pre-eclampsia	1.20 (0.83, 1.72)	
Gestational diabetes	1.90 (1.16, 3.08)*	
Delivery complications	n = 2996	
Caesarean section	1.34 (1.14, 1.58)**	
Birth complications	n = 2996	
Preterm birth <sup>3</sup>	1.06 (0.84, 1.35)	
Large size for gestational age	2.08 (1.76, 2.45)**	
Small size for gestational age	0.56 (0.47, 0.66)**	
Childhood complications	n = 1949	
Childhood overweight <sup>4</sup>	1.44 (1.21, 1.72)**	
Childhood obesity <sup>4</sup>	1.23 (0.82, 1.85)	

Abbreviations: OR; Odds Ratio, CI; Confidence Interval

<sup>1</sup>Values are Odds Ratios (95% Confidence Interval) that reflect the difference in risks of complications for women with excessive gestational weight gain as compared to women with a recommended or less than recommended gestational weight gain. Estimates are from multiple imputed data. <sup>2</sup>Models for excessive gestational weight gain are adjusted for maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, folic acid supplement use, smoking habits, alcohol consumption. <sup>3</sup>Models are adjusted for gender as well. <sup>4</sup>Models are also adjusted for breastfeeding (yes/no).\*P-value <0.05. \*\*P-value <0.01.

## Chapter 2.5

# Maternal obesity and gestational hypertensive disorders

Romy Gaillard Eric A.P. Steegers Albert Hofman Vincent W.V. Jaddoe

Adapted from J Hypertens. 2011;29(5):937-44



### Abstract

**Objective:** We examined the associations of maternal prepregnancy body mass index (BMI) and gestational weight gain with systolic and diastolic blood pressure in different trimesters of pregnancy and the risks of pregnancy-induced hypertension and preeclampsia in a population-based prospective cohort study among 6902 mothers.

**Methods:** Information about maternal weight just before pregnancy was obtained by questionnaires. Maternal anthropometrics and blood pressure were measured in each trimester. Information about gestational hypertensive disorders was available from medical records.

**Results:** As compared to mothers with a normal weight, maternal obesity (BMI = 30 –  $34.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ) and morbid obesity (BMI ≥35 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) were associated with higher first trimester systolic blood pressure (differences for obese women and morbidly obese women: 10.80 mmHg (95% Confidence Interval (CI): 9.44, 12.17) and 13.07 mmHg (95% CI: 10.91, 15.23), respectively) and diastolic blood pressure (differences for obese women and morbidly obese women: 8.69 mmHg (95% CI: 7.63, 9.74) and 13.12 mmHg (95% CI: 11.44, 14.79), respectively). Similar differences were observed during second and third trimester. The risks of pregnancy-induced hypertension and pre-eclampsia were increased among obese mothers (Odds Ratio (OR) 4.67 (95% CI: 3.07, 7.09) and OR 2.49 (95% CI: 1.29, 4.78), respectively) and morbidly obese mothers (OR 11.34 (95% CI: 6.80, 18.86) and OR 3.40 (95% CI: 1.39, 8.28), respectively). Maternal weight gain was associated with the risk of pregnancy-induced hypertension.

**Conclusions:** Maternal obesity and morbid obesity are strongly associated with blood pressure in each trimester, and increased risks of gestational hypertensive disorders.

### Introduction

The prevalence of overweight and obesity among women of reproductive age is increasing.<sup>1–3</sup> It is well known that obesity in pregnancy increases the risk for both adverse maternal and neonatal outcomes.<sup>1-4</sup> Obesity has been associated with emergency caesarean section, large size for gestational age at birth, neonatal hypoglycaemia and childhood obesity.<sup>5–8</sup> Maternal obesity seems also to be associated with increased risks of hypertensive disorders. A study among 24.241 nulliparous women observed an increased risk of gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia for the morbidly obese category, defined as a prepregnancy body mass index of more than 35 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, as compared to normal weight women.<sup>6</sup> Furthermore, it has been suggested that maternal weight gain might be associated with the risks of gestational hypertension and preeclampsia.<sup>1,2,9</sup> It is not known whether similar associations with gestational hypertensive disorders are present in the lower ranges of body mass index. Also, few studies have examined the effects of maternal overweight and obesity on blood pressure levels during different periods of pregnancy.<sup>4,10,11</sup> The influence of higher body mass index on blood pressure levels might partly explain the observed associations between obesity and the risk of hypertensive disorders during pregnancy.

Therefore, we examined in a population-based prospective cohort study among 6902 pregnant women the associations of maternal body mass index and gestational weight gain with systolic and diastolic blood pressure in different trimesters of pregnancy and the risks of pregnancy-induced hypertension and pre-eclampsia.

### Methods

### Study design

This study was embedded in the Generation R Study, a population-based prospective cohort study from early pregnancy onwards in Rotterdam, the Netherlands.<sup>12,13</sup> The study has been approved by the Medical Ethical Committee of the Erasmus Medical Center in Rotterdam (MEC 198.782/2001/31). Written consent was obtained from all participating women.<sup>14</sup> All pregnant women were enrolled between 2001 and 2005. Response rate at birth was 61%. Assessments during pregnancy were planned in first, second and third trimester. The individual timing of these assessments depended on the gestational age at enrolment. In total, 8880 women were enrolled during pregnancy. For the present study, we excluded women without information about prepregnancy body mass index (n = 1749). Next, we excluded women without blood pressure measurements (n = 13). Also, we excluded women with pre-existent hypertension (n = 45). As we restricted our analyses to low-risk pregnancies, we excluded pregnancies leading to fetal death (n = 51), induced abortions (n = 20), loss to follow up (n = 28) and twin pregnancies (n = 72). Thus, the cohort for analysis consisted of 6902 pregnant women (**Figure 2.5.1**).

Figure 2.5.1. Flowchart of the participants



### Maternal anthropometrics and obesity categories

During visits in first, second and third trimester, maternal anthropometrics were measured at one of the research centers. Height (cm) and weight (kg) were measured without shoes and heavy clothing and body mass index (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) was calculated for each pregnancy period. Information about maternal weight just before pregnancy was obtained by questionnaires. As enrolment in our study was in pregnancy, we were not able to measure maternal weight before pregnancy. However, in our population for analysis, 46.2% of all women were enrolled before a gestational age of 14 weeks. Correlation of prepregnancy weight obtained by questionnaire and weight measured at enrolment was 0.95 (P-value <0.001). No differences in results were found when we used weight measured at enrolment instead of prepregnancy weight obtained by questionnaire. Prepregnancy body mass index was categorized into five categories as follows: lean (<20  $kg/m^{2}$ ), normal (20 – 24.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), overweight (25 – 29.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), obese (30 – 34.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and morbidly obese ( $\geq$ 35 kg/m<sup>2</sup>). Information about maximum weight during pregnancy was assessed by questionnaire 2 months after delivery and available for only 3609 women. Because of the number of missing values of maximum weight, we defined weight gain as the difference between weight before pregnancy and weight in late pregnancy, which is a measure of weight gain during the first two trimesters.<sup>5</sup> This information was available for 6575 mothers. Maximum weight and weight in late pregnancy were strongly correlated (r = 0.86 (P-value < 0.001)). Gestational weight gain was categorized into three categories: less than 7 kg, 7 – 11.9 kg and at least 12 kg.

### **Blood pressure**

Blood pressure was measured with the Omron 907 automated digital oscillometric sphygmomanometer, which was validated in adults (OMRON Healthcare Europe B.V., Hoofddorp, the Netherlands).<sup>15</sup> All participants were seated in upright position with back support and were asked to relax for 5 minutes. A cuff was placed around the non-dominant upper arm, which was supported at the level of the heart, with the bladder midline over the brachial artery pulsation. In case of an upper arm exceeding 33 cm, a larger cuff (32 - 42 cm) was used. The mean value of two blood pressure readings over a 60-s interval was documented for each participant. In total, blood pressure was measured in 5295 women in first trimester (median 13.2 weeks of gestation, 95% range 9.8 – 17.5), in 6500 women in second trimester (median 20.4 weeks of gestation, 95% range 18.5 – 23.6) and in 6570 women in third trimester (median 30.2 weeks of gestation, 95% range 28.5 – 32.9). For the analyses, 18.365 blood pressure measurements were available. Three, two and one blood pressure measurements were available. Three, two and one blood pressure measurements were available for 4894, 1675 and 333 women, respectively.

### Pregnancy-induced hypertension and pre-eclampsia

Information on pregnancy complications was obtained from medical records. Women suspected of pregnancy complications based on these records were crosschecked with the original hospital charts. Details of these procedures have been described elsewhere.  $^{16}$ 

Briefly, the following criteria were used to identify women with pregnancy-induced hypertension: development of systolic blood pressure of at least 140 mmHg and/or diastolic blood pressure of at least 90 mmHg after 20 weeks of gestation in previously normotensive women. These criteria and the presence of proteinuria (defined as two or more dipstick readings of 2+ or greater, one catheter sample reading of 1+ or greater or a 24-h urine collection containing at least 300 mg of protein) were used to identify women with pre-eclampsia.

#### Covariates

Gestational age was established by fetal ultrasound examination during the first ultrasound visit.<sup>13</sup> Maternal age was assessed at intake. Information on educational level, ethnicity, parity and folic acid supplementation use was obtained at enrolment. Information about smoking, alcohol consumption and caffeine intake was assessed by questionnaires in each trimester. Maternal distress was measured by questionnaire at 20 weeks of gestation using the Brief Symptom Inventory,<sup>17</sup> which gives a Global Severity Index. A higher index reflects more stress pregnant women experience.

### Statistical analysis

First, the associations of maternal prepregnancy body mass index with repeatedly measured systolic and diastolic blood pressure were analyzed using unbalanced repeated measurement regression models. These models take the correlation between repeated measurements of the same participant into account and allow for incomplete outcome data.<sup>18</sup> Using fractional polynomials of gestational age, the best fitting models were constructed. The prepregnancy body mass index categories were included in these models as intercept and as an interaction term with gestational age. We also examined the associations of prepregnancy body mass index with blood pressure in first, second and third trimester using linear regression models. Next, the associations of prepregnancy body mass index categories with the risks of pregnancy-induced hypertension and pre-eclampsia were assessed using multivariate logistic regression models. Finally, we explored the effect of gestational weight gain on the risks of pregnancy-induced hypertension and pre-eclampsia using multivariate logistic regression models. Tests for trend were performed by treating body mass index as a continuous variable and entering it in the linear or logistic regression models. All models were adjusted for gestational age at visit, maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, folic acid supplement use, smoking habits, alcohol consumption, caffeine intake and maternal stress. The models in which we examined the effects of prepregnancy body mass index were adjusted for gestational weight gain and the models in which we examined the effects of gestational weight gain were adjusted for prepregnancy body mass index. Missing data of the covariates were imputed using multiple imputation. The percentages of missing values within the population for analysis were lower than or equal to 5%, except for folic acid supplementation use (17.3%) and maternal stress (20.6%). These higher percentages were due to the large number of women who only partially filled out the questionnaire or were not enrolled in first trimester. The repeated measurement analysis was performed using the Statistical Analysis System version 9.2 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, North Carolina, USA), including the Proc Mixed module for unbalanced repeated measurements. All other analyses were performed using the Statistical Package of Social Sciences version 17.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, Illinois, USA).

### Results

### Participant characteristics

Characteristics of the included women according to their prepregnancy body mass index are shown in **Table 2.5.1**. Women in the highest body mass index category were more frequently lower educated, had higher maternal stress levels and were less likely to consume alcohol during pregnancy. In total, there were 264 cases of pregnancyinduced hypertension and 131 cases of pre-eclampsia.

·	Lean	Normal	Overweight	Obese	Morbidly obese	
	(<20 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	(20-24.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	) (25-29.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	(30-34.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	(≥35 kg/m²)	
Body Mass Index	n = 1122	n = 3873	n = 1319	n = 425	n = 163	P-value <sup>3</sup>
Height (cm)	168.4 (7.1)	167.8 (7.3)	166.3 (7.5)	165.8 (7.3)	165.1 (7.8)	<0.001
Prepregnancy weight (kg)	53.6 (5.3)	62.7 (6.4)	74.7 (7.5)	88.2 (8.8)	105.6 (13.4)	< 0.001
Weight gain (kg)	11.2 (5.1)	11.0 (4.5)	9.7 (5.4)	7.7 (6.9)	5.4 (7.1)	< 0.001
Age (yrs)	29.1 (5.4)	30.0 (5.3)	29.8 (5.2)	29.5 (5.2)	28.9 (5.1)	< 0.001
Parity (%)						
Nulliparous	63.4	60.5	47.3	40.0	50.3	< 0.001
Multiparous	36.6	39.5	52.7	60.0	49.7	
Gestational age at intake (wks) <sup>2</sup>	14.5	14.2	14.4	14.8	14.5	0.07
	(10.2, 28.9)	(10.4, 24.9)	(10.2, 24.8)	(10.5, 28.8)	(10.1, 23.6)	
Highest completed education (%	)					
Primary school	9.2	9.0	15.8	19.5	13.8	0.001
Secondary school	45.8	43.0	50.2	61.7	69.7	
Higher education	45.0	48.0	34.0	18.8	16.4	
Ethnicity (%)						
European	61.3	62.2	48.7	42.4	40.8	0.001
Non-European	38.7	37.8	51.3	57.6	59.2	
Maternal stress index <sup>2</sup>	0.17(0.00, 1.51)	0.15(0.00, 1.37	) 0.19(0.00, 1.56)	0.17(0.00, 1.46)	0.25(0.00, 1.60)	0.001
Alcohol consumption (%)						
None	45.1	45.2	59.0	65.0	69.7	0.001
First trimester only	14.2	14.2	10.5	13.0	5.8	
Continued	40.7	40.6	30.5	22.0	24.5	
Smoking habits (%)						
None	71.1	74.9	76.4	75.9	70.1	0.03
First trimester only	8.7	8.9	7.2	6.5	8.4	
Continued	20.2	16.3	16.4	17.6	21.5	
Folic acid supplement use (%)						
Preconceptional use	38.3	41.6	37.2	29.4	24.3	0.001
First 10 weeks use	35.2	32.9	28.0	28.2	28.7	
No use	26.5	25.5	34.7	42.4	47.1	
Caffeine intake (%)						
None	4.3	4.1	5.0	5.0	7.7	0.06
<2 units per day	56.9	55.5	53.9	62.5	59.4	
2-5.9 units per day	37.7	39.0	39.5	30.5	32.3	
≥6 units per day	1.1	1.4	1.6	2.0	0.6	
Pregnancy complications, %						
Pre-eclampsia	2.1	1.6	2.6	3.2	4.7	0.02
Pregnancy-induced						
hypertension	21	3.2	51	87	171	<0.001

**Table 2.5.1.** Subject characteristics by prepregnancy body mass index  $(n = 6902)^{1}$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values are means (standard deviation) or percentages. <sup>2</sup>Median (95% range). <sup>3</sup>Differences in subject characteristics between the groups were evaluated using one-way ANOVA tests for continuous variables and chi-square tests for proportions.

### Maternal body mass index and longitudinally measured blood pressure

**Figure 2.5.2** shows the blood pressure development during pregnancy for lean, normal weight, overweight, obese and morbidly obese women. Obese and morbidly obese mothers had the highest first trimester systolic blood pressure, but the lowest increase thereafter. Diastolic blood pressure showed a mid-pregnancy dip, with an increase thereafter for all groups of women. Diastolic blood pressure was the highest for morbidly obese women. The exact regression coefficients for gestational age-independent (intercept) and gestational age-dependent differences (interaction prepregnancy body mass index and gestational age) are given in **Supplementary Table S2.5.1**.

### CHAPTER 2.5

**Table 2.5.2** gives the associations of prepregnancy body mass index with blood pressure in first, second and third trimester using multiple linear regression models. The trend analyses showed that higher prepregnancy body mass index was associated with higher systolic blood pressure in first, second and third trimester (differences for first, second and third trimester: 1.30 mmHg (95% Confidence Interval (CI): 0.95, 1.10), 0.98 mmHg (95% CI: 0.91, 1.04) and 0.89 mmHg (95% CI: 0.83, 0.96) per body mass index unit (P-value <0.001)). The highest systolic blood pressure levels were observed in morbidly obese women. Similar associations of prepregnancy body mass index and diastolic blood pressure were observed for all trimesters (differences for first, second and third trimester: 0.83 mmHg (95% CI: 0.77, 0.88), 0.81 mmHg (95% CI: 0.76, 0.86) and 0.74 mmHg (95% CI: 0.69, 0.79) per body mass index unit (P-value <0.001)).



Figure 2.5.2. Blood pressure patterns in different prepregnancy body mass index categories

Change in systolic and diastolic blood pressure in mmHg for lean, overweight, obese and morbidly obese women, compared to women with a normal body mass index based on repeated measurement analysis. Systolic blood pressure (SBP) =  $\beta_0 + \beta_1 \times b$  body mass index +  $\beta_2 \times gestational age + \beta_3 \times gestational age<sup>2</sup> + <math>\beta_4 \times b$  body mass index × gestational age. Diastolic blood pressure (DBP) =  $\beta_0 + \beta_1 \times b$  body mass index +  $\beta_2 \times gestational age + \beta_3 \times gestational age<sup>-2</sup> + <math>\beta_4 \times b$  body mass index × gestational age. Diastolic blood pressure (DBP) =  $\beta_0 + \beta_1 \times b$  body mass index +  $\beta_2 \times gestational age + \beta_3 \times gestational age<sup>-0.5</sup> + <math>\beta_4 \times b$  body mass index × gestational age. In these models, ' $\beta_0 + \beta_1 \times b$  body mass index' reflects the intercept and ' $\beta_2 \times gestational age + \beta_3 \times gestational age<sup>-0.5</sup> + <math>\beta_4 \times gestational age<sup>-0.5</sup> + \beta_4 \times b$  body mass index × gestational age<sup>-0.5</sup> +  $\beta_4 \times b$  body mass index × gestational age<sup>-0.5</sup> +  $\beta_4 \times b$  body mass index × gestational age<sup>-0.5</sup> +  $\beta_4 \times b$  body mass index × gestational age<sup>-0.5</sup> +  $\beta_4 \times b$  body mass index × gestational age<sup>-0.5</sup> +  $\beta_4 \times b$  body mass index × gestational age<sup>-0.5</sup> +  $\beta_4 \times b$  body mass index × gestational age<sup>-0.5</sup> +  $\beta_4 \times b$  body mass index × gestational age<sup>-0.5</sup> +  $\beta_4 \times b$  body mass index × gestational age<sup>-0.5</sup> +  $\beta_4 \times b$  body mass index × gestational age<sup>-0.5</sup> +  $\beta_4 \times b$  body mass index × gestational age<sup>-0.5</sup> +  $\beta_4 \times b$  body mass index × gestational age<sup>-0.5</sup> +  $\beta_4 \times b$  body mass index × gestational age<sup>-0.5</sup> +  $\beta_4 \times b$  body mass index × gestational age<sup>-0.5</sup> +  $\beta_4 \times b$  body mass index × gestational age<sup>-0.5</sup> +  $\beta_4 \times b$  body mass index × gestational age<sup>-0.5</sup> +  $\beta_4 \times b$  body mass index × gestational age<sup>0.5</sup> +  $\beta_4 \times b$  body mass index set gestational age<sup>0.5</sup> +  $\beta_4 \times b$  body mass index set gestational age<sup>0.5</sup> +  $\beta_4 \times b$  body mass index body mass index category. Estimates and P-values are given in Supplementary Table S2.5.1.
	First trimester <sup>2</sup>	Second trimester <sup>2</sup>	Third trimester <sup>2</sup>
Body mass index	n = 5295	n = 6500	n = 6570
	Difference in systolic blood	d pressure (mmHg)	
Lean (<20 kg/m²)	-3.28 (-4.14, -2.41)*	-3.73 (-4.49, -2.98)*	-3.49 (-4.24, -2.73)*
	n = 866	n = 1053	n = 1062
Normal (20-24.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	Reference	Reference	Reference
	n = 2998	n = 3667	n = 3711
Overweight (25-29.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	5.46 (4.63, 6.29)*	5.16 (4.44, 5.89)*	4.78 (4.06, 5.50)*
	n = 1007	n = 1232	n = 1262
Obese (30-34.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	10.80 (9.44, 12.17)*	9.46 (8.30, 10.62)*	8.60 (7.41, 9.79)*
	n = 309	n = 400	n = 386
Morbidly obese (≥35 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	13.07 (10.91, 15.23)*	14.37 (12.53, 16.21)*	12.63 (10.78, 14.48)*
	n = 115	n = 148	n = 149
Trend <sup>3</sup>	1.30 (0.95, 1.10)*	0.98 (0.91, 1.04)*	0.89 (0.83, 0.96)*
	Difference in diastolic bloc	od pressure (mmHg)	
Lean (<20 kg/m²)	-1.71 (-2.38, -1.04)*	-2.46 (-3.06, -1.87)*	-2.17 (-2.76, -1.58)*
	n = 866	n = 1053	n = 1062
Normal (20-24.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	Reference	Reference	Reference
	n = 2998	n = 3667	n = 3711
Overweight (25-29.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	4.49 (3.85, 5.14)*	3.76 (3.19, 4.33)*	3.78 (3.23, 4.34)*
	n = 1007	n = 1232	n = 1262
Obese (30-34.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	8.69 (7.63, 9.74)*	8.50 (7.58, 9.41)*	7.03 (6.10, 7.95)*
	n = 309	n = 400	n = 386
Morbidly obese (≥35 kg/m²)	13.12 (11.44, 14.79)*	13.57 (12.12, 15.02)*	11.92 (10.48, 13.36)*
	n = 115	n = 148	n = 149
Trend <sup>3</sup>	0.83 (0.77, 0.88)*	0.81 (0.76, 0.86)*	0.74 (0.69, 0.79)*

**Table 2.5.2.** Associations of prepregnancy body mass index with systolic and diastolic blood pressure  $(n = 6902)^{1}$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values are regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) that reflect the difference in blood pressure in mmHg per body mass index group compared to the reference group of women with a normal body mass index, 20-24.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Estimates are from multiple imputed data. <sup>2</sup>Models are adjusted for gestational age at visit, maternal age, gestational weight gain, educational level, ethnicity, parity, folic acid supplement use, smoking habits, alcohol consumption, caffeine intake, and maternal stress. <sup>3</sup>Tests for trend were based on multiple linear regression models with body mass index as a continuous variable. \*P-value <0.001.

# Body mass index, gestational weight gain and risks of pregnancy-induced hypertension and pre-eclampsia

As compared to normal weight women, those with overweight, obesity and morbid obesity had a higher risk of pregnancy-induced hypertension (Odds Ratio (OR) 2.12 (95% CI: 1.54, 2.91), OR 4.67 (95% CI: 3.07, 7.09) and OR 11.34 (95% CI: 6.80, 18.86), respectively) and pre-eclampsia (OR 1.82 (95% CI: 1.16, 2.83), OR 2.49 (95% CI: 1.29, 4.78) and OR 3.40 (95% CI: 1.39, 8.28), respectively) (**Table 2.5.3**). A positive trend was observed for each model (P-value <0.001). Gestational weight gain was associated with an increased risk of pregnancy-induced hypertension. As compared to the reference group (gestational weight gain <7 kg), women who gained 7 – 11.9 kg and women who gained at least 12 kg had a higher risk of pregnancy-induced hypertension (OR 1.50 (95% CI: 1.40, 2.16) and 1.86 (95% CI: 1.27, 2.70), respectively). No association between gestational weight gain and the risk of pre-eclampsia was observed.

#### CHAPTER 2.5

	Pregnancy-induced hypertension <sup>2,3</sup>	Pre-eclampsia <sup>2,3</sup>
Body mass index	( <i>n</i> = 264)	( <i>n</i> = 131)
Lean (<20 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	0.66 (0.42, 1.03)	1.22 (0.74, 2.00)
	$n_{cases} = 23$	$n_{cases} = 22$
Normal (20-24.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	Reference	Reference
	n <sub>cases</sub> = 117	$n_{cases} = 60$
Overweight (25-29.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	2.12 (1.54, 2.91)**	1.82 (1.16, 2.83)*
	n <sub>cases</sub> = 64	n <sub>cases</sub> = 31
Obese (30-34.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	4.67 (3.07, 7.09)**	2.49 (1.29, 4.78)*
	n <sub>cases</sub> = 35	n <sub>cases</sub> = 12
Morbidly obese (≥35 kg/m²)	11.34 (6.80, 18.86)**	3.40 (1.39, 8.28)*
	n <sub>cases</sub> = 25	n <sub>cases</sub> = 6
Trend⁵	1.16 (1.13, 1.19)**	1.08 (1.04, 1.12)**
	Pregnancy-induced hypertension <sup>2,4</sup>	Pre-eclampsia <sup>2,4</sup>
Gestational weight gain	( <i>n</i> = 252)	( <i>n</i> = 121)
<7 kg	Reference	Reference
	$n_{cases} = 55$	n <sub>cases</sub> = 36
7-11.9 kg	1.50 (1.04, 2.16)*	0.78 (0.48, 1.25)
	$n_{cases} = 103$	n <sub>cases</sub> = 42
≥12 kg	1.86 (1.27, 2.70)*	1.08 (0.67, 1.74)
	n <sub>cases</sub> = 94	n <sub>cases</sub> = 43
Trend <sup>5</sup>	1.06 (1.13, 1.19 )**	1.02 (0.99, 1.05)

**Table 2.5.3.** Prepregnancy body mass index, gestational weight gain and risks of pregnancy-induced hypertension and pre-eclampsia  $(n = 6902)^1$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values are Odds Ratios (95% Confidence Interval) that reflect the difference in risks of pregnancy-induced hypertension and pre-eclampsia in different body mass index groups compared to women with a normal body mass index, 20-24.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and in different gestational weight gain groups compared to women with a gestational weight gain <7 kg. Estimates are from multiple imputed data. <sup>2</sup>Model is adjusted for maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, folic acid supplement use, smoking habits, alcohol consumption, caffeine intake, maternal stress. <sup>3</sup>Model is also adjusted for gestational weight gain a 'fests for trend were based on multiple logistic regression models with body mass index and gestational weight gain as a continuous variable. \*P-value <0.005. \*\*P-value <0.001.

#### Discussion

Results from this prospective cohort study showed that higher prepregnancy body mass index is associated with both higher systolic and diastolic blood pressure in all trimesters. The difference in blood pressure between body mass index groups is already present from first trimester onwards and remains stable throughout pregnancy. Overweight, obesity and morbid obesity are also associated with increased risks of gestational hypertensive disorders. Higher gestational weight gain was associated with a higher risk of pregnancy-induced hypertension, but not with pre-eclampsia.

Some methodological issues need to be considered. One of the strengths of this study was the prospective data collection from early pregnancy onwards. We had a large sample size of 6902 participants with 18.365 blood pressure measurements. The response rate at baseline for participation in the Generation R Study cohort was 61%. The nonresponse would lead to biased effect estimates if the associations were different between those included and not included in the analyses. However, this seems unlikely because biased estimates in large cohort studies mainly arise from loss to follow-up rather than from nonresponse at baseline.<sup>19</sup> Detailed information about a large

number of potential confounding factors was available in this study. However, because of the observational design, residual confounding due to other socio-demographic and lifestyle-related determinants might still be an issue. In addition, information on many covariates in this study was self-reported, which may have resulted in underreporting of certain adverse lifestyle-related determinants. Information on maternal prepregnancy weight was self-reported as well. Self-reported weight tends to be underestimated, so some misclassification might have occurred. However, self-reported prepregnancy weight and weight measured at intake were highly correlated in our study. Finally, we had a relatively small number of pregnancy-induced hypertension cases (n = 264) and pre-eclampsia cases (n = 131), which might have led to lack of power to assess associations with gestational hypertensive complications and the lower body mass index category and gestational weight gain. The relatively small number of cases of gestational hypertensive complications are selection towards a relatively healthy, low-risk population.

Overweight and obesity are a major public health concern and have been associated with adverse pregnancy-related outcomes for mother and offspring. Within the Generation R study, it has already been shown that maternal prepregnancy body mass index is positively associated with fetal growth from second trimester onwards.<sup>5</sup> Furthermore, women within the highest quintile of prepregnancy body mass index and gestational weight gain were at increased risk of delivering large size for gestational age infants. Gestational weight gain modified the effect of prepregnancy body mass index. Women with the highest prepregnancy body mass index and the highest gestational weight gain had the highest risk of large size for gestational age infants.<sup>5</sup>

In this present study, we have shown that prepregnancy body mass index influences systolic and diastolic blood pressure levels during pregnancy, already from first trimester onwards. We observed significant differences in systolic and diastolic blood pressure between the several body mass index categories in each trimester. This is in line with observations in previous studies.<sup>4,10,20</sup> A study among 1733 women observed a positive association of prepregnancy body mass index with systolic and diastolic blood pressure in each trimester.<sup>10</sup> Another study among 166 women suggested that the effect of body mass index on diastolic blood pressure in the third trimester was only present in women without previous pregnancies.<sup>20</sup> In our study, we observed little difference between nulliparous and multiparous women for the associations between prepregnancy body mass index and blood pressure (data not shown). Furthermore, the study among 1733 women observed an increase in blood pressure with increasing body mass index categories at any gestational age, but the increase in blood pressure was attenuated with higher body mass index levels in later pregnancy.<sup>11</sup> Especially, for systolic blood pressure, this attenuation occurred. We observed that the two highest BMI categories had the smallest increase of systolic blood pressure throughout pregnancy, slightly decreasing the difference in systolic blood pressure between the different body mass index categories.

Multiple previous studies have examined the relationship between obesity and preeclampsia.<sup>1,6,21-25</sup> A review of 13 cohort studies observed a strong positive association between prepregnancy body mass index and the risk of pre-eclampsia.<sup>26</sup> In line with this review, we observed that higher prepregnancy body mass index was associated with a higher risk of pre-eclampsia, with the highest risk among morbidly obese women. A limited number of studies have assessed the associations between underweight and the risk of hypertensive disorders during pregnancy. A study among 24.241 primigravid women observed a protective effect of underweight, body mass index less than 19.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, for both the risk of pregnancy-induced hypertension and pre-eclampsia.<sup>6</sup> A study among Chinese women observed a protective effect of underweight against pregnancy-induced hypertension but not against pre-eclampsia.<sup>1</sup> We did not observe a protective effect of underweight, defined as a body mass index below 20 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, against hypertensive complications during pregnancy. The difference might be due to a small number of cases, differences in study population and adjustment for possible covariates.

Gestational weight gain might also influence the risk of gestational hypertensive disorders. A study among 854.085 American women observed that the incidence of preeclampsia increased with an increasing rate of weight gain in both women with a normal prepregnancy body mass index and in obese women.<sup>21</sup> We also observed a higher risk of pregnancy-induced hypertension with higher gestational weight gain. However, we did not observe an association between gestational weight gain and pre-eclampsia. This might be due to a small number of cases of pre-eclampsia in our analysis.

The mechanisms by which higher body mass index may lead to higher blood pressure levels and increase the risk of gestational hypertensive disorders are not clear. It has been suggested that an imbalance in the autonomic function, especially hyperactivity of the sympathetic nervous system, might be a mechanism that can explain the observed associations.<sup>4,10,11,27</sup> Another hypothesis that has been suggested is that adiposity-related insulin resistance might indirectly influence blood pressure.<sup>10,11,27</sup> Furthermore, obesity is known to cause chronic inflammation and oxidative stress. It has been shown that there is increased systemic inflammation in first trimester in overweight and obese women with pre-eclampsia.<sup>28,29</sup> This might also explain part of the pathway of obesity with pre-eclampsia. Further research is necessary to explore these complex mechanisms underlying the relationship between obesity and blood pressure level and gestational hypertensive disorders. As the effect of prepregnancy body mass index on blood pressure is already present in first trimester, future preventive strategies should be focused on the preconceptional period.

In conclusion, overweight, obesity and morbid obesity are associated with both higher systolic and diastolic blood pressure levels in first, second and third trimester, and increased risks of gestational hypertensive disorders. Higher gestational weight gain is associated with an increased risk of pregnancy-induced hypertension, but not with preeclampsia. Preconception strategies to prevent obesity in women of reproductive age might lead to less hypertensive complications during pregnancy.

# References

- Chen Z, Du J, Shao L, Zheng L, Wu M, Ai M, Zhang Y. Prepregnancy body mass index, gestational weight gain, and pregnancy outcomes in China. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2010; 109:41–44.
- Flick AA, Brookfield KF, de la Torre L, Tudela CM, Duthely L, Gonzalez- Quintero VH. Excessive weight gain among obese women and pregnancy outcomes. Am J Perinatol 2010; 27:333–338.
- Siega-Riz AM, Laraia B. The implications of maternal overweight and obesity on the course of pregnancy and birth outcomes. Matern Child Health J 2006; 10:S153–S156.
- Helmreich RJ, Hundley V, Varvel P. The effect of obesity on heart rate (heart period) and physiologic parameters during pregnancy. Biol Res Nurs 2008; 10:63–78.
- Ay L, Kruithof CJ, Bakker R, Steegers EA, Witteman JC, Moll HA, et al. Maternal anthropometrics are associated with fetal size in different periods of pregnancy and at birth. The Generation R Study. BJOG 2009; 116:953–963.
- Bhattacharya S, Campbell DM, Liston WA. Effect of body mass index on pregnancy outcomes in nulliparous women delivering singleton babies. BMC Public Health 2007; 7:168.
- Callaway LK, Prins JB, Chang AM, McIntyre HD. The prevalence and impact of overweight and obesity in an Australian obstetric population. Med J Aust 2006; 184:56 –59.
- 8. Ruager-Martin R, Hyde MJ, Modi N. Maternal obesity and infant outcomes. Early Hum Dev 2010; 86:715–722.
- 9. Crane JM, White J, Murphy P, Burrage L, Hutchens D. The effect of gestational weight gain by body mass index on maternal and neonatal outcomes. J Obstet Gynaecol Can 2009; 31:28–35.
- 10. Miller RS, Thompson ML, Williams MA. Trimester-specific blood pressure levels in relation to maternal prepregnancy body mass index. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol 2007; 21:487–494.
- 11. Thompson ML, Williams MA, Miller RS. Modelling the association of blood pressure during pregnancy with gestational age and body mass index. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol 2009; 23:254–263.
- 12. Jaddoe VW, Bakker R, van Duijn CM, van der Heijden AJ, Lindemans J, Mackenbach JP, et al. The Generation R Study Biobank: a resource for epidemiological studies in children and their parents. Eur J Epidemiol 2007; 22:917–923.
- Jaddoe VW, van Duijn CM, van der Heijden AJ, Mackenbach JP, Moll HA, Steegers EA, et al. The Generation R Study: design and cohort update 2010. Eur J Epidemiol 2010; 25:823–841.
- World Medical Association I. Declaration of Helsinki. Ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. J Indian Med Assoc 2009; 107:403–405.
- 15. El Assaad MA, Topouchian JA, Darne BM, Asmar RG. Validation of the Omron HEM-907 device for blood pressure measurement. Blood Press Monit 2002; 7:237 –241.
- Coolman M, de Groot CJ, Jaddoe VW, Hofman A, Raat H, Steegers EA. Medical record validation of maternally reported history of pre-eclampsia. J Clin Epidemiol 2010; 63:932–937.
- 17. Derogatis LR. Brief Symptom Inventory (BSI): administration, scoring and procedures. Manual, 3rd ed. Minneapolis, MN. 1993.
- 18. Goldstein H. Multilevel statistical methods, 2nd ed. London: Edward Arnold; 1995.
- Nohr EA, Frydenberg M, Henriksen TB, Olsen J. Does low participation in cohort studies induce bias? Epidemiology 2006; 17:413–418.
- Strevens H, Kristensen K, Langhoff-Roos J, Wide-Swensson D. Blood pressure patterns through consecutive pregnancies are influenced by body mass index. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2002; 187:1343 –1348.
- Mbah AK, Kornosky JL, Kristensen S, August EM, Alio AP, Marty PJ, et al. Super-obesity and risk for early and late preeclampsia. BJOG 2010; 117:997–1004.
- 22. Group HSCR. Hyperglycaemia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcome (HAPO) Study: associations with maternal body mass index. BJOG 2010; 117:575–584.
- 23. Athukorala C, Rumbold AR, Willson KJ, Crowther CA. The risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes in women who are overweight or obese. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2010; 10:56.
- 24. Bodnar LM, Ness RB, Markovic N, Roberts JM. The risk of pre-eclampsia rises with increasing prepregnancy body mass index. Ann Epidemiol 2005; 15:475–482.
- 25. Schrauwers C, Dekker G. Maternal and perinatal outcome in obese pregnant patients. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2009; 22:218–226.
- O'Brien TE, Ray JG, Chan WS. Maternal body mass index and the risk of pre-eclampsia: a systematic overview. Epidemiology 2003; 14:368–374.
- Calhoun DA, Grassi G. Weight gain and hypertension: the chicken-egg question revisited. J Hypertens 2004; 22:1869 1871.
- Wolf M, Kettyle E, Sandler L, Ecker JL, Roberts J, Thadhani R. Obesity and pre-eclampsia: the potential role of inflammation. Obstet Gynecol 2001; 98:757–762.
- 29. Bodnar LM, Ness RB, Harger GF, Roberts JM. Inflammation and triglycerides partially mediate the effect of prepregnancy body mass index on the risk of pre-eclampsia. Am J Epidemiol 2005; 162:1198–1206.

# Supplementary Material

Supplementary Table S2.5.1. Longitudinal associations between prepregnancy body mass index and systolic and diastolic blood  $pressure^1$ 

Prepregnancy body mass index	Intercept	P-value <sup>2</sup>	Slope (mmHg (95% CI))	P-value <sup>2</sup>
	Difference ir	n systolic blood pre	ssure	
Lean (<20 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	106.68	<0.001	-0.007 (-0.06, 0.04)	0.79
Normal (20-24.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	109.81	< 0.001	Reference	
Overweight (25-29.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	114.63	< 0.001	-0.048 (-0.10, -0.001)	<0.05
Obese (30-34.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	120.70	< 0.001	-0.16 (-0.24, -0.08)	< 0.001
Morbidly obese (≥35 kg/m²)	123.46	<0.001	-0.14 (-0.26, -0.01)	<0.05
	Difference in	n diastolic blood pr	essure	
Lean (<20 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	93.80	< 0.001	-0.014 (-0.05, 0.03)	0.49
Normal (20-24.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	95.55	< 0.001	Reference	
Overweight (25-29.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	100.11	< 0.001	-0.057 (-0.09, -0.02)	<0.05
Obese (30-34.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	105.62	< 0.001	-0.14 (-0.21, -0.08)	<0.001
Morbidly obese (≥35 kg/m²)	110.33	<0.001	-0.14 (-0.24, -0.05)	<0.05

 $^{1}$ Values are based on repeated non-linear regression models and reflect the change in blood pressure in mmHg per body mass index category compared to the reference group of women with a normal body mass index , 20-24.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. <sup>2</sup>P-value reflects the significance level of the estimate.

# Chapter 2.6

# Childhood cardiovascular outcomes of maternal obesity

Romy Gaillard Eric A.P. Steegers Liesbeth Duijts Janine F. Felix Albert Hofman Oscar H. Franco Vincent W.V. Jaddoe

Adapted from Hypertension. 2014: 63(4):683-91



# Abstract

**Background:** Maternal prepregnancy obesity is associated with impaired cardiometabolic health in offspring. Whether these associations reflect direct intrauterine causal mechanisms remains unclear.

**Methods:** In a population-based prospective cohort study among 4871 mothers, fathers, and their children, we examined the associations of both maternal and paternal prepregnancy body mass index with childhood body fat distribution and cardio-metabolic outcomes and explored whether any association was explained by pregnancy, birth, and childhood factors. We measured childhood body mass index, total body and abdominal fat distribution, blood pressure, and blood levels of lipids, insulin, and C-peptide at the age of 6 years.

**Results:** We observed that higher maternal and paternal prepregnancy body mass index were associated with higher childhood body mass index, total body and abdominal fat mass measures, systolic blood pressure, and insulin levels and lower high-density lipo-protein cholesterol levels (P-value <0.05). Stronger associations were present for maternal than paternal body mass index, with statistical support for heterogeneity between these associations. The associations for childhood current body mass index. Compared with children from normal-weight mothers, those from obese mothers had increased risks of childhood overweight (Odds Ratio (OR) 3.84 (95% Confidence Interval (CI): 3.01, 4.90)) and clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors (OR 3.00 (95% CI: 2.09, 4.34)). Smaller effect estimates for these outcomes were observed for paternal obesity.

**Conclusions:** Higher maternal and paternal prepregnancy body mass index were associated with an adverse cardio-metabolic profile in offspring, with stronger associations present for maternal prepregnancy body mass index. These findings suggest that maternal prepregnancy body mass index may influence the cardio-metabolic health of offspring through direct intrauterine mechanisms.

# Introduction

Maternal obesity during pregnancy is associated with an adverse cardio-metabolic risk profile in childhood and adulthood.<sup>1-4</sup> The mechanisms underlying these associations might involve increased placental transfer of nutrients during fetal development, which may cause permanent adaptations in appetite, energy metabolism, and neuroendocrine function in offspring, which predispose individuals to a greater risk of cardio-metabolic disease in later life.<sup>5</sup> However, these associations might also reflect shared family-based, lifestyle-related characteristics or genetic factors.<sup>5</sup> Comparing the strength of associations of prepregnancy body mass index from both mother and father with childhood outcomes could help in disentangling underlying mechanisms.<sup>6,7</sup> Stronger associations for maternal body mass index suggest direct intrauterine mechanisms, whereas similar or stronger associations for paternal body mass index suggest a role for shared familybased, lifestyle-related characteristics or genetic factors. To date, studies comparing associations of maternal and paternal body mass index with childhood body mass index have shown conflicting results.<sup>5,8–11</sup> Also, most previous studies did not explore associations of parental body mass index with detailed childhood body and abdominal fat distribution and cardio-metabolic outcomes. It further remains unclear whether differences in magnitude of associations of parental body mass index with childhood outcomes are present across the full range of body mass index or confined to parental obesity only.

Therefore, in a population-based prospective cohort study among 4871 children and their parents, we examined the associations of maternal and paternal prepregnancy body mass index with childhood body mass index, total body and abdominal fat distribution, and cardio-metabolic risk factors. We also explored whether these associations are present across the full range of body mass index and explained by pregnancy, birth, or childhood characteristics.

## Methods

#### Study design

This study was embedded in the Generation R Study, a population-based prospective cohort study from early pregnancy onward in Rotterdam, The Netherlands.<sup>12</sup> The local medical ethical committee approved the study. Written informed consent was obtained from all mothers. In total, 6954 mothers had information about prepregnancy body mass index available and gave birth to singleton live-born children. Missing information about prepregnancy body mass index was mainly because of later enrollment in the study and nonparticipation in the first questionnaire. We excluded mothers and their children without follow-up data available. The population for analysis included 4871 (70%) children and their parents (flow chart given in **Supplementary Figure S2.6.1**).

#### Parental anthropometrics

At enrollment, we measured maternal and paternal height (cm) and weight (kg) without shoes and heavy clothing. Body mass index (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) was calculated. Information about maternal weight just before pregnancy was obtained by questionnaire. In our population for analysis, 52.3% of all mothers were enrolled before a gestational age of 14 weeks. Correlation of prepregnancy weight, obtained by questionnaire, and weight measured at enrollment was 0.94 (P-value <0.001). Prepregnancy maternal and paternal body mass index were categorized into 4 categories (underweight [ $20 - 24.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ], overweight [ $25 - 29.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ], and obese [ $\geq 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ]).

#### Childhood body fat and cardio-metabolic outcomes

All children were invited to participate in detailed body fat and cardio-metabolic followup measurements at the age of 6 years. We measured height and weight without shoes and heavy clothing and calculated body mass index. Childhood underweight, normal weight, overweight, and obesity were defined by the International Obesity Task Force cutoffs.<sup>13</sup> Body fat was measured by dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (iDXA; General Electrics-Lunar, 2008, Madison, WI).<sup>14</sup> Total fat mass was calculated as percentage of total body weight measured by dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry. We calculated android/gynoid fat mass ratio.<sup>14</sup> We performed abdominal ultrasound examinations as described previously.<sup>15,16</sup> Subcutaneous and preperitoneal fat mass areas were measured as areas of 2 cm length along the midline starting from the reference point in the direction of the navel. Systolic and diastolic blood pressures were measured at the right brachial artery, 4× with 1-minute intervals, using the validated automatic sphygmanometer Datascope Accutor Plus TM (Paramus, NJ).<sup>17</sup> We used the mean systolic and diastolic blood pressure values using the last 3 blood pressure measurements. We obtained 30-minute fasting venous blood samples and measured total cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, triglycerides, insulin, and Cpeptide levels. In line with previous definitions used among pediatric populations to define childhood metabolic syndrome-like phenotype,<sup>18</sup> we defined clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors as having any of the 3 or more following components: android fat mass percentage  $\ge 75^{\text{th}}$  percentile; systolic or diastolic blood pressure  $\ge 75^{\text{th}}$  percentile; high-density lipoprotein cholesterol  $\leq 25^{\text{th}}$  percentile or triglycerides  $\geq 75^{\text{th}}$  percentile; and insulin level ≥75<sup>th</sup> percentile. We used android fat mass as percentage of total body fat mass, which was used as proxy for waist circumference because waist circumference was not available.

## Covariates

Information on maternal and paternal age, education level, ethnicity, and maternal folic acid supplement use was obtained at enrollment.<sup>12</sup> Information on maternal smoking and alcohol consumption was assessed by questionnaires during pregnancy. First

trimester maternal nutritional information was obtained by food frequency questionnaire.<sup>19</sup> Maternal weight gain until a gestational age of 30 weeks (median, 30.2 weeks; 95% range, 28.5 – 32.9) was measured. Information about pregnancy complications, mode of delivery and childhood sex, gestational age, and weight and length at birth was obtained from medical records.<sup>20,21</sup> Early childhood growth was measured at community health centers at 24 months. Information about breastfeeding, timing of introduction of solid foods, and average television-watching time was obtained by questionnaires.<sup>12</sup>

## Statistical analysis

First, differences in subject characteristics between maternal body mass index categories were examined with 1-way ANOVA tests and  $\chi^2$  tests. Second, we examined the associations of maternal and paternal body mass index singularly and simultaneously with childhood outcomes in 4 linear regression models: (1) a basic model including child's age and sex; (2) a confounder model, which additionally included covariates selected on the basis of their associations with the outcomes of interest based on previous studies or a change in effect estimate >10%. We included childhood height as covariate in all models focused on fat mass outcomes; (3) an intermediate model, which additionally included maternal pregnancy complications, weight gain during pregnancy, gestational age and weight at birth, infant growth until 2 years of age, and current childhood body mass index; and (4) a fully adjusted model including all covariates. The confounder model was considered as the main model. Third, we examined the associations of maternal and paternal underweight, normal weight, overweight, and obesity with childhood cardio-metabolic outcomes using linear regression models and with the risks of childhood overweight and childhood clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors using logistic regression models. For all analyses, we transformed non-normally distributed childhood outcome variables. We constructed standard deviation scores (SDS) values [(observed value-mean)/SD] for parental body mass index and childhood outcomes to enable comparison of effect estimates. We examined potential interactions between maternal body mass index and paternal body mass index, gestational weight gain, sex, ethnicity, gestational-age-adjusted birth weight, and childhood body mass index for these associations, but after taking multiple testing into account, no significant interactions were present, and no further stratified analyses were performed. Missing data of covariates were imputed using multiple imputations. All analyses were performed using Statistical Package of Social Sciences version 17.1 for Windows (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL).

# Results

#### Subject characteristics

Characteristics of the included mothers, fathers, and children are given in **Table 2.6.1**. Correlation coefficients among maternal, paternal, and childhood cardio-metabolic outcomes are shown in **Supplementary Table S2.6.1**. **Supplementary Table S2.6.2** shows that mothers without offspring follow-up data were more likely to be less educated and from non-European descent.

#### Parental body mass index and childhood cardio-metabolic outcomes

**Table 2.6.2** shows the associations of parental body mass index with childhood outcomes per SDS change and the role of potential intermediates. In the confounder model, 1-SDS higher maternal and paternal body mass index were associated with 0.25-SDS (95% Confidence Interval (CI): 0.23, 0.28) and 0.22-SDS (95% CI: 0.19, 0.24) higher childhood body mass index, respectively (P-value for statistical difference between these associations <0.05). Including both maternal and paternal body mass index in the same model only slightly attenuated these effect estimates. The association of maternal body mass index with childhood body mass index was not explained by pregnancy complications and gestational weight gain. The associations of both maternal and paternal body mass index with childhood body mass index slightly attenuated after adjustment for birth characteristics and infant growth. In the fully adjusted model, both maternal and paternal body mass index, with a significantly stronger association for maternal body mass index.

Similar patterns were present for the associations of parental body mass index with childhood total body and abdominal fat mass measures. Compared with paternal body mass index, maternal body mass index was more strongly associated with all childhood total body and abdominal fat mass measures. However, differences in the magnitude of effect estimates of maternal–offspring and paternal–offspring associations for android/gynoid fat mass ratio and abdominal preperitoneal fat mass were not statistically significant. After adjustment of these associations for current childhood body mass index, only the association of maternal BMI with childhood total body fat mass remained significant.

	Total group	Maternal underweight	Maternal normal weight	Maternal overweight	Maternal obesity	
Characteristics	n = 4871	n = 738	n = 2789	n = 940	n = 404	P-value <sup>2</sup>
Maternal Characteristics						
Age, median (95% range), yrs	30.9 (19.9, 39.4)	30.4 (19.1, 38.7)	31.2 (19.8, 39.6)	30.8 (20.7, 39.5)	30.3 (20.6, 39.4)	<0.01
Gestational age at intake, median (95% range), wks	13.8 (9.9, 24.2)	13.8 (9.8, 24.1)	13.8 (10.0, 24.1)	13.9 (9.8, 24.1)	14.2 (10.1, 24.9)	0.38
BMI, mean (SD), kg/m <sup>2</sup>	23.6 (4.2)	18.9 (0.9)	22.3 (1.4)	26.9 (1.4)	33.9 (3.7)	<0.01
Weight gain during pregnancy, mean (SD), kg	10.5 (4.9)	11.1 (3.9)	11.0(4.4)	9.8 (5.2)	7.2 (7.0)	<0.01
Education, No. higher education (%)	2198 (46.3)	355 (49.0)	1422 (51.0)	336 (37.0)	85 (22.4)	<0.01
Race / Ethnicity, No. Dutch or European (%)	2985 (61.5)	481 (65.4)	1826 (65.7)	483 (51.5)	195 (48.9)	<0.01
Marital status, No. Married (%)	2379 (50.0)	327 (45.2)	1330 (48.5)	511 (56.2)	211 (54.8)	<0.01
Parity, No. nulliparous (%)	2833 (58.2)	472 (64.0)	1711 (61.3)	470 (50.0)	180 (44.6)	<0.01
Total energy intake, mean (SD), kcal	2052 (551)	2110 (562)	2075 (542)	1996 (541)	1907 (583)	<0.01
Folic acid supplement use, No. Yes (%)	3040 (75.1)	453 (76.7)	1837 (78.2)	537 (69.2)	213 (63.9)	<0.01
Smoking during pregnancy, No. Yes (%)	1187 (25.5)	199 (28.0)	660 (24.7)	226 (25.5)	102 (26.5)	0.31
Alcohol consumption during pregnancy, No. Yes (%)	2509 (54.0)	417 (59.0)	1550 (57.9)	411 (46.5)	131 (34.3)	<0.01
Maternal pregnancy complications						
Gestational hypertension, No. (%)	206 (4.4)	15 (2.1)	90 (3.3)	57 (6.1)	44 (10.9)	<0.01
Pre-eclampsia, No. (%)	86 (1.9)	12 (1.7)	35 (1.3)	22 (2.6)	17 (5.2)	<0.01
Gestational diabetes, No. (%)	51 (1.1)	3 (0.4)	12 (0.4)	23 (2.6)	13 (3.3)	<0.01
Paternal characteristics						
Age, median (95% range), yrs	33.2 (22.3, 46.1)	32.8 (21.7, 45.8)	33.2 (22.3, 45.9)	33.1 (22.3, 46.0)	32.8 (24.1, 48.9)	0.26
BMI, mean (SD), kg/m <sup>2</sup>	25.3 (3.4)	24.3 (3.0)	25.1 (3.2)	26.1 (3.6)	27.0 (4.5)	<0.01
Paternal education, No. higher education (%)	1738 (52.4)	278 (55.9)	1124 (55.9)	269 (45.9)	67 (29.9)	<0.01
Race / Ethnicity, No. Dutch or European (%)	2620 (71.0)	396 (70.6)	1624 (73.6)	433 (65.7)	167 (63.7)	<0.01
Birth and infant characteristics						
Males, No. (%)	2444 (50.2)	389 (52.7)	1399 (50.2)	460 (48.9)	196 (48.5)	0.40
Gestational age at birth, median (95% range), wks	39.9 (35.9, 42.3)	40.0 (35.6, 42.1)	40.1 (36.1, 42.3)	40.3 (36.0, 42.4)	40.0 (34.4, 42.4)	<0.01
Birth weight, mean (SD), g	3435 (545)	3275 (513)	3445 (539)	3500 (543)	3504 (589)	<0.01
Caesarean delivery, No. (%)	539 (12.1)	71 (10.6)	289 (11.4)	126 (14.9)	53 (13.8)	0.02
Ever breastfeeding, No. Yes (%)	3566 (92.7)	545 (93.3)	2095 (93.4)	655 (92.5)	271 (87.4)	<0.01
Breastfeeding duration, median (95% range), mo	3.5 (0.5, 12.0)	3.5 (0.5, 12.0)	3.8 (0.5, 12.0)	3.5 (0.5, 12.0)	2.5 (0.5, 12.0)	<0.01
Introduction of solid foods, No. before 6 months (%)	2687 (89.5)	376 (87.9)	1613 (89.5)	490 (90.4)	208 (90.8)	<0.01
Television watching, No. More than 2 hours/day (%)	747 (19.3)	105 (17.7)	356 (15.8)	192 (26.3)	94 (33.2)	<0.01

**Table 2.6.1.** Characteristics of mothers, fathers and their children  $(n = 4871)^1$ 

	l otal group	Maternal underweight	Maternal normal weight	Maternal overweight	Maternal obesity	
Characteristics	n = 4871	n = 738	n = 2789	n = 940	n = 404	P-value <sup>2</sup>
Childhood characteristics						
Age at follow up, median (95% range), yrs	6.0 (5.6, 8.0)	6.0 (5.6, 8.0)	6.0 (5.6, 7.9)	6.0 (5.6, 7.9)	6.1 (5.6, 8.1)	<0.01
BMI, mean (SD), kg/m <sup>2</sup>	16.2 (1.9)	15.6 (1.5)	16.1 (1.6)	16.6 (2.0)	17.7 (2.8)	<0.01
Overweight or obesity, No. (%)	866 (17.8)	57 (7.8)	393 (14.1)	245 (26.1)	171 (42.3)	<0.01
Total fat mass, mean (SD), %	25.0 (5.7)	23.3 (4.9)	24.4 (5.3)	26.0 (5.8)	28.8 (7.0)	<0.01
Android/gynoid fat mass ratio, mean (SD)	0.25 (0.06)	0.24 (0.06)	0.25 (0.06)	0.26 (0.07)	0.29 (0.08)	<0.01
Systolic blood pressure, mean (SD), mmHg	102.8 (8.2)	102.0 (7.9)	102.4 (8.1)	103.6 (8.4)	104.9 (8.4)	<0.01
Diastolic blood pressure, mean (SD), mmHg	60.8 (6.9)	60.7 (6.7)	60.6 (6.8)	60.8 (6.8)	61.8 (7.2)	0.02
Total-cholesterol, mean (SD), mmol/L	4.2 (0.6)	4.2 (0.6)	4.2 (0.6)	4.2 (0.6)	4.2 (0.7)	0.42
HDL – cholesterol, mean (SD), mmol/L	1.3 (0.3)	1.3 (0.3)	1.4 (0.3)	1.3 (0.3)	1.3 (0.3)	0.80
LDL – cholesterol, mean (SD), mmol/L	2.4 (0.6)	2.3 (0.6)	2.3 (0.6)	2.4 (0.6)	2.4 (0.5)	0.23
Triglycerides, median (95% range), mmol/L	1.0 (0.4, 2.4)	0.9 (0.4, 2.4)	1.0 (0.4, 2.3)	0.9 (0.4, 2.5)	1.0 (0.4, 2.6)	0.11
Insulin, median (95% range), pmol/L	117.0 (16.1, 405.8)	121.9 (13.0, 357.7)	117.4 (15.8, 394.3)	109.7 (17.7, 424.4)	123.5 (14.5, 493.8)	0.04
C-peptide, median (95% range), nmol/L	1.0 (0.3, 2.2)	1.0 (0.3, 2.0)	1.0 (0.3, 2.1)	1.01 (0.3, 2.3)	1.1 (0.3, 2.6)	0.04
Cardio-metabolic risk factor clustering, No. (%)	314 (10.4)	39 (8.5)	144 (8.3)	77 (12.9)	54 (22.4)	<0.01
c-peptide, median (95% tange), himo/L Cardio-metabolic risk factor clustering, No. (%) <sup>1</sup> Values represent means (SD), medians (95% range)	1.0 (0.3, 2.2) 314 (10.4) or numbers of subjec	1.0 (0.3, 2.0) 39 (8.5) ts (valid %). <sup>2</sup> Differences	1.0 (0.3, 2.1) 144 (8.3) in subject characteristics b	1.01 (0.3, 2.3) 77 (12.9) etween groups were evalu	1.1 (0.3, 2.6) 54 (22.4) uated using one-way	/-ANC

**Table 2.6.1.** Characteristics of mothers, fathers and their children (n = 4871)<sup>1</sup> (continued)

Model	Body mass index	Total fat mass	Android/gynoid fat mass ratio	Subcutaneous abdominal fat area	Preperitoneal abdominal fat area
Maternal model					
Basic model <sup>1</sup>	0.27 (0.24, 0.29)**	0.25 (0.22, 0.27)**	0.18 (0.15, 0.21)	0.22 (0.19, 0.25) **	0.17 (0.14, 0.19)
Confounder model <sup>2</sup>	0.25 (0.23, 0.28)**	0.19 (0.17, 0.21)**	0.15 (0.12, 0.18)	0.16 (0.14, 0.19)	0.12 (0.09, 0.15)
Mediator models <sup>3</sup>					
Pregnancy complications	0.25 (0.23, 0.28)	0.19 (0.16, 0.21)	0.15 (0.12, 0.18)	0.17 (0.14, 0.19)	0.12 (0.09, 0.15)
Maternal gestational weight gain	0.28 (0.25, 0.31)	0.20 (0.18, 0.23)	0.16 (0.13, 0.19)	0.17 (0.14, 0.20)	0.13 (0.10, 0.16)
Birth characteristics	0.23 (0.20, 0.25)	0.19 (0.17, 0.22)**	0.15 (0.13, 0.18)	0.16 (0.14, 0.19)	0.12 (0.09, 0.15)
Infant growth	0.25 (0.22, 0.27)**	0.19 (0.16, 0.21)**	0.15 (0.12, 0.18)	0.16 (0.13, 0.19) **	0.12 (0.09, 0.15)
Childhood BMI		0.02 (0, 0.04)	-0.02 (-0.04, 0.01)	0 (-0.02, 0.03)	0 (-0.03, 0.03)
Fully adjusted model <sup>4</sup>	0.19 (0.16, 0.22)**	0.03 (0.01, 0.05)	-0.02 (-0.04, 0.01)	0.01 (-0.02, 0.03)	0 (-0.03, 0.03)
Paternal model					
Basic model <sup>1</sup>	0.22 (0.19, 0.24)**	0.18 (0.15, 0.20)**	0.14 (0.11, 0.17)	0.16 (0.12, 0.19)**	0.12 (0.09, 0.16)
Confounder model <sup>2,5</sup>	0.22 (0.19, 0.24)**	0.15 (0.12, 0.17)**	0.13 (0.10, 0.16)	0.13 (0.10, 0.16)	0.10 (0.07, 0.13)
Mediator models <sup>3</sup>					
Birth characteristics	0.20 (0.18, 0.23)	0.15 (0.12, 0.17)**	0.13 (0.10, 0.16)	0.12 (0.09, 0.15)	0.10 (0.06, 0.13)
Infant growth	0.19 (0.16, 0.22)**	0.13 (0.11, 0.16)**	0.12 (0.09, 0.15)	0.12 (0.09, 0.15)**	0.09 (0.06, 0.12)
Childhood BMI		0.01 (-0.01, 0.03)	0 (-0.03, 0.02)	0 (-0.02, 0.03)	0 (-0.03, 0.03)
Fully adjusted model <sup>6</sup>	0.14 (0.11, 0.16)**	0.01 (-0.01, 0.03)	0 (-0.02, 0.03)	0 (-0.02, 0.03)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.04)
Combined maternal and paternal model					
Basic model <sup>1</sup>					
Maternal BMI	0.21 (0.18, 0.24)**	0.20 (0.17, 0.23)**	0.14 (0.11, 0.17)	0.18 (0.15, 0.21) **	0.13 (0.09, 0.16)
Paternal BMI	0.17 (0.15, 0.20)**	0.13 (0.11, 0.16)**	0.11 (0.08, 0.14)	0.12 (0.09, 0.15) **	0.10 (0.07, 0.13)
Confounder model <sup>2,7</sup>					
Maternal BMI	0.21 (0.18, 0.24)	0.16 (0.13, 0.19)**	0.12 (0.09, 0.15)	0.14 (0.11, 0.18) **	0.10 (0.06, 0.13)
Paternal BMI	0.18 (0.15, 0.21)	0.12 (0.09, 0.14)**	0.11 (0.08, 0.14)	0.10 (0.07, 0.13) **	0.08 (0.05, 0.11)
Fully adjusted model <sup>8</sup>					
Maternal BMI	0.16 (0.13, 0.19)**	0.03 (0.01, 0.05)	-0.02 (-0.05, 0.01)	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.05)
Paternal BMI	0.11 (0.09, 0.14)**	0.01 (-0.01, 0.03)	0 (-0.02, 0.03)	0 (-0.03, 0.02)	0 (-0.03, 0.04)
Values are regression coefficients (95% (	CI) from linear regression	n models that reflect diff	erences in childhood outcomes	in SDS per SDS change in maternal ar	nd paternal prepregnancy body mass
index. Estimates are based on multiple i.	imputed data. <sup>1</sup> Basic moo	del includes child's sex ar	nd age at outcome measuremen	cs. <sup>2</sup> Confounder model includes mate	rnal age, educational level, ethnicity,
parity, smoking and alcohol consumptiou	on during pregnancy and	folic acid supplement us	e, total calorie intake during preg	gnancy, caesarean delivery, breastfee	ding duration, timing of introduction
of solid foods, child average duration	of tv watching, childhoo	od height (for fat mass	outcomes only). <sup>3</sup> Intermediate	models are confounder models add	tionally adjusted for each potential
intermediate. 'Fully adjusted model Inc	cludes all potential confi	ounders and intermedial	ces. Paternal contounder model	includes paternal age, paternal edu	cational level and paternal ethnicity

**Table 2.6.2.** Parental body mass index and childhood fat mass measures (n = 4871)

instead of maternal age, maternal educational level and maternal ethnicity. <sup>6</sup>Fully adjusted paternal model includes all potential confounders and intermediates. <sup>7</sup>Maternal and paternal combined confounder model includes both maternal and paternal confounders.<sup>\*</sup>Combined fully adjusted model includes all potential maternal and paternal confounders and intermediates. \*\*P-value <0.05

for heterogeneity between maternal and paternal associations.

Model	Systolic blood pressure	Diastolic blood pressure	Total-cholesterol	HDL-cholesterol	LDL-cholesterol	Triglycerides	Insulin
Maternal model							
Basic model <sup>1</sup>	0.10 (0.07, 0.12)	0.04 (0.01, 0.07)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.04)	-0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)	0.02 (-0.02, 0.05)	0.02 (-0.01, 0.06)	0.04 (0, 0.07)
Confounder model <sup>2</sup>	0.08 (0.05, 0.11)	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)	-0.04 (-0.08, 0)	0 (-0.03, 0.04)	0.03 (-0.01, 0.06)	0.05 (0.01, 0.08)
Mediator models <sup>3</sup>							
Pregnancy complications	0.07 (0.04, 0.10)	0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)	-0.04 (-0.07, 0)	0 (-0.04, 0.04)	0.03 (-0.01, 0.06)	0.04 (0.01, 0.08)
Maternal gestational weight gain	0.09 (0.06, 0.12)	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)	-0.05 (-0.08, -0.01)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.04)	0.03 (-0.01, 0.07)	0.05 (0.01, 0.09)
Birth characteristics	0.08 (0.05, 0.11)	0.03 (0, 0.06)	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.03)	-0.04 (-0.08, 0)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.04)	0.03 (-0.01, 0.07)	0.05 (0.02, 0.09)
Infant growth	0.08 (0.05, 0.11)	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)	-0.04 (-0.08, 0)	0 (-0.03, 0.04)	0.03 (-0.01, 0.06)	0.05 (0.01, 0.09)
Childhood BMI	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)	0 (-0.03, 0.03)	-0.04 (-0.08, 0)	-0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)	-0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.03)
Fully adjusted model <sup>4</sup>	0.04 (0.01, 0.07)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.04)	-0.04 (-0.08, 0)	-0.02 (-0.06, 0.03)	-0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)	0 (-0.04, 0.04)
Paternal model							
Basic model <sup>1</sup>	0.07 (0.04, 0.10)	0.03 (0, 0.06)	0 (-0.04, 0.04)	-0.03 (-0.07, 0.01)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.05)	0.02 (-0.02, 0.06)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.05)
Confounder model <sup>2,5</sup>	0.06 (0.03, 0.09)	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)	-0.05 (-0.08,-0.01)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.05)	0.02 (-0.03, 0.06)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.05)
Mediator models							
Birth characteristics	0.06 (0.03, 0.09)	0.02 (-0.01, 0.06)	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.04)	-0.04 (-0.08, 0)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.05)	0.02 (-0.02, 0.06)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.05)
Infant growth	0.05 (0.02, 0.08)	0.02 (-0.02, 0.05)	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)	-0.04 (-0.08, 0)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.05)	0.02 (-0.02, 0.06)	0 (-0.04, 0.04)
Childhood BMI	0.02 (-0.02, 0.05)	0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)	-0.02 (-0.07, 0.02)	-0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)	-0.02 (-0.06, 0.03)	-0.04 (-0.08, 0)
Fully adjusted model <sup>6</sup>	0.01 (-0.02, 0.05)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.04)	-0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)	-0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)	-0.04 (-0.08, 0)
Combined maternal and paternal mode							
Basic model <sup>1</sup>							
Maternal BMI	0.08 (0.05, 0.12)	0.03 (0, 0.07)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.05)	-0.02 (-0.07, 0.02)	0.03 (-0.01, 0.07)	0.02 (-0.02, 0.07)	0.02 (-0.02, 0.07)
Paternal BMI	0.05 (0.02, 0.09)	0.03 (-0.01, 0.06)	0 (-0.04, 0.04)	-0.03 (-0.07, 0.01)	0.01 (-0.04, 0.05)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.05)	0 (-0.04, 0.05)
Confounder model <sup>2,7</sup>							
Maternal BMI	0.07 (0.04, 0.10)	0.02 (-0.02, 0.05)	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.04)	-0.04 (-0.08, 0.01)	0.02 (-0.03, 0.06)	0.03 (-0.02, 0.07)	0.03 (-0.01, 0.08)
Paternal BMI	0.05 (0.01, 0.08)	0.02 (-0.02, 0.05)	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.04)	-0.04 (-0.08, 0)	0 (-0.04, 0.04)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)	0 (-0.04, 0.04)
Fully adjusted model <sup>8</sup>							
Maternal BMI	0.05 (0.01, 0.08)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.05)	-0.04 (-0.08, 0.01)	-0.01 (-0.06, 0.04)	-0.01 (-0.06, 0.04)	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.04)	-0.02 (-0.07, 0.03)
Paternal BMI	0.01 (-0.03, 0.03)	0 (-0.03, 0.04)	-0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)	-0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)	-0.04 (-0.08, 0.01)
Values are regression coefficients (95%	% Cl) from linear regression	models that reflect different	ences in childhood o	utcomes in SDS per	SDS change in materi	nal and paternal prep	pregnancy body mass
ווומבע. באנוווומנבא מוב המאבת טון ווומונוחוב			מפר מו המוווב ווובמ		וומבו וווסמבו ווורוממבא	ווופובו וופו פצבי בחחרפו	נוחוומו ובאבו' בנוווווכורא'
parity, smoking and alcohol consumpti of solid foods, child average duration o	ion during pregnancy and for the statching <sup>3</sup> Intermediat	olic acid supplement use, t e models are confounder n	otal calorie intake di nodels additionally a	uring pregnancy, cae dinsted for each not	esarean delivery, brea ential intermediate <sup>4</sup>	astfeeding duration, ti <sup>1</sup> Fully adiusted model	iming of introduction
confounders and intermediates. <sup>5</sup> Pate	ernal confounder model inc	cludes paternal age. pater	nal educational leve	I and paternal ethr	nicity instead of mate	ernal age. maternal e	educational level and
maternal ethnicity. <sup>6</sup> Fully adjusted pate	ernal model includes all pot	tential confounders and int	termediates. <sup>7</sup> Materi	nal and paternal cor	nbined confounder m	nodel includes both m	naternal and paternal
confounders. <sup>8</sup> Combined fully adjuste	ed model includes all pote	ntial maternal and patern	al confounders and	intermediates. **⊿	II P-values for hetero	ogeneity between m	aternal and paternal

associations not significant.

**Table 2.6.3.** Parental body mass index and childhood cardio-metabolic risk factors (n = 4871)



**Figure 2.6.1.** Associations of maternal and paternal underweight, overweight and obesity with the risks of childhood overweight and childhood clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors  $(n = 4871)^1$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values are Odds Ratios (95% CI) from logistic regression models that reflect the risks of childhood overweight and obesity and childhood clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors for maternal and paternal underweight, overweight and obesity as compared to the reference group (maternal and paternal normal weight). Estimates are based on multiple imputed data. Maternal models include child's sex and age at outcome measurements, maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, smoking and alcohol consumption during pregnancy and folic acid supplement use, total calorie intake during pregnancy, caesarean delivery, breastfeeding duration, timing of introduction of solid foods, child average duration of tv watching. Paternal models include paternal age, paternal educational level and paternal ethnicity instead of maternal age, maternal educational level and maternal ethnicity.

**Table 2.6.3** shows that higher maternal and paternal body mass index were associated with a higher childhood systolic blood pressure (differences: 0.08 SDS (95% CI: 0.05, 0.11) and 0.06 SDS (95% CI: 0.03, 0.09) per SDS change in maternal and paternal body mass index, respectively) but not diastolic blood pressure. These associations were largely explained by childhood body mass index. In the fully adjusted model, maternal body mass index, but not paternal body mass index, was still associated with a higher childhood systolic blood pressure (P-value <0.05). In the confounder model, a higher maternal body mass index was associated with lower childhood high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and higher insulin levels (P-value <0.05) but not with childhood total cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, triglycerides, and C-peptide levels (results for C-peptide not shown). Higher paternal body mass index was only associated with lower childhood high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (P-value <0.05), with similar effect estimates as for maternal body mass index. These associations were fully explained by childhood body mass index.

## Parental obesity and childhood cardio-metabolic outcomes

**Figure S2.6.2** shows that compared with maternal normal weight, maternal obesity was associated with a higher childhood body mass index, total body and abdominal fat mass measures, systolic blood pressure, triglycerides, insulin, and C-peptide levels (all

P-values <0.05). Similar, but weaker, associations were present for paternal obesity. **Figure 2.6.1** shows that compared with maternal normal weight, maternal obesity was associated with increased risks of childhood overweight (Odds Ratio (OR) 3.84 (95% CI: 3.01, 4.90)) and clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors (OR 3.00 (95% CI: 2.09, 4.34)). Compared with children from normal-weight fathers, children from obese fathers also had an increased risk of childhood overweight (OR 2.52 (95% CI: 2.04, 3.12)) but not of clustering of childhood cardio-metabolic risk factors.

# Discussion

We observed that higher maternal and paternal prepregnancy body mass index were associated with increased adiposity levels and an adverse cardio-metabolic profile in their children. Associations of maternal prepregnancy body mass index with childhood outcomes tended to be stronger compared with associations of paternal body mass index.

#### Methodological considerations

Strengths of this study were the prospective data collection from early pregnancy onward, large sample size, and detailed childhood body fat and cardio-metabolic measurements. Follow-up data were available in 70% of our study population. The nonresponse could lead to biased effect estimates if associations of parental body mass index with childhood adiposity and cardio-metabolic measures would be different between children included and not included in the analyses. Assuming that parents and children with a higher body mass index are less likely to participate in detailed adiposity and cardio-metabolic follow-up, our estimates may be underestimated. Information on maternal prepregnancy weight was self-reported, which might have led to misclassification and underestimation of the observed effects. However, we observed similar results when we used maternal weight measured at enrollment in the study (results not shown). No information about maternal and paternal insulin-glucose status was available in our study cohort. To obtain further insight into the potential underlying mechanisms, it is of interest to perform similar analyses taking into account parental insulin and glucose levels. We had detailed information about potential confounding factors available in this study. However, because of the observational design, residual confounding because of other lifestyle-related variables, such as parental and childhood nutritional intake, might still be an issue.

#### Interpretation of main findings

Previous studies showed that maternal obesity is associated with offspring obesity and an adverse cardio-metabolic profile.<sup>22</sup> These associations may be explained by direct intrauterine mechanisms or shared environmental, lifestyle-related, or genetic

characteristics. By comparing maternal-offspring and paternal-offspring associations, underlying mechanisms may be further elucidated.<sup>6,7</sup>

Previous studies examining the strengths of associations of both maternal and paternal prepregnancy body mass index with childhood outcomes have mainly focused on childhood body mass index and have reported inconsistent results.<sup>5,8–11,23–25</sup> Most studies reported no differences in the magnitude of parental associations with offspring body mass index.<sup>8–11,24</sup> However, in childhood, BMI might not be an appropriate measure of fat mass. A study among 4091 UK parent-offspring trios reported that maternal prepregnancy body mass index was more strongly associated with childhood fat mass, whereas in the same sample, similar effect estimates for the associations of maternal and paternal body mass index with childhood body mass index were reported.<sup>8,9</sup> A study among 89 parent-offspring pairs showed that maternal, but not paternal, body mass index was an important determinant of childhood total fat mass.<sup>26</sup> Compared with paternal body mass index, we observed that maternal body mass index tended to be more strongly associated with childhood body mass index, total body fat mass, android/gynoid fat mass ratio, abdominal subcutaneous and preperitoneal fat mass, which is a measure of visceral fat mass. In addition, the association of maternal, but not paternal, prepregnancy body mass index with childhood total body fat mass was independent of childhood current body mass index. Thus, our results suggest that children from mothers with a higher prepregnancy body mass index have a higher total body fat mass, independent of their body mass index, and relatively more abdominal fat mass. These specific total body and abdominal fat distribution measures are related to adult cardio-metabolic disease and risk of mortality.<sup>27,28</sup>

Parental body mass index has also been associated with separate cardio-metabolic risk factors and clustering of these risk factors in offspring. A study among 3864 UK children showed that maternal and paternal prepregnancy body mass index were significantly associated with offspring systolic blood pressure at 5 years in the fully adjusted models.<sup>29</sup> Another study among 9328 parents and their children reported that only maternal body mass index was significantly associated with offspring systolic blood pressure, whereas both maternal and paternal body mass index were associated with offspring lipid levels and inflammatory markers, with similar effect estimates. These associations were modified by offspring body mass index, and after adjustment for offspring adiposity levels, most associations attenuated or reversed.<sup>30</sup> Among 940 Swedish children and 873 adolescents, it was shown that only maternal weight status influenced offspring cardiorespiratory fitness, after taking offspring fatness into account.<sup>25</sup> A study among 599 US children and their parents showed that both maternal and paternal body mass index were associated with offspring risk of clustering of cardiovascular risk factors.<sup>31</sup> In this study, stronger associations for maternal body mass index tended to be present. We observed that only higher maternal prepregnancy body mass index was associated with higher childhood systolic blood pressure. No associations of parental body mass index with childhood metabolic measures were present after adjustment for childhood body mass index. Maternal and paternal body mass index were associated

with the risk of childhood overweight, whereas only maternal body mass index was associated with the risk of clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors.

The associations of maternal prepregnancy body mass index with these childhood body fat distribution and cardio-metabolic outcomes were strongest for maternal obesity, but were also present across the full range. Although the observed effect estimates were small to moderate, these childhood cardio-metabolic risk factors tend to track from childhood into adulthood and are associated with cardiovascular disease in later life.<sup>32–36</sup> Thus, these results suggest that especially maternal prepregnancy body mass index may be a critical factor for offspring cardio-metabolic health in later life.

The associations of maternal prepregnancy body mass index with childhood outcomes may be explained by several mechanisms. Shared family-based, lifestyle-related characteristics and genetic factors are likely to explain part of the associations. Previously, we have shown that overweight and obese mothers differ from normal-weight mothers in socio-demographic and lifestyle-related characteristics.<sup>37</sup> However, for all childhood adiposity outcomes, systolic blood pressure, insulin, and clustering of cardiometabolic risk factors associations of maternal prepregnancy body mass index tended to be stronger than associations of paternal body mass index. In addition, extensive adjustment for socio-demographic and lifestyle-related characteristics did not explain our findings. The observed effects were also not mediated by pregnancy complications, birth characteristics, or infant growth, which are all identified risk factors related to both maternal prepregnancy body mass index and health of offspring.<sup>38–41</sup> Thus, our findings suggest that associations of maternal prepregnancy body mass index with offspring cardio-metabolic health outcomes may, at least partly, be explained by direct intrauterine mechanisms. This may include higher maternal plasma concentrations and placental transfer of glucose, amino acids, and free fatty acids during pregnancy, which may influence programming of offspring adiposity and an adverse cardio-metabolic profile in later life.<sup>22,42</sup> Further research is needed to obtain further insight into the causality and underlying mechanisms of these associations.

#### Perspectives

Both maternal and paternal prepregnancy body mass index are associated with increased adiposity levels and an adverse cardio-metabolic profile in offspring, with stronger associations present for maternal prepregnancy body mass index. Preventive strategies that focus on reduction of obesity in pregnant women may lead to better cardio-metabolic health in their offspring.

#### References

- Drake AJ, Reynolds RM. Impact of maternal obesity on offspring obesity and cardiometabolic disease risk. Reproduction. 2010;140:387–398.
- Yu Z, Han S, Zhu J, Sun X, Ji C, Guo X. Pre-pregnancy body mass index in relation to infant birth weight and offspring overweight/obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2013;8:e61627.

- Hochner H, Friedlander Y, Calderon-Margalit R, Meiner V, Sagy Y, Avgil-Tsadok M, Burger A, Savitsky B, Siscovick DS, Manor O. Associations of maternal prepregnancy body mass index and gestational weight gain with adult offspring cardiometabolic risk factors: the Jerusalem Perinatal Family Follow-up Study. Circulation. 2012;125:1381–1389.
- 4. Oken E. Maternal and child obesity: the causal link. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 2009;36:361–77, ix.
- Lawlor DA, Smith GD, O'Callaghan M, Alati R, Mamun AA, Williams GM, Najman JM. Epidemiologic evidence for the fetal overnutrition hypothesis: findings from the mater-university study of pregnancy and its outcomes. Am J Epidemiol. 2007;165:418–424.
- Brion MJ. Commentary: can maternal-paternal comparisons contribute to our understanding of maternal pre-pregnancy obesity and its association with offspring cognitive outcomes? Int J Epidemiol. 2013;42:518–519.
- Lawlor DA. The Society for Social Medicine John Pemberton Lecture 2011. Developmental overnutrition-an old hypothesis with new importance? Int J Epidemiol. 2013;42:7–29.
- 8. Davey Smith G, Steer C, Leary S, Ness A. Is there an intrauterine influence on obesity? Evidence from parent child associations in the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children (ALSPAC). Arch Dis Child. 2007;92:876–880.
- Lawlor DA, Timpson NJ, Harbord RM, Leary S, Ness A, McCarthy MI, Frayling TM, Hattersley AT, Smith GD. Exploring the developmental overnutrition hypothesis using parental-offspring associations and FTO as an instrumental variable. PLoS Med. 2008;5:e33.
- Patel R, Martin RM, Kramer MS, Oken E, Bogdanovich N, Matush L, Smith GD, Lawlor DA. Familial associations of adiposity: findings from a cross-sectional study of 12,181 parental-offspring trios from Belarus. PLoS One. 2011;6:e14607.
- 11. Fleten C, Nystad W, Stigum H, Skjaerven R, Lawlor DA, Davey Smith G, Naess O. Parent-offspring body mass index associations in the Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study: a family-based approach to studying the role of the intrauterine environment in childhood adiposity. Am J Epidemiol. 2012;176:83–92.
- Jaddoe VW, van Duijn CM, Franco OH, et al. The Generation R Study: design and cohort update 2012. Eur J Epidemiol. 2012;27:739–756.
- Cole TJ, Bellizzi MC, Flegal KM, Dietz WH. Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey. BMJ. 2000;320:1240–1243.
- Helba M, Binkovitz LA. Pediatric body composition analysis with dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry. Pediatr Radiol. 2009;39:647–656.
- Holzhauer S, Zwijsen RM, Jaddoe VW, Boehm G, Moll HA, Mulder PG, Kleyburg-Linkers VA, Hofman A, Witteman JC. Sonographic assessment of abdominal fat distribution in infancy. Eur J Epidemiol. 2009;24:521–529.
- Suzuki R, Watanabe S, Hirai Y, Akiyama K, Nishide T, Matsushima Y, Murayama H, Ohshima H, Shinomiya M, Shirai K. Abdominal wall fat index, estimated by ultrasonography, for assessment of the ratio of visceral fat to subcutaneous fat in the abdomen. Am J Med. 1993;95:309–314.
- 17. Wong SN, Tz Sung RY, Leung LC. Validation of three oscillometric blood pressure devices against auscultatory mercury sphygmomanometer in children. Blood Press Monit. 2006;11:281–291.
- Steinberger J, Daniels SR, Eckel RH, Hayman L, Lustig RH, McCrindle B, Mietus-Snyder ML. Progress and challenges in metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents: a scientific statement from the american heart association atherosclerosis, hypertension, and obesity in the young com- mittee of the council on cardiovascular disease in the young; council on cardiovascular nursing; and council on nutrition, physical activity, and metabolism. Circulation. 2009;119:628–647.
- 19. Heppe DH, Medina-Gomez C, Hofman A, Franco OH, Rivadeneira F, Jaddoe VW. Maternal first-trimester diet and childhood bone mass: the Generation R Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2013;98:224–232.
- 20. Verburg BO, Steegers EA, De Ridder M, Snijders RJ, Smith E, Hofman A, Moll HA, Jaddoe VW, Witteman JC. New charts for ultrasound dating of pregnancy and assessment of fetal growth: longitudinal data from a population-based cohort study. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2008;31:388–396.
- Niklasson A, Ericson A, Fryer JG, Karlberg J, Lawrence C, Karlberg P. An update of the Swedish reference standards for weight, length and head circumference at birth for given gestational age (1977-1981). Acta Paediatr Scand. 1991;80:756–762.
- 22. Poston L. Maternal obesity, gestational weight gain and diet as determinants of offspring long term health. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;26:627–639.
- 23. Murrin CM, Kelly GE, Tremblay RE, Kelleher CC. Body mass index and height over three generations: evidence from the Lifeways cross-generational cohort study. BMC Public Health. 2012;12:81.
- 24. Kivimäki M, Lawlor DA, Smith GD, Elovainio M, Jokela M, Keltikangas-Järvinen L, Viikari JS, Raitakari OT. Substantial intergenerational increases in body mass index are not explained by the fetal overnutrition hypothesis: the Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2007;86:1509–1514.
- Labayen I, Ruiz JR, Ortega FB, Loit HM, Harro J, Veidebaum T, Sjöström M. Intergenerational cardiovascular disease risk factors involve both maternal and paternal BMI. Diabetes Care. 2010;33:894–900.
- 26. Catalano PM, Farrell K, Thomas A, Huston-Presley L, Mencin P, de Mouzon SH, Amini SB. Perinatal risk factors for childhood obesity and metabolic dysregulation. Am J Clin Nutr. 2009;90:1303–1313.
- 27. Pischon T, Boeing H, Hoffmann K, et al. General and abdominal adiposity and risk of death in Europe. N Engl J Med. 2008;359:2105–2120.

- Fox CS, Massaro JM, Hoffmann U, Pou KM, Maurovich-Horvat P, Liu CY, Vasan RS, Murabito JM, Meigs JB, Cupples LA, D'Agostino RB Sr, O'Donnell CJ. Abdominal visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue compartments: association with metabolic risk factors in the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation. 2007;116:39–48.
- 29. Lawlor DA, Najman JM, Sterne J, Williams GM, Ebrahim S, Davey Smith G. Associations of parental, birth, and early life characteristics with systolic blood pressure at 5 years of age: findings from the Mater-University study of pregnancy and its outcomes. Circulation. 2004;110:2417–2423.
- Cooper R, Pinto Pereira SM, Power C, Hypponen E. Parental obesity and risk factors for cardiovascular disease among their offspring in mid-life: findings from the 1958 british birth cohort study.Int J Obes (Lond). 2013. doi:10.1038/ijo.2013.40. http://www.nature.com/ijo/journal/v37/n12/full/ijo201340a.html. Accessed August 2, 2013.
- Chen W, Srinivasan SR, Elkasabany A, Berenson GS. The association of cardiovascular risk factor clustering related to insulin resistance syndrome (Syndrome X) between young parents and their offspring: the Bogalusa Heart Study. Atherosclerosis. 1999;145:197–205.
- 32. Franks PW, Hanson RL, Knowler WC, Sievers ML, Bennett PH, Looker HC. Childhood obesity, other cardiovascular risk factors, and premature death. N Engl J Med. 2010;362:485–493.
- Chen X, Wang Y. Tracking of blood pressure from childhood to adulthood: a systematic review and meta-regression analysis. Circulation. 2008;117:3171–3180.
- 34. Juhola J, Magnussen CG, Viikari JS, Kähönen M, Hutri-Kähönen N, Jula A, Lehtimäki T, Åkerblom HK, Pietikäinen M, Laitinen T, Jokinen E, Taittonen L, Raitakari OT, Juonala M. Tracking of serum lipid levels, blood pressure, and body mass index from childhood to adulthood: the Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study. J Pediatr. 2011;159:584–590.
- 35. Wright CM, Emmett PM, Ness AR, Reilly JJ, Sherriff A. Tracking of obesity and body fatness through mid-childhood. Arch Dis Child. 2010;95:612–617.
- Juonala M, Magnussen CG, Berenson GS, Venn A, Burns TL, Sabin MA, Srinivasan SR, Daniels SR, Davis PH, Chen W, Sun C, Cheung M, Viikari JS, Dwyer T, Raitakari OT. Childhood adiposity, adult adiposity, and cardiovascular risk factors. N Engl J Med. 2011;365:1876–1885.
- 37. Gaillard R, Durmuş B, Hofman A, Mackenbach JP, Steegers EA, Jaddoe VW. Risk factors and outcomes of maternal obesity and excessive weight gain during pregnancy. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2013;21:1046–1055.
- Geelhoed JJ, Fraser A, Tilling K, Benfield L, Davey Smith G, Sattar N, Nelson SM, Lawlor DA. Pre-eclampsia and gestational hypertension are associated with childhood blood pressure independently of family adiposity measures: the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children. Circulation. 2010;122:1192–1199.
- 39. Yu ZB, Han SP, Zhu GZ, Zhu C, Wang XJ, Cao XG, Guo XR. Birth weight and subsequent risk of obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Obes Rev. 2011;12:525–542.
- 40. Ojha S, Saroha V, Symonds ME, Budge H. Excess nutrient supply in early life and its later metabolic consequences. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol. 2013;40:817–823.
- Patel S, Fraser A, Davey Smith G, Lindsay RS, Sattar N, Nelson SM, Lawlor DA. Associations of gestational diabetes, existing diabetes, and glycosuria with offspring obesity and cardiometabolic outcomes. Diabetes Care. 2012;35:63–71.
- 42. Taylor PD, Poston L. Developmental programming of obesity in mammals. Exp Physiol. 2007;92:287–298.

	Maternal	Paternal													
	measures	measures	Offspri	ng measun	es										
	BMI	BMI	BMI	TFM	AGFM	SFM	PFM	SBP	DBP	Cholesterol	HDL	LDL	Triglycerides	Insulin	C-peptide
Maternal measures	1	0.22	0.31	0.26	0.19	0.21	0.14	0.10	0.05	0.02	-0.02	0.02	0	0.01	-0.01
<b>Paternal measures</b> BMI	0.22	1	0.25	0.20	0.15	0.16	0.13	0.08	0.04	0.01	-0.03	0.02	0.01	0	0
Offspring measures															
BMI	0.31	0.25	1	0.71	0.64	0.60	0.42	0.24	0.09	0.10	-0.05	0.08	0.06	0.14	0.10
TFM	0.26	0.20	0.71	1	0.56	0.81	0.56	0.21	0.13	0.15	-0.08	0.18	0.07	0.10	0.07
AGFM	0.19	0.15	0.64	0.68	1	0.57	0.40	0.16	0.07	0.0	-0.10	0.08	0.14	0.09	0.09
SFM	0.21	0.16	0.60	0.81	0.57	1	0.66	0.19	0.10	0.14	-0.04	0.16	0.07	0.10	0.06
PFM	0.14	0.13	0.42	0.56	0.40	0.66	1	0.12	0.05	0.16	0.03	0.15	0.08	0.11	0.07
SBP	0.10	0.08	0.24	0.21	0.16	0.19	0.12	7	0.62	0.07	0.07	0.03	-0.01	0.08	0.04
DBP	0.05	0.04	0.0	0.13	0.07	0.10	0.05	0.62	1	0.04	0.06	0.02	-0.03	-0.03	-0.05
Cholesterol	0.02	0.01	0.10	0.15	0.09	0.14	0.16	0.07	0.04	1	0.30	0.86	0.16	0	-0.03
HDL	-0.02	-0.03	-0.05	-0.08	-0.10	-0.04	0.03	0.07	0.06	0:30	1	-0.05	-0.38	-0.06	-0.09
LDL	0.02	0.02	0.08	0.16	0.08	0.16	0.15	0.03	0.02	0.86	-0.05	1	0.12	-0.04	-0.06
Triglycerides	0	0.01	0.06	0.07	0.14	0.07	0.08	-0.01	-0.03	0.16	-0.38	0.12	1	0.19	0.20
Insulin	0.01	0	0.14	0.10	0.09	0.10	0.11	0.08	-0.03	0	-0.06	-0.04	0.19	1	0.88
C-peptide	-0.01	0	0.10	0.07	0.09	0.06	0.07	0.04	-0.05	-0.03	-0.09	-0.06	0.20	0.88	1
<sup>1</sup> Values are Pearsoi fat mass; PFM: abd	n's or Spearma ominal preperi	n rank correlati toneal fat mass	on coeffi ; SBP: sys	cients. Bolc tolic blood	d values are   pressure; D	significant. / BP: diastolic	Abbreviation blood press	s: TFM: tot ure.	al fat mass;	AGFM: android,	'gynoid fai	t mass rati	io; SFM: abdon	ninal suk	cutaenou

Supplementary Table S2.6.1. Correlation coefficients between maternal, paternal and offspring weight and cardio-metabolic measures $^1$ 

Supplementary Material

#### CHAPTER 2.6

Supplementary Table S2.6.2. Non-response analysis for childhood follow-up data at 6 years  $(n = 6954)^{1}$ 

	Follow-up	Loss to follow-up	
	at 6 years	at 6 years	
Characteristics	n = 4871	n = 2083	P-value <sup>4</sup>
Maternal characteristics			
Age, mean (SD), years	30.4 (5.1)	28.3 (5.4)	< 0.01
Height, mean (SD), cm	167.8 (7.4)	166.6 (7.3)	< 0.01
Prepregnancy weight, mean (SD), kg	66.5 (12.6)	65.8 (13.4)	0.05
Prepregnancy body mass index, mean (SD), kg/m <sup>2</sup>	23.6 (4.2)	23.7 (4.7)	0.41
Gestational weight gain, mean (SD), kg	10.5 (4.9)	10.3 (5.1)	0.19
Gestational age at intake, median (95% range), weeks <sup>2</sup>	13.8 (9.9, 24.2)	14.2 (9.9, 24.5)	< 0.01
Parity, nulliparous, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>	2833 (58.2)	1124 (54.0)	< 0.01
Education, No. higher education (%) <sup>3</sup>	2198 (46.3)	652 (32.9)	< 0.01
Race / Ethnicity, No. European (%) <sup>3</sup>	2985 (61.5)	987 (48.7)	< 0.01
Smoking habits during pregnancy, No. Yes (%) <sup>3</sup>	1187 (25.5)	580 (28.8)	< 0.01
Alcohol consumption during pregnancy, No. Yes (%) <sup>3</sup>	2509 (54.0)	842 (42.2)	< 0.01
Folic acid supplement use, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>			
No use	1009 (24.9)	656 (38.6)	< 0.01
First 10 weeks use	1310 (32.4)	526 (31.0)	
Preconception use	1730 (42.7)	517 (30.4)	
Maternal pregnancy complications			
Gestational hypertension. No. (%) <sup>3</sup>	206 (4.4)	58 (3.0)	< 0.01
Pre-eclampsia, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>	86 (1.9)	47 (2.5)	0.15
Gestational diabetes, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>	51 (1.1)	19 (1.0)	0.79
Paternal characteristics	, , ,	· · ·	
Age mean (SD) years	33 2 (5 7)	315(59)	<0.01
Body mass index mean (SD) $k\sigma/m^2$	25 3 (3 4)	25 4 (3 7)	0.45
Paternal education No higher education $(\%)^3$	1738 (52.4)	483 (46.1)	<0.01
Bace / Ethnicity, No. Dutch or European $(\%)^3$	2620 (71.0)	797 (62 1)	<0.01
	2020 (7 210)	, , , , (02.12)	-0.01
Birth and infant characteristics			
Males, No. (%) <sup>2</sup>	2444 (50.2)	1074 (51.6)	0.28
Gestational age at birth, median (95% range), weeks	40.1 (35.9, 42.3)	40.0 (34.7, 42.4)	<0.01
Birth weight, mean (SD), g	3435 (545)	3385 (582)	<0.01
Caesarean delivery, No. (%)	539 (12.1)	238 (12.8)	0.48
Ever breastfeeding, No. Yes (%) <sup>-</sup>	3566 (92.7)	1020 (90.1)	< 0.01
Breastfeeding duration, median (95% range), months <sup>2</sup>	3.5 (0.5, 12.0)	2.5 (0.5, 12.0)	< 0.01

<sup>1</sup>Values are means (standard deviation). <sup>2</sup>Values are medians (95% range). <sup>3</sup>Values are observed numbers (valid percentages). <sup>4</sup>Differences in subject characteristics between the groups were evaluated using one-way ANOVA tests for continuous variables and Chi-square tests for proportions.

Supplementary Figure S2.6.1. Participants flow chart in the Generation R Study, Rotterdam, the Netherlands





pregnancy and folic acid supplement use, total calorie intake during pregnancy, caesarean delivery, breastfeeding duration, timing of introduction of solid foods, child average duration of tv <sup>1</sup>Values are regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) from linear regression models that reflect differences in childhood outcomes in SDS for maternal and paternal underweight, overweight and obesity as compared to the reference group (maternal and paternal normal weight). Estimates are based on multiple imputed data. Maternal models are adjusted for child's sex and age at outcome measurements and childhood height (for fat mass outcomes only), maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, smoking during pregnancy, alcohol consumption during watching. Paternal models are adjusted for paternal age, paternal educational level and paternal ethnicity, instead of maternal age, maternal educational level and maternal ethnicity.

# Chapter 2.7

# Maternal weight gain in different trimesters and childhood cardiovascular risk factors

Romy Gaillard Eric A.P. Steegers Albert Hofman Oscar H. Franco Vincent W.V. Jaddoe

Submitted



# Abstract

**Background:** Excessive gestational weight gain seems to be associated with offspring cardio-metabolic risk factors. Not much is known about critical periods of gestational weight gain.

**Objective:** We examined the associations of maternal weight gain in different periods of pregnancy with childhood cardio-metabolic risk factors.

**Design:** In a population-based prospective cohort study from early pregnancy onwards among 5908 mothers and their children, we obtained maternal prepregnancy weight and weight in early-, mid- and late-pregnancy. At the age of 6 years, we measured childhood body mass index, total body and abdominal fat distribution, blood pressure and blood levels of lipids, insulin and C-peptide.

**Results:** Independent from maternal prepregnancy weight and weight gain in other periods, higher weight gain in early pregnancy was associated with higher childhood body mass index, total fat mass, android/gynoid fat mass ratio, abdominal subcutaneous and preperitoneal fat mass, systolic blood pressure, insulin and C-peptide (P-values <0.05). Higher weight gain in mid-pregnancy was independently associated with higher childhood body mass index, total and abdominal subcutaneous fat mass and systolic blood pressure (P-values <0.05). The associations for childhood cardio-metabolic outcomes attenuated after adjustment for childhood body mass index. Weight gain in late-pregnancy was not associated with childhood outcomes. Higher weight gain in early, but not in mid- or late-pregnancy, was associated with increased risks of childhood overweight and clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors (Odds Ratio (OR) 1.19 (95% Confidence Interval (CI): 1.10, 1.29) and OR 1.20 (95% CI: 1.07, 1.35) per standard deviation increase in early-gestational weight gain, respectively).

**Conclusions:** Higher weight gain in early pregnancy is associated with an adverse cardiometabolic profile in offspring. This association is largely mediated by childhood adiposity.

# Introduction

Increased maternal gestational weight gain may influence long-term cardio-metabolic health of offspring.<sup>1</sup> The mechanisms underlying these associations are not known, and may depend upon the timing of gestational weight gain.<sup>1-4</sup> Gestational weight gain is a complex trait. Maternal gestational weight gain in early-pregnancy largely reflects maternal fat deposition, whereas gestational weight gain in mid- and late-pregnancy largely reflect maternal and amniotic fluid expansion, and growth of fetus, placenta and uterus.<sup>5</sup> Higher placental transfer of nutrients, such as glucose and free fatty acids in mothers with increased gestational weight gain, may lead to permanent fetal and childhood adaptations in appetite, energy metabolism and neuro-endocrine function, and predispose individuals to a greater risk of cardio-metabolic disease in later life.<sup>1,6</sup> Previous studies suggested that weight gain in early-pregnancy is associated with offspring body mass index, whereas weight gain in mid-pregnancy tended to be associated with offspring metabolic and inflammatory biomarkers.<sup>4,7,8</sup> It is not known whether these associations are independent from other periods of gestational weight gain or explained by pregnancy complications and infant growth characteristics. Also, previous studies did not examine associations of specific periods of gestational weight gain with detailed childhood body fat distribution and cardio-metabolic measures.

Therefore, we aimed to identify critical periods of maternal gestational weight gain for cardio-metabolic health in offspring. In a population-based prospective cohort study among 5908 mothers and their children, we examined the associations of specific periods of gestational weight gain and excessive gestational weight gain with childhood cardio-metabolic risk factors. We also examined whether these associations are independent from gestational weight gain in other periods or explained by pregnancy, birth and infant characteristics.

# Methods

#### Study design

This study was embedded in the Generation R Study, a population-based prospective cohort study from early pregnancy onwards in Rotterdam, the Netherlands.<sup>9</sup> The local Medical Ethical Committee approved the study. Written informed consent was obtained from all mothers. In total, 8614 mothers had information about at least one maternal weight measurement during pregnancy available and gave birth to singleton live born children. We excluded children without follow-up data available. The population for analysis included 5908 (69%) mothers and their children (Flow chart is given in **Supplementary Figure S2.7.1**).

#### Maternal anthropometrics and gestational weight gain

At enrolment, we measured maternal height (cm) and weight (kg) without shoes and heavy clothing and calculated body mass index (kg/m<sup>2</sup>). Information about maternal weight just before pregnancy was obtained by questionnaire. Prepregnancy body mass index was categorized in 4 categories (underweight (<20 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), normal weight (20 -24.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), overweight (25 - 29.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and obese ( $\geq$ 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>)). Maternal weight was assessed in early-, mid- and late-pregnancy. Early-, mid- and late-gestational weight gain were defined as: start of pregnancy until 13 weeks of gestation (median 13.4 wks, 95% range 9.9-18.9); from 13 until 26 weeks of gestation (median 29.9 wks, 95% range 20.5, 31.4); from 26 until 40 weeks of gestation (median 39.0 wks, 95% range 32.8, 42.0), respectively. These periods were defined based on data collection within our study cohort. When we used narrower ranges to define specific periods of gestational weight gain, conclusions were similar (results not shown). Gestational weight gain until a gestational age of 30 weeks (median 30.2, 95% range 28.5, 32.8) was measured and available for 5678 mothers. Information about maximum weight during pregnancy was assessed by questionnaire 2 months after delivery in a subgroup of 3118 mothers. Maximum weight from questionnaire and weight measured at 30 weeks were strongly correlated (r = 0.88 (P-value < 0.001)). Among this subgroup of mothers, we defined excessive gestational weight gain in relation to maternal prepregnancy body mass index according to the Institute of Medicine (IOM) guidelines (for underweight and normal weight mothers: total weight gain >16 kg; for overweight mothers: total weight gain >11.5 kg; for obese mothers: total weight gain >9 kg).<sup>5</sup>

#### Childhood body fat and cardio-metabolic outcomes

All children were invited to participate in detailed body fat and cardio-metabolic followup measurements at the age of 6 years.

We measured height and weight without shoes and heavy clothing and calculated body mass index. Childhood underweight, normal weight, overweight and obesity were defined by the International Obesity Task Force cut offs.<sup>10</sup> Body fat was measured by Dual-Energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) (iDXA, General Electrics–Lunar, 2008, Madison, WI, USA).<sup>11</sup> Total fat mass was calculated as percentage of total body weight measured by DXA. We calculated the android/gynoid fat mass ratio. As described previously, we performed abdominal ultrasound examinations to measure preperitoneal and subcutaneous abdominal fat thicknesses.<sup>12</sup> Preperitoneal and subcutaneous fat mass areas were measured as areas of 2 cm length along the midline starting from the reference point in direction of the navel.

Systolic and diastolic blood pressure was measured at the right brachial artery, four times with one-minute intervals, using the validated automatic sphygmanometer Data-scope Accutor Plus TM (Paramus, NJ, USA).<sup>13</sup> We calculated mean systolic and diastolic blood pressure values using the last three blood pressure measurements.

We obtained thirty-minutes fasting venous blood samples and measured totalcholesterol, Low-Density Lipoprotein (LDL)-cholesterol, High-Density Lipoprotein (HDL)cholesterol, triglycerides, insulin and C-peptide levels.

In line with previous definitions used among paediatric populations to define childhood metabolic-syndrome-like-phenotype,<sup>14</sup> we defined clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors as having any of the 3 or more following components: android fat mass percentage  $\geq 75^{\text{th}}$  percentile; systolic or diastolic blood pressure  $\geq 75^{\text{th}}$  percentile; HDLcholesterol  $\leq 25^{\text{th}}$  percentile or triglycerides  $\geq 75^{\text{th}}$  percentile; and insulin level  $\geq 75^{\text{th}}$  percentile. We used android fat mass as percentage of total body fat mass as proxy for waist circumference since waist circumference was not available.

#### Covariates

Maternal age was assessed at intake.<sup>9</sup> Information on maternal education level, ethnicity, folic acid supplementation use, smoking and alcohol consumption was assessed by questionnaires during pregnancy. First-trimester nutritional intake was obtained by food frequency questionnaire. We used medical records to collect information about pregnancy complications and mode of delivery.<sup>15</sup> Information about childhood sex, gestational age, weight and length at birth was available.<sup>16,17</sup> Infant growth was measured at community health centers according to standardized procedures at 24 months. Information about breastfeeding, timing of introduction of solid foods and average television watching time was obtained by questionnaires.

## Statistical analysis

First, since maternal weight measurements throughout pregnancy are strongly correlated, we performed conditional regression analyses to explore the independent associations of maternal prepregnancy weight and weight gain in each pregnancy period, taking account for their correlations, with childhood outcomes (Correlation coefficients between maternal gestational weight measures shown in Supplementary Table S2.7.1).<sup>18</sup> We constructed maternal weight gain variables for each period, which are statistically independent from each other, by using standardized residuals obtained from regression of maternal weight at a specific time point on prior maternal weight measurements. Second, we examined associations of maternal gestational weight gain in early-,midand late-pregnancy with childhood outcomes separately and the role of potential mediators using linear regression models. For these analyses, we used 4 linear regression models; (1) a basic model including child's age and sex; (2) a confounder model, which additionally included covariates selected on their associations with the outcomes of interest or a change in effect estimate of >10%. We included childhood height as covariate in all models focused on fat mass outcomes; (3) an intermediate model, which additionally included potential intermediates (maternal pregnancy complications, gestational age and weight at birth, infant growth from birth until 2 years of age, and current childhood body mass index); and (4) a fully adjusted model including all confounders

and potential mediators. The confounder model was considered as main model. Third, we examined the associations of total and excessive gestational weight gain according to the IOM criteria with childhood outcomes using linear regression models. Finally, we examined the associations of specific periods of gestational weight gain and excessive gestational weight gain with the risks of childhood overweight and clustering of cardiometabolic risk factors using logistic regression models. For all analyses, not normally distributed childhood outcome variables were log-transformed. We constructed standard deviation scores (SDS) values ((observed value - mean)/SD) for gestational weight gain variables and childhood outcomes to enable comparison of effect estimates. We examined potential interactions between maternal prepregnancy body mass index and gestational weight gain in each period and total gestational weight gain. We also explored potential interactions of gestational weight gain with sex, ethnicity, gestationalage-adjusted birth weight and childhood body mass index for these associations. After taking multiple testing into account no significant interactions were present, and no further stratified analyses were performed. Missing data of maternal weight variables (for conditional analyses only) and covariates were imputed using multiple imputation. Sensitivity analyses among mothers with all three weight measurements available were performed. All analyses were performed using Statistical Package of Social Sciences version 17.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL, USA).

#### Results

#### Subject characteristics

**Table 2.7.1** shows participants characteristics. Correlation coefficients between maternal gestational weight measures, birth weight and childhood cardio-metabolic outcomes are shown in **Supplementary Table S2.7.1**. **Supplementary Table S2.7.2** and **S2.7.3** show that mothers without maximum gestational weight gain and childhood follow-up data available were more often lower educated and from non-European descent.

#### Gestational weight gain in different periods of pregnancy

**Figure 2.7.1** shows the independent associations of maternal prepregnancy weight and gestational weight gain in early-, mid- and late-pregnancy with childhood outcomes from conditional analyses. Maternal prepregnancy weight was associated with childhood body mass index, body fat distribution measures, systolic blood pressure, HDL-cholesterol and insulin and C-peptide levels (all P-values <0.05 in confounder model). The associations of maternal prepregnancy weight with childhood outcomes were stronger than associations of maternal gestational weight gain. Independent from maternal prepregnancy weight and weight gain in other periods, higher maternal gestational weight gain in early-pregnancy was associated with higher levels of childhood

body mass index, total fat mass, android/gynoid fat mass ratio, abdominal subcutaneous fat mass and systolic blood pressure (all P-values <0.05).

	Male
Characteristics	Value
Maternal Characteristics	
Age, mean (SD), years	30.3 (5.1)
Height, mean (SD), cm	167.5 (7.4)
Weight, mean (SD), kg	66.5 (12.6)
Prepregnancy body mass index, mean (SD), kg/m <sup>2</sup>	23.6 (4.3)
Maximum weight gain, mean (SD), kg	14.9 (5.8)
Weight gain in early pregnancy, mean (SD), kg/week	0.17 (0.16)
Weight gain in mid-pregnancy, mean (SD), kg/week	0.49 (0.24)
Weight gain in late-pregnancy, mean (SD), kg/week	0.55 (0.39)
Excessive gestational weight gain (IOM criteria), No.(%)	1206 (45.7)
Gestational age at intake, median (95% range), weeks	13.9 (9.9, 24.4)
Education, No. Higher (%)	2435 (45.8)
Ethnicity, No. Dutch or European (%)	3501 (60.6)
Parity, No. Nulliparous (%)	3350 (56.7)
Total energy intake, mean (SD), kcal	2047 (558)
Folic acid supplement use, No. Yes (%)	1937 (43.1)
Smoking during pregnancy, No. Yes (%)	1369 (26.1)
Alcohol consumption during pregnancy, No. Yes (%)	2797 (54.0)
Maternal pregnancy complications	
Gestational hypertension, No. (%)	233 (4.1)
Pre-eclampsia, No. (%)	106 (1.9)
Gestational diabetes, No. (%)	59 (1.0)
Birth and infant characteristics	
Males. No. (%)	2949 (49.9)
Gestational age at birth, median (95% range), weeks	40.1 (35.9, 42.3)
Birth weight, mean (SD), g	3426 (550)
Caesarean delivery, No. (%)	655 (12.2)
Ever breastfeeding, Yes, No. (%)	4283 (92.6)
Breastfeeding duration, mean (SD), months	3.5 (0.5, 12.0)
Introduction of solid foods, No. Before 6 months (%)	3198 (89.6)
Television watching, No. More than 2 hours/day (%)	902 (19.8)
Childhood characteristics	
Age at follow up, median (95% range) years	60 (56 80)
Height mean (SD) cm	119 5 (6 1)
Weight mean (SD), kg	$23 \wedge (4 3)$
Body mass index mean (SD) $k\sigma/m^2$	16 3 (1 9)
Overweight or obesity. No. (%)	1075 (18.2)
Total fat mass mean (SD) %	25 1 (5 7)
Android/gynoid fat mass ratio mean (SD)	0.25 (0.07)
Abdominal subcutaneous fat mass area, median (95% range), cm <sup>2</sup>	0.49 (0.18, 1.94)
Abdominal preperitoneal fat mass area, median (95% range), cm <sup>2</sup>	0.40 (0.16, 1.21)
Systolic blood pressure, mean (SD), mmHg	102.9 (8.2)
Diastolic blood pressure, mean (SD), mmHg	60.8 (6.9)
Total-cholesterol, mean (SD), mmol/l	4.2 (0.6)
HDL– cholesterol, mean (SD), mmol/L	1.3 (0.3)
LDL – cholesterol, mean (SD), mmol/L	2.4 (0.6)
Triglycerides, median (95% range), mmol/L	0.9 (0.4, 2.4)
Insulin, median (95% range), pmol/L	113.9 (16.9, 403.2)
C-peptide, median (95% range), nmol/L	1.0 (0.3, 2.1)
Cardio-metabolic risk factor clustering, No. (%)	384 (10.4)

**Table 2.7.1.** Characteristics of mothers and their children  $(n = 5908)^1$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values represent means (SD), median (95% range) or number of subjects (valid %).



2.7.1b. Childhood blood pressure







2.7.1.e. Childhood overweight

2.7.1.f. Childhood clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors

Values are regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) from linear and logistic regression models that reflect the difference in childhood outcomes per SDS change in maternal prepregnancy weight and per SDS change in standardised residual change in maternal weight in early, mid and late-pregnancy from conditional regression analyses. Models were adjusted for child's sex and age at outcome measurements, maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, height at intake, smoking and alcohol consumption during pregnancy and folic acid supplement use, total calorie intake during pregnancy, delivery mode, breastfeeding duration, timing of introduction of solid foods and average duration of tv-watching. Models focused on fat mass outcomes were also adjusted for childhood height. Models additionally adjusted for potential intermediates (pregnancy complications, birth characteristics, childhood size) are shown in the **Supplementary Tables S2.7.4** and **S2.7.5**.

Associations of maternal gestational weight gain in early-pregnancy with childhood abdominal preperitoneal fat mass, insulin and C-peptide were of borderline significance. Higher maternal gestational weight gain in mid-pregnancy was independently associated with higher childhood body mass index, total fat mass and abdominal subcutaneous fat mass and systolic blood pressure (all P-values <0.05). No independent associations were present for maternal gestational weight gain in late-pregnancy. Only maternal prepregnancy weight and gestational weight gain in early-pregnancy were independently associated with the risks of childhood overweight and clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors (all P-values <0.05) (**Figures 2.7.1E-F**). When we restricted analyses to mothers with all three gestational weight measurements available, findings were similar (results not shown).

#### Role of maternal pregnancy complications, birth outcomes and childhood size

**Table 2.7.2** shows that associations of maternal gestational weight gain in earlypregnancy with childhood body mass index, total fat mass, android/gynoid fat mass ratio and abdominal subcutaneous fat mass were not explained by pregnancy complications, gestational age and weight at birth or infant growth. The associations of maternal gestational weight gain in early-pregnancy with childhood fat mass outcomes attenuated towards non-significant after adjustment for childhood body mass index. The association of maternal gestational weight gain in mid-pregnancy with offspring body mass index was partly explained by birth characteristics. Maternal gestational weight gain in late-pregnancy was associated with childhood body mass index only, but this association was fully explained by birth characteristics.

Table 2.7.3 shows that specific periods of maternal gestational weight gain were not significantly associated with childhood cardio-metabolic outcomes. Maternal gestational weight gain in early- and mid-pregnancy tended to be associated with childhood systolic blood pressure, but this association was explained by childhood body mass index. Results for conditional weight gain models additionally adjusted for potential intermediates were similar and are given in **Supplementary Table S2.7.4** and **S2.7.5**. Associations of total gestational weight gain with childhood cardio-metabolic outcomes are shown in **Supplementary Table S2.7.6**. Total gestational weight gain was associated with offspring body mass index only.

**Figure 2.7.2A** shows that higher gestational weight gain in early- and mid-, but not late-pregnancy, were associated with increased risks of childhood overweight (OR 1.19 (95% CI: 1.10, 1.29) and OR 1.09 (95% CI: 1.01, 1.18), per SD increase in early- and mid-gestational weight gain, respectively). The association for gestational weight gain in mid-pregnancy was explained by birth characteristics. Only higher gestational weight gain in early-pregnancy was associated with an increased risk of childhood clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors (OR 1.20 (95% CI: 1.07, 1.35) per SD increase, respectively). This association was not explained by potential intermediates (**Figure 2.7.2B**). **Figures 2.7.2A** and **2.7.2B** also show that children from mothers with excessive gestational weight gain had increased risks of childhood overweight (OR 1.54 (95% CI: 1.22, 1.96))

and clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors (OR 1.68 (95% CI: 1.17, 2.41)), independent of potential intermediates. Associations of excessive gestational weight gain with separate childhood cardio-metabolic outcomes are shown in **Supplementary Table S2.7.7**.

				Subcutaneous	Preperitoneal
	DA4	Total fat mass	Android/gynoid	abdominal	abdominal
	(SDS)	(SDS)	(SDS)	(SDS)	
	(555)	(555)	(555)	(000)	(555)
Early-pregnancy	0.07 (0.04.0.40)*	0.05 (0.00, 0.00)*	0.05 (0.02, 0.00)*	0.04 (0.01, 0.07)*	0.00 ( 0.01, 0.00)
Basic model	0.07 (0.04, 0.10)*	0.05 (0.02, 0.08)*	0.05 (0.02, 0.08)*	0.04 (0.01, 0.07)*	0.03 (-0.01, 0.06)
Contounder model	0.09 (0.06, 0.12)*	0.05 (0.03, 0.08)*	0.05 (0.02, 0.08)*	0.05 (0.02, 0.08)*	0.03 (0, 0.06)
Drognonou					
Pregnancy	0.00 (0.00 0.12)*				0.02 (0.0.00)
Dirth characteristics	0.09 (0.06, 0.12)*	0.05 (0.03, 0.08)*	0.05 (0.02, 0.08)*	0.05 (0.02, 0.08)*	
Infort growth	0.08 (0.05, 0.11)*	0.06 (0.03, 0.08)*	0.05 (0.02, 0.08)*	0.05 (0.02, 0.08)*	0.03 (-0.01, 0.06)
Childhood DMI	0.09 (0.07, 0.12)	0.06 (0.03, 0.08)	0.06 (0.03, 0.09)	0.05 (0.02, 0.08)	
Childriood Bivii	-	0 (-0.02, 0.02)	0(-0.02, 0.03)	0 (-0.02, 0.02)	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.02)
Fully adjusted model	0.06 (0.04, 0.09)	0 (-0.01, 0.02)	0.01 (-0.02, 0.03)	0 (-0.02, 0.03)	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.02)
Mid-pregnancy					
Basic model	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)	-0.02 (-0.04, 0.01)	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.02)	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.02)	0 (-0.03, 0.03)
Confounder model <sup>2</sup>	0.07 (0.04, 0.09)*	0.03 (0, 0.05)*	0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)
Mediator models <sup>3</sup>					
Pregnancy					
complications	0.07 (0.04, 0.09)*	0.03 (0, 0.05)*	0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)
Birth characteristics	0.04 (0.02, 0.07)*	0.03 (0, 0.05)*	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)
Infant growth	0.08 (0.06, 0.11)*	0.04 (0.01, 0.06)*	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)	0.03 (0, 0.06)*	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)
Childhood BMI	-	-0.01 (-0.03, 0.01)	-0.02 (0.05, 0)	-0.01 (-0.03, 0.01)	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.02)
Fully adjusted model <sup>4</sup>	0.03 (0.01, 0.05)*	0 (-0.02, 0.02)	-0.01 (-0.03, 0.02)	0 (-0.02, 0.02)	0 (-0.03, 0.03)
Late-pregnancy					
Basic model <sup>1</sup>	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)	0 (-0.03, 0.03)	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)	0 (-0.04, 0.03)
Confounder model <sup>2</sup>	0.03 (0, 0.06)*	0 (-0.03, 0.03)	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)	-0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)	0 (-0.04, 0.03)
Mediator models <sup>3</sup>					
Pregnancy					
complications	0.03 (0, 0.06)*	0 (-0.03, 0.03)	0.02 (-0.02, 0.05)	-0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)	0 (-0.04, 0.03)
Birth characteristics	0.01 (-0.02, 0.05)	0 (-0.03, 0.03)	0.02 (-0.02, 0.05)	-0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)	0 (-0.04, 0.03)
Infant growth	0.05 (0.02, 0.08)*	0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.03)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.04)
Childhood BMI	-	-0.01 (0.03, 0.01)	0 (-0.02, 0.03)	-0.02 (-0.05, 0)*	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.02)
Fully adjusted model <sup>4</sup>	0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)	-0.01 (-0.03, 0.02)	0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)	-0.02 (-0.05, 0.01)	0 (-0.04, 0.03)

Table 2.7.2. Weight gain in early-, mid- and late-pregnancy and childhood body composition

Values are regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) that reflect the difference in childhood outcomes per SDS change in gestational weight gain in early-, mid- and late-pregnancy. <sup>1</sup>Basic model is adjusted for child's sex and age at outcome measurements. <sup>2</sup>Confounder models include maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, prepregnancy body mass index, parity, smoking, alcohol consumption, folic acid supplement use, total calorie intake, delivery mode, breastfeeding, age at introduction of solid foods, and tv watching. Models for fat mass outcomes are additionally adjusted for childhood height. <sup>3</sup>Intermediate models are additionally adjusted for cald potential confounders and intermediates. \*P-value <0.05.
Exhypergrand         Cold (403, 004)         Cold (403, 004)         Cold (403, 004)         Cold (405, 003)           Basic model <sup>1</sup> 0.02 (001, 0.05)         COL (4002, 0.04)         0.01 (4002, 0.04)         0.01 (4002, 0.04)         0.01 (4002, 0.04)           Mediator model <sup>1</sup> 0.03 (0, 0.06)         COL (4002, 0.04)         0.01 (4002, 0.05)         COL (4002, 0.04)         0.01 (4002, 0.05)         COL (4002, 0.04)         0.01 (4002, 0.05)         COL (4002, 0.03)         COL (4002, 0.03) </th <th>terol Triglycerides (SDS)</th> <th>l<b>nsulin<sup>5</sup></b> (SDS)</th>	terol Triglycerides (SDS)	l <b>nsulin<sup>5</sup></b> (SDS)
Confounder model <sup>2</sup> 0.03 (0,0.06)         0.01 (-0.2, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.2, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.2, 0.04)         0.03 (-0.01, 0.07)         0 (-0.4, 0.04)           Mediator model <sup>3</sup> 0.03 (-0.01, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.02, 0.05)         0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02         0.02 (-0.05, 0.02         0.02 (-0.05, 0.02         0.02 (-0.05, 0.02         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02 <th0.01 (-0.05,="" 0.02<="" th=""> <th0.01 (-0.05,="" 0.02<="" <="" td=""><td>7) -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)</td><td>0.02 (-0.02, 0.06)</td></th0.01></th0.01>	7) -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)	0.02 (-0.02, 0.06)
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	, 0.07) 0 (-0.04, 0.04)	0.03 (-0.01, 0.06)
Birth characteristics         0.03 (0, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.02, 0.05)         0.02 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.03 (-0.01, 0.07)         0 (-0.04, 0.04)           Infanting growth         0.03 (0, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.02, 0.05)         0 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.02 (-0.02, 0.05)         0 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)           Infanting growth         0.03 (-0.02, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.05)         0 (-0.04, 0.04)         0.02 (-0.02, 0.05)         0 (-0.04, 0.05)         0 (-0.04, 0.05)         0 (-0.04, 0.05)         0 (-0.04, 0.05)         0 (-0.04, 0.05)         0 (-0.04, 0.05)         0 (-0.04, 0.05)         0 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.04, 0.03)         0 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.04, 0.03)         0 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.04, 0.03)         0 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.1 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.1 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.1 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.1 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.1 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.1 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.1 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.1 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.1 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.1 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.1 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.1 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.1 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.1 (-0.05,	, 0.07) 0 (-0.04, 0.03)	0.02 (-0.02, 0.06)
Infant growth         003 (0,006)         001 (-0.02, 0.04)         001 (-0.02, 0.05)         002 (-0.04, 0.04)         003 (-0.04, 0.04)         002 (-0.02, 0.06)         002 (-0.05, 0.02)           Fully adjusted modelf         0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.03)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.03)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)         0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         0.	, 0.07) 0 (-0.04, 0.04)	0.03 (-0.01, 0.07)
Childhood BMI         0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.04)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.05)         0.02 (-0.05, 0.05)         0.02 (-0.05, 0.05)         0.02 (-0.05, 0.05)         0.02 (-0.05, 0.05)         0.02 (-0.05, 0.05)         0.02 (-0.05, 0.05)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.05)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.05)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.05)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.05)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.05)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.05)         0.02 (-0.05, 0.03)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         0.02 (-0.06, 0.01)         0.02 (-0.06, 0.01)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         0.01 (-0.05	, 0.07) 0 (-0.04, 0.04)	0.03 (-0.01, 0.07)
Mid-pregnancy $0.02$ (-0.01, 0.05) $0.01$ (-0.05, 0.02) $0.01$ (-0.05, 0.02) $0.01$ (-0.05, 0.02) $0.01$ (-0.05, 0.02) $0.01$ (-0.05, 0.03) $0.01$ (-0.05, 0.03) $0.01$ (-0.05, 0.03) $0.01$ (-0.05, 0.03) $0.01$ (-0.05, 0.03) $0.01$ (-0.05, 0.03) $0.01$ (-0.05, 0.03) $0.01$ (-0.05, 0.03) $0.01$ (-0.05, 0.03) $0.01$ (-0.05, 0.03) $0.01$ (-0.05, 0.03) $0.01$ (-0.05, 0.03) $0.01$ (-0.04, 0.03) $0.01$ (-0.05,	(, 0.06) -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02) 0.06) -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.05) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.05)
Mid-pregnancy         Mid-pregnancy $-0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)$ $-0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)$ $-0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)$ $-0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)$ $-0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)$ $-0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)$ $-0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)$ $-0.01 (-0$	, o.oc) a.oc ( o.oc) a.oc)	
Basic model <sup>1</sup> 0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)         -0.01 (-0.04, 0.02)         -0.02 (-0.06, 0.01)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)		
Confounder model <sup>4</sup> $0.02$ (-0.01, 0.05) $0(-0.03, 0.03)$ $-0.02$ (-0.06, 0.01) $-0.01$ (-0.04, 0.03) $-0.01$ (-0.05, 0.03)           Mediator models <sup>3</sup> Pregnancy complications $0.02$ (-0.06, 0.02) $-0.02$ (-0.06, 0.02) $-0.01$ (-0.04, 0.03) $-0.01$ (-0.05, 0.03)           Pregnancy complications $0.02$ (-0.06, 0.02) $0.02$ (-0.06, 0.02) $-0.01$ (-0.05, 0.03) $-0.0$	5, 0.02) -0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)	-0.03 (-0.07, 0.01)
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	4, 0.03) -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)	-0.03 (-0.07, 0.01)
Birth characteristics         0.03 (0, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.04)         -0.02 (-0.06, 0.01)         0 (-0.04, 0.04)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)           Infant growth         0.03 (0, 0.06)*         0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)         -0.01 (-0.02, 0.03)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.06, 0.01)         0 (-0.04, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.03, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.03, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.03, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.03, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0	4, 0.03) -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)	-0.03 (-0.07, 0.01)
Infant growth         0.03 (0, 0.06)*         0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)         -0.02 (-0.06, 0.01)         0 (-0.04, 0.03)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)           Childhood BMI         0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)         -0.01 (-0.04, 0.02)         -0.03 (-0.06, 0.01)         -0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.0	04) -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)	-0.03 (-0.06, 0.01)
Childhood BMI         0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)         -0.01 (-0.04, 0.02)         -0.03 (-0.06, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)	03) -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)	-0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)
Fully adjusted model <sup>1</sup> 0.02 (-0.01, 0.04)         0 (-0.03, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)         -0.01 (-0.04, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)           Late-pregnancy         0.01 (-0.04, 0.03)         0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         0.01 (-0.04, 0.05)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.02 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)	5, 0.03) -0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)	-0.04 (-0.08, 0)*
Late-pregnancy         -0.01 (-0.04, 0.03)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         0 (-0.04, 0.05)         -0.03 (-0.07, -0.01)         0.03 (-0.02, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)           Basic model <sup>1</sup> -0.01 (-0.04, 0.03)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         0 (-0.04, 0.05)         -0.03 (-0.07, -0.01)         0.03 (-0.02, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)           Confounder model <sup>2</sup> -0.01 (-0.04, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.04, 0.05)         0 (-0.04, 0.05)         -0.02 (-0.07, 0.02)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)           Mediator models <sup>3</sup> -0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)         -0.02 (-0.06, 0.01)         0 (-0.04, 0.05)         -0.02 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)           Pregnancy complications         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)         -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.04, 0.05)         -0.02 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)           Birth characteristics         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)         0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.04, 0.05)         -0.02 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)           Infant growth         0 (-0.04, 0.05)         -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.04, 0.05)         -0.02 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0	4, 0.03) -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)	-0.03 (-0.07, 0.01)
Basic model <sup>1</sup> -0.01 (-0.04, 0.03)         -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)         0 (-0.04, 0.05)         -0.03 (-0.07, -0.01)         0.03 (-0.02, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)           Confounder model <sup>2</sup> -0.01 (-0.04, 0.03)         -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)         0 (-0.04, 0.05)         -0.02 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)		
Confounder model <sup>2</sup> -0.01 (-0.04, 0.03) -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02) 0 (-0.04, 0.05) -0.02 (-0.07, 0.02) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.06) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.06) Mediator models <sup>3</sup> Mediator models <sup>3</sup> -0.01 (-0.05, 0.02) -0.02 (-0.06, 0.01) 0 (-0.04, 0.05) -0.02 (-0.07, 0.02) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.06) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.07) Birth characteristics -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03) -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02) 0 (-0.04, 0.05) -0.02 (-0.07, 0.02) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.06) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.07) Infant characteristics -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03) -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02) 0 (-0.04, 0.05) -0.02 (-0.07, 0.02) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.06) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.07) Infant characteristics -0.01 (-0.05, 0.02) 0 (-0.04, 0.05) -0.02 (-0.07, 0.02) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.06) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.06) C (-0.04, 0.05) -0.02 (-0.07, 0.02) 0.01 (-0.05, 0.02) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.06) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.06) C (-0.04, 0.05) -0.02 (-0.07, 0.02) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.05) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.06) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)	, 0.07) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)
Mediator models <sup>2</sup> Pregnancy complications -0.01 (-0.05, 0.02) -0.02 (-0.06, 0.01) 0 (-0.04, 0.05) -0.02 (-0.07, 0.02) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.06) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.07) Birth characteristics -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03) -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02) 0 (-0.05, 0.05) -0.03 (-0.07, 0.02) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.06) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.07) Infant growth 0 (-0.04, 0.04) -0.01 (-0.05, 0.02) 0 (-0.04, 0.05) -0.02 (-0.07, 0.02) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.06) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.06) Childhood BMI -0.01 (-0.05, 0.02) -0.02 (-0.06, 0.02) 0 (-0.04, 0.05) -0.02 (-0.07, 0.02) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.06) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.06) Childhood BMI -0.01 (-0.05, 0.02) -0.02 (-0.06, 0.02) 0 (-0.04, 0.05) -0.02 (-0.07, 0.02) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.06) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)	, 0.06) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)	0.01 (-0.04, 0.06)
Pregnancy complications         -0.01         (-0.05, 0.02)         -0.02         (-0.04, 0.05)         0.02         (-0.03, 0.06)         0.02         (-0.03, 0.07)           Birth characteristics         -0.01         (-0.05, 0.03)         -0.02         0.02         (-0.03, 0.07)         0.02         (-0.03, 0.07)         0.02         (-0.03, 0.07)         0.02         (-0.03, 0.07)         0.02         (-0.03, 0.07)         0.02         (-0.03, 0.07)         0.02         (-0.03, 0.07)         0.02         (-0.03, 0.07)         0.02         (-0.03, 0.07)         0.02         (-0.03, 0.07)         0.02         (-0.03, 0.07)         0.02         (-0.03, 0.06)         0.02         (-0.03, 0.07)         0.01         (-0.03, 0.06)         0.02         (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01         (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01         (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01         (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01         (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01         (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01         (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01         (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01         (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01         (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01         (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01         (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01         (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01         (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01         (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01         (-0.03, 0.06)         0.01         (-0.03, 0.06)		
Birth characteristics -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03) -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02) 0 (-0.05, 0.05) -0.03 (-0.07, 0.02) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.06) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.07) Infant growth 0 (-0.04, 0.04) -0.01 (-0.05, 0.02) 0 (-0.04, 0.05) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.05) -0.02 (-0.07, 0.02) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.06) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.06) Childhood BMI -0.01 (-0.05, 0.02) 0.02 (-0.04, 0.05) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.06) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)	, 0.06) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.07)	0.01 (-0.04, 0.06)
Infant growth 0 (-0.04, 0.04) -0.01 (-0.05, 0.02) 0 (-0.04, 0.05) -0.02 (-0.03, 0.06) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.06) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.06) Childhood BMI -0.01 (-0.05, 0.02) -0.02 (-0.04, 0.05) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.06) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)	, 0.06) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.07)	0.01 (-0.04, 0.06)
Childhood BMI -0.01 (-0.05, 0.02) -0.02 (-0.06, 0.02) 0 (-0.04, 0.05) -0.02 (-0.03) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.06) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)	, 0.06) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)
	, 0.06) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)	0.01 (-0.04, 0.05)
Fully adjusted model <sup>4</sup> -0.01 (-0.05, 0.02) -0.02 (-0.06, 0.02) 0 (-0.04, 0.05) -0.03 (-0.07, 0.02) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.06) 0.03 (-0.02, 0.07)	, 0.06) 0.03 (-0.02, 0.07)	0.01 (-0.04, 0.06)

Table 2.7.3. Weight gain in early-, mid- and late-pregnancy and childhood cardio-metabolic outcomes

consumption, folic acid supplement use, and total calorie intake, delivery mode, breastfeeding, age at introduction of solid foods, and tv watching. <sup>4</sup>Intermediate models are additionally adjusted for each potential intermediate. <sup>4</sup>Fully adjusted models include all potential confounders and intermediates. <sup>5</sup>Results for C-peptide were similar as for insulin levels (results not shown). \*P-value <0.05.

#### GESTATIONAL WEIGHT GAIN AND CHILDHOOD OUTCOMES



Figure 2.7.2. Associations of gestational weight gain with the risk of childhood overweight and clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors (*n* = 5908)

2.7.2b. Childhood clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors

Values are Odds Ratios (95% Confidence Interval) from logistic regression models that reflect the risks of childhood overweight and obesity and childhood clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors per SDS change in early-, mid- and late-gestational weight gain, and for excessive gestational weight gain as compared to the reference group (non-excessive gestational weight gain). Confounder models (represented by circle) are adjusted for child's sex and age at outcome measurements, maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, prepregnancy body mass index (period-specific gestational weight gain models), parity, smoking and alcohol consumption during pregnancy and folic acid supplement use, total calorie intake during pregnancy, delivery mode, breastfeeding duration, timing of introduction of solid foods, and tv watching. Full models (represented by tringle) are additionally adjusted for pregnancy complications, gestational age and weight at birth, infant length and weight growth.

#### Discussion

We observed that higher maternal gestational weight gain in early-, but not in mid- and late-, pregnancy is associated with increased adiposity levels and an adverse cardiometabolic profile in childhood. These associations were independent from maternal prepregnancy weight and weight gain in other periods, and not explained by pregnancy complications or birth and infant growth characteristics. The associations of weight gain later in pregnancy with childhood outcomes seem to be partly explained by birth characteristics.

#### Methodological considerations

Strengths of this study were the prospective data collection from early pregnancy onwards, large sample size and multiple maternal weight measurements throughout pregnancy. Follow-up data were available in 69% of our study population. The nonresponse could lead to biased effect estimates if associations would be different between mothers and children included and not included in the analyses. Assuming that mothers and children with higher weights are less likely to participate in detailed followup studies, our estimates may be underestimated. Furthermore, not all gestational weight measurements were available for all mothers due to later enrolment in the study or non-participation in physical examinations or questionnaires. To avoid bias related to a complete-case analysis and to maintain statistical power, we used multiple imputations for missing information of maternal weight measurements for conditional analysis.<sup>19</sup> Observed differences in significance between conditional and regular linear regression analyses are partly due to smaller numbers in regular analyses. Compared to the complete-case analysis, effect estimates changed slightly after using multiple imputations for missing values (results not shown), but conclusions were similar. Information on maternal prepregnancy weight and maximum gestational weight was self-reported. Self-reported weight tends to be underestimated especially in case of higher maternal weight, which might have led to an underestimation of observed effects for maximum gestational weight gain and an overestimation for gestational weight gain in early pregnancy. Finally, although information about a large number of potential confounding factors was available, because of the observational design, residual confounding might still be an issue.

#### Interpretation of main findings

Previous studies have shown that gestational weight gain, especially in mid- and latepregnancy, is associated with birth weight.<sup>20,21</sup> In the same population as the present study, we previously observed that specific periods of gestational weight gain are associated with risks of adverse pregnancy outcomes.<sup>21</sup> In the current study, we aimed to identify critical periods of gestational weight gain for cardio-metabolic health in offspring. An accumulating body of evidence suggests that gestational weight gain might influence offspring cardio-metabolic health in later life.<sup>4,6-8,22-28</sup> The effects of gestational weight gain on childhood outcomes may depend upon timing of gestational weight gain. A study performed among 5154 UK mother-offspring pairs showed that gestational weight gain in the first 14 weeks tended to be incrementally associated with offspring BMI, waist circumference and fat mass at 9 years, but after 14 weeks of gestation, only high levels of gestational weight gain were associated with offspring adiposity measures.<sup>4</sup> No associations of trimester-specific weight gain with blood pressure were present, whereas weight gain from 14 to 36 weeks of gestation tended to be linearly associated with HDL-cholesterol, triglycerides and inflammatory markers. In these analyses, only maternal estimated prepregnancy weight and gestational weight gain in the previous period were taken into account. Another study among 3015 US mothers and their children showed that only first-trimester weight gain was associated with child-hood body mass index, and suggested that maternal prepregnancy body mass index modified this association.<sup>7</sup> These models were not adjusted for weight gain in other trimesters. A Finish study among 6637 mothers and their adolescent offspring showed that weight gain of >7 kg in the first 20 weeks of gestation was associated with offspring overweight and higher waist-circumference, but this study did not study whether these effects were independent from weight gain in later pregnancy.<sup>8</sup>

In line with these studies, we observed that maternal gestational weight gain in early- and mid-pregnancy was independently associated with childhood body mass index. Additionally, we observed associations of maternal gestational weight gain in early-pregnancy with childhood total fat mass, android/gynoid fat mass ratio and abdominal subcutaneous fat mass. Thus, our results suggest that higher maternal gestational weight gain in early-pregnancy leads to higher body mass index, higher total fat mass and relatively more abdominal fat mass in childhood. Next to body mass index, these specific total body and abdominal fat distribution measures are related to the risk of cardio-metabolic disease and mortality in later life.<sup>29,30</sup> We also observed that maternal gestational weight gain in early-pregnancy tended to be independently associated with childhood systolic blood pressure, insulin and C-peptide levels and clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors, but no independent associations with lipid levels were present. The associations of maternal gestational weight gain in early-pregnancy with specific body fat mass measures and cardio-metabolic risk factors were largely mediated by childhood body mass index. Although observed effect estimates were small, these childhood cardio-metabolic risk factors track from childhood into adulthood and are associated with cardiovascular disease in later life.<sup>31-34</sup> The associations of maternal prepregnancy weight with childhood cardio-metabolic outcomes were stronger than those for gestational weight gain, but did not explain or modify the associations of gestational weight gain with these outcomes.

Increased total weight gain and excessive gestational weight gain according to IOM criteria have been associated with increased risks of offspring obesity, independent from maternal prepregnancy body mass index.<sup>4,6,22-26,28,35</sup> Associations of increased gestational weight gain with offspring blood pressure, lipid profile and inflammatory markers are less consistent and seem to be mainly driven by offspring adiposity.<sup>4,23,25</sup> Accordingly, we observed associations of total and excessive gestational weight gain with increased childhood adiposity levels and increased risks of childhood overweight. Total and excessive gestational weight gain weight gain were also associated with the risk of childhood clustering of cardio-metabolic risk factors, but no significant associations of these measures with separate cardio-metabolic risk factors were present. This may be due to lack of statistical power as a smaller number of mothers had information about total gestational weight gain available.

The associations of gestational weight gain and childhood adiposity and related cardio-metabolic outcomes may be explained by several factors. Mothers who gain a large amount of weight during pregnancy are likely to have different socio-demographic and lifestyle characteristics as compared to mothers who gain recommended amounts of weight.<sup>21</sup> These factors may account for the observed effects. However, extensive adjustment for socio-demographic and lifestyle factors did not explain our findings. The observed effects of gestational weight gain in each pregnancy period were not mediated by maternal pregnancy complications or infant growth characteristics.<sup>36-38</sup> Weight gain during pregnancy, especially in later pregnancy, might also just reflect higher fetal weight and birth weight, which are known to be associated with obesity in later life.<sup>39</sup> In line with this hypothesis, we observed that associations of gestational weight gain later in pregnancy with childhood outcomes were partly explained by birth characteristics. Thus, the effects of gestational weight gain on childhood outcomes may vary during pregnancy, and our results suggest that especially early-pregnancy might be a specific and independent critical period for gestational weight gain. The mechanisms by which maternal gestational weight gain in early-pregnancy lead to an adverse childhood cardio-metabolic profile are not known, but may include increased placental transfer of maternal levels of glucose, free fatty acids and amino-acids and subsequent programming of adiposity and an adverse cardio-metabolic profile in later life.<sup>40</sup> Further mechanistic studies are needed to obtain further insight in the underlying mechanisms.

#### Conclusion

We observed that increased maternal weight gain in early pregnancy is associated with an adverse cardio-metabolic profile in childhood. This association is largely mediated by childhood body mass index. Future preventive strategies focused on reduction of excessive maternal weight gain, especially in early pregnancy, may lead to better cardiometabolic health in offspring.

#### References

- 1. Poston L. Gestational weight gain: Influences on the long-term health of the child. Current opinion in clinical nutrition and metabolic care. 2012;15:252-257.
- Budge H, Gnanalingham MG, Gardner DS, Mostyn A, Stephenson T, Symonds ME. Maternal nutritional programming of fetal adipose tissue development: Long-term consequences for later obesity. Birth defects research. Part C, Embryo today : reviews. 2005;75:193-199.
- 3. Roseboom T, de Rooij S, Painter R. The dutch famine and its long-term consequences for adult health. Early Hum Dev. 2006;82:485-491.
- Fraser A, Tilling K, Macdonald-Wallis C, Sattar N, Brion MJ, Benfield L, Ness A, Deanfield J, Hingorani A, Nelson SM, Smith GD, Lawlor DA. Association of maternal weight gain in pregnancy with offspring obesity and metabolic and vascular traits in childhood. Circulation. 2010;121:2557-2564.
- Institute of Medicine (US) and National Research Council (US) Committee to Reexamine IOM Pregnancy Weight Guidelines; Rasmussen KM, Yaktine AL, editors. Weight Gain During Pregnancy: Reexamining the Guidelines. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2009.
- Lawlor DA, Lichtenstein P, Fraser A, Langstrom N. Does maternal weight gain in pregnancy have long-term effects on offspring adiposity? A sibling study in a prospective cohort of 146,894 men from 136,050 families. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2011;94:142-148.
- 7. Margerison-Zilko CE, Shrimali BP, Eskenazi B, Lahiff M, Lindquist AR, Abrams BF. Trimester of maternal gestational weight gain and offspring body weight at birth and age five. Maternal and child health journal. 2012;16:1215-1223.

- Laitinen J, Jaaskelainen A, Hartikainen AL, Sovio U, Vaarasmaki M, Pouta A, Kaakinen M, Jarvelin MR. Maternal weight gain during the first half of pregnancy and offspring obesity at 16 years: A prospective cohort study. BJOG: an international journal of obstetrics and gynaecology. 2012;119:716-723.
- Jaddoe VW, van Duijn CM, Franco OH, van der Heijden AJ, van lizendoorn MH, de Jongste JC, van der Lugt A, Mackenbach JP, Moll HA, Raat H, Rivadeneira F, Steegers EA, Tiemeier H, Uitterlinden AG, Verhulst FC, Hofman A. The generation r study: Design and cohort update 2012. Eur J Epidemiol. 2012;27:739-756.
- Cole TJ, Bellizzi MC, Flegal KM, Dietz WH. Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: International survey. BMJ. 2000;320:1240-1243.
- 11. Helba M, Binkovitz LA. Pediatric body composition analysis with dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry. Pediatr Radiol. 2009;39:647-656.
- Suzuki R, Watanabe S, Hirai Y, Akiyama K, Nishide T, Matsushima Y, Murayama H, Ohshima H, Shinomiya M, Shirai K, et al. Abdominal wall fat index, estimated by ultrasonography, for assessment of the ratio of visceral fat to subcutaneous fat in the abdomen. Am J Med. 1993;95:309-314.
- 13. Wong SN, Tz Sung RY, Leung LC. Validation of three oscillometric blood pressure devices against auscultatory mercury sphygmomanometer in children. Blood Press Monit. 2006;11:281-291.
- 14. Steinberger J, Daniels SR, Eckel RH, Hayman L, Lustig RH, McCrindle B, Mietus-Snyder ML. Progress and challenges in metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents: A scientific statement from the american heart association atherosclerosis, hypertension, and obesity in the young committee of the council on cardiovascular disease in the young; council on cardiovascular nursing; and council on nutrition, physical activity, and metabolism. Circulation. 2009;119:628-647.
- Coolman M, de Groot CJ, Jaddoe VW, Hofman A, Raat H, Steegers EA. Medical record validation of maternally reported history of pre-eclampsia. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 2010;63:932-937.
- Verburg BO, Steegers EA, De Ridder M, Snijders RJ, Smith E, Hofman A, Moll HA, Jaddoe VW, Witteman JC. New charts for ultrasound dating of pregnancy and assessment of fetal growth: Longitudinal data from a population-based cohort study. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2008;31:388-396.
- Niklasson A, Ericson A, Fryer JG, Karlberg J, Lawrence C, Karlberg P. An update of the swedish reference standards for weight, length and head circumference at birth for given gestational age (1977-1981). Acta Paediatr Scand. 1991;80:756-762.
- Keijzer-Veen MG, Euser AM, van Montfoort N, Dekker FW, Vandenbroucke JP, Van Houwelingen HC. A regression model with unexplained residuals was preferred in the analysis of the fetal origins of adult diseases hypothesis. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 2005;58:1320-1324.
- Sterne JA, White IR, Carlin JB, Spratt M, Royston P, Kenward MG, Wood AM, Carpenter JR. Multiple imputation for missing data in epidemiological and clinical research: Potential and pitfalls. BMJ. 2009;338:b2393.
- Ay L, Kruithof CJ, Bakker R, Steegers EA, Witteman JC, Moll HA, Hofman A, Mackenbach JP, Hokken-Koelega AC, Jaddoe VW. Maternal anthropometrics are associated with fetal size in different periods of pregnancy and at birth. The generation r study. BJOG : an international journal of obstetrics and gynaecology. 2009;116:953-963.
- 21. Gaillard R, Durmuş B, Hofman A, Mackenbach JP, Steegers EA, Jaddoe VW. Risk factors and outcomes of maternal obesity and excessive weight gain during pregnancy. Obesity. 2013;21:1046-1055.
- Crozier SR, Inskip HM, Godfrey KM, Cooper C, Harvey NC, Cole ZA, Robinson SM. Weight gain in pregnancy and childhood body composition: Findings from the southampton women's survey. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2010;91:1745-1751.
- 23. Hochner H, Friedlander Y, Calderon-Margalit R, Meiner V, Sagy Y, Avgil-Tsadok M, Burger A, Savitsky B, Siscovick DS, Manor O. Associations of maternal prepregnancy body mass index and gestational weight gain with adult offspring cardiometabolic risk factors: The jerusalem perinatal family follow-up study. Circulation. 2012;125:1381-1389.
- 24. Hull HR, Thornton JC, Ji Y, Paley C, Rosenn B, Mathews P, Navder K, Yu A, Dorsey K, Gallagher D. Higher infant body fat with excessive gestational weight gain in overweight women. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2011;205:211 e211-217.
- Mamun AA, O'Callaghan M, Callaway L, Williams G, Najman J, Lawlor DA. Associations of gestational weight gain with offspring body mass index and blood pressure at 21 years of age: Evidence from a birth cohort study. Circulation. 2009;119:1720-1727.
- 26. Oken E, Rifas-Shiman SL, Field AE, Frazier AL, Gillman MW. Maternal gestational weight gain and offspring weight in adolescence. Obstetrics and gynecology. 2008;112:999-1006.
- 27. Reynolds RM, Osmond C, Phillips DI, Godfrey KM. Maternal bmi, parity, and pregnancy weight gain: Influences on offspring adiposity in young adulthood. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010;95:5365-5369.
- 28. Wrotniak BH, Shults J, Butts S, Stettler N. Gestational weight gain and risk of overweight in the offspring at age 7 y in a multicenter, multiethnic cohort study. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2008;87:1818-1824.
- Fox CS, Massaro JM, Hoffmann U, Pou KM, Maurovich-Horvat P, Liu CY, Vasan RS, Murabito JM, Meigs JB, Cupples LA, D'Agostino RB, Sr., O'Donnell CJ. Abdominal visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue compartments: Association with metabolic risk factors in the framingham heart study. Circulation. 2007;116:39-48.
- Pischon T, Boeing H, Hoffmann K, Bergmann M, Schulze MB, Overvad K, van der Schouw YT, Spencer E, Moons KG, Tjonneland A, Halkjaer J, Jensen MK, Stegger J, Clavel-Chapelon F, Boutron-Ruault MC, Chajes V, Linseisen J, Kaaks R, Trichopoulou A, Trichopoulos D, Bamia C, Sieri S, Palli D, Tumino R, Vineis P, Panico S, Peeters PH, May AM, Bueno-de-

Mesquita HB, van Duijnhoven FJ, Hallmans G, Weinehall L, Manjer J, Hedblad B, Lund E, Agudo A, Arriola L, Barricarte A, Navarro C, Martinez C, Quiros JR, Key T, Bingham S, Khaw KT, Boffetta P, Jenab M, Ferrari P, Riboli E. General and abdominal adiposity and risk of death in europe. N Engl J Med. 2008;359:2105-2120.

- Franks PW, Hanson RL, Knowler WC, Sievers ML, Bennett PH, Looker HC. Childhood obesity, other cardiovascular risk factors, and premature death. N Engl J Med. 2010;362:485-493.
- 32. Chen X, Wang Y. Tracking of blood pressure from childhood to adulthood: A systematic review and meta-regression analysis. Circulation. 2008;117:3171-3180.
- 33. Juhola J, Magnussen CG, Viikari JS, Kahonen M, Hutri-Kahonen N, Jula A, Lehtimaki T, Akerblom HK, Pietikainen M, Laitinen T, Jokinen E, Taittonen L, Raitakari OT, Juonala M. Tracking of serum lipid levels, blood pressure, and body mass index from childhood to adulthood: The cardiovascular risk in young finns study. The Journal of pediatrics. 2011;159:584-590.
- 34. Wright CM, Emmett PM, Ness AR, Reilly JJ, Sherriff A. Tracking of obesity and body fatness through mid-childhood. Archives of disease in childhood. 2010;95:612-617.
- 35. Ehrenthal DB, Maiden K, Rao A, West DW, Gidding SS, Bartoshesky L, Carterette B, Ross J, Strobino D. Independent relation of maternal prenatal factors to early childhood obesity in the offspring. Obstetrics and gynecology. 2013;121:115-121.
- 36. Geelhoed JJ, Fraser A, Tilling K, Benfield L, Davey Smith G, Sattar N, Nelson SM, Lawlor DA. Pre-eclampsia and gestational hypertension are associated with childhood blood pressure independently of family adiposity measures: The avon longitudinal study of parents and children. Circulation. 2010;122:1192-1199.
- Patel S, Fraser A, Davey Smith G, Lindsay RS, Sattar N, Nelson SM, Lawlor DA. Associations of gestational diabetes, existing diabetes, and glycosuria with offspring obesity and cardiometabolic outcomes. Diabetes care. 2012;35:63-71.
- 38. Deierlein AL, Siega-Riz AM, Herring AH, Adair LS, Daniels JL. Gestational weight gain and predicted changes in offspring anthropometrics between early infancy and 3 years. Pediatric obesity. 2012;7:134-142.
- Yu ZB, Han SP, Zhu GZ, Zhu C, Wang XJ, Cao XG, Guo XR. Birth weight and subsequent risk of obesity: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Obes Rev. 2011;12:525-542.
- 40. Taylor PD, Poston L. Developmental programming of obesity in mammals. Experimental physiology. 2007;92:287-298.

#### Supplementary Material

Supplementary Figure S2.7.1. Participants flow chart in the Generation R Study, Rotterdam, the Netherlands



	Matern	al measures				Offspring	measur	es											
	Μдд	Early-GWG	Mid-GWG	Late-GWG	3 Maximum	Birth	BMI	TFM	AGFM	SFM P	FM	ВР	DBP (	Cholesterol H	DL L	DL	u D	sulin (	C-peptide
					GWG	weight													
Maternal measure:	5																		
PPW	7	0.96	0.92	06.0	0.89	0.21	0.24	0.18	0.12	0.12 0	080.0	.08	.01	-0.02 -O	.05 0	.01	0.02	8	0.04
Early-GWG	0.96	1	0.95	0.92	0.92	0.21	0.25	0.19	0.11	0.14 0	080.0	80.	0.02	<b>9</b>	00.	.03	0.01	8	0.04
Mid-GWG	0.92	0.95	1	0.95	0.95	0.25	0.26	0.18	0.11	0.13 0	000	60:	0.01	-0.02 -0	07	.02	0.01	8	0.05
Late-GWG	06.0	0.92	0.95	1	0.99	0:30	0.24	0.17	0.11	0.11 0	080.0	90.	0.02	-0.03 -0	.04	.01	0.01 0.	03 (	0.02
Maximum GWG	0.89	0.92	0.95	0.99	1	0.29	0.23	0.16	0.11	0.10	0.07	6	0.02	-0.02 -0	.04 0	.01	0.	04	0.03
Offspring measure:	6																		
Birth weight	0.21	0.21	0.25	0:30	0.29	1	0.16	-0.05	-0.04	- 0.01	0.02 -	0.05	0.08	-0.05 -0	- 02	0.04	0.01 0.	02	0.01
BMI	0.31	0.25	0.26	0.25	0.24	0.16	1	0.71	0.61	0.62 0	.43 0	.25	0.10	0.10 -0	8	60.	0.06	13	60.0
TFM	0.26	0.19	0.18	0.17	0.17	-0.05	0.71	1	0.65	0.82	.56 0	21	0.14	0.16 -0	8	117	.08 0.	60	0.06
AGFM	0.19	0.13	0.12	0.12	0.13	-0.04	0.61	0.65	1	0.57 0	.40	.16	0.08	0- 00.0	10	10	0.14 0.	60	60.0
SFM	0.21	0.14	0.13	0.10	0.10	-0.01	0.62	0.82	0.57	1	0.66	.20	0.11 (	<b>D.14</b> -0	.03	.16	.06 0.	60	0.06
PFM	0.14	0.08	0.08	0.08	0.07	-0.02	0.43	0.56	0.40	D.66		14	0.07	<b>0.16</b> 0.	02 0	.14	.08 0.	60	0.06
SBP	0.08	0.08	60.0	0.06	0.07	-0.05	0.25	0.21	0.16	0.20	.14		0.62	0.07 0.	99	5	0.02 0.	8	0.04
DBP	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.02	0.02	-0.08	0.10	0.14	0.08	0.11 0	07 0	.62	_	0.04 0.	40	5	0.02 -0	.02	0.05
Cholesterol	-0.02	0	0.02	-0.03	-0.02	-0.05	0.10	0.16	0.09	0.14 C	.16 0	01	0.04	1 0.	80	.85	0.16 -0	.02	0.04
HDL	-0.05	-0.06	-0.07	-0.04	-0.04	-0.02	-0.04	-0.08	-0.10	-0.03 C	0.02	90.	0.04	0.30 1	т	0.05	0-39 -0	- 07	0.10
LDL	0.01	0.03	0.02	0.01	0.01	-0.04	0.09	0.17	0.10	0.16 C	.14 0	8	0.04	0.85 -0	.05		.12 -0	.05	0.07
TG	0.02	0.01	0.01	-0.01	0	-0.01	0.06	0.08	0.14	0.06	.08	0.02	0.02	0.16 -0	90 0	.12	o	20	0.20
Insulin	0.04	0.05	0.05	0.03	0.04	0.02	0.13	0.09	0.09	0.09	60.0	80	0.02	-0.02 -0	- 07	0.05	.20 1	0	.88
C-peptide	0.04	0.04	0.05	0.02	0.03	0.01	0.09	0.06	0.09	0.06 C	.06 0	.04	0.05	-0.04 -0	.10	0.07 C	.20 0.	88	
<sup>1</sup> Values are Dearco	n'r or Cn	Jaca accarco	correlation	coafficiant	e Bold values	oro cianifio	44V tac	orintio	nc. DD\//.	n ro nro	NUCCU	inh+.	.5///5	w lacostory	iainht o	T. T.	10+0+04	fot mar	. AGENA.

Supplementary Table S2.7.1. Correlation coefficients between maternal and offspring weight and cardio-metabolic measures<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Values are Pearson's or Spearman rank correlation coefficients. Bold values are significant. Abbreviations: PPW: prepregnancy weight; GWG: gestatioanl weight gain; TFM: total tat mass; Au-M: android/gynoid fat mass ratio; SFM: abdominal subcutaenous fat mass; PFM: abdominal preperitoneal fat mass; SBP: systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure; TG: triglycerides.

#### CHAPTER 2.7

Supplementary Table S2.7.2. Non-response analysis for availability of maximum weight data from questionnaire  $(n = 5908)^{1}$ 

	Information about maximum gestational weight gain	No information about maximum gestational weight gain	
	n = 3118	n = 2790	P-value <sup>4</sup>
Maternal characteristics			
Age. mean (SD), vears	31.2 (4.6)	29.2 (5.4)	< 0.01
Height, mean (SD), cm	168.8 (7.2)	166.1 (7.4)	< 0.01
Prepregnancy weight, mean (SD), kg	66.4 (11.9)	66.5 (13.4)	0.77
Prepregnancy body mass index, mean (SD), kg/m <sup>2</sup>	23.3 (3.9)	24.0 (4.5)	< 0.01
Gestational age at intake, median (95% range), weeks <sup>2</sup>	13.5 (9.9, 23.6)	14.5 (10.1, 25.1)	< 0.01
Parity, No. nulliparous (%) <sup>3</sup>	1872 (60.0)	1478 (53.0)	< 0.01
Education, No. higher education (%) <sup>3</sup>	1766 (58.2)	768 (30.8)	< 0.01
Race / Ethnicity, No. European (%) <sup>3</sup>	2249 (72.5)	1252 (46.8)	< 0.01
Smoking habits during pregnancy, No. Yes (%) <sup>3</sup>	664 (23.5)	705 (29.2)	< 0.01
Alcohol consumption during pregnancy, No. Yes (%) <sup>3</sup>	1737 (62.1)	1060 (44.5)	< 0.01
Folic acid supplement use, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>			
No use	408 (16.6)	722 (35.5)	< 0.01
First 10 weeks use	798 (32.5)	624 (30.7)	
Preconception use	1251 (50.9)	686 (33.8)	
Maternal pregnancy complications			
Gestational hypertension, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>	129 (4.3)	104 (3.7)	0.28
Pre-eclampsia, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>	57 (2.0)	49 (1.9)	0.49
Gestational diabetes, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>	21 (0.7)	38 (1.4)	<0.01
Birth and infant characteristics			
Males, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>	1545 (49.6)	1404 (50.3)	0.29
Gestational age at birth, median (95% range), weeks <sup>2</sup>	40.1 (36.1, 42.3)	40.1 (35.4, 42.3)	< 0.01
Birth weight, mean (SD), g	3465 (524)	3384 (576)	< 0.01
Caesarean delivery, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>	352 (12.2)	303 (12.1)	0.47
Ever breastfeeding, No. Yes (%) <sup>3</sup>	2894 (92.8)	1389 (92.2)	0.23
Breastfeeding duration, median (95% range), months <sup>2</sup>	3.5 (0.5, 12.0)	3.5 (0.5, 12.0)	0.11
Childhood characteristics			
Age at follow up, median (95% range), vears <sup>2</sup>	6.0 (5.9. 7.1)	6.2 (5.7. 8.2)	< 0.01
Height, mean (SD), cm	118.7 (5.5)	120.4 (6.6)	< 0.01
Weight, mean (SD), kg	22.6 (3.5)	24.2 (5.0)	< 0.01
Body mass index, mean (SD), kg/m <sup>2</sup>	16.0 (1.6)	16.6 (2.2)	< 0.01
Total fat mass, mean (SD), %	24.3 (5.1)	25.8 (6.3)	< 0.01
Android/gynoid fat mass ratio, mean (SD)	0.25 (0.06)	0.26 (0.08)	< 0.01
Systolic blood pressure, mean (SD), mmHg	102.2 (8.0)	103.6 (8.4)	< 0.01
Diastolic blood pressure, mean (SD), mmHg	60.4 (6.7)	61.2 (7.0)	< 0.01
Total-cholesterol, mean (SD), mmol/L	4.2 (0.6)	4.2 (0.6)	0.47
HDL-cholesterol, mean (SD), mmol/L	1.3 (0.3)	1.4 (0.3)	< 0.01
LDL-cholesterol, mean (SD), mmol/L	2.4 (0.6)	2.3 (0.6)	0.15
Triglycerides, median (95% range), mmol/L <sup>2</sup>	0.9 (0.4, 2.3)	0.9 (0.4, 2.4)	0.59
Insulin, median (95% range), pmol/L <sup>2</sup>	117.9 (17.7, 408.4)	109.1 (15.6, 397.3)	0.39
C-peptide, median (95% range), nmol/L <sup>2</sup>	1.0 (0.3, 2.1)	0.9 (0.3, 2.2)	0.14

<sup>1</sup>Values are means (standard deviation). <sup>2</sup>Values are medians (95% range). <sup>3</sup>Values are observed numbers and valid percentages. <sup>4</sup>Differences in subject characteristics between the groups were evaluated using one-way ANOVA tests for continuous variables and chi-square tests for proportions.

	Follow-up	Loss to follow-up	
	at 6 years	at 6 years	
	n = 5908	n = 2706	P-value <sup>4</sup>
Maternal characteristics			
Age, mean (SD), years	30.3 (5.1)	28.2 (5.5)	< 0.01
Height, mean (SD), cm	167.5 (7.4)	166.2 (7.4)	< 0.01
Prepregnancy weight, mean (SD), kg	66.5 (12.6)	65.8 (13.5)	0.05
Prepregnancy body mass index, mean (SD), kg/m <sup>2</sup>	23.6 (4.2)	23.7 (4.7)	0.38
Gestational age at intake, median (95% range), weeks <sup>2</sup>	13.9 (9.9, 24.4)	14.5 (9.9, 27.8)	< 0.01
Parity, No. nulliparous, (%) <sup>3</sup>	3350 (56.7)	1388 (51.3)	< 0.01
Education, No. higher education (%) <sup>3</sup>	2534 (45.8)	750 (32.5)	< 0.01
Race / Ethnicity, No. European (%) <sup>3</sup>	3501 (60.6)	1130 (47.8)	< 0.01
Smoking habits during pregnancy, No. Yes (%) <sup>3</sup>	1369 (26.1)	679 (29.8)	< 0.01
Alcohol consumption during pregnancy, No. Yes (%) <sup>3</sup>	2797 (54.0)	933 (41.6)	< 0.01
Folic acid supplement use, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>			
No use	1130 (25.2)	745 (39.4)	< 0.01
First 10 weeks use	1422 (31.7)	563 (29.8)	
Preconception use	1937 (43.1)	582 (30.8)	
Maternal pregnancy complications			
Gestational hypertension, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>	233 (4.1)	76 (3.1)	0.01
Pre-eclampsia, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>	106 (1.9)	66 (2.7)	0.02
Gestational diabetes, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>	59 (1.0)	30 (1.2)	0.32
Birth and infant characteristics			
Males, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>	2949 (49.9)	1401 (51.8)	0.06
Gestational age, median (95% range), weeks <sup>2</sup>	40.1 (35.9, 42.3)	40.0 (34.7, 42.4)	< 0.01
Birth weight, mean (SD), g	3426 (550)	3377 (583)	< 0.01
Caesarean delivery, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>	655 (12.2)	310 (12.9)	0.20
Ever breastfeeding, No. Yes (%) <sup>3</sup>	4283 (92.6)	1267 (90.5)	< 0.01
Breastfeeding duration, median (95% range), months <sup>2</sup>	3.5 (0.5, 12.0)	2.5 (0.5, 12.0)	< 0.01

Supplementary Table S2.7.3. Non-response analysis for childhood follow-up data at 6 years  $(n = 8614)^{1}$ 

 $^{1}$ Values are means (standard deviation).  $^{2}$ Median (95% range).  $^{3}$ Values are observed numbers and valid percentages.  $^{4}$ Differences in subject characteristics between the groups were evaluated using one-way ANOVA tests for continuous variables and chi-square tests for proportions.

#### CHAPTER 2.7

Childhood BMI Fully adjusted model<sup>4</sup>

	Body mass index (SDS)	Total fat mass (SDS)	Android/gynoid fat mass ratio (SDS)	Subcutaneous abdominal fat area (SDS)	Preperitoneal abdominal fat area (SDS)
<b>Prepregnancy weight</b> Mediator models <sup>3</sup>					
Pregnancy complications Birth characteristics Infant growth Childhood BMI Fully adjusted model <sup>4</sup>	0.27 (0.25, 0.30)* 0.24 (0.21, 0.27)* 0.27 (0.24, 0.30)* - 0.18 (0.15, 0.21)*	0.19 (0.17, 0.22)* 0.19 (0.17, 0.22)* 0.19 (0.16, 0.22)* 0.01 (-0.01, 0.03) 0.02 (0, 0.04)*	0.14 (0.11, 0.16)* 0.14 (0.11, 0.17)* 0.14 (0.11, 0.17)* -0.03 (-0.05, -0.01)* -0.02 (-0.05, 0)	0.17 (0.14, 0.19)* 0.16 (0.13, 0.19)* 0.16 (0.13, 0.19)* 0 (-0.02, 0.02) 0.01 (-0.01, 0.03)	0.11 (0.08, 0.14)* 0.11 (0.08, 0.14)* 0.11 (0.08, 0.14)* -0.01 (-0.04, 0.02) 0 (-0.03, 0.02)
<b>Early-pregnancy weight</b> Mediator models <sup>3</sup>					
complications Birth characteristics Infant growth Childhood BMI Fully adjusted model <sup>4</sup>	0.11 (0.08, 0.13)* 0.09 (0.07, 0.12)* 0.11 (0.09, 0.13)* - 0.07 (0.05, 0.09)*	0.06 (0.04, 0.09)* 0.06 (0.04, 0.09)* 0.07 (0.04, 0.09)* -0.01 (-0.02, 0.01) 0 (-0.02, 0.02)	0.03 (0, 0.06)* 0.03 (0, 0.07)* 0.04 (0.01, 0.06)* -0.03 (-0.06, -0.01)* -0.03 (-0.05, 0)	0.05 (0.02, 0.08)* 0.05 (0.02, 0.07)* 0.05 (0.03, 0.08)* -0.01 (-0.03, 0.01) 0 (-0.02, 0.02)	0.03 (0, 0.05) 0.03 (0, 0.05) 0.03 (0, 0.06)* -0.02 (-0.04, 0.01) -0.01 (-0.04, 0.01)
<b>Mid-pregnancy weight</b> Mediator models <sup>3</sup>					
complications Birth characteristics Infant growth Childhood BMI Fully adjusted model <sup>4</sup>	0.09 (0.05, 0.12)* 0.06 (0.03, 0.09)* 0.10 (0.07, 0.13) - 0.04 (0.02, 0.07)*	0.04 (0.01, 0.07)* 0.04 (0.01, 0.08)* 0.05 (0.02, 0.08)* -0.01 (-0.03, 0.01) 0.01 (-0.02, 0.03)	0.01 (-0.02, 0.05) 0.02 (-0.01, 0.05) 0.02 (-0.01, 0.06) -0.03 (-0.06, 0) -0.02 (-0.04, 0.01)	0.04 (0, 0.07)* 0.03 (0, 0.07)* 0.04 (0.01, 0.08)* -0.01 (-0.03, 0.02) 0 (-0.02, 0.03)	0.03 (0, 0.06) 0.03 (0, 0.06) 0.03 (0, 0.07) 0 (-0.03, 0.03) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.04)
Late-pregnancy weight Mediator models <sup>3</sup>					
complications Birth characteristics Infant growth	0.04 (0, 0.08) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.06) 0.06 (0.03, 0.10)	0 (-0.04, 0.05) 0.01 (-0.04, 0.05) 0.02 (-0.02, 0.05)	0.01 (-0.05, 0.07) 0.02 (-0.05, 0.08) 0.03 (-0.03, 0.08)	0 (-0.04, 0.04) 0 (-0.04, 0.04) 0.01 (-0.02, 0.05)	0.02 (-0.02, 0.05) 0.02 (-0.02, 0.05) 0.03 (-0.01, 0.06)

**Supplementary Table S2.7.4.** Associations of prepregnancy weight and weight gain in each period of pregnancy with childhood body fat outcomes from conditional analyses (intermediate and full models)<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Values are regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) from linear regression models that reflect the difference in childhood body fat outcomes per SDS change in maternal pregnancy weight and per SDS change in standardised residual change in maternal weight in early-, mid- and late-pregnancy from conditional regression analyses. Estimates are based on multiple imputed data. <sup>2</sup>Models are adjusted for child's sex and age at outcome measurements, maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, height at intake, smoking during pregnancy, alcohol consumption during pregnancy and folic acid supplement use, total calorie intake during pregnancy, delivery mode, breastfeeding duration, timing of introduction of solid foods and average duration of tv-watching. Models focused on fat mass outcomes were also adjusted for childhood height. <sup>3</sup>Intermediate models are additionally adjusted for each potential intermediate. <sup>4</sup>Fully adjusted models include all potential confounders and intermediates. \*P-value <0.05.

-0.01 (-0.04, 0.01) 0 (-0.04, 0.04)

0.02 (-0.01, 0.06) -0.01 (-0.03, 0.02) 0 (-0.04, 0.04)

-0.02 (-0.05, 0.01) 0 (-0.03, 0.03)

-0.01 (-0.04, 0.02) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.04)

	Systolic blood pressure (SDS)	Diastolic blood pressure (SDS)	Total-cholesterol (SDS)	HDL-cholesterol (SDS)	LDL-cholesterol (SDS)	Triglycerides (SDS)	Insulin (SDS)	<b>C-peptide</b> (SDS)
Prepregnancy weight Mediator models <sup>3</sup> Pregnancy complications Birth characteristics Infant encouth	0.08 (0.05, 0.11)* 0.09 (0.06, 0.12)* 0.09 (0.06, 0.12)*	0.01 (-0.02, 0.04) 0.03 (0, 0.06) 0.03 /-0.01 0.05)	-0.02 (-0.05, 0.02) -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02) -0.02 (-0.05, 0.02)	-0.05 (-0.08, -0.02)* -0.05 (-0.09, -0.02)*	* 0 (-0.04, 0.04) * 0 (-0.03, 0.04)	0.04 (0, 0.07) 0.04 (0, 0.08)* 0.03 (0, 0.07)	0.05 (0.01, 0.08)* 0.06 (0.02, 0.09)*	0.02 (-0.01, 0.06) 0.04 (0, 0.07)
Childhood BMI Fully adjusted model <sup>4</sup>	0.03 (0, 0.06) 0.04 (0, 0.07)*	0 (-0.03, 0.03) 0 (-0.03, 0.03) 0 (-0.03, 0.03)	-0.05 (-0.08, -0.01)* -0.05 (-0.08, -0.01)*	-0.03 (-0.06, 0.01)	-0.03 (-0.07, 0.01) -0.03 (-0.07, 0.01) -0.03 (-0.07, 0.01)	0 (-0.04, 0.04) 0 (-0.04, 0.04) 0 (-0.04, 0.04)	-0.01 (0.04, 0.03) -0.01 (0.04, 0.03) -0.01 (0.04, 0.03)	-0.02 (-0.06, 0.02) -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)
<b>Early-pregnancy weight</b> Mediator models <sup>3</sup> Pregnancy complications Birth characteristics Infant growth Childhood BMI Fully adjusted model <sup>4</sup>	0.04 (0.01, 0.07)* 0.04 (0.02, 0.07)* 0.04 (0.02, 0.07)* 0.02 (-0.01, 0.05) 0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05) 0.02 (-0.01, 0.06) 0.02 (-0.01, 0.05) 0.01 (-0.02, 0.04) 0.02 (-0.02, 0.05)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.05) 0.01 (-0.02, 0.05) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.05) 0.01 (-0.04, 0.04) 0 (-0.03, 0.04)	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.02) -0.01 (-0.04, 0.02) -0.01 (-0.04, 0.02) 0 (-0.04, 0.03) 0 (-0.04, 0.03)	0.03 (-0.01, 0.06) 0.03 (-0.01, 0.07) 0.03 (-0.01, 0.06) 0.02 (-0.02, 0.05) 0.02 (-0.02, 0.05)	0 (-0.03, 0.04) 0 (-0.03, 0.04) 0 (-0.03, 0.03) -0.01 (-0.05, 0.02) -0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)	0.03 (-0.01, 0.06) 0.03 (0, 0.07) 0.03 (-0.01, 0.06) 0.01 (-0.02, 0.04) 0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)	0.03 (-0.01, 0.06) 0.03 (0, 0.07) 0.03 (0, 0.06) 0.01 (-0.02, 0.06) 0.02 (-0.02, 0.05)
Mid-pregnancy weight Mediator models <sup>3</sup> Pregnancy complications Birth characteristics Infant growth Childhood BMI Fully adjusted model <sup>4</sup>	0.04 (0.01, 0.07)* 0.05 (0.01, 0.08)* 0.05 (0.02, 0.08)* 0.02 (-0.01, 0.05) 0.03 (0, 0.06)	0.02 (-0.01, 0.06) 0.03 (0, 0.07) 0.03 (0, 0.07) 0.02 (-0.01, 0.06) 0.03 (-0.01, 0.06)	-0.02 (-0.07, 0.02) -0.02 (-0.06, 0.02) -0.02 (-0.06, 0.02) -0.03 (-0.07, 0.01) -0.03 (-0.07, 0.01)	-0.02 (-0.07, 0.02) -0.03 (-0.07, 0.02) -0.03 (-0.07, 0.03) -0.02 (-0.07, 0.03) -0.02 (-0.07, 0.03)	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.04) 0 (-0.05, 0.04) 0 (-0.05, 0.04) -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03) -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03)	-0.02 (-0.06, 0.03) -0.01 (-0.06, 0.03) -0.02 (-0.06, 0.03) -0.03 (-0.07, 0.02) -0.03 (-0.06, 0.02)	-0.02 (-0.06, 0.03) -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03) -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03) -0.03 (-0.07, 0.01) -0.03 (-0.07, 0.01)	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.03) -0.01 (-0.05, 0.04) -0.01 (-0.05, 0.03) -0.02 (-0.06, 0.02) -0.02 (-0.06, 0.03)
Late-pregnancy weight Mediator models <sup>3</sup> Pregnancy complications Birth characteristics Infant growth Childhood BMI Fully adjusted model <sup>4</sup>	0 (-0.05, 0.05) 0 (-0.05, 0.06) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.07) -0.01 (-0.06, 0.05) 0 (-0.05, 0.06)	-0.02 (-0.08, 0.03) -0.01 (-0.07, 0.04) -0.01 (-0.06, 0.04) -0.02 (-0.07, 0.04) -0.02 (-0.07, 0.04)	-0.01 (-0.07, 0.04) -0.01 (-0.07, 0.05) -0.01 (-0.07, 0.04) -0.02 (-0.07, 0.04) -0.02 (-0.07, 0.04)	-0.01 (-0.06, 0.03) -0.02 (-0.07, 0.03) -0.02 (-0.07, 0.03) -0.01 (-0.06, 0.03) -0.01 (-0.06, 0.04)	-0.01 (-0.06, 0.05) 0 (-0.05, 0.05) 0 (-0.06, 0.05) -0.01 (-0.06, 0.04) -0.01 (-0.06, 0.06)	0.01 (-0.04, 0.07) 0.02 (-0.04, 0.07) 0.01 (-0.04, 0.07) 0.01 (-0.05, 0.06) 0.01 (-0.05, 0.07)	0(-0.06, 0.06) 0.01(-0.05, 0.07) 0.01(-0.04, 0.07) 0(-0.06, 0.05) 0(-0.06, 0.05)	0.01 (-0.05, 0.06) 0.01 (-0.04, 0.06) 0.01 (-0.04, 0.06) 0 (-0.05, 0.05) 0.01 (-0.04, 0.05)
<sup>1</sup> Values are regression coel prepregnancy weight and p multiple imputed data. <sup>2</sup> Mod	fficients (95% Confid- ber SDS change in sta lels are adiusted for cl	ence Interval) from ndardised residual c hild's sex and age at	linear regression mo :hange in maternal w	dels that reflect thé /eight in early-, mid- nts maternal معه مد	e difference in child and late-pregnancy lucational level ethn	hood cardio-metabol from conditional registrat	ic outcomes per SD gression analyses. E: intake smoking dur	S change in mate stimates are based ing pregnancy alc

Supplementary Table S2.7.6. Maximum weight gain during pregnancy and childhood body composition and cardio-metabolic outcomes<sup>1</sup>

Childhood outcomes	Change in maximum gestational weight gain (SDS)
Difference in childhood body fat outcomes	
Body mass index (SDS)	0.09 (0.06, 0.13)**
Total fat mass (SDS)	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)
Android/gynoid fat mass ratio (SDS)	0.03 (-0.01, 0.06)
Abdominal subcutaneous fat area (SDS)	0 (-0.03, 0.04)
Abdominal preperitoneal fat area (SDS)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.05)
Differences in childhood cardio-metabolic outcomes	
Systolic blood pressure (SDS)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.04)
Diastolic blood pressure (SDS)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.05)
Total cholesterol (SDS)	-0.02 (-0.07, 0.03)
HDL-cholesterol (SDS)	-0.04 (-0.09, 0.01)
LDL-cholesterol (SDS)	0.02 (-0.03, 0.07)
Triglyceride (SDS)	0.01 (-0.04, 0.06)
Insulin (SDS)	0.02 (-0.03, 0.07)
C-peptide (SDS)	0.01 (-0.04, 0.06)

<sup>1</sup>Values are regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) that reflect the difference in childhood outcomes per SDS change in maximum weight gain during pregnancy. Estimates are based on multiple imputed data. Model is adjusted for child's sex, age and height (body fat outcomes only) at measurement, maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, prepregnancy body mass index, parity, smoking during pregnancy, alcohol consumption during pregnancy and folic acid supplement use, total calorie intake, caesarean delivery, breastfeeding duration, timing of introduction of solid foods, average duration of tv watching. Additional adjustment for potential intermediates (pregnancy complications, birth characteristics, childhood size) partly attenuated the effect estimates (results not shown). \*\*P-value <0.01.

Supplementary Table S2.7.7. Excessive weight gain during pregnancy and childhood body composition and cardio-metabolic outcomes<sup>1</sup>

Childhood outcomes	Excessive gestational weight gain according to IOM criteria
Difference in childhood body fat outcomes	
Body mass index (SDS)	0.20 (0.13, 0.26)**
Total fat mass (SDS)	0.08 (0.02, 0.14)**
Android/gynoid fat mass ratio (SDS)	0.07 (0.01, 0.14)*
Abdominal subcutaneous fat area (SDS)	0.05 (-0.02, 0.12)
Abdominal preperitoneal fat area (SDS)	0.03 (-0.05, 0.11)
Difference in childhood cardio-metabolic outcomes	
Systolic blood pressure (SDS)	0.01 (-0.07, 0.08)
Diastolic blood pressure (SDS)	0.05 (-0.03, 0.13)
Total cholesterol (SDS)	-0.03 (-0.13, 0.06)
HDL-cholesterol (SDS)	-0.06 (-0.15, 0.04)
LDL-cholesterol (SDS)	0.01 (-0.09, 0.11)
Triglyceride (SDS)	0.02 (-0.08, 0.11)
Insulin (SDS)	0.03 (-0.07, 0.12)
C-peptide (SDS)	-0.02 (-0.11, 0.08)

<sup>1</sup>Values are regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) that reflect the difference in childhood outcomes for mothers with excessive gestational weight gain as compared to mothers with non-excessive gestational weight gain. Excessive gestational weight gain is defined according to the IOM criteria dependent on mother's prepregnancy body mass index. Estimates are based on multiple imputed data. Model is adjusted for child's sex, age and height (body fat outcomes only) at measurement, maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, smoking during pregnancy, alcohol consumption during pregnancy and folic acid supplement use, total calorie intake, caesarean delivery, breastfeeding duration, timing of introduction of solid foods, average duration of tv watching. Additional adjustment for potential intermediates (pregnancy complications, birth characteristics, childhood size) partly attenuated the effect estimates (results not shown). \*P-value <0.05.

## Chapter 3

### Placental and fetal influences



## Chapter 3.1

# Placental haemodynamics and the risks of pregnancy complications

Romy Gaillard Lidia R. Arends Eric A.P. Steegers Albert Hofman Vincent W.V. Jaddoe

Adapted from Am J Epidemiol. 2013;177(8):743-54



#### Abstract

**Background:** Characteristics of the uterine and umbilical artery blood flow patterns are indirect measures of uteroplacental circulation. We examined whether uterine and umbilical artery resistance indices are influenced by maternal demographic and lifestyle characteristics, track from the second trimester to the third, and are associated with the risk of pregnancy complications.

**Methods:** This analysis was embedded among 7660 pregnant women in the Generation R Study (Rotterdam, the Netherlands, 2001–2005). Placental resistance indices were assessed in the second and third trimesters. Information about pregnancy outcomes was obtained from medical records.

**Results:** Maternal characteristics affected second- and third-trimester placental resistance indices. Correlation coefficients for correlation between the second and third trimesters were 0.50 and 0.32 for uterine artery resistance index and umbilical artery pulsatility index, respectively. Higher placental resistance indices in the second and third trimesters and persistence in the highest tertile of uterine artery resistance index from the second trimester to the third were associated with the risks of pre-eclampsia, preterm birth, and small size for gestational age at birth (all P-values <0.05).

**Conclusions:** Our study shows that placental resistance indices are influenced by maternal demographic and lifestyle characteristics and track moderately from the second trimester to the third. Increased placental resistance indices in the second and third trimesters are associated with increased risks of adverse pregnancy outcomes.

#### Introduction

Gestational hypertensive disorders and fetal growth restriction are important causes of maternal and fetal morbidity and mortality.<sup>1-3</sup> Abnormal early placentation might be involved in the underlying mechanisms.<sup>4</sup> Abnormal early placentation can lead to higher uterine and umbilical artery resistance patterns, which can be measured by Doppler wave forms.<sup>5–7</sup> Abnormal uterine artery and umbilical artery wave forms in midpregnancy indicate impaired uteroplacental and fetoplacental circulation and have been associated with pre-eclampsia and fetal growth retardation.<sup>6–9</sup> However, some studies have suggested that uteroplacental blood flow and resistance patterns change during the second and third trimesters and that assessment of uteroplacental circulation early in the third trimester might be more important for prediction of pregnancy outcomes.<sup>10,11</sup> Thus far, not much is known about the development of placental resistance indices from the second trimester onwards or whether this is influenced by maternal characteristics. In addition, it is not known whether placental resistance indices track during pregnancy. Tracking can be used to describe the longitudinal development of a variable and focuses on the maintenance of one's relative position in a distribution of values over time.<sup>12</sup>

Therefore, in a population-based prospective cohort study among 7660 pregnant women, we examined whether uterine and umbilical artery resistance indices are influenced by maternal demographic and lifestyle characteristics, whether they track from the second trimester to the third, and whether they are associated with the risk of maternal and fetal pregnancy complications.

#### Materials and Methods

#### Study design

This analysis was embedded in the Generation R Study, a population-based prospective cohort study that included women from early pregnancy onwards in Rotterdam, the Netherlands.<sup>13</sup> The study was approved by the Medical Ethical Committee of Erasmus Medical Center in Rotterdam. Written consent was obtained from all participating women. All pregnant women were enrolled between 2001 and 2005. The Generation R Study is a birth cohort study involving prenatal recruitment. Estimation of the precise number of eligible pregnant women is difficult, since there is no satisfactory registry of pregnancies. Therefore, the overall response rate of the study was calculated at birth, as the children formed a prenatally recruited birth cohort. The response rate at birth was 61% and reflected the number of children born to mothers living in the study area at their delivery date and participating in the study as a percentage of the total number of children born to mothers who fulfilled these eligibility criteria. In total, 9778 women were enrolled in the study. Of these women, 91% (n = 8880) were enrolled during pregnancy. For the present study, we excluded women without any placental resistance

index measurements (n = 1155) and restricted our analyses to low-risk pregnancies. Thus, the cohort for analysis comprised 7660 pregnant women (Figure 3.1.1).



Figure 3.1.1. Flow chart of the participants

#### Maternal socio-demographic and lifestyle-related variables

Gestational age was established by fetal ultrasonography during the first ultrasound visit.<sup>13</sup> Maternal age was assessed at enrollment. During all prenatal visits (all 3 trimesters), maternal anthropometric characteristics were measured at one of the research centers. Height (cm) and weight (kg) were measured without shoes and heavy clothing, and body mass index (weight  $(kg)/height (m)^2$ ) was calculated for each pregnancy period. We defined gestational weight gain as the difference between weight before pregnancy and weight in the third trimester. Information on educational level, ethnicity, parity, and use of folic acid supplements was obtained at enrollment. Information about smoking and alcohol consumption was assessed by questionnaire in each trimester.13

#### Placental hemodynamic function

Placental vascular resistance was evaluated with recorded flow velocity wave forms from the uterine and umbilical arteries in the second and third trimesters.<sup>14</sup> A raised uterine artery resistance index and umbilical artery pulsatility index indicate increased placental resistance.<sup>7</sup> Uterine artery resistance index was measured in the uterine arteries near the crossover with the external iliac artery. Umbilical artery pulsatility index was measured in a free-floating loop of the umbilical cord. For each measurement, 3 consecutive uniform wave forms were recorded by pulsed Doppler ultrasound, during fetal apnea and without fetal movement. The mean of 3 measurements was used for further analysis. The presence of notching was assessed in the uterine arteries and reflects an abnormal wave form resulting from increased blood flow resistance. Ultrasound measurements were performed in a blinded fashion with regard to previous measurements and pregnancy outcomes. Since placental resistance indices were measurements were available for a subgroup of women. Of the 8880 prenatally enrolled women, 7725 (87%) women received placental resistance index measurements.

#### Gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia

Information on pregnancy complications was obtained from medical records. For women who had suspected pregnancy complications on the basis of these records, the records were cross-checked with the original hospital charts. These procedures have been described in detail elsewhere.<sup>15</sup> Briefly, gestational hypertension was defined as development of systolic blood pressure  $\geq$ 140 mmHg and/ or diastolic blood pressure  $\geq$ 90 mmHg after 20 weeks of gestation in previously normotensive women. These criteria, plus the presence of proteinuria (defined as 2 or more dipstick readings of 2+ or greater, 1 catheter sample reading of 1+ or greater, or a 24-hour urine collection containing at least 300 mg of protein), were used to identify women with pre-eclampsia.<sup>16</sup>

#### Delivery and birth complications

Gestational age at birth, birth weight, and offspring sex were obtained from midwife and hospital registries at birth.<sup>13</sup> Preterm birth was defined as a gestational age of <37 weeks at birth (median: 35.7 weeks; range: 24.9 – 36.8 weeks). Gestational-ageadjusted standard deviation scores for birth weight were constructed using growth standards from Niklasson et al.<sup>17</sup> Small size for gestational age at birth was defined as a gestational-age-adjusted birth weight below the fifth percentile in the study cohort (less than –1.77 standard deviations).<sup>13</sup>

#### Statistical analysis

We performed a nonresponse analysis to examine whether maternal characteristics differed among women with and without placental resistance index measurements. Using unbalanced repeated measurement regression models, we analyzed the longitudinal uterine artery and umbilical artery resistance patterns in women with uncomplicated pregnancies and women with complicated pregnancies. For this analysis, we defined a complicated pregnancy as a pregnancy complicated by either gestational hypertensive disorders or preterm delivery or delivery of a small for gestational age (SGA) infant. The models are described in detail in the Supplementary Material. Next, we examined the associations of maternal characteristics with uterine artery resistance index and umbilical artery pulsatility index using multivariate linear regression models and with the presence of third-trimester notching using logistic regression models. For these analyses, we standardized uterine artery resistance index and umbilical artery pulsatility index values by dividing the original values by their corresponding standard deviations. To examine whether placental resistance indices track from the second trimester to the third, we estimated Pearson's correlation coefficients. We subsequently categorized uterine artery resistance index and umbilical artery pulsatility index in tertiles in the second and third trimesters and used logistic regression models to calculate the odds ratio for remaining in the same placental resistance index tertile from the second trimester to the third. In these analyses, the third-trimester placental resistance index tertile was the dependent variable and the second-trimester placental resistance index tertile was the independent variable. We further examined the associations of placental resistance indices in the second and third trimesters, the change in these indices during this period, and the presence of notching with the risks of gestational hypertension, pre-eclampsia, preterm birth, and delivering an SGA infant using multiple logistic regression models. These models were adjusted for potential confounders.

Missing data on the covariates were imputed using multiple imputation. The percentages of missing values within the population for analysis were lower than 20%, except for gestational weight gain (21.8%) and use of folic acid supplements (25.4%). The repeated-measurement analysis was performed using the Statistical Analysis System, version 9.2 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, North Carolina), including the Proc Mixed module for unbalanced repeated measurements. All other analyses were performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences, version 17.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, Illinois).

#### Results

#### Subject characteristics

Characteristics of the included women are shown in **Table 3.1.1**. In total, 271 (3.5%) and 150 (2.0%) women developed gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia, respectively,

and 382 (5.0%) and 380 (5.0%) children were born preterm and SGA, respectively. Nonresponse analysis showed that women without placental resistance index measurements weighed slightly more and were more frequently less educated and of non-European descent (**Supplementary Table S3.1.1**). Uterine artery resistance index and umbilical artery pulsatility index decreased from the second trimester onwards in both uncomplicated and complicated pregnancies (**Supplementary Figure S3.1.1**).

		Median		
Characteristics	Mean (SD)	(90% range)	No.	%
Maternal characteristics				
Age, years		30.3 (20.4, 37.9)		
Height, cm	167.1 (7.4)			
Prepregnancy weight, kg	66.1 (12.7)			
Prepregnancy Body Mass Index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	23.6 (4.3)			
Gestational age at subject's enrolment, weeks		14.2 (10.9, 22.9)		
Education				
Primary			790	11.2
Secondary			3239	46.1
Higher			3006	42.7
Race / Ethnicity				
Dutch or European			4163	58.2
Non-European			2991	41.8
Parity, No. nulliparous			4257	56.2
Folic acid supplement use				
Yes			4093	71.6
No			1627	28.4
Smoking				
Yes			1702	25.8
No			4906	74.2
Alcohol consumption				
Yes			3395	51.1
No			3251	48.9
Mean uterine artery resistance index				
Second trimester	0.54 (0.09)			
Third trimester	0.49 (0.08)			
Mean umbilical artery pulsatility index				
Second trimester	1.20 (0.19)			
Third trimester	0.98 (0.17)			
Maternal pregnancy complications				
Gestational hypertension			271	3.5
Pre-eclampsia			150	2.0
Delivery and child characteristics				
Males			3895	50.8
Gestational age, weeks		40,1 (36,9, 42.0)		
Preterm birth		, ,,	382	5.0
Birth Weight, g	3416 (558)			
Small for gestational age			380	5.0

**Table 3.1.1.** Characteristics of mothers and their children in the Generation R Study  $(n = 7660)^{1}$ 

Abbreviations: SD, standard deviation; No., number of subjects.

<sup>1</sup>Values represent mean (SD), median (90% range) or number of subjects (%).

	Uterine ar	tery RI (SD) <sup>1</sup>			Umbilical art	ery PI (SD) <sup>1</sup>			Notching <sup>2</sup>		
	Second tri	mester	Third trime	ster	Second trim	ester	Third trimest	er	Third trimeste		
	n = 4578		n = 4480		n = 6142		n = 6669		n = 4738		
Maternal risk factors	Beta	95% CI	Beta	95% CI	Beta	95% CI	Beta	95% CI	OR	95% CI	
Age <sup>3</sup> , yrs	0.03	-0.01, 0.06	0.10*	0.07, 0.14	-0.03	-0.06, 0.001	0.11	-0.02, 0.04	0.81*	0.72, 0.91	
<sup>p</sup> repregnancy body mass index <sup>3</sup> ,											
<pre><g m<sup="">2 (SD)</g></pre>	0.01	-0.03, 0.05	0.04*	0.01, 0.07	0.03	0, 0.06	0.01	-0.02, 0.03	0.99	0.88, 1.10	
Gestational weight gain <sup>3</sup> , kg	-0.02	-0.05, 0.001	0.01	-0.02, 0.03	0.002	-0.02, 0.02	-0.02*	-0.04, 0	0.94	0.87, 1.01	
Education											
Primary	0.11	-0.004, 0.23	0.15*	0.02, 0.28	0.02	-0.08, 0.12	0.05	-0.06, 0.15	1.14	0.77, 1.67	
Secondary	0.06	-0.02, 0.13	0.06	-0.02, 0.13	0.07*	0.01, 0.13	0.05	-0.02, 0.11	0.98	0.76, 1.26	
Higher	Reference		Reference		Reference		Reference		Reference		
Ethnicity											
Dutch or European	Reference		Reference		Reference		Reference		Reference		
Non-European	0.03	-0.04, 0.10	0.05	-0.03, 0.13	0.07*	0.01, 0.13	0.01	-0.06, 0.07	1.30*	1.02, 1.67	
arity											
Nulliparous	Reference		Reference		Reference		Reference		Reference		
Multiparous	0.07*	0.01, 0.13	*60.0	0.02, 0.15	-0.13*	-0.18, -0.08	-0.07*	-0.13, -0.02	0.66*	0.53, 0.83	
<sup>-</sup> olic acid supplement use											
No	Reference		Reference		Reference		Reference		Reference		
Yes	-0.19*	-0.27, -0.10	-0.10*	-0.19, -0.02	-0.06	-0.12, 0.01	-0.03	-0.10, 0.04	0.81	0.62, 1.05	
smoking											
No	Reference		Reference		Reference		Reference		Reference		
Yes	0.02	-0.06, 0.10	0.08	0, 0.16	0.14*	0.08, 0.20	0.13*	0.08, 0.19	0.95	0.75, 1.20	
Alcohol											
No	Reference		Reference		Reference		Reference		Reference		
Yes	0.04	-0.03, 0.11	-0.02	-0.09, 0.05	0.01	-0.05, 0.07	-0.04	-0.10, 0.01	1.11	0.87, 1.40	
Abbreviations: OR; Odds Ratio, Cl; Co	nfidence Inte	erval; SD, standar	d deviation; F	<ol> <li>resistance inc</li> </ol>	łex; PI, pulsati	lity index.					

**Table 3.1.2.** Maternal characteristics and placental resistance indices in the Generation R Study (n = 7660)

deviation) per standard deviation change of the risk factor. For categorical variables or dichotomous variables, the effect estimates represent the difference in placental resistance indices (in <sup>1</sup>Values are multivariate linear regression coefficients and 95% Confidence Intervals. For continuous variables, estimates reflect the difference in the placental resistance indices (in standard standard deviation), compared to reference group. Estimates are based on multiple imputed data: <sup>3</sup>Values are Odds Ratios and 95% Confidence Intervals. For continuous variables, estimates reflect the difference in risk of notching per standard deviation change of the risk factor. For categorical variables or dichotomous variables, the effect estimates reflect difference in risk of notching compared to reference group. Estimates are based on multiple imputed data. <sup>3</sup>A 1 standard deviation change in maternal age corresponded to a change of 5.3 years. A 1 standard deviation change in prepregnancy body mass index corresponded to a change of 4.3 units. A 1 standard deviation change in gestational weight gain corresponded to a change of 5.1 kg. \*P < 0.05.

#### Maternal characteristics and placental hemodynamic indices

In the multivariate analyses, multiparity and no folic acid supplement use were associated with a slightly higher second-trimester uterine artery resistance index (**Table 3.1.2**). Higher maternal age, higher prepregnancy body mass index, lower maternal educational level, multiparity, and no folic acid supplement use were associated with a slightly higher third-trimester uterine artery resistance index (all P-values <0.05). Lower maternal educational level, non-European ethnicity, nulliparity, and maternal smoking were associated with higher second-trimester umbilical artery pulsatility index, whereas lower gestational weight gain, nulliparity, and maternal smoking during pregnancy were associated with a higher third-trimester umbilical artery pulsatility index (all P-values <0.05). Higher maternal age and multiparity were associated with a lower risk of notching (Odds Ratio (OR) 0.81 (95% Confidence Interval (CI): 0.72, 0.91) per standarddeviation change in maternal age and OR 0.66 (95% CI: 0.53, 0.83) for multiparity as compared with nulliparity).

	Third tri	imeste	r tertiles										
Second	First				Second				Third				
trimester	No.				No.				No.				Total
tertiles	tertiles	%	OR	95% CI	tertiles	%	OR	95% CI	tertiles	%	OR	95% CI	n
Uterine													
artery RI													
First	567	57.6	4.47*	3.78, 5.28	286	29.1	0.72*	0.61, 0.85	131	13.3	0.23*	0.19, 0.28	984
Second	309	33.5	0.90	0.77, 1.06	385	41.8	1.72*	1.47, 2.04	228	24.7	0.62*	0.52, 0.74	922
Third	124	13.4	0.18*	0.14, 0.22	280	30.3	0.79*	0.67, 0.94	520	56.3	5.72*	4.79, 6.83	924
Total n	1000				951				879				2830
Umbilical													
artery PI													
First	879	48.4	2.63*	2.32, 2.96	574	31.6	0.95	0.84, 1.08	364	20.0	0.36*	0.31, 0.41	1817
Second	544	32.2	0.88*	0.78, 0.99	567	33.6	1.08	0.95, 1.22	575	34.1	1.06	0.94, 1.20	1686
Third	360	21.1	0.39*	0.34, 0.44	551	32.3	0.98	0.86, 1.10	797	46.7	2.44*	2.16, 2.76	1708
Total n	1783				1692				1736				5211

Table 3.1.3. Tracking of placental resistance indices from second to third trimester in the Generation R Study<sup>1,2</sup>

Abbreviations: No. tertiles, number of women that remain in the same tertile; %, percentage of women that remain in the same tertile; OR, Odds Ratio; CI, Confidence Interval; RI, resistance index; PI, pulsatility index.

<sup>1</sup>Values are Odds Ratio (95% Confidence Interval) (number and percentage of women that remain in the same tertile) to remain in the same tertile of uterine artery resistance index and umbilical artery pulsatility index from second to third trimester. Estimates are from multiple imputed data. <sup>2</sup>Model was adjusted for gestational age at subject's enrolment, gestational age in each pregnancy period, maternal age, educational level, parity, ethnicity, prepregnancy body mass index, smoking habits, alcohol consumption and folic acid supplement use. \*P-value <0.05.

#### Tracking of placental hemodynamic indices

Pearson's correlation coefficients for correlation between the second trimester and the third trimester were 0.50 and 0.32 for uterine artery resistance index and umbilical artery pulsatility index, respectively. We observed similar effect estimates when we calculated the correlation based on intraclass correlation coefficients from the longitudinal models (0.49 and 0.31 for uterine artery resistance index and umbilical artery pulsatility index, respectively). The specific scatterplots are given in **Supplementary** 

**Figure S3.1.2**. **Table 3.1.3** shows that for uterine artery resistance index, approximately 56% of the women who were in the highest tertile in the second trimester remained in the highest tertile in the third trimester, while approximately 30% and 13% ended up in the middle and lowest tertiles, respectively. Fewer women remained in the same tertile of umbilical artery pulsatility index. The ORs for staying in the upper tertile from the second trimester to the third trimester were 5.72 (95% CI: 4.79, 6.83) for uterine artery resistance index and 2.44 (95% CI: 2.16, 2.76) for umbilical artery pulsatility index.

**Table 3.1.4**. Placental resistance indices and the risks of maternal and fetal pregnancy complications in the Generation R Study (n = 7432)<sup>1,2</sup>

	Gestatio	onal					Small fo	or
	hyperte	ension	Pre-ec	lampsia	Preter	m birth	gestatio	onal age
Pregnancy period	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI
Second trimester								
Uterine artery RI	1.02	0.85, 1.21	1.61*	1.32, 1.96	1.67*	1.46, 1.90	1.45*	1.27, 1.65
Umbilical artery PI	1.16*	1.00, 1.33	1.22*	1.02, 1.46	1.10	0.97, 1.23	1.28*	1.14, 1.43
Third trimester								
Uterine artery RI	0.93	0.78, 1.10	1.87*	1.54, 2.27	1.84*	1.61, 2.09	1.66*	1.46, 1.89
Umbilical artery PI	1.03	0.89, 1.18	1.38*	1.17, 1.62	1.22*	1.09, 1.36	1.56*	1.40, 1.73
Unilateral notching	1.51	0.85, 2.68	3.15*	1.67, 5.91	3.12*	2.10, 4.61	3.43*	2.36, 4.97
Bilateral notching	3.90*	2.07, 7.30	8.51*	4.46, 16.19	4.23*	2.56, 6.97	4.17*	2.54, 6.82
Second to third								
trimester change								
Uterine artery RI	1.11	0.88, 1.38	1.21	0.91, 1.61	1.14	0.94, 1.38	1.07	0.86, 1.25
Umbilical artery PI	0.94	0.80.1.10	1.22	0.99, 1.50	1.05	0.92. 1.21	1.13	0.99, 1.28

Abbreviations: OR, Odds Ratio; CI, Confidence Interval; RI, resistance index, PI; pulsatility index.

<sup>1</sup>Values are Odds Ratios and 95% Confidence Intervals that reflect the difference in risks of pregnancy complications per standard deviation change in placental resistance indices in second and third trimester and between the two trimesters. For notching, Odds Ratios and 95% Confidence Interval reflect the difference in risks of pregnancy complication, as compared to no notching. Estimates are from multiple imputed data. <sup>2</sup>Model was adjusted for gestational age at subject's enrolment, gestational age at each pregnancy period, maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, prepregnancy body mass index, smoking habits, alcohol consumption and folic acid supplement use. \*P-value <0.05.

#### Placental hemodynamic indices and pregnancy complications

**Table 3.1.4** shows that second- and third-trimester uterine artery resistance indices were not associated with the risk of gestational hypertension. Second-trimester uterine artery resistance index and umbilical artery pulsatility index were associated with the risk of pre-eclampsia (OR 1.61 (95% CI: 1.32, 1.96) and OR 1.22 (95% CI: 1.02, 1.46) per standard-deviation change in resistance index, respectively). Second-trimester uterine artery resistance index, but not umbilical artery pulsatility index, was associated with the risk of preterm birth (OR 1.67 (95% CI: 1.46, 1.90) per standard-deviation change in resistance index). Second-trimester uterine artery resistance index). Second-trimester uterine artery resistance index and umbilical artery pulsatility index were associated with the risk of delivering an SGA infant (OR 1.45 (95% CI: 1.27, 1.65) and OR 1.28 (95% CI: 1.14, 1.43) per standard-deviation change in resistance index, respectively). Stronger associations were observed for all outcomes in the third trimester.

Women who remained in the highest uterine artery resistance index tertile from the second trimester to the third trimester had the highest risk of all adverse pregnancy outcomes (**Figure 3.1.2**). Persistence in the highest umbilical artery pulsatility index tertile from the second trimester to the third was associated with risk of delivering an SGA infant (**Figure 3.1.3**). As compared with no third-trimester notching, unilateral notching was associated with the risks of pre-eclampsia, preterm birth, and delivering an SGA infant (OR 3.15 (95% CI: 1.67, 5.91), OR 3.12 (95% CI: 2.10, 4.61), and OR 3.43 (95% CI: 2.36, 4.97), respectively) (**Table 3.1.4**). Bilateral notching was more strongly associated with the risks of these pregnancy complications (all P-values <0.01).

Figure 3.1.2. Association between change in uterine artery resistance index tertile from the second trimester to the third and the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes in the Generation R Study



Odds Ratios (95% Confidence Intervals) reflect the risks of gestational hypertension (A), pre-eclampsia (B), preterm birth (C), and delivering a small for gestational age (SGA) infant (D) for each change in uterine artery resistance index tertile from the second trimester to the third trimester, as compared with persistence in the lowest uterine artery resistance index tertile from the second trimester to the third. Diamonds represent the first tertile of third-trimester uterine artery resistance index, squares represent the second tertile, and circles represent the third tertile. Estimates were derived from multiple imputed data. Models included adjustment for gestational age at subject's enrollment, gestational age in each pregnancy period, maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, prepregnancy body mass index, smoking habits, alcohol consumption, and use of folic acid supplements.



Figure 3.1.3. Association between change in umbilical artery pulsatility index tertile from the second trimester to the third and the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes in the Generation R Study

Odds Ratios (95% Confidence Intervals) reflect the risks of gestational hypertension (A), pre-eclampsia (B), preterm birth (C), and delivering a small for gestational age (SGA) infant (D) for each change in umbilical artery pulsatility index tertile from the second trimester to the third trimester, as compared with persistence in the lowest umbilical artery pulsatility index tertile from the second trimester to the third. Diamonds represent the first tertile of third-trimester umbilical artery pulsatility index, squares represent the second tertile, and circles represent the third tertile. Estimates were derived from multiple imputed data. Models included adjustment for gestational age at subject's enrollment, gestational age in each pregnancy period, maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, prepregnancy body mass index, smoking habits, alcohol consumption, and use of folic acid supplements.

#### Discussion

Results from this prospective population-based cohort study showed that placental resistance indices are influenced by maternal demographic and lifestyle characteristics. Uterine artery resistance index tracks moderately from the second trimester to the third trimester, whereas umbilical artery pulsatility index tracks poorly from the second

trimester to the third. Increased placental resistance indices in the second and third trimesters are associated with increased risks of adverse pregnancy outcomes.

#### Methodological limitations

One of the strengths of this study was the prospective data collection from early pregnancy onwards. We had a large sample size of 7660 participants with 9058 uterine artery resistance index measurements and 12.811 umbilical artery pulsatility index measurements. The response rate at baseline for participation in the study was 61%. The response rate reflects the number of children born to mothers living in the study area on their delivery date and participating in the study as a percentage of the total number of children born to mothers who fulfilled these eligibility criteria. The percentages of women from ethnic minority groups and of lower socioeconomic status were slightly lower than expected from the population figures in Rotterdam.<sup>13</sup> Furthermore, placental resistance index measurements were performed in 87% of prenatally enrolled women, as measurements were performed at only 1 of the 2 research centers. Nonresponse analyses showed that women without placental resistance index measurements tended to be less educated and of non-European descent and had higher body mass indices. Additionally, adverse pregnancy outcomes were more often present in women without placental resistance index measurements. Non-response would lead to biased effect estimates if the selection mechanisms were related to both the determinant and the outcome, and the associations would be different between persons included in the analyses and those not included. However, this seems unlikely, as selection on outcome is unlikely because of the prospective nature of this study and because biased estimates in large cohort studies arise mainly from loss to follow-up rather than from non-response at baseline.<sup>18</sup> The non-response might have led to selection of a more affluent and relatively healthy population and might have affected the generalizability of our results. Furthermore, we had a relatively small number of cases of gestational hypertension, pre-eclampsia and preterm birth, which might indicate selection towards a healthy, low-risk population. This might influence the generalizability of our results to the general population. It might be of interest to perform similar analyses in a high-risk population. Detailed information about a large number of maternal sociodemographic and lifestyle-related factors was available in this study. However, because of the observational design, residual confounding due to other socio-demographic and lifestyle-related determinants might still be an issue. Ultrasound measurements were performed in a blinded fashion with regard to previous measurements. In addition, because of the prospective nature of the study, pregnancy outcomes were not known at the time of the ultrasound measurements. Therefore, it is unlikely that there was information bias due to knowledge of prior measurements or pregnancy outcome. Finally, several different outcomes were studied: gestational hypertension, preeclampsia, preterm birth, and SGA birth. Since these outcomes are strongly related, we did not perform adjustment for multiple testing.

#### Influence of maternal characteristics on development of placental resistance indices

Characteristics of uterine artery and umbilical artery blood flow patterns are indirect measures of uteroplacental circulation. During the first half of pregnancy, there is a linear decrease in uterine artery and umbilical artery resistance and a significant decrease in the prevalence of notching, which is in line with the physiological changes that occur in early and mid-pregnancy during placentation.<sup>7,19,20</sup> Few studies have examined the development of placental resistance indices from the second trimester onwards. Our study shows that the uterine artery resistance index and umbilical artery pulsatility index decrease from the second trimester onwards, which is in line with the previous findings.<sup>11,21,22</sup> The continued decline in placental resistance indices might be explained by slowly continued trophoblastic invasion and maternal hemodynamic adaptations.<sup>11,21,23</sup>

Several maternal demographic and lifestyle characteristics have been associated with adverse pregnancy outcomes. The influence of these characteristics on uteroplacental circulation might partly explain the suggested associations. Higher maternal age, lower maternal educational level, and non-European descent tended to be associated with slightly higher uterine artery and umbilical artery resistance indices from the second trimester onwards, but results were not consistent. Furthermore, we observed that parity, use of folic acid supplements, and maternal smoking during pregnancy consistently influenced placental resistance indices. Multiparity was associated with higher second- and third-trimester uterine artery resistance indices but with lower umbilical artery pulsatility indices. The mechanisms explaining these associations are not known. Use of folic acid supplements during pregnancy was associated with lower second- and third-trimester uterine artery resistance indices, but not with umbilical artery pulsatility indices. It has been suggested that folate might influence trophoblastic invasion of the spiral arteries and placentation,<sup>24,25</sup> which might partly explain the observed lower impedance in uterine arteries among women who used folic acid supplements.<sup>24</sup> In our study, maternal smoking was not associated with uterine artery resistance index when corrected for the other maternal characteristics, but it was associated with higher umbilical artery pulsatility indices in the second and third trimesters. Similarly, in a study among 2459 nulliparous women, Kho et al.<sup>26</sup> reported that maternal smoking during pregnancy was associated with higher umbilical artery pulsatility index levels in the second trimester but not with uterine artery resistance index levels after adjustment for confounders. It has been suggested that maternal smoking might have a larger influence on vasculature in the placental villi and a smaller impact on the uteroplacental blood supply, which could partly explain the observed effects.<sup>26</sup>

#### Tracking of placental resistance indices and the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes

Many studies have examined the predictive accuracy of placental resistance indices for the prediction of gestational hypertensive disorders and fetal growth restriction.<sup>8,27</sup> Our study shows that uterine artery resistance index tracks moderately from the second

trimester to the third trimester, whereas umbilical artery pulsatility index tracks poorly from the second trimester to the third. Accordingly, a study of 3107 pregnancies showed that among normal pregnancies starting with a high uterine artery pulsatility index in the first trimester, there is normalization of the pulsatility index with advancing gestation, indicating that uterine artery pulsatility index tracks poorly in normal pregnancies.<sup>28</sup> In this latter study, the uterine artery pulsatility index remained high from the first trimester to the second trimester only among pregnancies leading to pre-eclampsia.<sup>28</sup>

Several studies have shown that increased placental resistance indices measured in either the first, second, or third trimester are associated with increased risks of adverse pregnancy outcomes.<sup>10,29–33</sup> These studies used cutoff values for abnormal placental resistance indices and did not assess the associations of small variations in placental resistance indices with adverse outcomes. We found that already small variations in placental resistance indices in a low-risk population are associated with the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes. In addition, it has been shown that persistence of the placental resistance indices above the 90<sup>th</sup> or 95<sup>th</sup> percentile from the first trimester to the second or from the second trimester to the third is associated with the risk of pre-eclampsia and fetal growth restriction, which is in line with observations in our study.<sup>19,33</sup> The association between placental resistance indices and the risk of gestational hypertension remains controversial, as only some studies have found an association.

Several authors have reported that women with unilateral and bilateral notches in the second trimester have a high risk of developing pregnancy complications.<sup>29,34</sup> A study among 1022 women that assessed notching at approximately 20 weeks of gestation showed that women with bilateral notches have a strongly increased risk of preeclampsia, preterm delivery, and delivering an SGA infant.<sup>29</sup> We assessed notching early in the third trimester and found strong associations of unilateral and bilateral notching with the risk of these adverse pregnancy outcomes.

Most studies that examined the predictive accuracy of uterine artery resistance index and umbilical artery pulsatility index have suggested that among low-risk populations, the predictive accuracy of placental resistance measurements is not sufficient for clinical practice.<sup>9,27,35</sup> In line with these findings, we observed moderate tracking of the placental resistance indices in our study population. As compared with umbilical artery pulsatility index, uterine artery resistance index tracked better and was more strongly associated with the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes. Therefore, uterine artery resistance index might be a more useful measurement for the prediction of adverse pregnancy outcomes. In addition, notching in the uterine artery might be a good measure for prediction of adverse pregnancy outcomes. Further research to examine tracking of the placental resistance indices among high-risk populations and to examine the predictive value of notching is necessary.

#### Conclusion

This study showed that uterine artery resistance index tracks moderately from the second trimester to the third trimester, whereas umbilical artery pulsatility index tracks poorly from the second trimester to the third. These placental resistance indices are influenced by maternal demographic and lifestyle characteristics and are associated with increased risks of adverse pregnancy outcomes. Further research is needed to assess the predictive accuracy of placental resistance index measurements and to assess the effects of small variations in placental resistance indices on fetal growth and childhood growth and development.

#### References

- Khan KS, Wojdyla D, Say L, et al. WHO analysis of causes of maternal death: a systematic review. Lancet. 2006; 367(9516):1066–1074.
- 2. Duley L. The global impact of pre-eclampsia and eclampsia. Semin Perinatol. 2009;33(3):130–137.
- Pallotto EK, Kilbride HW. Perinatal outcome and later implications of intrauterine growth restriction. Clin Obstet Gynecol. 2006;49(2):257–269.
- 4. Steegers EA, von Dadelszen P, Duvekot JJ, et al. Pre-eclampsia. Lancet. 2010;376(9741):631-644.
- Pijnenborg R, Vercruysse L, Hanssens M. The uterine spiral arteries in human pregnancy: facts and controversies. Placenta. 2006;27(9-10):939–958.
- Tuuli MG, Odibo AO. First- and second-trimester screening for pre-eclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction. Clin Lab Med. 2010;30(3):727–746.
- 7. Baschat AA, Hecher K. Fetal growth restriction due to placental disease. Semin Perinatol. 2004;28(1):67–80.
- 8. Cnossen JS, Morris RK, ter Riet G, et al. Use of uterine artery Doppler ultrasonography to predict pre-eclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction: a systematic review and bivariable meta-analysis. CMAJ. 2008;178(6):701–711.
- Harrington K, Fayyad A, Thakur V, et al. The value of uterine artery Doppler in the prediction of uteroplacental complications in multiparous women. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2004;23(1):50–55.
- Cooley SM, Donnelly JC, Walsh T, et al. The impact of umbilical and uterine artery Doppler indices on antenatal course, labor and delivery in a low-risk primigravid population. J Perinat Med. 2011;39(2):143–149.
- 11. Gomez O, Figueras F, Fernandez S, et al. Reference ranges for uterine artery mean pulsatility index at 11–41 weeks of gestation. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2008; 32(2):128–132.
- 12. Twisk JWR. Applied Longitudinal Data Analyses for Epidemiology: A Practical Guide. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press; 2003.
- 13. Jaddoe VW, van Duijn CM, Franco OH, et al. The Generation R Study: design and cohort update 2012. Eur J Epidemiol. 2012;27(9):739–756.
- 14. Verburg BO, Jaddoe VW, Wladimiroff JW, et al. Fetal hemodynamic adaptive changes related to intrauterine growth: the Generation R Study. Circulation. 2008;117(5):649–659.
- 15. Coolman M, de Groot CJ, Jaddoe VW, et al. Medical record validation of maternally reported history of pre-eclampsia. J Clin Epidemiol. 2010;63(8):932–937.
- Brown MA, Lindheimer MD, de Swiet M, et al. The classification and diagnosis of the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: statement from the International Society for the Study of Hypertension in Pregnancy (ISSHP). Hypertens Pregnancy. 2001;20(1):IX–XIV.
- 17. Niklasson A, Ericson A, Fryer JG, et al. An update of the Swedish reference standards for weight, length and head circumference at birth for given gestational age (1977–1981). Acta Paediatr Scand. 1991;80(8-9):756–762.
- Nohr EA, Frydenberg M, Henriksen TB, et al. Does low participation in cohort studies induce bias? Epidemiology. 2006;17(4):413–418.
- 19. Gomez O, Figueras F, Martinez JM, et al. Sequential changes in uterine artery blood flow pattern between the first and second trimesters of gestation in relation to pregnancy outcome. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2006;28(6):802–808.
- Deurloo KL, Spreeuwenberg MD, Bolte AC, et al. Color Doppler ultrasound of spiral artery blood flow for prediction of hypertensive disorders and intra uterine growth restriction: a longitudinal study. Prenat Diagn. 2007;27(11):1011–1016.
- 21. Murakoshi T, Sekizuka N, Takakuwa K, et al. Uterine and spiral artery flow velocity waveforms in pregnancy-induced hypertension and/or intrauterine growth retardation. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 1996;7(2):122–128.
- 22. Konje JC, Abrams KR, Taylor DJ. Normative values of Doppler velocimetry of five major fetal arteries as determined by color power angiography. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2005;84(4):230–237.

- 23. Pijnenborg R, Anthony J, Davey DA, et al. Placental bed spiral arteries in the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. Br J Obstet Gynaecol. 1991;98(7):648–655.
- 24. Timmermans S, Jaddoe VW, Silva LM, et al. Folic acid is positively associated with uteroplacental vascular resistance: the Generation R study. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2011; 21(1):54–61.
- Steegers-Theunissen RP, Smith SC, Steegers EA, et al. Folate affects apoptosis in human trophoblastic cells. BJOG. 2000;107(12):1513–1515.
- Kho EM, North RA, Chan E, et al. Changes in Doppler flow velocity waveforms and fetal size at 20 weeks gestation among cigarette smokers. BJOG. 2009;116(10):1300–1306.
- 27. North RA, McCowan LM, Dekker GA, et al. Clinical risk prediction for pre-eclampsia in nulliparous women: development of model in international prospective cohort. BMJ. 2011;342:d1875.
- Plasencia W, Maiz N, Poon L, et al. Uterine artery Doppler at 11 + 0 to 13 + 6 weeks and 21 + 0 to 24 + 6 weeks in the prediction of pre-eclampsia. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2008;32(2):138–146.
- 29. Kurdi W, Campbell S, Aquilina J, et al. The role of color Doppler imaging of the uterine arteries at 20 weeks' gestation in stratifying antenatal care. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 1998;12(5):339–345.
- Gomez O, Martinez JM, Figueras F, et al. Uterine artery Doppler at 11–14 weeks of gestation to screen for hypertensive disorders and associated complications in an unselected population. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2005; 26(5):490–494.
- 31. Coleman MA, McCowan LM, North RA. Mid-trimester uterine artery Doppler screening as a predictor of adverse pregnancy outcome in high-risk women. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2000;15(1):7–12.
- Lovgren TR, Dugoff L, Galan HL. Uterine artery Doppler and prediction of pre-eclampsia. Clin Obstet Gynecol. 2010; 53(4):888–898.
- Groom KM, North RA, Stone PR, et al. Patterns of change in uterine artery Doppler studies between 20 and 24 weeks of gestation and pregnancy outcomes. Obstet Gynecol. 2009; 113(2):332–338.
- Harrington K, Cooper D, Lees C, et al. Doppler ultrasound of the uterine arteries: the importance of bilateral notching in the prediction of pre-eclampsia, placental abruption or delivery of a small-for-gestational-age baby. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 1996;7(3):182–188.
- 35. North RA, Ferrier C, Long D, et al. Uterine artery Doppler flow velocity waveforms in the second trimester for the prediction of pre-eclampsia and fetal growth retardation. Obstet Gynecol. 1994;83(3):378–386.

#### Supplementary Material

Supplementary Methods S3.1.1. Placental resistance indices development in uncomplicated and complicated pregnancies

The associations between pregnancy complications and placental resistance indices were analysed using unbalanced repeated-measurements regression analysis assuming random effects for the intercept and slope (1,2). These regression models enable studies on repeatedly measured outcomes, taking account for the correlation between measurements and have an optimal use of available data. Both gestational age-independent (difference constant over time) and gestational age-dependent (difference not-constant over time) effects were assessed. We used compound symmetry covariance models (1,2). We constructed best-fitting models for placental resistance indices. We started with a linear model and examined whether adding second-degree fractional polynomial of gestational age improved the models by comparing the deviances and checking the goodness of fit (smallest – 2 log likelihood). Since adding fractional polynomials of gestational age to the model did not improve the model fit, we did not include these fractional polynomials in the final models. Next, we added pregnancy complications as a categorical variable to the model as additional intercept and as an interaction term with gestational age. The final models including gestational age and pregnancy complications can be written as:

Uterine artery resistance index =  $\beta_0 + \beta_1 \times$  pregnancy complication +  $\beta_2 \times$  gestational age +  $\beta_3 \times$  pregnancy complication × gestational age

Umbilical artery pulsatility index =  $\beta_0 + \beta_1 \times$  pregnancy complication +  $\beta_2 \times$  gestational age +  $\beta_3 \times$  pregnancy complication × gestational age

In these models,  $(B_0 + B_1 \times \text{pregnancy complication' reflects the intercept and <math>(B_2 \times \text{gestational age' reflects the slope of change in placental resistance index per week. Main interest was in the term <math>(B_3 \times \text{pregnancy complication} \times \text{gestational age'}, which reflects the difference in change in placental resistance index per week for pregnancy complicated by adverse outcomes as compared to uncomplicated pregnancies. The uterine artery and umbilical artery resistance patterns in women with uncomplicated pregnancies and women with complicated pregnancies are shown in$ **Supplementary Figure S3.1.1a**and**1b**below.

#### References

[1]. Goldstein H. Multilevel statistical methods. 2nd ed. Edward Arnold: London, 1995.

[2] Royston P, Ambler G, Sauerbrei W. The use of fractional polynomials to model continuous risk variables in epidemiology. Int J Epidemiol 1999;28:964–74.



Supplementary Figure S3.1.1. Placental resistance indices development in uncomplicated and complicated pregnancies

**3.1.1a.** Uterine artery resistance index development in uncomplicated and complicated pregnancy. Change in placental resistance indices measurements for women with a pregnancy complicated by adverse pregnancy outcomes compared to women with an uncomplicated pregnancy based on repeated measurement analysis. Uterine artery resistance index =  $\beta_0 + \beta_1 \times \beta_2 \times \beta_3 \times \beta_3$


Supplementary Figure S3.1.1. Placental resistance indices development in uncomplicated and complicated pregnancies (continued)

**3.1.1b.** Umbilical artery pulsatility index development in uncomplicated and complicated pregnancy. Change in placental resistance indices measurements for women with a pregnancy complicated by adverse pregnancy outcomes compared to women with an uncomplicated pregnancy based on repeated measurement analysis. Umbilical artery pulsatility index =  $\beta_0 + \beta_1 \times \text{pregnancy complication} + \beta_2 \times \text{gestational age} + \beta_3 \times \text{pregnancy complication} \times \text{gestational age}.$ 



Supplementary Figure S3.1.2. Correlation of placental resistance indices between second and third trimester

**3.1.2a.** Correlation between second and third trimester uterine artery resistance index



**3.1.2b.** Correlation between second and third trimester umbilical artery pulsatility index

# CHAPTER 3.1

Supplementary Table S3.1.1. Characteristics of the women with and without placental resistance indices measurements<sup>1,2</sup>

	Women with placental resistance indices measurements	Women without placental resistance indices measurements	
	n = 7725	n = 1155	P-value
Maternal characteristics			
Age, median (90% range), years	30.3 (20.4, 37.9)	29.9 (19.7, 37.7)	<0.05
Height, mean (SD), cm	167.2 (7.4)	166.6 (7.5)	< 0.01
Prepregnancy weight, mean (SD), kg	66.1 (12.7)	67.5 (13.8)	<0.05
Prepregnancy Body Mass Index, mean (SD), kg/m <sup>2</sup>	23.6 (4.3)	24.2 (4.8)	< 0.01
Gestational age at subject's enrolment.	( )		
median (90% range), weeks	14.2 (10.9. 22.9)	15.9 (11.2, 24.8)	< 0.01
Education. No. (%)	(,,		
Primary	797 (11-3)	143 (14 6)	<0.01
Secondary	3265 (46.1)	479 (49.8)	10101
Higher	3022 (42 7)	357 (36 5)	
Bace / Ethnicity No. (%)	3022 (12.7)	557 (50.5)	
Dutch or European	4189 (58.1)	527 (52 9)	<0.01
Non-European	3017 (41.9)	469 (47.1)	
Parity No (%)	0017 (110)		
Nulliparous	4287 (56.2)	575 (51.0)	<0.01
Multiparous	3342 (43.8)	553 (49.0)	10101
Folic acid supplement use No. (%)	33.12 (1313)	555 (1515)	
Yes	4116 (71 4)	516 (64 6)	<0.01
No	1645 (28.6)	283 (35.4)	10.01
Smoking No. (%)	1013 (20.0)	200 (00.1)	
Yes	1716 (25.8)	222 (23 7)	0.15
No	4942 (74.2)	714 (76 3)	0.15
Alcohol consumption No. (%)	+5+2 (7+.2)	/14(/0.5)	
Vec	3/11/(51.0)	117 (11 2)	0.01
No	3282 (49.0)	526 (55.8)	0.01
Maternal pregnancy complications	5262 (45.6)	520 (55.0)	
Gestational hypertension No. (%)	273 (3.8)	45 (4 4)	0.33
Pre-eclamosia No. (%)	152 (2.1)	35 (3 4)	0.01
	132 (2.1)	55 (5.4)	0.01
Delivery and child characteristics			
Males, No. (%)	3897 (50.9)	470 (47.9)	0.08
Gestational age, median (90% range), weeks	40.1 (36.9, 42.0)	39.7 (34.9, 42.1)	0.01
Birth weight, mean (SD), g	3415 (559)	3361 (600)	0.01
Preterm birth, No. (%)	389 (5.1)	122 (11.4)	0.01
Small for gestational age, No. (%)	380 (5.0)	57 (6.0)	0.19

<sup>1</sup>Values represent mean (SD), median (90% range) or number of subjects (%). <sup>2</sup>Differences in subject characteristics between the groups were evaluated using one-way ANOVA tests for continuous variables and chi-square tests for proportions.

# Chapter 3.2

# Placental vascular dysfunction, early growth and childhood cardiovascular risk factors

Romy Gaillard Eric A.P. Steegers Henning Tiemeier Albert Hofman Vincent W.V. Jaddoe

Adapted from Circulation. 2013;128(20):2202-10



# Abstract

**Background:** Suboptimal fetal nutrition may influence early growth and cardiovascular development. We examined whether umbilical and uterine artery resistance indices, as measures of feto-placental and utero-placental vascular function, respectively, are associated with fetal and childhood growth and cardiovascular development.

**Methods and results:** This study was embedded in a population-based prospective cohort study among 6716 mothers and their children. Umbilical artery pulsatility index and uterine artery resistance index and fetal growth were measured in third trimester. Childhood growth was repeatedly assessed from birth to the age of 6 years. We measured body fat distribution, left ventricular mass, and blood pressure at the age of 6 years. Higher third trimester umbilical and uterine artery vascular resistance were associated with lower fetal length and weight growth in third trimester resulting in a smaller size at birth among boys and girls (P-values <0.05). These differences in length and weight growth became smaller from the age of 6 months onwards, but were still present at the age of 6 years. Higher third trimester umbilical artery vascular resistance, but not uterine artery vascular resistance, was associated with higher childhood body mass index, total fat mass, android/gynoid fat mass ratio, and systolic blood pressure, and with a lower left ventricular mass (P-values <0.05). These associations were not explained by birth weight. Stronger associations tended to be present among girls as compared with boys.

**Conclusions:** Higher third trimester feto-placental vascular resistance, but not uteroplacental vascular resistance, was associated with slower fetal growth rates and cardiovascular adaptations in childhood.

# Introduction

Low birth weight is associated with cardiovascular disease in adulthood.<sup>1–3</sup> These associations may be explained by developmental adaptations in early life, in response to suboptimal fetal nutrition.<sup>3,4</sup> These developmental adaptations may lead to fetal growth restriction and subclinical cardiovascular alterations, which predispose to cardiovascular disease in adulthood.<sup>4</sup> The placenta is a major determinant of the fetal supply line.<sup>5</sup> Suboptimal placental growth and function, which is unable to meet fetal nutrient requirements, may therefore lead to developmental adaptations with a persistent influence on growth and cardiovascular function in later life.<sup>5–7</sup> Previous studies among adults suggested that both low and high placental weight are associated with adverse cardio-metabolic outcomes in later life, but results are not consistent.<sup>7</sup> Placental weight is only a crude measure of placental growth and function, assessed during pregnancy, might give further insight in long-term consequences of placental dysfunction.

Placental vascular function can be assessed by Doppler ultrasound of the umbilical and uterine arteries throughout pregnancy, which reflect feto-placental vascular resistance and utero-placental vascular resistance, respectively.<sup>8</sup> Feto-placental vascular resistance is a parameter of the fetal circulation, and increased feto-placental vascular resistance may occur as a result of impaired placentation or suboptimal fetal vascular development.<sup>6,8</sup> Utero-placental vascular resistance, a parameter of the maternal circulation, may increase as a result of impaired placentation.<sup>8</sup>

Previously, we observed that third trimester small and subclinical variations in fetoplacental vascular function correlate with fetal growth.<sup>9</sup> Also, we have shown that higher third trimester resistance of the feto-placental circulation and utero-placental circulation are associated with a higher risk of a small size for gestational age infant.<sup>10</sup> Thus far, it is not known whether normal variation in placental vascular function influences longitudinally measured fetal and childhood growth and childhood cardiovascular development. As the placental vascular bed forms an important component of the fetal vascular system, and the largest variation is expected in third trimester, we hypothesized that especially changes in third trimester feto-placental vascular resistance lead to growth and cardiovascular system adaptations.<sup>9</sup>

Therefore, in a population-based prospective cohort study among 6716 mothers and their children, we examined the associations of third trimester feto-placental and utero-placental vascular function with repeatedly measured fetal and childhood growth characteristics, and with cardiovascular development in childhood.

# Methods

#### Study design

This study was embedded in the Generation R study, a population-based prospective cohort study from early pregnancy onwards in Rotterdam, The Netherlands.<sup>11</sup> The study has been approved by the medical Ethical Committee of the Erasmus Medical Center, Rotterdam. Written consent was obtained from all participating women.<sup>12</sup> Response rate at birth was 61%. In total, 8880 mothers were enrolled during pregnancy. Because placental resistance indices were only measured in 1 of the 2 dedicated research centers, placental resistance indices were available in a subgroup of n = 6754 mothers. We excluded pregnancies not leading to singleton live-born children and mothers without information about prenatal or postnatal offspring follow-up data available. Thus, our population for analysis involved 6716 mothers and their children (**Figure 3.2.1**).

Figure 3.2.1. Flow chart of the participants



#### Feto-placental and utero-placental vascular function measurements

Placental vascular resistance was evaluated with recorded flow velocity waveforms from the umbilical and uterine arteries in third trimester in a dedicated research center, as described previously.<sup>10</sup> Umbilical and uterine artery vascular resistance indices are parameters of the feto-placental circulation and utero-placental circulation, respective-ly.<sup>8</sup> A raised uterine artery resistance index and umbilical artery pulsatility index indicate increased placental resistance.<sup>8</sup> Umbilical artery pulsatility index was measured in a free-floating loop of the umbilical cord. Uterine artery resistance index was measured in the uterine arteries near the crossover with the external iliac artery. For each measurement, 3 consecutive uniform waveforms were recorded by pulsed Doppler ultrasound, during fetal apnea and without fetal movement. The mean of three measurements was used for further analysis. We assessed reproducibility of the ultrasound measurements in a subgroup and observed high intraclass correlation coefficient values (>0.80) with corresponding low coefficient of variation values (<10%), which indicates adequate reproducibility for these ultrasound measurements.<sup>9</sup>

#### Fetal and early childhood growth measurements

Fetal ultrasound examinations were performed in first (median: 13.5 weeks of gestation; 95% range: [defined as 2.5th and 97.5th percentile] 10.6, 17.5), second (median: 20.6 weeks of gestation; 95% range: 18.6, 23.4), and third trimester (median: 30.3 weeks of gestation; 95% range: 28.4, 33.0). We established gestational age by using data from the first fetal ultrasound examinations.<sup>13</sup> Third trimester fetal head circumference, abdominal circumference, and femur length were measured to the nearest millimeter using standardized ultrasound procedures.<sup>14</sup> Estimated fetal weight was calculated using the formula of Hadlock et al.<sup>15</sup> We constructed gestational ageadjusted standard deviation scores (SDS) for all fetal growth measurements.<sup>13</sup> Information about childhood sex, gestational age, weight, and length at birth was obtained from medical records. Gestational-age-adjusted SDS for birth weight and length were constructed using North-European growth standards.<sup>16</sup> These gestational-age-adjusted SDS for fetal growth and birth characteristics represent the equivalent of z-scores.

Well-trained staff in Community Health Centers obtained postnatal growth characteristics according to standard schedule and procedures at the ages of 6 months (median 6.2 mo; 95% range: 5.2, 8.2), 12 months (median: 11.1 mo; 95% range: 10.1, 12.5), 24 months (median: 24.8 mo; 95% range: 23.4, 28.2), 36 months (median: 36.7 mo; 95% range: 35.6, 40.9), and 48 months (median: 45.8 mo; 95% range: 44.4, 48.6). SDS for postnatal growth characteristics were obtained with Dutch growth reference Charts (Growth Analyzer 3.0; Dutch Growth Research Foundation, Rotterdam, The Netherlands).

#### Childhood adiposity and cardiovascular outcomes

At the age of 6 years, children visited a dedicated research center.<sup>11</sup> We measured children's height and weight without shoes and heavy clothing. Body mass index was calculated. Body composition was measured by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry scan (iDXA, General Electrics – Lunar, 2008, Madison, WI). Total fat mass was calculated as percentage of total body weight measured by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry. Android/gy-noid fat mass ratio was calculated, and expressed as percentage.<sup>17</sup>

Two-dimensional M-mode echocardiographic measurements of the interventricular end-diastolic septal thickness, left ventricular end-diastolic diameter and left ventricular end-diastolic posterior wall thickness were performed using methods recommended by the American Society of Echocardiography, and left ventricular mass was calculated.<sup>18,19</sup> Systolic and diastolic blood pressure of the children were measured at the right brachial artery, 4 times with 1-minute intervals, using the validated automatic sphygmanometer Datascope Accutor Plus TM (Paramus, NJ). A cuff was selected with a cuff width  $\approx$ 40% of the arm circumference and long enough to cover 90% of the arm circumference.<sup>20</sup> We calculated the mean value for systolic and diastolic blood pressure using the last 3 blood pressure measurements.

#### Covariates

Information on maternal age was assessed at intake.<sup>11</sup> Maternal weight and height were assessed at enrollment, and body mass index was calculated. Information about maternal parity, ethnicity, education level and folic acid supplementation use was obtained at enrollment. Information about maternal smoking was assessed by questionnaire during pregnancy. Information on pregnancy complications was obtained from medical records.<sup>21</sup> Information about breastfeeding was obtained by questionnaires.

# Statistical analysis

First, we explored the associations of third trimester placental resistance indices with repeatedly measured fetal and childhood growth characteristics ([femur] length and [estimated fetal] weight) using unbalanced repeated measurement regression models. These models take the correlation between repeated measurements of the same subject into account and allow for incomplete outcome data.<sup>22,23</sup> For these analyses, we used growth characteristics in SDS. The effect estimates for these associations are shown per standard deviation change in placental resistance indices to enable comparison of effect estimates. Second, we examined the associations of third trimester placental vascular function with childhood body fat distribution and cardiovascular development using multivariate linear regression models. All models were adjusted for gestational age at enrollment and at placental vascular resistance measurement, maternal age, parity, ethnicity, educational level, prepregnancy body mass index, smoking during pregnancy, folic acid supplementation use, pregnancy complications, gestational age at

birth and child sex, infant breastfeeding, and age at outcome measurement. These covariates were selected based on their associations with the outcomes of interest based on previous studies or a change in effect estimate of >10%. Supplementary Tables **\$3.2.1-3.2.3** in the Supplementary Material show the associations of each covariate with the outcomes of interest. All body fat distribution outcomes were additionally adjusted for child's height, and all cardiovascular outcomes were additionally adjusted for child's body mass index. To explore whether birth weight explained these associations, analyses were additionally adjusted for gestational-age-adjusted birth weight. We tested potential interactions between placental vascular function and sex, and between placental vascular function and birth weight for the analyses focused on childhood outcomes. Because significant interactions with sex, but not with birth weight, were present, all analyses were performed for the total group and for boys and girls separately. Missing data of covariates were imputed using multiple imputations (details given in the Supplementary Material). The repeated measurement analysis was performed using the Statistical Analysis System version 9.2 (SAS, Institute Inc. Cary NC), including the Proc Mixed module for unbalanced repeated measurements. All other analyses were performed using the Statistical Package of Social Sciences version 17.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL).

# Results

# Subject characteristics

Characteristics of the participants are shown in **Table 3.2.1**. **Supplementary Table S3.2.4** shows fetal and childhood growth characteristics. **Supplementary Table S3.2.5** shows that mothers whose children participated in follow-up measurements were more often higher educated and from European descent as compared with mothers whose children did not participate.

# CHAPTER 3.2

**Table 3.2.1.** Maternal and childhood characteristics  $(n = 6716)^{1}$ 

Chanacharitetta	Total Group	Boys	Girls
	N = 6716	n = 3424	n = 3292
Maternal characteristics			
Age, mean (SD), years	29.7 (5.3)	29.7 (5.3)	29.8 (5.3)
Height, mean (SD), cm	167.3 (7.4)	167.3 (7.3)	167.3 (7.5)
Prepregnancy weight, mean (SD), kg	66.1 (12.5)	66.0 (12.6)	66.2 (12.4)
Prepregnancy Body Mass Index, mean (SD), kg/m <sup>2</sup>	23.5 (4.2)	23.5 (4.3)	23.6 (4.2)
Gestational age at intake, median (95% range), weeks	13.8 (9.8, 25.5)	13.8 (9.6, 24.9)	13.7 (9.8, 26.5)
Education, No. (%)			
Primary	676 (10.9)	341 (10.8)	335 (11.0)
Secondary	2833 (45.6)	1455 (45.8)	1378 (45.3)
Higher	2707 (43.5)	1375 (43.4)	1332 (43.7)
Ethnicity, No. (%)			
Dutch or European	3768 (58.6)	1904 (58.0)	1864 (59.2)
Non – European	2666 (41.4)	1381 (42.0)	1285 (40.8)
Parity, No. (%)			
Nulliparous	3767 (56.7)	1912 (56.4)	1855 (57.0)
Multiparous	2882 (43.3)	1480 (43.6)	1402 (43.0)
Folic acid supplement use, No. (%)	. ,	. ,	
Yes	3651 (72.3)	1819 (71.2)	1832 (73.5)
No	1397 (27.7)	736 (28.8)	661 (26.5)
Smoking, No. (%)			× ,
Yes	1621 (27 3)	864 (28 6)	757 (26.0)
No	4316 (72.7)	2157 (71.4)	2159 (74.0)
Third trimester placental resistance indices		(,, )	(,
Limbilical artery pulsatility index mean (SD)	0.98 (0.17)	0 97 (0 17)	1 00 (0 17)
Uterine artery resistance index, mean (SD)	0.38 (0.17)	0.49 (0.08)	0.48 (0.08)
Pregnancy complications	0.15 (0.00)	0.45 (0.00)	0.10 (0.00)
Costational humantansian No. (9/) Vas	220 (2 C)	122 (2.0)	105 (2.4)
Dro oclampsia No. (%) Voc	220 (3.0)	123 (3.0) 62 (3.0)	103 (3.4) 67 (3.3)
Diabetes gravidarum No. (%) Ves	58 (0.9)	32 (1.0)	26 (0.8)
Diabetes gravitar uni, ivo. (70), res	56 (0.5)	52 (1.0)	20 (0.0)
Birth and infant characteristics			
Gestational age, median (95% range), weeks	40.1 (36.0, 42.3)	40.1 (36.0, 42.4)	40.1 (36.1, 42.2)
Birth weight, mean (SD), g	3430 (536)	3487 (547)	3370 (518)
Breastfeeding No. (%), Yes	4670 (91.9)	2358 (91.7)	2312 (92.2)
Childhood characteristics			
Age at follow up, median (95% range), years	6.0 (5.6, 7.7)	6.0 (5.6, 7.8)	6.0 (5.6, 7.7)
Length, mean (SD), cm	119.1 (5.8)	119.6 (5.8)	118.7 (5.8)
Weight, mean (SD), kg	23.1 (4.1)	23.3 (3.9)	23.0 (4.2)
Body mass index, mean (SD), kg/m <sup>2</sup>	16.2 (1.8)	16.2 (1.7)	16.2 (1.9)
Total fat mass, mean (SD),%	24.8 (5.6)	22.6 (4.9)	27.1 (5.3)
Android/gynoid fat mass ratio, mean (SD),%	25.1 (6.3)	24.8 (5.8)	25.4 (6.8)
Left ventricular mass, mean (SD), g	53.4 (11.6)	55.9 (11.7)	50.7 (10.6)
Systolic blood pressure, mean (SD), mmHg	102.6 (8.1)	102.2 (7.9)	103.1 (8.4)
Diastolic blood pressure, mean (SD), mmHg	60.6 (6.8)	60.0 (6.8)	61.3 (6.8)

<sup>1</sup>Values are means (standard deviations) or medians (95% range) or observed numbers (valid percentages). Valid percentages represent the percentage of only non-missing cases in each category of categorical variables.

# Placental vascular function and fetal and childhood growth characteristics

Higher third trimester umbilical artery pulsatility index and uterine artery resistance index were associated with lower third trimester fetal length and weight growth, resulting in a smaller size at birth among boys and girls (difference in birth length and birth weight for the total group: -0.12 SDS (95% Confidence Interval (CI): -0.16, -0.08), -0.17 SDS (95% CI: -0.20, -0.14) per SD change in umbilical artery pulsatility index, and -0.09 SDS (95% CI: -0.14, -0.04), -0.16 SDS (95% CI: -0.20, -0.12) per SD change in uterine artery resistance index, respectively; Figure 3.2.2A-D). The effect estimates for the associations of third trimester umbilical artery pulsatility index and uterine artery resistance index with childhood length and weight growth became smaller from the age of 6 months onwards among boys and girls. At the age of 6 years, higher third trimester umbilical artery pulsatility index and uterine artery resistance index were still associated with a shorter stature and lower weight among all children (difference in length and weight at the age of 6 years for the total group: -0.03 SDS (95% CI: -0.06, 0), -0.03 SDS (95% CI: -0.06, 0) per SD change in umbilical artery pulsatility index, and -0.06 SDS (95% CI: -0.10, -0.02), -0.07 SDS (95% CI: -0.10, -0.03) per SD change in uterine artery resistance index, respectively). The interaction term of third trimester umbilical artery pulsatility index with sex for weight growth was significant in the repeated measurement regression model. Among boys, higher third trimester umbilical artery pulsatility index was associated with lower childhood weight growth until the age of 6 years, whereas among girls these associations were no longer significant from the age of 3 years onwards.

# Placental vascular function and childhood cardiovascular risk factors

Table 3.2.2 shows the associations of third trimester umbilical artery vascular resistance with childhood cardiovascular outcomes at the age of 6 years, unadjusted and adjusted for gestational-age-adjusted birth weight, respectively. In the total group, we observed that, in the model unadjusted for birth weight, higher third trimester umbilical artery pulsatility index was associated with a lower childhood height and weight, but a higher total fat mass percentage and android/gynoid fat mass ratio (differences: -0.33 cm (95% CI: -0.48, -0.18); -0.14 kg (95% CI: -0.25, -0.04); 0.17 % (95% CI: 0.02, 0.31) and 0.26 % (95% CI: 0.08, 0.45) per SD change in third trimester umbilical artery pulsatility index, respectively). The associations of third trimester umbilical artery pulsatility index with childhood growth outcomes, but not body fat distribution outcomes, were largely explained by birth weight. Analysis stratified by sex, showed that a higher third trimester umbilical artery pulsatility index was associated with a higher childhood body mass index, total fat mass and android/gynoid fat mass ratio among girls (difference in body mass index, total fat mass percentage, android/gynoid fat mass ratio: 0.08 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (95% CI: 0.01, 0.16), 0.25 % (95% CI: 0.05, 0.46), and 0.43 % (95% CI: 0.15, 0.71) per SD change in third trimester umbilical artery pulsatility index in the fully adjusted model, respectively).



Figure 3.2.2. Associations of third trimester feto-placental vascular function and utero-placental vascular function with fetal and childhood growth characteristics



3.2.2a. Umbilical artery pulsatility index and length growth



Legend Total group Boys Girls

3.2.2b. Umbilical artery pulsatillity index and weight growth







Figure 3.2.2. Associations of third trimester feto-placental vascular function and utero-placental vascular function with fetal and childhood growth characteristics (continued)

3.2.2d. Uterine artery resistance index and weight growth

Fetal and childhood length and weight growth in SDS per SD change in third trimester umbilical artery pulsatility index and uterine artery resistance index. Results are based on repeated measurement regression models and reflect the differences in (gestational) age-adjusted standard deviation scores (SDS) of length and weight growth per SD change in third trimester umbilical artery vascular resistance and uterine artery vascular resistance at 30 weeks and 40 weeks of gestation prenatal and at 6 months, 12 months, 24 months, 36 months, 48 months and 72 months postnatal. All models are adjusted for gestational age at enrollment and at placental resistance index measurement, maternal age, parity, ethnicity, education, body mass index, smoking, folic acid supplementation use, and pregnancy complications. Total group analyses are additionally adjusted for child's sex. P-value for sex interaction <0.01 for model focused on third trimester umbilical artery vascular resistance and weight growth. Sex interaction terms were not significant in the other models.

A higher third trimester umbilical artery pulsatility index was associated with a lower childhood left ventricular mass and higher systolic blood pressure among all children (difference: -0.57 g (95% CI: -0.88, -0.25), 0.31 mmHg (95% CI: 0.07, 0.55) per SD change in third trimester umbilical artery pulsatility index, respectively). These associations were not explained by birth weight. Sex interaction terms were not significant, but a stronger association for systolic blood pressure tended to be present among girls.

**Table 3.2.3** shows that a higher third trimester uterine artery resistance index was associated with a lower height and weight at the age of 6 years, but not with other cardiovascular risk factors. These associations were explained by birth weight.

	Difference (95% CI) in	growth, body fat distribu	tion and cardiovascular o	utcomes per SD-change	of third trimester umbili	cal artery pulsatility inde	X
	Unadjusted for gestati	onal-age-adjusted birth v	veight	Adjusted for gestatior	al-age-adjusted birth we	eight"	P-value
	Total group <sup>3</sup>	Boys	Girls	Total group <sup>3</sup>	Boys	Girls	for sex interaction
Childhood growth							
Height (cm)	-0.33 (-0.48, -0.18)*	-0.48 (-0.69, -0.27)*	-0.18 (-0.39, 0.04)	-0.11 (-0.25, 0.04)	-0.21 (-0.42, -0.01)*	-0.01 (-0.22, 0.20)	0.04
Weight (kg)	-0.14 (-0.25, -0.04)*	-0.29 (-0.44, -0.15)*	0 (-0.15, 0.16)	0.01 (-0.10, 0.12)	-0.11 (-0.26, 0.03)	0.13 (-0.03, 0.28)	0.004
Body mass index $(kg/m^2)$	-0.02 (-0.07, 0.03)	-0.08 (-0.15, -0.01)*	0.04 (-0.03, 0.12)	0.03 (-0.02, 0.08)	-0.02 (-0.10, 0.05)	0.08 (0.01, 0.16)*	0.01
Body fat distribution <sup>4</sup>							
Total fat mass (%)	0.17 (0.02, 0.31)*	0.06 (-0.14, 0.27)	0.26 (0.06, 0.47)*	0.16 (0.01, 0.31)*	0.06 (-0.15, 0.26)	0.25 (0.05, 0.46)*	0.04
Android/gynoid fat mass ratio (%)	0.26 (0.08, 0.45)*	0.07 (-0.18, 0.32)	0.45 (0.17, 0.72)*	0.25 (0.06, 0.44)*	0.06 (-0.19, 0.32)	0.43 (0.15, 0.71)*	0.02
Cardiovascular outcomes <sup>5</sup>							
Left ventricular mass (g)	-0.57 (-0.88, -0.25)*	-0.67 (-1.15, -0.20)*	-0.48 (-0.90, -0.06)*	-0.32 (-0.63, 0.00)*	-0.36 (-0.84, 0.12)	-0.29 (-0.71, 0.13)	0.17
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	0.31 (0.07, 0.55)*	0.24 (-0.09, 0.57)	0.40 (0.04, 0.75)*	0.26 (0.02, 0.50)*	0.19 (-0.15, 0.53)	0.33 (-0.02, 0.69)	0.23
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	-0.12 (-0.33, 0.08)	-0.20 (-0.49, 0.10)	-0.05 (-0.34, 0.24)	-0.19 (-0.40, 0.02)	-0.26 (-0.57, 0.04)	-0.10 (-0.40, 0.19)	0.39
<sup>1</sup> Values are regression coefficients (9) of placental resistance index. All mod	5% Confidence Interval) dels are adjusted for gest	and reflect differences ir ational age at enrollmer	n childhood anthropomet nt and at placental resiste	rics, body fat distributic ance index measuremer	n and cardiovascular ou it, maternal age, parity,	tcomes per standard d ethnicity, education, bo	eviation change ody mass index,
smoking, folic acid supplementation adjusted birth weight. <sup>3</sup> Models for to	use, pregnancy complica otal group are additiona	tions, gestational age at Ily adjusted for child's s	c birth, infant breastfeed ex. <sup>4</sup> Models focused on	ng, childhood age at m oody fat distribution ar	easurement. <sup>2</sup> Model add e additionally adjusted f	ditionally adjusted for g or childhood height at	estational-age- measurement.
Models focused on cardiovascular of	utcomes are additionally	adjusted for childhood p	oody mass index at measi	urement. ™P-value <0.05			

Table 3.2.2. Associations of third trimester feto-placental vascular function with childhood anthropometrics, body fat distribution and cardiovascular development at 6 years of age<sup>1</sup>

	Difference (95% CI) in	growth, body fat distribution	ution and cardiovascular o	utcomes per SD-change	of third trimester uterir	ne artery resistance index	
	Unaglusted for gestat	onai-age-adjusted pirtn	weight	Adjusted for gestation	al-age-adjusted pirth w	/eignt	P-value for sex
	Total group <sup>3</sup>	Boys	Girls	Total group <sup>3</sup>	Boys	Girls	interaction
Childhood growth							
Height (cm)	-0.27 (-0.45, -0.10)*	-0.24 (-0.49, 0.01)	-0.32 (-0.58, -0.07)*	-0.09 (-0.27, 0.08)	0 (-0.24, 0.24)	-0.19 (-0.43, 0.06)	0.39
Weight (kg)	-0.15 (-0.27, -0.02)*	-0.11 (-0.28, 0.06)	-0.20 (-0.38, -0.01)*	-0.02 (-0.14, 0.11)	0.04 (-0.13, 0.21)	-0.09 (-0.27, 0.09)	0.24
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	-0.03 (-0.09, 0.03)	-0.01 (-0.09, 0.07)	-0.06 (-0.14, 0.03)	0.01 (-0.05, 0.07)	0.03 (-0.05, 0.11)	-0.02 (-0.10, 0.07)	0.28
Body fat distribution <sup>4</sup>							
Total fat mass (%)	-0.02 (-0.18, 0.15)	-0.02 (-0.25, 0.22)	0 (-0.24, 0.23)	-0.02 (-0.19, 0.15)	-0.04 (-0.28, 0.20)	0 (-0.24, 0.24)	0.74
Android/gynoid fat mass ratio (%)	0.01 (-0.21, 0.23)	-0.03 (-0.33, 0.27)	0.06 (-0.26, 0.37)	0 (-0.21, 0.22)	-0.06 (-0.36, 0.25)	0.06 (-0.25, 0.38)	0.86
Cardiovascular outcomes <sup>5</sup>							
Left ventricular mass (g)	0 (-0.38, 0.38)	-0.06 (-0.63, 0.51)	0.07 (-0.43, 0.57)	0.20 (-0.17, 0.58)	0.25 (-0.32, 0.81)	0.20 (-0.30, 0.69)	0.83
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	0.13 (-0.15, 0.41)	0.25 (-0.14, 0.64)	-0.01 (-0.43, 0.40)	0.07 (-0.21, 0.36)	0.21 (-0.19, 0.60)	-0.07 (-0.49, 0.34)	0.36
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	0.03 (-0.21, 0.28)	0.08 (-0.27, 0.43)	-0.10 (-0.36, 0.34)	-0.04 (-0.28, 0.21)	0.01 (-0.35, 0.36)	-0.07 (-0.41, 0.28)	0.85
<sup>1</sup> Values are regression coefficients (9	15% Confidence Interval)	and reflect differences i	n childhood anthropomet	rics, body fat distributic	on and cardiovascular o	utcomes per standard de	eviation change
of placental resistance index. All mot	dels are adjusted for gest	ational age at enrollme:	nt and at placental resista	ince index measuremer	it, maternal age, parity,	, ethnicity, education, bc	ody mass index,
smoking, folic acid supplementation	use, pregnancy complica	tions, gestational age a	t birth, infant breastfeedi	ng, childhood age at m	easurement. <sup>2</sup> Model ac	ditionally adjusted for g	estational-age-
aujusteu birtit weigirt. Tviodels for t <sup>5</sup> Models focused on cardiovascular o	uten group are autrionally	adiusted for childhood	body mass index at meas	rement. *P-value <0.05	e auulionany aujusteu	ior cilliailooa height ar	lileasul ellielir.

Table 3.2.3. Associations of third trimester utero-placental vascular function with childhood anthropometrics, body fat distribution and cardiovascular development at 6 years of age<sup>1</sup>

# Discussion

In this population-based prospective cohort study, we observed that higher third trimester umbilical artery and uterine artery resistance indices were associated with lower fetal growth rates in third trimester, resulting in a smaller size at birth. Differences in length and weight growth characteristics became smaller from the age of 6 months onwards but persisted until the age of 6 years. Higher third trimester feto-placental vascular resistance, but not utero-placental vascular resistance, was associated with childhood cardiovascular adaptations. These associations were only partly explained by birth weight and appeared to be stronger among girls than among boys.

# Methodological considerations

This study had a prospective data collection from early fetal life onwards. We had a large sample size of 6716 pregnant women and their children. To our knowledge, this is the first study that examined the associations of placental vascular resistance with repeatedly measured fetal and childhood growth characteristics and childhood cardiovascular risk factors. A potential limitation might be the response rate of 61%. Pregnant women who participated were higher educated, healthier, and more frequently of Dutch origin than were those who did not participate.<sup>11</sup> It is unlikely that this selective response at baseline has led to biased estimates.<sup>24</sup> Follow-up data at the age of 6 years were available in 70% of our study population. Mothers without offspring follow-up data available were more often lower educated and from non-European descent. The non-response would lead to biased effect estimates if the associations would be different between those included and not included in the analyses. This seems unlikely. However, non-response at baseline and at follow-up might affect the generalizability of our results. Because our study population is a relatively healthy, low-risk population, the variation in placental vascular function was small. It might be of interest to perform similar analyses among higher risk populations. Detailed information about a large number of potential confounding variables was available. Extensive adjustment for these socio-demographic and lifestyle-related determinants in our analyses did not explain the associations of placental vascular dysfunction with childhood outcomes. However, residual confounding attributable to other lifestyle-related variables, such as maternal and childhood nutritional intake and physical activity, might still be an issue, as in any observational study.

# Interpretation of main findings

Developmental adaptations in response to suboptimal fetal nutrition may lead to fetal growth restriction and subclinical cardiovascular alterations on short term, and may predispose to obesity and cardiovascular disease in adulthood.<sup>4</sup> Because fetal nutrition largely depends on placental function, the placenta may play a key role in this

developmental origins hypothesis.<sup>5,7</sup> Placental dysfunction not only affects fetal nutrient supply, but may also directly affect the fetal cardiovascular system.<sup>5,7,9</sup>

We examined the associations of umbilical and uterine artery blood flow during pregnancy, as detailed measures of feto-placental and utero-placental vascular function, with fetal and childhood outcomes. On the fetal side, blood enters the placenta through the umbilical arteries, which form a capillary network in the terminal villi of the villous tree.<sup>5,8</sup> As the villous and capillary surface areas increase during pregnancy, the umbilical artery vascular resistance normally decreases throughout pregnancy.<sup>5,8</sup> On the other side, maternal blood enters the intervillious space in the placenta through the spiral arteries, which descend from the uterine arteries.<sup>5,8</sup> Normally, during early pregnancy, the spiral arteries are remodeled as a result of trophoblastic invasion, which changes the spiral arteries from narrow muscular vessels into wide non-muscular arteries, leading to the development of a high-flow and low-resistance circulation.<sup>5,8</sup> Both the umbilical and uterine artery vascular resistance provide information about the placental circulation, but assessment of vascular resistance in the umbilical artery may be more closely related to the fetal condition. Abnormalities in the umbilical artery vascular resistance are strongly related to intra-uterine fetal growth restriction and fetal distress.<sup>25</sup> Furthermore, endothelium in the feto-placental circulation forms a continuum with fetal endothelium, and higher umbilical artery vascular resistance may therefore also reflect fetal vascular adaptations.<sup>26</sup> Abnormal placentation may lead to fetal endothelial dysfunction and inflammatory responses, which may predispose the individual to development of arteriosclerosis and hypertension later in life.<sup>26-28</sup> In line with this hypothesis, we observed stronger associations of arterial vascular resistance variation with fetal and childhood outcomes in the umbilical artery than in the uterine artery.

Multiple studies have shown that abnormal umbilical artery and uterine artery resistance indices in each trimester of pregnancy are associated with the risk of small size for gestational age at birth.<sup>29,30</sup> These studies were mainly performed among high-risk populations and used cut-off values to define abnormal resistance indices. In line with these previous studies, we observed that also among a low risk population, small changes in third trimester feto-placental and utero-placental vascular resistance were associated with lower fetal growth characteristics from third trimester onwards. Not much is known about postnatal growth and cardiovascular consequences of placental vascular dysfunction. A study among 914 mother-neonate pairs showed that placental volume at 19 weeks of gestation was positively associated with neonatal fat mass assessed by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry.<sup>31</sup> A study among 23.967 mother-child pairs observed that placental lateral growth measures, which are measures that give some information about the umbilical-chorionic vessels and the number of spiral arteries supplying the placenta, are related to childhood body mass index.<sup>32</sup> These associations were small and partly explained by birth weight. We observed that higher third trimester utero-placental vascular resistance was associated with lower childhood length and weight growth characteristics, but these associations were fully explained by birth weight. We further observed that higher third trimester feto-placental vascular resistance was associated with small differences in body mass index and fat mass levels at the age of 6 years, especially among girls. These associations were independent of birth weight.

The feto-placental vascular resistance is related to fetal vascular function and an important determinant of fetal cardiac afterload. Changes in feto-placental vascular function may therefore be related to fetal cardiac and vascular development.<sup>5,28,33,34</sup> We observed that higher third trimester umbilical artery pulsatility index was associated with a lower left ventricular mass and higher systolic blood pressure in childhood. The mechanisms by which feto-placental vascular dysfunction may lead to smaller left ventricular mass have not been studied yet. Studies in sheep have shown that placental insufficiency is associated with a smaller fetal heart and lower number of immature cardiomyocytes.<sup>34,35</sup> It has also been suggested that mostly the right side of the fetal heart is affected by increased placental vascular resistance.<sup>34,36</sup> We had only information about left cardiac structures available. More detailed studies of the structure and function of both the left and right ventricles may provide more information about the persistent cardiac consequences of placental dysfunction. Our findings related to systolic blood pressure are in line with a study among 428 Jamaican mothers and their children, which reported an inverse association of placental volume assessed at 20 weeks of gestation and systolic blood pressure in early childhood.<sup>37</sup> Also, a study among 13.273 mothers and their children observed that higher placental weight and size were associated with lower infancy systolic blood pressure, but higher childhood systolic blood pressure. In the same study, placental vascular lesions, which may also reduce feto-placental blood flow, were associated with higher infancy systolic blood pressure.<sup>38</sup>

Sex-specific differences for the associations of third trimester feto-placental vascular function with childhood growth and body fat distribution, with stronger associations among girls, tended to be present. Previous studies have suggested that sex-specific fetal responses occur in response to an adverse prenatal environment.<sup>39,40</sup> Our observed sex-differences may partly be explained by sex-differences in childhood growth and body fat distribution, and differences in in-utero responses to an adverse environment. We did not observe significant sex-specific differences for the association of third trimester feto-placental vascular function with childhood systolic blood pressure, which is inconsistent with several other studies that examined associations of placental size at birth with blood pressure at older ages.<sup>41-43</sup> These suggested sex-differences related to blood pressure might become more apparent at later ages. We also explored whether associations of placental vascular resistance with childhood outcomes differed among birth weight categories, but no significant interaction terms were present. This suggests that associations of feto-placental vascular resistance with childhood cardiovascular development may be present across the full range of birth weight.

The observed effect estimates for the associations of feto-placental vascular resistance with childhood cardiovascular risk factors were small. Although they are important from a cardiovascular developmental perspective, their effects on the risk of cardiovascular disease should be further studied. However, previous studies have shown that childhood cardiovascular risk factors tend to track into adulthood. A study among 2204 subjects showed that childhood body mass index and blood pressure, measured at 6 years of age, were correlated with these measures in adulthood.<sup>44</sup> A large meta-analyses in which tracking of blood pressure from children aged <18 years to adulthood was examined, showed that blood pressure tracking was already present from early childhood onwards.<sup>45</sup> A study among 4857 children and adolescents, aged 5 to 20 years, with a median age of 11 years, showed that childhood obesity and hypertension were associated with increased rates of premature death from endogenous causes.<sup>46</sup> Thus, these findings suggest that even subclinical differences in risk factors for cardiovascular disease in childhood are related to the development of cardiovascular disease in later life. Further studies are needed to gain further insight in the associations of placental vascular function with cardiovascular risk factors in childhood and adulthood, and to explore their potential underlying mechanisms.

# Conclusion

Suboptimal fetal nutrition may lead to fetal growth and cardiovascular developmental adaptations, and subsequently to cardiovascular disease in adulthood. Our study shows that higher third trimester umbilical and uterine artery vascular resistance were associated with lower fetal growth characteristics and a smaller size at birth. Higher third trimester feto-placental vascular resistance, but not utero-placental vascular resistance, was associated with an adverse cardiovascular profile in childhood. These associations were only partly explained by birth weight. Further studies examining detailed measures of placental function, such as placental morphology, vascular function and nutrient transporter activity, and their associations with growth and cardio-metabolic outcomes in later life might provide further insight in underlying mechanisms.

# References

- 1. Curhan GC, Willett WC, Rimm EB, Spiegelman D, Ascherio AL, Stampfer MJ. Birth weight and adult hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and obesity in US men. Circulation. 1996;94:3246–3250.
- Curhan GC, Chertow GM, Willett WC, Spiegelman D, Colditz GA, Manson JE, Speizer FE, Stampfer MJ. Birth weight and adult hypertension and obesity in women. Circulation. 1996;94:1310–1315.
- 3. Godfrey KM, Barker DJ. Fetal programming and adult health. Public Health Nutr. 2001;4(2B):611–624.
- Gluckman PD, Hanson MA, Cooper C, Thornburg KL. Effect of in utero and early-life conditions on adult health and disease. N Engl J Med. 2008;359:61–73.
- 5. Jansson T, Powell TL. Role of the placenta in fetal programming: underlying mechanisms and potential interventional approaches. Clin Sci (Lond). 2007;113:1–13.
- 6. Gagnon R. Placental insufficiency and its consequences. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2003;110 Suppl 1:S99–107.
- 7. Godfrey KM. The role of the placenta in fetal programming-a review. Placenta. 2002;23 Suppl A:S20–S27.
- 8. Baschat AA, Hecher K. Fetal growth restriction due to placental disease. Semin Perinatol. 2004;28:67–80.
- Verburg BO, Jaddoe VW, Wladimiroff JW, Hofman A, Witteman JC, Steegers EA. Fetal hemodynamic adaptive changes related to intrauterine growth: the Generation R Study. Circulation. 2008;117:649–659.
- 10. Gaillard R, Arends LR, Steegers EA, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Second- and third-trimester placental hemodynamics and the risks of pregnancy complications: the Generation R Study. Am J Epidemiol. 2013;177:743–754.
- Jaddoe VW, van Duijn CM, Franco OH, van der Heijden AJ, van lizendoorn MH, de Jongste JC, van der Lugt A, Mackenbach JP, Moll HA, Raat H, Rivadeneira F, Steegers EA, Tiemeier H, Uitterlinden AG, Verhulst FC, Hofman A. The Generation R Study: design and cohort update 2012. Eur J Epidemiol. 2012;27:739–756.
- 12. Declaration of Helsinki. Ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. J Indian Med Assoc. 2009;107:403–5.

- Verburg BO, Steegers EA, De Ridder M, Snijders RJ, Smith E, Hofman A, Moll HA, Jaddoe VW, Witteman JC. New charts for ultrasound dating of pregnancy and assessment of fetal growth: longitudinal data from a population-based cohort study. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2008;31:388–396.
- 14. Royal College of O, Gynaecologists. Routine ultrasound screening in pregnancy: protocol, standards and training: Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists; 2000.
- Hadlock FP, Harrist RB, Sharman RS, Deter RL, Park SK. Estimation of fetal weight with the use of head, body, and femur measurements–a prospective study. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1985;151:333–337.
- Niklasson A, Ericson A, Fryer JG, Karlberg J, Lawrence C, Karlberg P. An update of the Swedish reference standards for weight, length and head circumference at birth for given gestational age (1977-1981). Acta Paediatr Scand. 1991;80:756–762.
- Helba M, Binkovitz LA. Pediatric body composition analysis with dual- energy X-ray absorptiometry. Pediatr Radiol. 2009;39:647–656.
- Schiller NB, Shah PM, Crawford M, DeMaria A, Devereux R, Feigenbaum H, Gutgesell H, Reichek N, Sahn D, Schnittger I. Recommendations for quantitation of the left ventricle by two-dimensional echocardiography. American Society of Echocardiography Committee on Standards, Subcommittee on Quantitation of Two-Dimensional Echocardiograms. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 1989;2:358–367.
- Devereux RB, Alonso DR, Lutas EM, Gottlieb GJ, Campo E, Sachs I, Reichek N. Echocardiographic assessment of left ventricular hypertrophy: comparison to necropsy findings. Am J Cardiol. 1986;57:450–458.
- Wong SN, Tz Sung RY, Leung LC. Validation of three oscillometric blood pressure devices against auscultatory mercury sphygmomanometer in children. Blood Press Monit. 2006;11:281–291.
- Coolman M, de Groot CJ, Jaddoe VW, Hofman A, Raat H, Steegers EA. Medical record validation of maternally reported history of pre-eclampsia. J Clin Epidemiol. 2010;63:932–7.
- 22. Goldstein H. Multilevel statistical methods. 2nd ed. Edward Arnold: London, 1995.
- 23. Royston P, Ambler G, Sauerbrei W. The use of fractional polynomials to model continuous risk variables in epidemiology. Int J Epidemiol. 1999;28:964–974.
- 24. Nohr EA, Frydenberg M, Henriksen TB, Olsen J. Does low participation in cohort studies induce bias? Epidemiology. 2006;17:413–418.
- Karsdorp VH, van Vugt JM, van Geijn HP, Kostense PJ, Arduini D, Montenegro N, Todros T. Clinical significance of absent or reversed end diastolic velocity waveforms in umbilical artery. Lancet. 1994;344:1664–1668.
- Pisaneschi S, Strigini FA, Sanchez AM, Begliuomini S, Casarosa E, Ripoli A, Ghirri P, Boldrini A, Fink B, Genazzani AR, Coceani F, Simoncini T. Compensatory feto-placental upregulation of the nitric oxide system during fetal growth restriction. PLoS ONE. 2012;7:e45294.
- 27. Leeson CP, Whincup PH, Cook DG, Donald AE, Papacosta O, Lucas A, Deanfield JE. Flow-mediated dilation in 9- to 11year-old children: the influence of intrauterine and childhood factors. Circulation. 1997;96:2233–2238.
- Thompson JA, Regnault TR. In utero origins of adult insulin resistance and vascular dysfunction. Semin Reprod Med. 2011;29:211–224.
- Cnossen JS, Morris RK, ter Riet G, Mol BW, van der Post JA, Coomarasamy A, Zwinderman AH, Robson SC, Bindels PJ, Kleijnen J, Khan KS. Use of uterine artery Doppler ultrasonography to predict pre-eclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction: a systematic review and bivariable meta-analysis. CMAJ. 2008;178:701–711.
- Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine Publications Committee, Berkley E, Chauhan SP, Abuhamad A. Doppler assessment of the fetus with intrauterine growth restriction. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2012;206:300–8. doi:10.1016/ j.ajog.2012.01.022.
- Holroyd CR, Harvey NC, Crozier SR, Winder NR, Mahon PA, Ntani G, Godfrey KM, Inskip HM, Cooper C; SWS Study Group. Placental size at 19 weeks predicts offspring bone mass at birth: findings from the Southampton Women's Survey. Placenta. 2012;33:623–629.
- 32. Baptiste-Roberts K, Salafia CM, Nicholson WK, Duggan A, Wang NY, Brancati FL. Gross placental measures and childhood growth. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2009;22:13–23.
- Brodszki J, Länne T, Marsál K, Ley D. Impaired vascular growth in late adolescence after intrauterine growth restriction. Circulation. 2005;111:2623–2628.
- 34. Thornburg KL, O'Tierney PF, Louey S. Review: The placenta is a programming agent for cardiovascular disease. Placenta. 2010;31 Suppl:S54–S59.
- 35. Drenckhahn JD. Growth plasticity of the embryonic and fetal heart. Bioessays. 2009;31:1288–1298.
- Kiserud T, Ebbing C, Kessler J, Rasmussen S. Fetal cardiac output, distribution to the placenta and impact of placental compromise. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2006;28:126–136.
- 37. Thame M, Osmond C, Wilks RJ, Bennett FI, McFarlane-Anderson N, Forrester TE. Blood pressure is related to placental volume and birth weight. Hypertension. 2000;35:662–667.
- Wen X, Triche EW, Hogan JW, Shenassa ED, Buka SL. Association between placental morphology and childhood systolic blood pressure. Hypertension. 2011;57:48–55.
- Clifton VL. Review: Sex and the human placenta: mediating differential strategies of fetal growth and survival. Placenta. 2010;31 Suppl:S33–S39.
- 40. Aiken CE, Ozanne SE. Sex differences in developmental programming models. Reproduction. 2013;145:R1–13.

- 41. Winder NR, Krishnaveni GV, Hill JC, Karat CL, Fall CH, Veena SR, Barker DJ. Placental programming of blood pressure in Indian children. Acta Paediatr. 2011;100:653–660.
- 42. van Abeelen AF, de Rooij SR, Osmond C, Painter RC, Veenendaal MV, Bossuyt PM, Elias SG, Grobbee DE, van der Schouw YT, Barker DJ, Roseboom TJ. The sex-specific effects of famine on the association between placental size and later hypertension. Placenta. 2011;32:694–698.
- 43. Eriksson JG, Kajantie E, Osmond C, Thornburg K, Barker DJ. Boys live dangerously in the womb. Am J Hum Biol. 2010;22:330–335.
- 44. Juhola J, Magnussen CG, Viikari JS, Kähönen M, Hutri-Kähönen N, Jula A, Lehtimäki T, Åkerblom HK, Pietikäinen M, Laitinen T, Jokinen E, Taittonen L, Raitakari OT, Juonala M. Tracking of serum lipid levels, blood pressure, and body mass index from childhood to adulthood: the Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study. J Pediatr. 2011;159:584–590.
- 45. Chen X, Wang Y. Tracking of blood pressure from childhood to adulthood: a systematic review and meta-regression analysis. Circulation. 2008;117:3171–3180.
- 46. Franks PW, Hanson RL, Knowler WC, Sievers ML, Bennett PH, Looker HC. Childhood obesity, other cardiovascular risk factors, and premature death. N Engl J Med. 2010;362:485–493.

# Supplementary Material

#### Supplementary Methods S3.2.1. Multiple imputations for missing data of covariates

We imputed missing data of the covariates using multiple imputations (1). The percentages of missing values for the covariates within the population for analysis were lower than 20% except for folic acid supplement use (24.8%) and breastfeeding (24.4%). For the multiple imputation, we used Fully Conditional Specification, an iterative of the Markov chain Monte Carlo approach. For each variable, the fully conditional specification method fits a model using all other available variables in the model as predictors, and then imputes missing values for the specific variable being fit. In the imputation model, we included all covariates, plus maternal height measured at enrolment, maternal weight and blood pressure measured in first, second and third trimester, second trimester uterine and umbilical artery vascular resistance, placental weight, household income and breastfeeding duration. Furthermore, we additionally added the studied determinants and outcomes in the imputation model as prediction variables only; they were not imputed themselves. Five imputed datasets were created and analysed together.

#### References

1) Sterne JA, White IR, Carlin JB et al. Multiple imputation for missing data in epidemiological and clinical research: potential and pitfalls. BMJ 2009;338:b2393.

Childhood anthropometric measures				
Covariates included in the models	Height (cm)	Weight (kg)	Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	
Gestational age at intake (wks) Gestational age at placental resistance	0.06 (0.02, 0.10)*	0.08 (0.05, 0.11)*	0.04 (0.02, 0.05)*	
measurement (wks)	0.06 (-0.13, 0.25)	-0.02 (-0.16, 0.11)	-0.03 (-0.09, 0.04)	
Maternal age (yr)	-0.06 (-0.09, -0.03)*	-0.09 (-0.11, -0.07)*	-0.04 (-0.06, -0.03)*	
Parity				
Nulliparous	Reference	Reference	Reference	
Multiparous	-0.25 (-0.58, 0.09)	0.05 (-0.19, 0.29)	0.09 (-0.01, 0.20)	
Ethnicity				
Dutch or European	Reference	Reference	Reference	
Non – European	0.05 (-0.30, 0.39)	1.08 (0.84, 1.31)*	0.70 (0.59, 0.80)*	
Education				
Primary	0.30 (-0.31, 0.92)	1.66 (1.24, 2.08)*	1.01 (0.82, 1.20)*	
Secondary	0.42 (0.06, 0.77)*	1.01 (0.77, 1.26)*	0.54 (0.43, 0.65)*	
Higher	Reference	Reference	Reference	
Prepregnancy body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	0.12 (0.08, 0.17)*	0.25 (0.22, 0.28)	0.13 (0.12, 0.15)*	
Smoking				
Yes	0.06 (-0.34, 0.46)	0.53 (0.25, 0.80)*	0.32 (0.20, 0.45)	
No	Reference	Reference	Reference	
Folic acid supplement use				
Yes	Reference	Reference	Reference	
No	0.54 (0.16, 0.92)*	1.05 (0.79, 1.32)*	0.54 (0.43, 0.66)*	
Maternal pregnancy complications				
Yes	0.60 (-0.09, 1.29)	0.60 (0.12, 1.08)*	0.25 (0.03, 0.47)*	
No	Reference	Reference	Reference	
Child's sex				
Boys	Reference	Reference	Reference	
Girls	-0.91 (-1.25, -0.58)*	-0.30 (-0.53, -0.06)*	0.03 (-0.08, 0.13)	
Gestational age at birth (wks)	0.08 (-0.03, 0.18)	0.01 (-0.07, 0.08)	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.02)	
Breastfeeding				
Yes	0.44 (-0.23, 1.10)	0.08 (-0.37, 0.53)	-0.03 (-0.24, 0.17)	
No	Reference	Reference	Reference	
Childhood age at outcome				
measurement (yr)	6.10 (5.81, 6.40)*	3.63 (3.41, 3.85)*	0.73 (0.62, 0.83)*	

Supplementary Table S3.2.1. Associations of covariates with childhood anthropometric measures<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Values are regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) from univariate regression models and reflect differences in childhood anthropometric measures per unit change of each covariate and for different categories of each covariate as compared to the reference group. \*P-value <0.05.

	Childhood body fat mass mea	sures
Covariates included in the models	Total body fat mass (%)	Android/gynoid fat mass ratio (%)
Gestational age at intake (wks)	0.08 (0.04, 0.12)*	0.06 (0.01, 0.10)*
Gestational age at placental resistance		
measurement (wks)	-0.27 (-0.46, -0.09)*	-0.16 (-0.37, 0.05)
Maternal age (yr)	-0.15 (-0.18, -0.12)*	-0.13 (0.16, -0.09)*
Parity		
Nulliparous	Reference	Reference
Multiparous	-0.14 (-0.47, 0.19)	-0.12 (-0.49, 0.25)
Ethnicity		
Dutch or European	Reference	Reference
Non – European	2.17 (1.84, 1.50)*	1.59 (1.22, 1.97)*
Education		
Primary	3.38 (2.80, 3.95)*	2.24 (1.58, 2.91)*
Secondary	2.16 (1.83, 2.50)*	1.40 (1.02, 1.79)*
Higher	Reference	Reference
Prepregnancy body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	0.35 (0.31, 0.39)*	0.26 (0.21, 0.31)*
Smoking		
Yes	0.79 (0.41, 1.18)*	1.47 (1.04, 1.91)*
No	Reference	Reference
Folic acid supplement use		
Yes	Reference	Reference
No	1.56 (1.20, 1.92)*	1.29 (0.88, 1.69)*
Maternal pregnancy complications		
Yes	0.94 (0.27, 1.61)*	0.65 (-0.11, 1.41)
No	Reference	Reference
Child's sex		
Boys	Reference	Reference
Girls	4.44 (4.14, 4.74)*	0.61 (0.25, 0.98)*
Gestational age at birth (wks)	-0.21 (-0.32, -0.11)*	-0.21 (-0.33, -0.09)*
Breastfeeding		
Yes	-0.31 (-0.96, 0.33)	0.11 (-0.61, 0.83)
No	Reference	Reference
Childhood age at outcome measurement (yr)	1.31 (0.97, 1.65)*	1.40 (1.02, 1.79)*

Supplementary Table S3.2.2. Associations of covariates with childhood body fat distribution outcomes<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Values are regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) from univariate regression models and reflect differences in childhood body fat distribution outcomes per unit change of each covariate and for different categories of each covariate as compared to the reference group. \*P-value <0.05.

# CHAPTER 3.2

							4
Supplementary	Table S3.2.3.	Associations of	of covar	riates with	childhood	cardiovascular	outcomes

Childhood cardiovascular outcomes				
	Systolic blood	Diastolic blood	Left ventricular	
Covariates included in the models	pressure (mmHg)	pressure (mmHg)	mass (g)	
Gestational age at intake (wks)	0.06 (0, 0.12)*	0.03 (-0.02, 0.08)	0.05 (-0.03, 0.14)	
Gestational age at placental resistance		, , , ,		
measurement (wks)	-0.18 (-0.46, 0.09)	-0.17 (-0.40, 0.06)	0.40 (0.01, 0.80)*	
Maternal age (yr)	-0.12 (-0.16, -0.07)*	-0.11 (-0.15, -0.07)*	-0.04 (-0.11, 0.03)	
Parity	. , , ,			
Nulliparous	Reference	Reference	Reference	
Multiparous	-0.30 (-0.78, 0.19)	-0.42 (-0.82, -0.01)*	0.32 (-0.36, 1.00)	
Ethnicity				
Dutch or European	Reference	Reference	Reference	
Non – European	1.42 (0.93, 1.91)*	1.13 (0.72, 1.55)*	-0.87 (-1.57, -0.17)*	
Education				
Primary	2.69 (1.81, 3.56)*	1.89 (1.15, 2.63)*	-0.15 (-1.40, 1.10)	
Secondary	1.67 (1.16, 2.18)*	1.33 (0.90, 1.76)*	-0.07 (-0.79, 0.66)	
Higher	Reference	Reference	Reference	
Prepregnancy body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	0.21 (0.14, 0.27)*	0.07 (0.02, 0.13)*	0.23 (0.14, 0.32)*	
Smoking				
Yes	0.76 (0.18, 1.33)*	0.65 (0.17, 1.13)*	0.57 (-0.24, 1.38)	
No	Reference	Reference	Reference	
Folic acid supplement use				
Yes	Reference	Reference	Reference	
No	1.13 (0.58, 1.67)*	0.39 (-0.06, 0.85)	0.11 (-0.67, 0.88)	
Maternal pregnancy complications				
Yes	1.02 (0.05, 2.00)*	1.26 (0.44, 2.08)*	2.12 (0.72, 3.52)*	
No	Reference	Reference	Reference	
Child's sex				
Boys	Reference	Reference	Reference	
Girls	0.86 (0.39, 1.33)*	1.30 (0.90, 1.70)*	-5.13 (-5.79, -4.48)*	
Gestational age at birth (wks)	-0.30 (-0.45, -0.14)*	-0.19 (-0.32, -0.06)*	0.30 (0.08, 0.51)*	
Breastfeeding				
Yes	-0.41 (-1.39, 0.57)	-0.56 (-1.39, 0.26)	1.12 (-0.27, 2.51)	
No	Reference	Reference	Reference	
Childhood age at outcome measurement (yr)	2.39 (1.90, 2.88)*	1.19 (0.77, 1.60)*	5.19 (4.52, 5.89)*	

<sup>1</sup>Values are regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) from univariate regression models and reflect differences in childhood cardiovascular outcomes per unit change of each covariate and for different categories of each covariate as compared to the reference group. \*P-value <0.05.

**Supplementary Table S3.2.4.** Fetal and childhood growth characteristics  $(n = 6716)^{1}$ 

	Total	Boys	Girls
Growth characteristics	n = 6716	n = 3424	n = 3292
Fetal growth characteristics Third trimester			
Gestational age, median (90% range), weeks	30.3 (28.8, 32.2)	30.5 (28.9, 32.3)	30.3 (28.8, 32.2)
Femur length, mean (SD), mm	57 (44)	57 (44)	58 (44)
Estimated fetal weight, mean (SD), g	1613 (253)	1623 (252)	1603 (254)
Birth			
Gestational age, median (90% range), weeks	39.9 (37.0, 42.0)	39.9 (36.9, 42.1)	39.8 (37.0, 42.0)
Birth length, mean (SD), cm	50.2 (2.4)	50.5 (2.4)	49.8 (2.2)
Birth weight, mean (SD), g	3417 (559)	3476 (574)	3358 (536)
Childhood growth characteristics 6 months			
Age at follow up, median (90% range), months	6.2 (5.4, 7.5)	6.2 (5.4, 7.5)	6.2 (5.4, 7.5)
Length, mean (SD), cm	67.6 (2.6)	68.6 (2.5)	66.7 (2.5)
Weight, mean (SD), kg	7.9 (0.9)	8.2 (0.9)	7.6 (0.8)
12 months			
Age at follow up, median (90% range), months	11.1 (10.2, 12.3)	11.1 (10.2, 12.3)	11.1 (10.2, 12.3)
Length, mean (SD), cm	74.4 (2.7)	75.2 (2.6)	73.5 (2.6)
Weight, mean (SD), kg	9.8 (1.1)	10.0 (1.1)	9.3 (1.0)
24 months			
Age at follow up, median (90% range), months	24.8 (23.5, 27.5)	24.7 (23.5, 27.6)	24.8 (23.6, 27.4)
Height, mean (SD), cm	88.3 (3.5)	88.9 (3.4)	87.7 (3.5)
Weight, mean (SD), kg	13.0 (1.5)	13.2 (1.5)	12.7 (1.5)
36 months			
Age at follow up, median (90% range), months	36.7 (35.6, 39.8)	36.7 (35.6, 40.0)	36.7 (35.6, 39.6)
Height, mean (SD), cm	97.4 (3.8)	97.9 (3.8)	96.8 (3.8)
Weight, mean (SD), kg	15.3 (1.9)	15.5 (1.8)	15.0 (1.9)
48 months			
Age at follow up, median (90% range), months	45.8 (44.7, 48.0)	45.8 (44.7, 48.1)	45.8 (44.7, 47.9)
Height, mean (SD), cm	103.2 (4.1)	103.7 (4.1)	102.7 (4.2)
Weight, mean (SD), kg	17.0 (2.2)	17.2 (2.2)	16.7 (2.2)
72 months			
Age at follow up, median (90% range), months	72.1 (69.0, 86.1)	72.2 (68.9, 85.5)	72.2 (68.9, 85.6)
Height, mean (SD), cm	119.1 (5.8)	119.6 (5.8)	118.7 (5.8)
Weight, mean (SD), kg	23.1 (4.1)	23.3 (3.9)	23.0 (4.2)

<sup>1</sup>Values represent means (SD) and medians (90% range).

**Supplementary Table S3.2.5.** Non-response analysis (n = 6716)<sup>1</sup>

	Cardiovascular	No cardiovascular	
	follow-up at 6 years	follow-up at 6 years	
Characteristics	n = 4722	n = 1994	P-value <sup>4</sup>
Maternal characteristics			
Age, mean (SD), yr	30.4 (5.1)	28.3 (5.4)	< 0.01
Height, mean (SD), cm	167.8 (7.4)	166.4 (7.4)	< 0.01
Prepregnancy weight, mean (SD), kg	66.3 (12.3)	65.7 (13.0)	0.11
Prepregnancy body mass index, mean (SD), kg/m <sup>2</sup>	23.5 (4.1)	23.6 (4.5)	0.51
Gestational age at intake, median (90% range), weeks <sup>2</sup>	13.6 (10.6, 22.2)	14.1 (10.6, 23.7)	< 0.01
Parity, nulliparous, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>	2723 (58.0)	1045 (53.5)	< 0.01
Education, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>			
Primary or secondary school	2339 (52.4)	1171 (66.8)	< 0.01
Higher education	2124 (47.6)	583 (33.2)	
Race / Ethnicity, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>			
Dutch, other European	2883 (62.1)	885 (49.4)	< 0.01
Non-European	1759 (37.9)	908 (50.6)	
Smoking habits, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>			
None	3112 (73.9)	1205 (69.7)	< 0.01
Yes	1099 (26.1)	523 (30.3)	
Folic acid supplement use, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>			
No	846 (23.4)	552 (38.5)	< 0.01
Yes	2769 (76.6)	882 (61.5)	
Uterine artery resistance index, mean (SD)			
Third trimester	0.48 (0.08)	0.49 (0.08)	0.03
Umbilical artery pulsatility index, mean (SD)		. ,	
Third trimester	0.98 (0.17)	0.99 (0.17)	0.06
Maternal pregnancy complications		. ,	
Gestational hypertension, No. (%), Yes <sup>3</sup>	175 (3.9)	53 (2.9)	0.03
Pre-eclampsia, No. (%), Yes <sup>3</sup>	81 (1.8)	49 (2.7)	0.03
Diabetes gravidarum, No. (%), Yes <sup>3</sup>	38 (0.8)	20 (1.1)	0.23
Birth and infant characteristics			
Males, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>	2383 (50.4)	1040 (52.3)	0.08
Gestational age at birth, median (90% range), weeks <sup>2</sup>	40.1 (37.1, 42.0)	40.1 (36.9, 42.1)	0.02
Birth weight, mean (SD), g	3448 (525)	3389 (560)	< 0.01
Ever breastfeeding, No.(%), Yes <sup>3</sup>	3626 (92.5)	1044 (89.9)	<0.01

<sup>1</sup>Values are means (standard deviation). <sup>2</sup>Medians (90% range) <sup>3</sup>Values are observed numbers (valid percentages). Valid percentages represent the percentage of only non-missing cases in each category of categorical variables. <sup>4</sup>Differences in subject characteristics between the groups were evaluated using two-sample t test for unequal variances for normally distributed continuous variables, Wilcoxon rank sum test for not normally distributed continuous variables and chi-square tests for proportions.

# Chapter 3.3

# Tracking of fetal growth characteristics and adverse birth outcomes

Romy Gaillard Eric A.P. Steegers Johan C. de Jongste Albert Hofman Vincent W.V. Jaddoe

Adapted from Int J Epidemiol. 2014. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyu036



# Abstract

**Background:** Fetal growth characteristics are used to identify influences of several maternal characteristics and to identify individuals at increased risk of adverse outcomes. The extent to which fetal growth characteristics track in different trimesters is not known.

**Methods:** In a population-based prospective cohort study among 8636 pregnant women, we examined the extent to which fetal growth characteristics track, are influenced by maternal socio-demographic and lifestyle-related determinants and are associated with birth outcomes. Fetal growth was assessed in each trimester and at birth.

**Results:** Correlation coefficient between first trimester crown-rump length and birth weight was r = 0.12 (P-value <0.05). Correlation coefficients for fetal head circumference, (femur) length and (estimated) fetal weight ranged from r = 0.16 to r = 0.30 (all p values <0.05) between second trimester and birth and from r = 0.36 to r = 0.58 (all p values <0.05) between third trimester and birth, and were highest for estimated fetal weight. Correlation coefficients for estimated fetal weight tended to be lower among overweight mothers, as compared to normal weight mothers, but were not influenced by other maternal characteristics. First, second and third trimester fetal growth characteristics were associated with risks of preterm birth and small size for gestational age at birth, with the strongest associations present in third trimester.

**Conclusions:** Fetal growth characteristics track moderately throughout gestation, with stronger tracking coefficients present in later pregnancy. Tracking coefficients were not materially influenced by maternal socio-demographic and lifestyle characteristics. First, second and third trimester fetal growth characteristics were associated with the risk of adverse birth outcomes.

# Introduction

Fetal growth assessment is important for prenatal care.<sup>1-3</sup> Fetal growth is influenced by several maternal socio-demographic and lifestyle-related characteristics.<sup>1,3-8</sup> Poor second and third trimester fetal growth has been associated with increased risks of preterm birth and low birth weight, and long-term adverse health outcomes.<sup>9-11</sup> Recent studies also observed associations of first trimester fetal growth restriction with the risk of small size for gestational age at birth.<sup>12-14</sup> Most previous studies used fetal growth measured once during pregnancy to examine associations of fetal growth with the risk of adverse birth outcomes.

Studies using longitudinal fetal growth data are scarce. Repeatedly measured fetal growth characteristics enable tracking analyses, which can be used to describe the longitudinal development of individual characteristics. Tracking analyses focus on the maintenance of one's relative position in a population distribution of values over time.<sup>15</sup> Tracking has been described for various health outcomes, such as body mass index and cardiovascular risk factors.<sup>16-19</sup> Tracking of risk factors throughout the life course helps to understand the stability of risk factors across a longer age window, to get further insight in the early origins of adverse outcomes, and may ultimately be relevant for developing clinical prediction models.<sup>15,19</sup> To our knowledge, there are no studies yet that examined tracking of fetal growth characteristics during different periods of gestation in low-risk populations. Examining the extent of tracking of longitudinal fetal growth characteristics might give further insight in the correlations of fetal ultrasound measurements with adverse birth outcomes. These correlations are primarily of interest from an etiological perspective, but may also help to improve future prediction models based on fetal ultrasound measurements.

Therefore, we examined in a population-based prospective cohort study among 8636 pregnant women the extent of tracking of different fetal growth characteristics, and whether this tracking is influenced by maternal socio-demographic and lifestyle-related characteristics and associated with the risk of adverse birth outcomes.

# Subjects and methods

# Study design

This study was embedded in the Generation R Study, a population-based prospective cohort study from early pregnancy onwards in Rotterdam, the Netherlands.<sup>20</sup> The study has been approved by the local Medical Ethical Committee (MEC 198.782/2001/31). Written consent was obtained from all participating women. All pregnant women were enrolled between 2001 and 2005. Response rate at birth was 61%. In total, 8880 women were enrolled during pregnancy. For the present study, we excluded women without any fetal growth measurements (n = 96). We also excluded pregnancies leading to fetal death (n = 74), termination of pregnancy (n = 29) and loss to follow up at birth (n = 45).

Thus, the cohort for analysis comprised 8636 pregnant women (**Figure 3.3.1**). Additionally, we restricted the analyses focused on first trimester fetal growth to women with a known last menstrual date and enrolment before 14 weeks of gestation (n = 1619), as described previously.<sup>12</sup>





#### Fetal growth measurements

Fetal ultrasound examinations were carried out in two dedicated research centers in first (median 12.4 weeks of gestation, 95% range 10.7-13.9), second (median 20.5 weeks of gestation, 95% range 18.5-23.5) and third trimester (median 30.3 weeks of gestation, 95% range 28.3-33.0).

In first trimester, we used crown-rump length to assess fetal growth only in mothers with a known and reliable first day of the last menstrual period, a regular menstrual cycle of 28 days (range 24 - 32 days) and who had fetal crown-rump length measured between a gestational age of 10 weeks 0 days and 13 weeks 6 days.<sup>12</sup> The first day of the last menstrual period was obtained from the referring letter from the community midwife or hospital. This date was confirmed with the subjects at the ultrasound visit, and additional information on the regularity and duration of the menstrual cycle was obtained.<sup>12</sup>

For mothers without this information, gestational age was established by first trimester fetal ultrasound examination. This strategy was performed because of the large number of mothers who do not know their exact date of their last menstrual period or have irregular menstrual cycles.<sup>21</sup> Subsequently, in the second and third trimester, we measured fetal head circumference, abdominal circumference and femur length to the nearest millimeter using standardized ultrasound procedures. Estimated fetal weight was subsequently calculated using the formula of Hadlock et al.<sup>22</sup> Longitudinal growth curves and gestational-age-adjusted standard deviation scores (SDS) were constructed for all fetal growth measurements.<sup>21</sup> These gestational-age-adjusted SDS were based on reference growth curves from the whole study population, and represent the equivalent of z-scores.<sup>21</sup>

# **Birth outcomes**

Information about offspring sex, gestational age, weight, length and head circumference at birth was obtained from medical records.<sup>20</sup> Because head circumference and length were not routinely measured at birth fewer measurements were available (n = 4542 and n = 5366 for head circumference and length at birth, respectively). Gestational-age-adjusted SDS for birth weight, length and head circumference were constructed using North-European growth standards.<sup>23</sup> Preterm birth was defined as a gestational age of <37 weeks at birth. Postterm birth was defined as a gestational age of <37 weeks at birth. Postterm birth was defined as a gestational age of station about spontaneous and medically-induced birth was available from medical records.<sup>20</sup> Small size for gestational age at birth weight below the 5<sup>th</sup> percentile (-1.78 SD) and above the 95<sup>th</sup> percentile (1.57 SD) in the study cohort, respectively.

#### Maternal socio-demographic and lifestyle characteristics

Maternal age was assessed at enrolment. Maternal height (cm) and weight (kg) were measured without shoes and heavy clothing at enrolment and body mass index (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) was calculated. Information on educational level, ethnicity, parity and folic acid supplement use was obtained at enrolment by questionnaire. Information about smoking and alcohol consumption was assessed by questionnaires in each trimester.<sup>20</sup>

#### Statistical analysis

First, we estimated the extent of tracking of fetal growth characteristics SDS from second to third trimester and from second and third trimester to birth, using Pearson's correlation coefficients. Next, we categorized second and third trimester fetal head circumference, femur length and estimated fetal weight SDS in tertiles and used linear regression models to calculate the differences in growth characteristics at birth for the lower and upper tertiles, as compared to the middle tertile. We used similar models to examine tracking of fetal growth characteristics from second to third trimester. Subsequently, we also categorized head circumference, length and weight SDS at birth in tertiles and used logistic regression models to calculate the Odds Ratio (OR) to remain in the same fetal growth characteristic tertile from second to third trimester and from second and third trimester to birth. Similar analyses were performed among a subgroup of women with a known menstrual date, to examine tracking of fetal growth characteristics from first trimester to birth.

Second, we examined whether maternal socio-demographic and lifestyle-related characteristics influence tracking of fetal growth characteristics in different periods of pregnancy. For these analyses, we examined potential interactions between maternal socio-demographic and lifestyle characteristics with fetal growth characteristics. Additionally, we categorized each maternal characteristic, and for each category of that specific maternal characteristic, we estimated fetal growth tracking coefficients using linear regression models.

Third, we used unbalanced repeated measurement regression models to examine whether longitudinal fetal growth patterns are associated with the risk of preterm and postterm birth and small size for gestational age at birth and large size for gestational age at birth. These models take the correlation between repeated measurements of the same subject into account, and allow for optimal use of available data. For these analyses, we used gestational-age-adjusted SDS for each fetal growth characteristic. We categorized children into 3 categories for gestational age at birth: born preterm, born a term and born postterm, and in 3 categories for gestational-age-adjusted size at birth: small size for gestational age, appropriate size for gestational age and large size for gestational age. These categories were included in the models as intercept and as interaction term with gestational age, to study the gestational age-independent effects (difference constant over time) as well as gestational age-dependent effects (difference

non-constant over time), respectively. The actual models are described in detail in the Supplementary Material.

Fourth, we further examined the associations of each fetal growth characteristic SDS in first, second and third trimester and the change of fetal growth characteristics SDS from second to third trimester with the risks of adverse birth outcomes using multiple logistic regression models. These models were adjusted for gestational age at intake, gestational age at each pregnancy period, maternal age, educational level, parity, ethnicity, prepregnancy body mass index, smoking habits, alcohol consumption and folic acid supplement use. Sensitivity analyses among women with a known menstrual date were performed. Missing data of the covariates were imputed using multiple imputations. The percentages of missing values within the population for analysis were lower than 19.4% except for folic acid supplement use (26.0%). We used Markov chain Monte Carlo approach for multiple imputation of missing values in the covariates. Five imputed datasets were created and analyzed together. The repeated measurement analysis was performed using the Statistical Analysis System version 9.2 (SAS, Institute Inc. Cary NC, USA), including the Proc Mixed module for unbalanced repeated measurements. All other analyses were performed using the Statistical Package of Social Sciences version 17.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL, USA).

# Results

# Subject characteristics

**Table 3.3.1** shows the participants characteristics. In total, 464 children were born preterm, 428 children were born postterm, 427 were small size for gestational age at birth and 427 were large size for gestational age at birth.

# Tracking of fetal growth characteristics

Correlation coefficients for fetal head circumference, (femur) length and (estimated) fetal weight were r = 0.16, r = 0.20, r = 0.30 between second trimester and birth and r = 0.38, r = 0.36, r = 0.58 (all P-values <0.05) between third trimester and birth, respectively. The corresponding data and scatterplots are given in **Table 3.3.2** and **Supplementary Figure S3.3.1**.

Table 3.3.3 shows that the differences in head circumference, length and weight at birth for fetuses who were in the upper tertile of each corresponding fetal growth characteristic in second trimester were 0.18 SDS (95% Confidence Interval (CI): 0.10, 0.26), 0.20 SDS (95% CI: 0.12, 0.27) and 0.31 SDS (95% CI: 0.26, 0.36), respectively as compared to fetuses who were in the middle tertile in second trimester. Stronger effect estimates were observed for the associations of third trimester fetal growth characteristics with birth measures (Table 3.3.3). The corresponding histograms are given in Supplementary Figure S3.3.2. Also, Supplementary Tables S3.3.1 and S3.3.2 show that the

ORs for staying in the upper tertile from second trimester to birth and third trimester to birth were strongest for weight (OR 2.22 (95% CI: 2.01, 2.46) and OR 5.29 (95% CI: 4.77, 5.87), for staying in the upper fetal weight tertile from second trimester to birth and third trimester to birth, respectively). As compared with these effect estimates, the ORs for staying in the upper tertile from second to third trimester were stronger.

Within a subgroup of women with a known menstrual date, we examined tracking of fetal growth characteristics from first trimester to birth. Correlation coefficients between crown-rump length in first trimester and head circumference, length and weight at birth were r = 0.10, r = 0.14, and r = 0.12 (P-values <0.05), respectively (**Table 3.3.2**). Difference in weight at birth for fetuses in the upper tertile of crown-rump length in first trimester was 0.12 SDS (95% CI: 0, 0.25), as compared to fetuses in the middle tertile of crown-rump length (**Supplementary Table S3.3.3**). The ORs for staying in the upper tertile from crown-rump length in first trimester to weight at birth was 1.29 (95% CI: 1.00, 1.65) (**Supplementary Table S3.3.4**). When we assessed tracking of fetal growth characteristics from second and third trimester to birth among women with a known menstrual date, results only changed slightly (results not shown).

# Maternal socio-demographic and lifestyle characteristics and tracking of fetal growth

Table 3.3.4 shows that maternal height, parity, educational level, ethnic background, alcohol consumption during pregnancy, smoking during pregnancy and folic acid supplement use did not influence tracking coefficients for (estimated) fetal weight. Tracking coefficients for (estimated) fetal weight from second to third trimester and third trimester to birth were lower among overweight and obese mothers, as compared to normal weight mothers. Among younger mothers, tracking coefficients for (estimated) fetal weight from third trimester to birth were lower, as compared to older mothers. After adjusting for multiple testing, these interaction terms were no longer significant. The influences of maternal characteristics on tracking coefficients for head circumference and length during different periods of gestation are given in the Supplementary Table S3.3.5 and S3.3.6.

# Fetal growth and the risk of adverse birth outcomes

**Figure 3.3.2** shows that as compared to children born term, children born preterm had smaller fetal head circumference, length and weight growth from third trimester onwards, whereas children born after 42 weeks of gestation had smaller fetal growth characteristics in second trimester and higher fetal growth characteristics thereafter. As compared to children born with an appropriate size for gestational age, children born small for gestational age had lower fetal growth rates from second trimester onwards, whereas children born large for gestational age had higher fetal growth rates from second trimester onwards. The fetal growth variation was more strongly associated with size at birth as compared to gestational age at birth.

Characteristics	Value
Maternal characteristics	
Age, median (95% range), vears	30.2 (19.2, 39.2)
Height, mean (SD), cm	167.1 (7.4)
Prepregnancy weight, mean (SD), kg	66.2 (12.8)
Prepregnancy Body Mass Index, mean (SD), kg/m <sup>2</sup>	23.6 (4.4)
Gestational age at intake, median (95% range), weeks	14.4 (10.4, 28.9)
Education. No. (%)	
Primary	918 (11.7)
Secondary	3648 (46.4)
Higher	3289 (41.9)
Race / Ethnicity, No. (%)	( ),
Dutch or European	4588 (57.4)
Non-European	3400 (42.6)
Parity, No. nulliparous (%)	4749 (55.7)
Folic acid supplement use, No. (%)	
Yes	4508 (70.5)
No	1882 (29.5)
Smoking, No. (%)	(====)
Yes	1885 (25 5)
No	5508 (74.5)
Alcohol consumption No. (%)	
Yes	3735 (50.2)
No	3702 (49.8)
	5752 (1515)
Fetal growth characteristics	
First trimester	
Gestational age, median (95% range), weeks	12.4 (10.7, 13.9)
Crown-rump length, mean (SD), mm	61 (11)
Second trimester	
Gestational age, median (95% range), weeks	20.5 (18.5, 23.5)
Head circumference, mean (SD), mm	180 (15)
Abdominal circumference, mean (SD), mm	157 (15)
Femur length, mean (SD), mm	34 (4)
Estimated fetal weight, mean (SD), g	383 (96)
Third trimester	
Gestational age, median (95% range), weeks	30.3 (28.3, 33.0)
Head circumference, mean (SD), mm	285 (13)
Abdominal circumference, mean (SD), mm	264 (17)
Femur length, mean (SD), mm	57 (3)
Estimated fetal weight, mean (SD), g	1616 (266)
Birth characteristics	
Males. No. (%)	4361 (50.5)
Gestational age, median (95% range), weeks	40.1 (35.4, 42.3)
Birth head circumference, mean (SD), cm	33.8 (1.7)
Birth length, mean (SD), cm	50.2 (2.4)
Birth weight, mean (SD), g	3410 (562)
Overall preterm birth, No. (%)	464 (5.4)
Spontaneous preterm birth, No. (%)	296 (3.5)
Postterm birth, No. (%)	428 (5.2)
Small for gestational age. No. (%)	427 (5.0)
Large for gestational age. No. (%)	427 (5.0)

Table 3.3.1. Characteristics of	mothers and their children	in the Generation R Study,	, 2001-2005 (n = 8636) <sup>1</sup>
---------------------------------	----------------------------	----------------------------	-------------------------------------

<sup>1</sup>Values are observed data and represent means (SD), medians (95% range) or numbers of subjects (valid %).

	Second trimes	ster			Third trimester				Birth		
Measurements	Head circumference	Abdominal e circumference	Femur length	Estimated fetal weight	Head circumference	Abdominal circumference	Femur length	Estimated 1 fetal weight	Head circumference	Length	Weight
<b>First trimester</b> Crown rump length	-0.11 (-0.16, -0.05)	-0.09 (-0.14, -0.04)	-0.08 (-0.12, -0.03)	-0.10 (-0.15, -0.06)	0.06 (0.01, 0.11)	0.06 (0.01, 0.11)	0.00 (-0.05, 0.05)	0.04 (-0.01, 0.09)	0.10 (0.02, 0.18)	0.14 (0.07, 0.21)	0.12 (0.07, 0.17)
Second trimester Head		۲4 C	0.41	057	64 U	0.31	3C 0	0.36	0.16	0.17	0 22
circumference		(0.43, 0.47)	(0.39, 0.43)	(0.50, 0.54)	(0.41, 0.45)	(0.29, 0.33)	(0.23, 0.27)	(0.34, 0.38)	(0.13, 0.20)	(0.14, 0.20)	(0.20, 0.24)
Abdominal circumference			0.35 (0 37 0 37)	0.86 (0.85_0.88)	,	0.44 (n 42 n 46)	0.24 (0.27 0.26)	0.46 (0.44_0.48)	0.15 (0 12 0 19)	0.21 (0.18_0.24)	0.30 (0.28 0.32)
Femur length	ı	ı		0.74 0.73 0.76)		(ot.o (at.o)	0.53 0.53 (0.51 0.55)	0.41 0.39 0.43	0.09	0.20 0.17 0.23	0.18 0.16 0.16 0.21)
Estimated fetal weight					T		-	0.53 (0.51, 0.55)	(0.11, 0.18) (0.11, 0.18)	(0.25 (0.21, 0.28)	(0.28, 0.32)
Third trimester								1			0
Head circumference	1	1				0.43 (0.43 0.47)	(22 U 22 U 22 U	0.47 (0.45_0.49)	0.38 (0 34 0 41)	0.28 (0.25 0.31)	0.40 (0 38 0 42)
Abdominal	,		,		,	( ++- o ( o +- o )	0.33	0.92	0.31	0.39	0.57
circumference Femur lenøth	,						(0.30, 0.35) -	(0.91, 0.93) 0.67	(0.28, 0.34) 0.20	(0.36, 0.42) 0.36	(0.55, 0.58) 0.35
D								(0.65, 0.69)	(0.17, 0.23)	(0.33, 0.39)	(0.33, 0.37)
Estimated fetal weight	ı	ı		ī	ı	ı		ī	0.32 (0.29, 0.35)	0.45 (0.42, 0.48)	0.58 (0.57, 0.60)
Birth										~ ~	ç
rreau circumference			,			,	1			0.44 (0.41, 0.47)	0.42 (0.40, 0.46)
Length	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	0.50 (0.48, 0.52)
	Second to third trimester <sup>3</sup>	Second trimester to birth <sup>4</sup>	Third trimester to birth⁵								
--------------------------------	--	--	---------------------------								
	Head circumference (SDS)										
Tertiles of head circumference											
Lowest	-0.48 (-0.53, -0.43)**	-0.17 (-0.25, -0.09)**	-0.42 (-0.50, -0.34)**								
Middle	Reference	Reference	Reference								
Highest	0.46 (0.41, 0.51)**	0.18 (0.10, 0.26)**	0.34 (0.27, 0.42)**								
	(Femur) length (SDS)										
Tertiles of femur length											
Lowest	-0.61 (-0.66, -0.57)**	-0.23 (-0.31, -0.16)**	-0.39 (-0.46, -0.32)**								
Middle	Reference	Reference	Reference								
Highest	0.55 (0.51, 0.60)**	0.20 (0.12, 0.27)**	0.37 (0.29, 0.44)**								
	(Estimated or birth) weight (SD	S)									
Tertiles of estimated weight											
Lowest	-0.55 (-0.60, -0.50)**	-0.34 (-0.39, -0.29)**	-0.61 (-0.66,- 0.56)**								
Middle	Reference	Reference	Reference								
Highest	0.57 (0.53, 0.62)**	0.31 (0.26, 0.36)**	0.60 (0.55, 0.64)**								

Table 3.3.3. Tracking of fetal growth characteristics during different periods of gestation in the Generation R Study,  $2001-2005^{1,2}$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values are differences (95% Confidence Interval) in fetal growth characteristics in SDS from linear regression models. Estimates are from multiple imputed data. Corresponding histograms are given in **Supplementary Figure S3.3.2**. <sup>2</sup>Models are adjusted for gestational age at intake, gestational age during each pregnancy period, maternal age, educational level, parity, ethnicity, prepregnancy body mass index, smoking habits during pregnancy, alcohol consumption during pregnancy and folic acid supplement use during pregnancy. <sup>3</sup>Values are differences in head circumference, length and weight in SDS in third trimester for fetuses who were in the lower and upper tertile of each fetal growth characteristic in second trimester as compared to fetuses who were in the middle tertile in second trimester. <sup>4</sup>Values are differences in head circumference, length and weight in SDS at birth for fetuses who were in the lower and upper tertile of each fetal growth characteristic in second trimester. <sup>5</sup>Values are differences in head circumference, length and weight in SDS at birth for fetuses who were in the middle tertile in second trimester. <sup>5</sup>Values are differences in head circumference, length and weight in SDS at birth for fetuses who were in the lower and upper tertile of each fetal growth characteristic in third trimester as compared to fetuses who were in the middle tertile in second trimester. <sup>5</sup>Values are differences in head circumference, length and weight in SDS at birth for fetuses who were in the lower and upper tertile of each fetal growth characteristic in third trimester as compared to fetuses who were in the middle tertile in third trimester. \*\*P-value <0.01.

Table 3.3.5 shows that larger first trimester crown-rump length was associated with a lower risk of overall preterm birth and small size for gestational age at birth (OR for overall preterm birth and small size for gestational age at birth 0.71 (95% CI: 0.55, 0.92) and 0.72 (95% CI: 0.55, 0.92) per SDS change in crown-rump length, respectively). The results for preterm birth were not materially affected when we restricted analyses to spontaneous preterm birth only. Larger second trimester fetal growth characteristics were associated with a lower risk of postterm birth and small size for gestational age at birth and a higher risk of large size for gestational age at birth (P-values <0.05), but were not associated with the risk of overall preterm birth. Stronger associations were present for all third trimester fetal growth characteristics, with the strongest effect estimates for estimated fetal weight (OR for the risk of overall preterm birth (OR 0.82 (95% CI: 0.73, 0.91), postterm birth (OR 0.83 (95% CI: 0.75, 0.92), small size for gestational age at birth (OR 0.19 (95% CI: 0.16, 0.22) and large size for gestational age at birth (OR 3.17 (95% CI: 2.84, 3.53) per SDS change in third trimester estimated fetal weight, respectively). When we restricted analyses to spontaneous preterm birth only, larger second trimester fetal growth characteristics were associated with a higher risk of spontaneous preterm birth, whereas the associations of third trimester fetal growth characteristics with spontaneous preterm birth attenuated. Additional adjustment for maternal pregnancy complications and mode of delivery did not materially change the effect

estimates (results not shown). Results were similar when analyses were performed among women with a known last menstrual date (results not shown).

	Second to third trimester		Secon	d trimester to birth	Third trimester to birth		
Maternal	-	Regression		Regression		Regression	
characteristics	n	coefficient (95% CI)	n	coefficient (95% CI)	n	coefficient (95% CI)	
Age (vrs)		· · · · · ·		· · ·			
< 25 vrs	1590	0.52 (0.48, 0.56)	1645	0.27 (0.23, 0.31)	1692	0 53 (0 / 9 0 57)	
25 yrs	5001	0.52 (0.40, 0.50)	51/7	0.31 (0.28, 0.34)	5259	0.59 (0.56 0.61)	
23 33 yrs	1120	0.34 (0.32, 0.53)	1171	0.31 (0.20, 0.34)	1216	0.55 (0.55, 0.64)	
×35 yrs	1125	Interaction P=0.57	11/1	Interaction P=0.34	1210	Interaction P=0.01	
Height (cm)		11111111111-0.57		Interaction 1 = 0.54		111111111111-0.01	
< 165 cm	3781	0.53 (0.51, 0.56)	3/1/	0 31 (0 27 0 34)	3515	0.59 (0.56, 0.62)	
165-175 cm	3363	0.53 (0.31, 0.50)	3/50	0.26 (0.23, 0.29)	3531	0.55 (0.53, 0.52)	
>175 cm	1073	0.32 (0.45, 0.53)	1099	0.28 (0.23, 0.23)	1121	0.53 (0.48, 0.58)	
×1/5 cm	1075	Interaction P=0.12	1055	Interaction P=0.18	1121	Interaction P=0.16	
Prepregnancy weight (kg)		Interaction 1 -0.12		Interaction 1 -0.10		Interdetion 1 = 0.10	
	1126	0 52 (0 49 0 55)	1210	0.20 (0.26, 0.32)	1211	0.58 (0.55, 0.60)	
65 75 kg	24120	0.52 (0.49, 0.55)	2520	0.29 (0.20, 0.32)	2615	0.58 (0.55, 0.00)	
575 kg	1120	0.52 (0.48, 0.55)	1175	0.28 (0.24, 0.32)	12015	0.50(0.52, 0.59)	
273 Kg	1155	0.31(0.43, 0.30)	11/5	0.20 (0.20, 0.31)	1209	0.55(0.51, 0.00)	
Prepregnancy body mass		Interaction P=0.42		Interaction P=0.05		IIIteraction P=0.02	
index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )							
Normal	E 400		ECCT	0 20 /0 27 0 22)	E 70C		
Overweight	1670	0.52 (0.50, 0.55)	1720	0.30 (0.27, 0.33)	1002		
Obecity	1070 E42	0.55 (0.46, 0.56)	1730 ECC	0.29 (0.24, 0.34)	1002 E 70	0.58 (0.54, 0.62)	
Obesity	545	0.31 (0.43, 0.39)	500	0.23 (0.17, 0.34)	373	0.37 (0.31, 0.04)	
Darity		Interaction F=0.95		Interaction P=0.22		IIIteraction P=0.52	
Nulliparous	1272		1100	0 21 (0 20 0 22)	101		
Multiparous	4373		2400	0.31 (0.28, 0.33)	4301 2506		
Multipalous	3347	0.32 (0.49, 0.33)	3493	0.27 (0.24, 0.31)	3300	0.50 (0.54, 0.59)	
Highest education		Interaction P=0.71		Interaction P=0.14		Interaction P=0.50	
Primary school	000		012	0.28 (0.21.0.25)	001		
Socondany school	2612		243 2726	0.26 (0.21, 0.33)	204 2010	0.52(0.47, 0.56)	
Higher education	2210	0.52 (0.50, 0.55)	2720	0.30 (0.27, 0.33)	2212		
Higher education	5210	0.32 (0.49, 0.30)	3204	0.30 (0.27, 0.34)	5545	0.39(0.30, 0.02)	
Ethnicity		Interaction P=0.21		Interaction P=0.56		IIIteraction F=0.05	
European	1172		1525	0 20 (0 27 0 22)	1612		
Non European	4423 2207	0.52 (0.50, 0.55)	2122	0.30 (0.27, 0.32)	2555	0.58 (0.55, 0.60)	
Non-European	5297	Interaction P=0.65	5420	Interaction P=0.02	5555	Interaction P=0.58	
Alcohol consumption		11111111111-0.05		11111111111-0.52		11111111111-0.50	
No	3802	0 52 (0 50 0 55)	39/6	0.28 (0.25, 0.31)	1105	0.57 (0.54, 0.60)	
Vec	2012	0.52 (0.50, 0.55)	1017	0.20 (0.20, 0.31)	4105	0.60 (0.57, 0.62)	
103	5510	Interaction P=0.63	4017	Interaction P=0.12	4002	Interaction P=0.16	
Smoking habits		11111111111-0.05		Interaction 1 -0.12		Interdetion 1 = 0.10	
None	57/1	0 53 (0 50 0 55)	5930	0.29 (0.27, 0.32)	6092	0.58 (0.56, 0.60)	
Vec	1978	0.53 (0.49, 0.57)	2033	0.23 (0.27, 0.32)	2075	0.58 (0.55, 0.62)	
163	1970	Interaction P=0.81	2055	Interaction P=0.47	2075	Interaction P=0.89	
Folic acid supplement use		Interaction r =0.81		Interaction F=0.47		Interaction r=0.89	
Preconcention	2000	0.51 (0.48 .0.54)	3065	0 32 (0 28 0 36)	3107	0.59 (0.56, 0.63)	
First 10 weeks	2330	0.51 (0.40, 0.54)	2/82	0.32 (0.28, 0.30)	2537	0.55 (0.50, 0.05)	
None	2450	0.53 (0.51, 0.56)	2400	0.20 (0.24, 0.33)	2557	0.55 (0.52, 0.00)	
NUTC	2000	Interaction $P=0.57$	2410	Interaction P=0 18	2020	Interaction P=0 51	

Table 3.3.4. Maternal characteristics and fetal weight tracking coefficients during different periods of gestation in the Generation R Study,  $2001-2005^1$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values are regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) for fetal weight among different maternal characteristic categories during different periods of gestation from linear regression models. Estimates are from multiple imputed data.



Figure 3.3.2. Longitudinal fetal growth patterns and the risks of adverse birth outcomes in the Generation R Study, 2001-2005  $(n = 8636)^1$ 

**3.3.2a.** Fetal growth among preterm born infants as compared to term born infants



**3.3.2b.** Fetal growth among postterm born infants as compared to term born infants



**3.3.2c.** Fetal growth among small for gestational age infants as compared to appropriate size for gestational age infants



<sup>1</sup>Fetal growth among preterm born infants (A), fetal growth among postterm born infants (B), fetal growth among small for gestational age infants (C), fetal growth among large for gestational age infants (D). Results are based on repeated measurement regression models and reflect the differences in gestational age adjusted SDS scores of fetal head circumference, length and weight growth for preterm born infants and postterm born infants compared to term born infants in second trimester, third trimester and at birth and for small for gestational age infants and large for gestational age infants as compared to appropriate size for gestational age infants in second trimester, third trimester and at birth, respectively (reference group represented as zero line). Results for spontaneous preterm birth were similar (not shown). Head circumference, length and weight growth characteristics used in the models in the fetal period: second and third trimester: head circumference, femur length and estimated fetal weight; at birth: birth head circumference, birth length and birth weight. Model information is given in the Supplementary Material.

**Table 3.3.5.** Associations of fetal growth characteristics with the risks of adverse birth outcomes in the Generation R Study, 2001-2005 (n = 8636)<sup>1,2</sup>

Pregnancy period	Preterm birth	Spontaneous preterm birth	Postterm birth	Small for gestational age	Large for gestational age
First trimeste	r ultrasound				
CRL <sup>3</sup>	0.71 (0.55, 0.92)*	0.75 (0.55, 1.02)	1.14 (0.89, 1.46)	0.72 (0.55, 0.92)*	1.27 (1.01, 1.60)*
Second trime	ster ultrasound				
HC	1.10 (1.00, 1.21)	1.15 (1.02, 1.29)**	0.71 (0.64, 0.79)**	0.63 (0.57, 0.70)**	1.35 (1.22, 1.49)**
AC	1.05 (0.96, 1.15)	1.13 (1.00, 1.27)*	0.73 (0.66, 0.81)**	0.51 (0.45, 0.56)**	1.58 (1.42, 1.74)**
FL	1.07 (0.97, 1.17)	1.17 (1.04, 1.31)*	0.64 (0.58, 0.71)**	0.60 (0.54, 0.66)**	1.34 (1.21, 1.58)**
EFW	1.09 (0.99, 1.20)	1.19 (1.06, 1.33)**	0.62 (0.55, 0.69)**	0.44 (0.39, 0.50)**	1.54 (1.40, 1.69)**
Third trimest	er ultrasound				
HC	0.74 (0.67, 0.82)**	0.77 (0.68, 0.88)**	0.96 (0.87, 1.07)	0.42 (0.37, 0.47)**	2.14 (1.92, 2.38)**
AC	0.81 (0.73, 0.90)**	0.97 (0.85, 1.10)	0.91 (0.82, 1.01)	0.25 (0.22, 0.29)**	3.26 (2.90, 3.67)**
FL	0.82 (0.74, 0.91)**	0.93 (0.82, 1.05)	0.79 (0.71, 0.87)**	0.38 (0.34, 0.43)**	1.96 (1.76, 2.17)**
EFW	0.82 (0.73, 0.91)**	0.98 (0.86, 1.11)	0.83 (0.75, 0.92)**	0.19 (0.16, 0.22)**	3.17 (2.84, 3.53)**
Second to thi	rd trimester change⁴				
HC	0.71 (0.64, 0.79)**	0.73 (0.64, 0.82)**	1.35 (1.22, 1.50)**	0.73 (0.65, 0.84)**	1.43 (1.29, 1.58)**
AC	0.76 (0.64, 0.84)**	0.87 (0.77, 0.98)*	1.21 (1.10, 1.33)**	0.61 (0.55, 0.67)**	1.76 (1.59, 1.94)**
FL	0.75 (0.67, 0.83)**	0.77 (0.68, 0.88)**	1.25 (1.12, 1.39)**	0.66 (0.59, 0.73)**	1.43 (1.29, 1.59)**
EFW	0.71 (0.64, 0.80)**	0.81 (0.71, 0.93)**	1.31 (1.18, 1.46)**	0.55 (0.49, 0.61)**	2.09 (1.87, 2.33)**

Abbreviations: CRL, crown-rump length; HC, head circumference; AC, abdominal circumference; FL, femur length; EFW, estimated fetal weight

<sup>1</sup>Values are Odds Ratios (95% Confidence Interval) that reflect the difference in risks of pregnancy complications per standard deviation score (SDS) change in fetal growth characteristic in first, second and third trimester and between second and third trimester. Estimates are from multiple imputed data. <sup>2</sup>Models are adjusted for gestational age at intake, maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, prepregnancy body mass index, smoking habits during pregnancy, alcohol consumption during pregnancy and folic acid supplement use during pregnancy. <sup>3</sup>Model is additionally adjusted for duration of menstrual cycle. <sup>4</sup>Model is additionally adjusted for gestational age in pregnancy period. \*P-value <0.05. \*\*P-value <0.01.

#### Discussion

Results from this population-based prospective cohort study showed that fetal growth characteristics track moderately during pregnancy. Tracking coefficients were strongest in late pregnancy and were not materially influenced by maternal socio-demographic and lifestyle characteristics. First, second and third trimester fetal growth characteristics were associated with the risk of adverse birth outcomes, with the strongest associations present for third trimester abdominal circumference and estimated fetal weight.

#### Methodological considerations

We had a prospective data collection from early pregnancy onwards and a large sample size of 8636 participants with fetal growth measurements available in each trimester. The response rate at baseline for participation in the study was 61%. The non-response at baseline would lead to biased effect estimates if associations would be different between those included and not included in the analyses. However, this seems unlike-ly.<sup>24</sup> The non-response might have led to a selection of a more healthy population, and might affect the generalizability of our results. Furthermore, we had a relative small number of cases of adverse birth outcomes which might also indicate a selection

towards a healthy, low-risk population. Pregnancy dating for most women was performed using ultrasound measurements of crown-rump length or biparietal diameter at the first visit. This method might be better than dating by last menstrual period, but neglects variation in early fetal growth. As a consequence, growth variation in second and third trimester might be underestimated. However, when we assessed tracking of fetal growth characteristics throughout gestation among women with a known menstrual date, conclusions were similar. Although, we observed a high reproducibility of the fetal ultrasound measurements,<sup>21</sup> ultrasound assessment of fetal growth, especially in early pregnancy, may be liable to measurement error. Growth measures at birth, especially head circumference, may be also prone to imprecision and inaccuracy. The tracking correlation of estimated fetal weight may especially be affected by measurement error, as this is calculated from multiple fetal biometry measures. In addition, it needs to be taken into account that measurement error could be related to fetal health status. Thus, our observed tracking correlation coefficients may be underestimated due to measurement error of the ultrasound assessment and at birth. The absolute measurement error is expected to be stable throughout pregnancy. However, because of the smaller fetal size, the relative measurement error might be larger in early pregnancy than in late pregnancy. This might have led to an underestimation of especially the correlation coefficients in early pregnancy.

# Interpretation of main findings

Fetal ultrasound measurements are important examinations during pregnancy. However, not much is known about the stability of fetal growth characteristics throughout pregnancy. We examined tracking of fetal growth characteristics throughout gestation in a low-risk population. We observed low to moderate correlation coefficients between first, second and third trimester fetal growth characteristics and size at birth, but some tracking of fetal growth characteristics was present already from first trimester onwards. The observed correlation coefficients of fetal growth characteristics between different trimesters were stronger in late pregnancy. The strongest correlation coefficients of fetal growth characteristics were observed between third trimester and birth. Compared with the other fetal growth characteristics, abdominal circumference and estimated fetal weight tracked most strongly during different periods of gestation and were most strongly correlated with birth weight. These findings are in line with a previous study performed among 1650 low-risk British pregnancies, which reported that the correlation of fetal growth measures between 20 and 30 weeks of gestation and birth was generally poor, but the correlation of fetal size at 30 weeks of gestation with size at birth was better than the 20 weeks correlation.<sup>25</sup> Furthermore, a study among 625 lowrisk fetuses examining tracking of femur length throughout gestation reported that deviation from tracking of femur length, defined as deviation from the fetus's original femur length quartile, occurred in 87% of fetuses.<sup>26</sup> Thus, results from both our and previous studies suggest moderate tracking of fetal growth characteristics throughout pregnancy among low-risk populations.

Fetal growth charts, which show intrauterine growth as a smooth continuous process, suggest that a fetus's growth characteristics track relative to growth characteristics of other fetuses. Poor tracking of fetal growth characteristics from early pregnancy to birth may partly be due to measurement error related to fetal ultrasound assessment, but may also suggest that a fetus does not have a stable growth trajectory from early pregnancy onwards. Generally, it is assumed that each fetus maintains its own growth percentile. Whether deviation from this percentile occurs due to genetic influences or due to environmental influences on fetal growth remains unclear.<sup>25</sup> The study from Biornerem et al focused on tracking of femur length throughout gestation among low-risk fetuses suggested that placental weight, maternal height and weight contributed to deviation from tracking.<sup>26</sup> We observed that tracking of fetal length and weight growth characteristics from second and third trimester to birth tended to be lower among overweight or obese mothers, but after taking multiple testing into account these findings were no longer significant. Lower correlation coefficients between fetal growth characteristics among overweight and obese women might also be explained by a higher amount of measurement error of fetal ultrasound measures among these women. We observed no other consistent influences of maternal characteristics on tracking coefficients of fetal growth. This does not suggest that these maternal characteristics do not affect fetal growth. Many studies, of which several from the same cohort as in the present study, have shown that both non-pathological and pathological maternal and fetal characteristics influence fetal growth.<sup>4-8</sup> However, the effect estimates for these associations are small to moderate. The lack of associations of various maternal sociodemographic and lifestyle-related variables with fetal growth tracking coefficients may be due to the relatively small influences of these maternal characteristics on fetal growth, but may also suggest that potential growth adaptations are already occurring in early pregnancy. If the growth trajectory is already changed early in pregnancy, the tracking coefficients later in pregnancy are not modified. We have previously observed that various maternal socio-demographic and lifestyle-related variables affect fetal growth in first trimester.<sup>12</sup>

We observed that higher first trimester fetal crown-rump length was associated with lower risks of preterm birth and small size for gestational age at birth. Previously, we observed in the same cohort as used in the present study, that first trimester fetal growth restriction is associated with higher risks of accelerated postnatal growth and adverse cardiovascular outcomes in childhood.<sup>12,27</sup> A study among 976 pregnant women after assisted reproductive therapy reported that fetal size in first trimester was positively associated with birth weight.<sup>13</sup> Another study among 4229 women reported that suboptimal first trimester fetal growth was associated with low birth weight and premature delivery.<sup>28</sup> However, a Dutch case-control study among 129 women observed no association between shorter first trimester crown-rump length and spontaneous preterm birth <32 weeks of gestation.<sup>29</sup> The authors from this latter study suggested that shorter fetal growth restriction.<sup>29</sup> However, in our study we observed that lower first trimester fetal growth tended to be associated with increased risks of both overall

and spontaneous preterm birth. It has been suggested that variation in first-trimester fetal size largely reflects variation in timing of ovulation and implantation, and that this variation may partly explain these associations.<sup>30</sup> We were unable to measure timing of ovulation and implantation. However, all analyses focused on first trimester fetal growth and birth outcomes were adjusted for duration of last menstrual cycle, which is strongly associated with the timing of ovulation. Still, even with a known and reliable last menstrual period, a certain fraction of women with regular cycles have early or delayed ovulation. We performed a sensitivity analysis with a restriction to participants who had a gestational age based on last menstruation within 7 days of a gestational age based on crown-rump length (93%). This analysis did not materially change our effect estimates focused on birth outcomes.

Larger second and third trimester fetal growth characteristics were associated with a lower risk of postterm birth, small size for gestational age at birth and a higher risk of large size for gestational age at birth. Associations of second and third trimester fetal growth characteristics with adverse outcomes were stronger as compared to associations of first trimester fetal growth, which is in line with our observed stronger tracking coefficients in later pregnancy. Strongest associations with adverse outcomes were present for third trimester abdominal circumference and estimated fetal weight. Accordingly, previous studies suggested that abnormal abdominal circumference and estimated fetal weight are most predictive of adverse birth outcomes and ultrasound assessment performed closer to delivery tends to have a higher predictive ability as compared to ultrasound assessment performed in early gestation.<sup>9,31-33</sup>

Several studies have reported that smaller third trimester fetal growth characteristics are associated with a higher risk of overall and spontaneous preterm birth.<sup>9,34</sup> We observed that smaller third trimester fetal growth characteristics were associated with a higher risk of overall preterm birth. The smaller effect estimates after exclusion of nonspontaneous preterm births, suggest that at least part of this association is explained by medically-induced preterm delivery. Less is known about the associations of second trimester fetal growth with preterm birth. Reported associations of second trimester fetal growth characteristics with preterm birth are less consistent.<sup>10,35-38</sup> A study among 290 young, primarily minority US women reported no differences in second trimester fetal growth characteristics between preterm and term born children, but third trimester fetal growth characteristics and rates of fetal growth between 20-32 weeks were lower among preterm born children.<sup>35</sup> Another study among 541 low-risk women with a spontaneous delivery showed that small second trimester fetal size was associated with a lower birth weight and longer pregnancy duration.<sup>36</sup> In line with this latter study, our longitudinal analyses showed that spontaneous preterm born children tended to be larger in second trimester and became smaller from third trimester onwards, whereas postterm born children were smaller in second trimester and became larger from third trimester onwards. It has been suggested that fetuses who are smaller within the normal biological variation, but not severely growth restricted, have a longer pregnancy duration.<sup>36</sup> However, the associations of fetal growth characteristics with gestational age at birth may also be explained by misclassification of gestational age. Also,

the associations of fetal growth characteristics with the risk of preterm birth may be different for different aetiologies of preterm birth.<sup>35,39</sup> Further research to assess associations of fetal growth characteristics with the risks of various types of preterm birth is necessary. Our findings related to the associations of second and third trimester fetal growth characteristics with the risks of small- and large size for gestational age at birth are in line with previous studies performed among both high-risk and low-risk populations.<sup>37,40-43</sup>

The use of a single measurement of fetal growth for identification of fetuses at risk of adverse birth outcomes has important limitations.<sup>44</sup> Compared to a single fetal growth measurement, longitudinal growth measurements may provide additional information for identification of fetuses at risk. We observed specific longitudinal growth patterns from second trimester onwards that were associated with adverse birth outcomes. A study performed among a high-risk population of 321 women showed that fetuses with inadequate growth between two ultrasound assessments, defined as estimated fetal weight growth below or at the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile, were more likely to be small for their gestational age at birth and to be born preterm, as compared to normal growing fetuses.<sup>44</sup>

Most studies that examined the predictive accuracy of a single fetal ultrasound examination have suggested that among low-risk populations the predictive accuracy for adverse birth outcomes is moderate, especially for fetal ultrasound performed in early pregnancy.<sup>31,45-48</sup> In line with these findings, we observed moderate tracking of fetal growth characteristics throughout pregnancy. Further research is necessary to examine whether serial assessment of fetal growth, in addition to individual characteristics or specific biomarkers, improve the prediction of adverse birth outcomes, especially among lower risk populations.

#### Conclusion

Our study showed that fetal growth characteristics track moderately during pregnancy and fetal growth tracking coefficients are not materially influenced by maternal characteristics. First, second and third trimester fetal growth characteristics are associated with the risk of adverse birth outcomes, with the strongest associations present in third trimester. Further studies are needed focused on the predictive value of different and combined fetal ultrasound examinations for the prediction of adverse birth outcomes, especially among low-risk populations.

# References

- 1. Fang S. Management of preterm infants with intrauterine growth restriction. Early Hum Dev 2005;81(11):889-900.
- Pallotto EK, Kilbride HW. Perinatal outcome and later implications of intrauterine growth restriction. Clin Obstet Gynecol 2006;49(2):257-69.
- 3. Rosenberg A. The IUGR newborn. Semin Perinatol 2008;32(3):219-24.

- Jaddoe VW, Troe EJ, Hofman A, Mackenbach JP, Moll HA, Steegers EA, Witteman JC. Active and passive maternal smoking during pregnancy and the risks of low birthweight and preterm birth: the Generation R Study. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol 2008;22(2):162-71.
- Albouy-Llaty M, Thiebaugeorges O, Goua V, Magnin G, Schweitzer M, Forhan A, Lelong N, Slama R, Charles MA, Kaminski M. Influence of fetal and parental factors on intrauterine growth measurements: results of the EDEN mother-child cohort. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2011;38(6):673-80.
- Ay L, Kruithof CJ, Bakker R, Steegers EA, Witteman JC, Moll HA, Hofman A, Mackenbach JP, Hokken-Koelega AC, Jaddoe VW. Maternal anthropometrics are associated with fetal size in different periods of pregnancy and at birth. The Generation R Study. BJOG 2009;116(7):953-63.
- 7. Bakker R, Steegers EA, Biharie AA, Mackenbach JP, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Explaining differences in birth outcomes in relation to maternal age: the Generation R Study. BJOG 2011;118(4):500-9.
- Drooger JC, Troe JW, Borsboom GJ, Hofman A, Mackenbach JP, Moll HA, Snijders RJ, Verhulst FC, Witteman JC, Steegers EA, Joung IM. Ethnic differences in prenatal growth and the association with maternal and fetal characteristics. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2005;26(2):115-22.
- 9. Smith-Bindman R, Chu PW, Ecker J, Feldstein VA, Filly RA, Bacchetti P. Adverse birth outcomes in relation to prenatal sonographic measurements of fetal size. J Ultrasound Med 2003;22(4):347-56; quiz 357-8.
- 10. Nakling J, Backe B. Adverse obstetric outcome in fetuses that are smaller than expected at second trimester routine ultrasound examination. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2002;81(9):846-51.
- 11. Gluckman PD, Hanson MA, Cooper C, Thornburg KL. Effect of in utero and early life conditions on adult health and disease. N Engl J Med 2008;359(1):61-73.
- 12. Mook-Kanamori DO, Steegers EA, Eilers PH, Raat H, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Risk factors and outcomes associated with first-trimester fetal growth restriction. JAMA 2010;303(6):527-34.
- Bukowski R, Smith GC, Malone FD, Ball RH, Nyberg DA, Comstock CH, Hankins GD, Berkowitz RL, Gross SJ, Dugoff L, Craigo SD, Timor-Tritsch IE, Carr SR, Wolfe HM, D'Alton ME. Fetal growth in early pregnancy and risk of delivering low birth weight infant: prospective cohort study. BMJ 2007;334(7598):836.
- 14. Salomon ⊔, Hourrier S, Fanchin R, Ville Y, Rozenberg P. Is first-trimester crown rump length associated with birthweight? BJOG 2011;118(10):1223-8.
- Twisk, JWR. Applied longitudinal data analyses for epidemiology: a practical guide.Cambridge University Press: New York, 2003.
- Singh AS, Mulder C, Twisk JW, van Mechelen W, Chinapaw MJ. Tracking of childhood overweight into adulthood: a systematic review of the literature. Obes Rev 2008;9(5):474-88.
- 17. Chen X, Wang Y. Tracking of blood pressure from childhood to adulthood: a systematic review and meta-regression analysis. Circulation 2008;117(25):3171-80.
- Juhola J, Magnussen CG, Viikari JS, Kahonen M, Hutri-Kahonen N, Jula A, Lehtimaki T, Akerblom HK, Pietikainen M, Laitinen T, Jokinen E, Taittonen L, Raitakari OT, Juonala M. Tracking of serum lipid levels, blood pressure, and body mass index from childhood to adulthood: the Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study. J Pediatr 2011;159(4):584-90.
- 19. Hofman A, Valkenburg HA, Maas J, Groustra FN. The natural history of blood pressure in childhood. Int J Epidemiol 1985;14(1):91-6.
- Jaddoe VW, van Duijn CM, Franco OH, van der Heijden AJ, van lizendoorn MH, de Jongste JC, van der Lugt A, Mackenbach JP, Moll HA, Raat H, Rivadeneira F, Steegers EA, Tiemeier H, Uitterlinden AG, Verhulst FC, Hofman A. The Generation R Study: design and cohort update 2012. Eur J Epidemiol 2012;27(9):739-56.
- 21. Verburg BO, Steegers EA, De Ridder M, Snijders RJ, Smith E, Hofman A, Moll HA, Jaddoe VW, Witteman JC. New charts for ultrasound dating of pregnancy and assessment of fetal growth: longitudinal data from a population-based cohort study. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2008;31(4):388-96.
- 22. Hadlock FP, Harrist RB, Sharman RS, Deter RL, Park SK. Estimation of fetal weight with the use of head, body, and femur measurements--a prospective study. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1985;151(3):333-7.
- Niklasson A, Ericson A, Fryer JG, Karlberg J, Lawrence C, Karlberg P. An update of the Swedish reference standards for weight, length and head circumference at birth for given gestational age (1977-1981). Acta Paediatr Scand 1991;80(8-9):756-62.
- 24. Nohr EA, Frydenberg M, Henriksen TB, Olsen J. Does low participation in cohort studies induce bias? Epidemiology 2006;17(4):413-8.
- 25. Hindmarsh PC, Geary MP, Rodeck CH, Kingdom JC, Cole TJ. Intrauterine growth and its relationship to size and shape at birth. Pediatr Res 2002;52(2):263-8.
- Bjornerem A, Johnsen SL, Nguyen TV, Kiserud T, Seeman E. The shifting trajectory of growth in femur length during gestation. J Bone Miner Res 2010;25(5):1029-33.
- 27. Jaddoe VW, de Jonge LL, Hofman A, Franco OH, Steegers EA, Gaillard R. First trimester fetal growth restriction and cardiovascular risk factors in school age children: population based cohort study. BMJ. 2014;348:g14.
- 28. Smith GC, Smith MF, McNay MB, Fleming JE. First-trimester growth and the risk of low birth weight. N Engl J Med 1998;339(25):1817-22.
- 29. Kazemier BM, Kleinrouweler CE, Oudijk MA, van der Post JA, Mol BW, Vis JY, Pajkrt E. Is short first-trimester crown-rump length associated with spontaneous preterm birth? Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2012;40(6):636-41.

- Mahendru AA, Daemen A, Everett TR, Wilkinson IB, McEniery CM, Abdallah Y, Timmerman D, Bourne T, Lees CC. Impact
  of ovulation and implantation timing on first trimester crown-rump length and gestational age. Ultrasound Obstet
  Gynecol 2012;40(6):630-5.
- David C, Tagliavini G, Pilu G, Rudenholz A, Bovicelli L. Receiver-operator characteristic curves for the ultrasonographic prediction of small-for-gestational-age fetuses in low-risk pregnancies. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1996;174(3):1037-42.
- 32. Larsen T, Greisen G, Petersen S. Prediction of birth weight by ultrasound-estimated fetal weight: a comparison between single and repeated estimates. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 1995;60(1):37-40.
- 33. Tuuli MG, Cahill A, Stamilio D, Macones G, Odibo AO. Comparative efficiency of measures of early fetal growth restriction for predicting adverse perinatal outcomes. Obstet Gynecol 2011;117(6):1331-40.
- Severi FM, Bocchi C, Imperatore A, Boni C, Ferrata C, Florio P, Reis FM, Petraglia F. Ultrasound estimated fetal weight slightly below the median is associated with increased risk of spontaneous preterm birth. Prenat Diagn 2012;32(6):588-91.
- Hediger ML, Scholl TO, Schall JI, Miller LW, Fischer RL. Fetal growth and the etiology of preterm delivery. Obstet Gynecol 1995;85(2):175-82.
- 36. Johnsen SL, Wilsgaard T, Rasmussen S, Hanson MA, Godfrey KM, Kiserud T. Fetal size in the second trimester is associated with the duration of pregnancy, small fetuses having longer pregnancies. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2008;8:25.
- 37. Fox NS, Huang M, Chasen ST. Second-trimester fetal growth and the risk of poor obstetric and neonatal outcomes. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2008;32(1):61-5.
- Bryant DR, Zador I, Landwehr JB, Wolfe HM. Limited clinical utility of midtrimester fetal morphometric percentile rankings in screening for birth weight abnormalities. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1997;177(4):859-63.
- Goldenberg RL, Culhane JF, Iams JD, Romero R. Epidemiology and causes of preterm birth. Lancet 2008;371(9606):75-84.
- 40. Di Lorenzo G, Monasta L, Ceccarello M, Cecotti V, D'Ottavio G. Third trimester abdominal circumference, estimated fetal weight and uterine artery doppler for the identification of newborns small and large for gestational age. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2012.
- 41. Ventura W, Huaman J, Nazario CE, Ingar J, Huertas E, Antonio Limay O. Perinatal outcomes after sonographic detection of isolated short femur in the second trimester. J Clin Ultrasound 2012;40(2):63-7.
- 42. Weisz B, David AL, Chitty L, Peebles D, Pandya P, Patel P, Rodeck CH. Association of isolated short femur in the midtrimester fetus with perinatal outcome. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2008;31(5):512-6.
- 43. Marsoosi V, Pirjani R, Jamal A, Eslamian L, Rahimi-Foroushani A. Second trimester biparietal diameter size and the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes. Prenat Diagn 2011;31(10):995-8.
- 44. Smith-Bindman R, Chu PW, Ecker JL, Feldstein VA, Filly RA, Bacchetti P. US evaluation of fetal growth: prediction of neonatal outcomes. Radiology 2002;223(1):153-61.
- 45. Benson CB, Doubilet PM, Saltzman DH. Intrauterine growth retardation: predictive value of US criteria for antenatal diagnosis. Radiology 1986;160(2):415-7.
- 46. Ben-Haroush A, Yogev Y, Hod M, Bar J. Predictive value of a single early fetal weight estimate in normal pregnancies. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2007;130(2):187-92.
- 47. Chauhan SP, Rouse DJ, Ananth CV, Magann EF, Chang E, Dahlke JD, Abuhamad AZ. Screening for intrauterine growth restriction in uncomplicated pregnancies: time for action. Am J Perinatol 2013;30(1):33-9.
- Niknafs P, Sibbald J. Accuracy of single ultrasound parameters in detection of fetal growth restriction. Am J Perinatol 2001;18(6):325-34.

# Supplementary Material

#### Supplementary Methods S3.3.1. Unbalanced repeated measurement regression models

Using unbalanced repeated measurement regression models, we analyzed the longitudinal fetal growth patterns among term, preterm and postterm born infants and among appropriate size for gestational age, small for gestational age and large for gestational age infants. These models take the correlation between repeated measurements of the same subject into account, and allow for incomplete outcome data.<sup>1,2</sup> These models can be written as:

Head circumference (SDS) =  $\beta_0 + \beta_1 \times$  gestational age at birth category +  $\beta_2 \times$  gestational age +  $\beta_3 \times$  gestational age at birth category × gestational age

 $Head circumference (SDS) = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \times size at birth category + \beta_2 \times gestational age + \beta_3 \times size at birth category \times gestational age + \beta_3 \times size at birth category + \beta_2 \times gestational age + \beta_3 \times size at birth category + \beta_2 \times gestational age + \beta_3 \times size at birth category + \beta_2 \times gestational age + \beta_3 \times size at birth category + \beta_2 \times gestational age + \beta_3 \times size at birth category + \beta_3 \times size + \beta_3 \times size + \beta_3 \times gestational age + \beta_3 \times size + \beta_3 \times size + \beta_3 \times gestational age + \beta_3 \times size + \beta_3 \times size + \beta_3 \times gestational age + \beta_3 \times size + \beta_3 \times gestational age + \beta_3 \times size + \beta_3 \times gestational age + \beta_3 \times size + \beta_3 \times gestational age + \beta_3 \times size + \beta_3 \times gestational age + \beta_3 \times gestatio$ 

Length (SDS) =  $\beta_0 + \beta_1 \times$  gestational age at birth category +  $\beta_2 \times$  gestational age +  $\beta_3 \times$  gestational age at birth category × gestational age

Length (SDS) =  $\beta_0 + \beta_1 \times$  size at birth category +  $\beta_2 \times$  gestational age +  $\beta_3 \times$  size at birth category × gestational age

Weight (SDS) =  $\beta_0 + \beta_1 \times$  gestational age at birth category +  $\beta_2 \times$  gestational age +  $\beta_3 \times$  gestational age at birth category × gestational age

Weight (SDS) =  $\beta_0 + \beta_1 \times size$  at birth category +  $\beta_2 \times gestational age + \beta_3 \times size$  at birth category × gestational age

In these models,  $\beta_0 + \beta_1 \times \text{gestational age/size}$  at birth category' reflects the intercept. The intercept reflects the mean fetal growth characteristic value in SDS for each birth outcome category. The term  $\beta_3 \times \text{gestational age/size}$  at birth category  $\times$  gestational age', reflects the difference in change in fetal growth characteristic per week between the different birth outcome categories.

#### References

[1]. Goldstein H. Multilevel Statistical Methods. 2nd edn. London: Edward Arnold; 1995.

[2]. Royston P, Ambler G, Sauerbrei W. The use of fractional polynomials to model continuous risk variables in epidemiology. Int J Epidemiol 1999;28:964–74.



r=0.58

5,00

Supplementary Figure S3.3.1. Correlation of fetal growth characteristics between first, second and third trimester and birth in the Generation R Study, 2001-2005

-2.5

-5,00

0

-5.00

-2,50

Third trimester estimated fetal weight (SDS)

Supplementary Figure S3.3.2. Histograms of fetal growth characteristics at birth in tertiles of first, second and third trimester fetal growth characteristics in the Generation R Study, 2001-2005



3.3.2a. Birth weight distribution in tertiles of first trimester crown-rump-length

3.3.2b. Head circumference at birth distribution in tertiles of second trimester head circumference



3.3.2c. Head circumference at birth distribution in tertiles of third trimester head circumference



# CHAPTER 3.3



#### 3.3.2d. Length at birth distribution in tertiles of second trimester femur length





SDS birth length





#### FETAL GROWTH TRACKING AND BIRTH OUTCOMES



3.3.2g. Birth weight distribution in tertiles of third trimester estimated fetal weight

Supplementary Table S3.3.1. Tracking of fetal growth characteristics from second and third trimester to birth in the Generation R Study,  $2001-2005^{1,2}$ 

Second trimester tertiles	Tertiles birth head circur			
Head circumference	Lowest	Middle	Highest	n
Lowest	1.46 (1.27, 1.68)**	1.03 (0.93, 1.21)	0.65 (0.56, 0.75)**	1388
	n = 545	n = 474	n = 369	
	(39.3%)	(34.1%)	(26.6%)	
Middle	0.97 (0.85, 1.16)	1.02 (0.90, 1.17)	1.00 (0.87, 1.15)	1426
	n = 471	n = 485	n = 470	
	(33.0%)	(34.0%)	(33.0%)	
Highest	0.70 (0.61, 0.80)**	0.96 (0.84, 1.09)	1.48 (1.29, 1.69)**	1463
	n = 409	n = 481	n = 573	
	(28.0%)	(32.9%)	(39.2%)	
n	1425	1440	1412	4277
	Tertiles birth length			
Femur length	Lowest	Middle	Highest	n
Lowest	1.61 (1.42, 1.82)**	1.07 (0.94, 1.21)	0.56 (0.49, 0.64)**	1620
	n = 656	n = 558	n = 406	
	(40.5%)	(34.4%)	(25.1%)	
Middle	1.01 (0.89, 1.14)	0.96 (0.85, 1.09)	1.03 (0.91, 1.17)	1723
	n = 570	n = 565	n = 588	
	(33.1%)	(32.8%)	(34.1%)	
Highest	0.61 (0.53, 0.69)**	0.97 (0.86, 1.10)	1.65 (1.46, 1.87)**	1690
	n = 449	n = 556	n = 685	
	(26.6%)	(32.9%)	(40.5%)	
n	1675	1679	1679	5033
	Tertiles birth weight			
Estimated fetal weight	Lowest	Middle	Highest	n
Lowest	2.43 (2.20, 2.68)**	0.87 (0.79, 0.96)**	0.44 (0.39, 0.49)**	2652
	n = 1238	n = 836	n = 578	
	(46.7%)	(31.5%)	(21.8%)	
Middle	0.90 (0.81, 0.99)*	1.16 (1.05, 1.29)**	0.96 (0.86, 1.06)	2659
	n = 838	n = 946	n = 875	
	(31.5%)	(35.6%)	(32.9%)	
Highest	0.42 (0.37, 0.46)**	0.99 (0.89, 1.09)	2.22 (2.01, 2.46)**	2652
	n = 571	n = 881	n = 1200	
	(21.5%)	(33.2%)	(45.2%)	
n	2647	2663	2653	7963

Third trimester tertiles	Tertiles birth head circun	nference		
Head circumference	Lowest	Middle	Highest	n
Lowest	2.49 (2.17, 2.86)**	0.95 (0.83, 1.09)	0.37 (0.32, 0.44)**	1386
	n = 661	n = 458	n = 267	
	(47.7%)	(33.0%)	(19.3%)	
Middle	0.92 (0.80, 1.05)	1.09 (0.96, 1.24)	0.99 (0.87, 1.14)	1491
	n = 477	n = 518	n = 496	
	(32.0%)	(34.7%)	(33.3%)	
Highest	0.42 (0.36, 0.48)**	0.96 (0.84, 1.10)	2.32 (2.03, 2.64)**	1506
	n = 319	n = 493	n = 694	
	(21.2%)	(32.7%)	(46.1%)	
n	1457	1469	1457	4383
	Tertiles birth length			
Femur length	Lowest	Middle	Highest	n
Lowest	2.35 (2.08, 2.66)**	0.99 (0.88, 1.12)	0.39 (0.34, 0.45)**	1705
	n = 789	n = 567	n = 349	
	(46.3%)	(33.3%)	(20.5%)	
Middle	0.91 (0.81, 1.04)	1.15 (1.02, 1.30)*	0.95 (0.83, 1.07)	1731
	n = 555	n = 611	n = 565	
	(32.1%)	(35.3%)	(32.6%)	
Highest	0.44 (0.38, 0.50)**	0.88 (0.77, 0.99)*	2.45 (2.17, 2.77)**	1754
	n = 386	n = 549	n = 819	
	(22.0%)	(31.3%)	(46.7%)	
n	1730	1727	1733	5190
	Tertiles birth weight			
Estimated fetal weight	Lowest	Middle	Highest	n
Lowest	5.53 (4.98, 6.13)**	0.79 (0.72, 0.87)**	0.15 (0.13, 0.18)**	2725
	n = 1608	n = 825	n = 292	
	(59.0%)	(30.3%)	(10.7%)	
Middle	0.81 (0.73, 0.89)**	1.46 (1.32, 1.60)**	0.83 (0.75, 0.91)**	2720
	n = 820	n = 1061	n = 839	
	(30.1%)	(39.0%)	(30.8%)	
Highest	0.15 (0.13, 0.17)**	0.85 (0.77, 0.94)**	5.29 (4.77, 5.87)**	2722
	n = 277	n = 838	n = 1607	
	(10.2%)	(30.8%)	(59.0%)	
n	2705	2724	2738	8167

Supplementary Table S3.3.1. Tracking of fetal growth characteristics from second and third trimester to birth in the Generation R Study, 2001-2005<sup>1,2</sup> (continued)

<sup>1</sup>Values are Odds Ratios (95% Confidence Interval) (numbers and percentages of fetuses that remain in the same tertile) to remain in the same tertile of each fetal growth characteristic from second and third trimester to birth. Estimates are from multiple imputed data. <sup>2</sup>Model is adjusted for gestational age at intake, gestational age during each pregnancy period, maternal age, educational level, parity, ethnicity, prepregnancy body mass index, smoking habits during pregnancy, alcohol consumption during pregnancy and folic acid supplement use during pregnancy. \*P-value <0.05. \*\*P-value <0.01.

Supplementary Table S3.3.2. Tracking of fetal growth characteristics from second to third trimester in the Generation R Study, 2001-2005<sup>1,2</sup>

	Tertiles third trimeste			
Tertiles second trimester	Lowest	Middle	Highest	п
Head circumference				
Lowest	3.48 (3.14, 3.85)**	0.91 (0.82, 1.01)	0.26 (0.23, 0.29)**	2562
	n = 1.3.38	n = 823	n = 401	
	(52.2%)	(32.1%)	(15.7%)	
Middle	0.81 (0.74 0.90)**	1 39 (1 26 1 54)**	0.87 (0.79, 0.96)**	2594
	n = 787	n = 999	n = 808	2007
	(30.3%)	(38.5%)	(31.1%)	
Highest	0.30 (0.26, 0.33) **	0.77 (0.70, 0.86) **	3.66 (3.31, 4.05) **	2553
	n = 439	n = 762	n = 1352	
	(17.2%)	(29.8%)	(52.9%)	
n	2564	2584	2561	7709
Abdominal circumference	2 40 /2 45 2 00)**	0.05 (0.77, 0.04)**	0.00 (0.05, 0.00)**	n
Lowest	3.48 (3.15, 3.86)**	0.85 (0.77, 0.84)**	0.28 (0.25, 0.32)**	2583
	n = 1348	n = 804	n = 431	
	(52.2%)	(31.1%)	(16.6%)	0.570
Middle	0.88 (0.78, 0.96)**	1.34 (1.22, 1.49)**	0.85 (0.76, 0.94)**	2579
	n = 801	n = 982	n = 796	
	(31.1%)	(38.1%)	(30.8%)	
Highest	0.28 (0.25, 0.31)**	0.87 (0.79, 0.96)**	3.47 (3.13, 3.84)**	2603
	n = 421	n = 819	n = 1363	
	(16.2%)	(31.5%)	(52.4%)	
n	2570	2605	2590	7765
Femur length				n
Lowest	5.25 (4.73, 5.81)**	0.73 (0.66, 0.81)**	0.19 (0.74, 0.96)**	2604
	n = 1517	n = 760	n = 327	
	(58.3%)	(29.2%)	(12.6%)	
Middle	0.75 (0.67, 0.82)**	1.61 (1.46, 1.77)**	0.82 (0.74, 0.90)**	2592
	n = 760	n = 1058	n = 774	
	(29.3%)	(40.8%)	(29.9%)	
Highest	0.19 (0.17, 0.21)**	0.83 (0.75, 0.92)**	4.77 (4.30, 5.29)**	2592
	n = 329	n = 797	n = 1466	
	(12.7%)	(30.7%)	(56.6%)	
n	2606	2615	2567	7788
Estimated fetal weight				n
Lowest	4.49 (4.05, 4.98)**	0.84 (0.76, 0.93)**	0.20 (0.17, 0.23)**	2571
	n = 1435	n = 799	n = 337	
	(55.8%)	(31.2%)	(13.1%)	
Middle	0.82 (0.74 0.91)**	1 53 (1 38 1 69)**	0.78 (0.70, 0.87)**	2572
inddie	n = 779	n = 1028	n = 765	2072
	(30.3%)	(40.0%)	(29.7%)	
Highest	0.21 (0.18, 0.24)**	0.77 (0.70, 0.85)**	4.86 (4.38, 5.39)**	2577
0 -	n = 351	n = 763	n = 1463	
	(13.6%)	(29.6%)	(56.8%)	
n	2565	2590	2565	7720
		-		

<sup>1</sup>Values are Odds Ratios (95% Confidence Interval) (numbers and percentages of fetuses that remain in the same tertile) to remain in the same tertile of each fetal growth characteristic from second to third trimester. Estimates are from multiple imputed data. <sup>2</sup>Model is adjusted for gestational age at intake, gestational age during pregnancy period, maternal age, educational level, parity, ethnicity, prepregnancy body mass index, smoking habits during pregnancy, alcohol consumption during pregnancy and folic acid supplement use during pregnancy. \*\*P-value <0.01.

Tertiles of first trimester crown-rump length	Birth measures
	Head circumference at birth (SDS)
Lowest	-0.03 (-0.22, 0.17)
Middle	Reference
Highest	0 (-0.19, 0.19)
	Length at birth (SDS)
Lowest	-0.17 (-0.35, 0)
Middle	Reference
Highest	0.07 (-0.10, 0.23)
	Weight at birth (SDS)
Lowest	-0.10 (-0.23, 0.03)
Middle	Reference
Highest	0.12 (0, 0.25)

Supplementary Table S3.3.3. Associations of first trimester fetal crown-rump length with differences in fetal growth characteristics at birth in the Generation R Study,  $2001-2005^{1.2}$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values are differences (95% Confidence Interval) in head circumference, length and weight at birth in SDS for fetuses who were in the lower and upper tertile of first trimester fetal crown-rump-length as compared to fetuses who were in the middle tertile of first trimester fetal crown-rump-length. Estimates are from multiple imputed data. Corresponding histograms are given in **Supplementary Figure S3.3.2**. <sup>2</sup>Model is adjusted for gestational age at intake, gestational age during pregnancy period, maternal age, educational level, parity, ethnicity, prepregnancy body mass index, smoking habits during pregnancy, alcohol consumption during pregnancy and folic acid supplement use during pregnancy.

Tertiles	Tertiles birth head circumference					
First trimester CRL	Lowest	Middle	Highest	n		
Lowest	1.08 (0.96, 1.82)	1.05 (0.75, 1.46)	0.88 (0.62, 1.23)	306		
	n = 101	n = 112	n = 93			
	(33.0%)	(36.6%)	(30.4%)			
Middle	0.97 (0.72, 1.30)	1.09 (0.82, 1.47)	0.96 (0.72, 1.28)	308		
	n = 97	n = 104	n = 107			
	(31.5%)	(33.8%)	(34.7%)			
Highest	0.97 (0.69, 1.35)	0.85 (0.61, 1.19)	1.19 (0.86, 1.64)	307		
0	n = 95	n = 87	n = 125			
	(30.9%)	(28.3%)	(40.7%)			
n	293	303	325	921		
Tortilos	Tortilos birth longth					
First trimester CRI		Middle	Highest	n		
	LOWESL	Wildule	Highest			
Lowest	1.32 (0.96, 1.82)	1.06 (0.77, 1.46)	0.72 (0.52, 0.98)*	343		
	n = 123	n = 113	n = 107			
	(35.9%)	(32.9%)	(31.2%)			
Middle	0.81 (0.61, 1.07)	1.18 (0.90, 1.55)	1.05 (0.80, 1.36)	372		
	n = 105	n = 125	n = 142			
	(28.2%)	(33.6%)	(38.2%)			
Highest	1.00 (0.73, 1.36)	0.76 (0.56, 1.04)	1.28 (0.95, 1.73)	358		
	n = 107	n = 101	n = 150			
	(29.9%)	(28.2%)	(41.9%)			
n	335	339	399	1073		
Tertiles	Tertiles birth weight					
First trimester CRL	Lowest	Middle	Highest	п		
Lowest	1.37 (1.05, 1.78)*	0.90 (0.70, 1.17)	0.82 (0.63, 1.06)	538		
	n = 196	n = 166	n = 176			
	(36.4%)	(30.9%)	(32.7%)			
Middle	1.02 (0.81, 1.28)	1.05 (0.84, 1.31)	0.95 (0.76, 1.19)	537		
	n = 168	n = 179	n = 190			
	(31.3%)	(33.3%)	(35.4%)			
Highest	0.72 (0.56, 0.94)*	1.04 (0.81, 1.33)	1.29 (1.00, 1.65)*	537		
-	n = 143	n = 180	n = 214			
	(26.6%)	(33.5%)	(39.9%)			
n	507	525	580	1612		

Supplementary	Table S3.3.4.	Tracking of fetal	growth	characteristics	from first	trimester	to birth in	the Generatio	n R Study,
2001-2005 <sup>1,2</sup>									

Abbreviations: CRL, crown-rump length.

<sup>1</sup>Values are Odds Ratios (95% Confidence Interval) (numbers and percentages of fetuses that remain in the same tertile) to remain in the same tertile of each fetal growth characteristic from first trimester to birth. Estimates are from multiple imputed data. <sup>2</sup>Model is adjusted for gestational age at intake, gestational age during pregnancy period, maternal age, educational level, parity, ethnicity, prepregnancy body mass index, smoking habits during pregnancy, alcohol consumption during pregnancy and folic acid supplement use during pregnancy. \*P-value <0.05.

### CHAPTER 3.3

	Second	to third trimester	Third t	rimester to birth	Secon	d trimester to birth
Maternal	-	Regression		Regression		Regression
characteristics	n	coefficient (95% CI)	n	coefficient (95% CI)	n	coefficient (95% CI)
Age (yrs)						
< 25 vrs	1580	0.38 (0.34, 0.42)	911	0.34 (0.27, 0.42)	887	0.13 (0.06, 0.20)
, 25-35 vrs	4997	0.45 (0.42, 0.47)	2825	0.37 (0.33, 0.41)	2761	0.17 (0.13, 0.21)
, >35 vrs	1132	0.43 (0.38, 0.48)	647	0.42 (0.34, 0.50)	629	0.15 (0.07, 0.24)
,		Interaction P=0.04		Interaction P=0.24		Interaction P=0.38
Height (cm)						
< 165 cm	3295	0.44 (0.41, 0.47)	1790	0.39 (0.34, 0.44)	1725	0.19 (0.14, 0.25)
165-175 cm	3356	0.40 (0.37, 0.42)	1943	0.35 (0.30, 0.40)	1913	0.12 (0.07, 0.17)
>175 cm	1058	0.47 (0.41, 0.52)	650	0.30 (0.22, 0.38)	639	0.12 (0.03, 0.20)
		Interaction P=0.45		Interaction P=0.11		Interaction P=0.05
Prepregnancy						
veignt (kg)	1117	0 42 (0 40 0 45)	2217	0 20 (0 22 0 42)	2200	0 17 /0 12 0 22)
CE 7E ka	411Z 244C	0.42 (0.40, 0.43)	1120	0.38 (0.32, 0.43)	1201	0.17 (0.15, 0.22)
575 kg	2440		1430 670	0.37 (0.30, 0.43)	1391	0.17 (0.10, 0.23)
>7.5 Kg	1151	0.43 (0.40, 0.30)	020	0.54 (0.20, 0.45)	000	0.06(0.01, 0.16)
Prenregnancy body		IIIteruction F=0.88		Interaction F=0.49		Interaction P=0.51
mass index $(kg/m^2)$						
Normal	5472	0.42 (0.40, 0.44)	3161	0.38 (0.34, 0.42)	3099	0.17 (0.13, 0.21)
Overweight	1685	0.45 (0.41, 0.50)	926	0.41 (0.33, 0.50)	894	0.15 (0.07, 0.23)
Obesity	552	0.48 (0.41, 0.55)	296	0.26 (0.14, 0.38)	283	0.15 (0.02, 0.27)
,		Interaction P=0.41		Interaction P=0.92		Interaction P=0.94
Parity						
Nulliparous	4337	0.42 (0.39, 0.44)	2329	0.37 (0.33, 0.42)	2275	0.15 (0.10, 0.20)
Multiparous	3372	0.45 (0.42, 0.48)	2054	0.37 (0.33, 0.42)	2002	0.18 (0.13, 0.23)
		Interaction P=0.10		Interaction P=0.99		Interaction P=0.43
Highest education						
Primary school	895	0.45 (0.39, 0.50)	496	0.28 (0.19, 0.38)	466	0.14 (0.03, 0.25)
Secondary						
school	3610	0.42 (0.39, 0.45)	2056	0.39 (0.34, 0.44)	2007	0.16 (0.11, 0.21)
Higher education	3204	0.43 (0.40, 0.46)	1831	0.38 (0.32, 0.43)	1804	0.16 (0.11, 0.22)
		Interaction P=0.76		Interaction P=0.25		Interaction P=0.73
Ethnicity		0 40 (0 40 0 45)		0.00 (0.01.0.10)	0540	0.40 (0.00 0.47)
European	4424	0.43 (0.40, 0.45)	2550	0.36 (0.31, 0.40)	2518	0.13 (0.09, 0.17)
Non-European	3285	0.43 (0.40, 0.46)	1833	0.39 (0.34, 0.44)	1759	0.19 (0.14, 0.25)
Alcohol		Interaction P=0.89		Interaction P=0.31		Interaction P=0.07
consumption						
No	3799	0 42 (0 39 0 45)	2175	0 32 (0 27 0 37)	2088	0 14 (0 08 0 19)
Yes	3910	0 45 (0 42 0 47)	2208	0.43 (0.38, 0.48)	2189	0 19 (0 14 0 24)
100	0010	Interaction P=0.17	2200	Interaction P=0.004	2105	Interaction P=0.18
Smoking habits						
None	5746	0.44 (0.42, 0.46)	3307	0.37 (0.33, 0.41)	3219	0.17 (0.13, 0.21)
Yes	1963	0.40 (0.36, 0.44)	1076	0.39 (0.32, 0.46)	1058	0.14 (0.07, 0.21)
		Interaction P=0.10		Interaction P=0.56		Interaction P=0.52
Folic acid						
supplement use						
Preconception	2989	0.44 (0.41, 0.48)	1694	0.36 (0.30, 0.41)	1680	0.13 (0.07, 0.19)
First 10 weeks	2426	0.43 (0.39, 0.46)	1385	0.42 (0.36, 0.48)	1356	0.18 (0.11, 0.26)
None	2292	0.41 (0.38, 0.45)	1304	0.35 (0.28, 0.42)	1242	0.17 (0.09, 0.25)
		Interaction P=0.26		Interaction P=0.94		Interaction P=0.43

Supplementary Table S3.3.5. Maternal characteristics and head circumference tracking coefficients during different periods of gestation in the Generation R Study, 2001-2005<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Values are regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) for head circumference during different periods of gestation. Estimates are based on multiple imputed data.

Supplementary Table S3.3.6. Maternal characteristics and length tracking coefficients during different periods of gestation in the Generation R Study, 2001-2005<sup>1</sup>

	Second to third trimester		Third tr	imester to birth	Second trimester to birth		
Maternal		Regression	-	Regression		Regression	
characteristics	n	coefficient (95% CI)	п	coefficient (95% CI)	n	coefficient (95% CI)	
Ago (urc)							
Age (yis)	1603	0.54 (0.51, 0.58)	1052	0.34 (0.28, 0.41)	1010	0.22 (0.16, 0.29)	
< 25 yrs	5047	0.54 (0.51, 0.58)	3360	0.34 (0.28, 0.41)	2285	0.22 (0.10, 0.23)	
23-33 yrs	1120	0.34 (0.31, 0.30)	768	0.37 (0.34, 0.41)	7205	0.19 (0.13, 0.23)	
>55 yrs	1130	0.49 (0.43, 0.34)	700	0.34 (0.27, 0.41)	/30	0.20 (0.12, 0.20)	
Height (cm)		11111111111-0.10		1110100111-0.50		11111111111-0.02	
< 165 cm	2212	0.55 (0.53, 0.58)	2105	0 35 (0 30 0 39)	2024	0.22 (0.17, 0.26)	
165-175 cm	3393	0.55 (0.55, 0.56)	2311	0.34 (0.29, 0.38)	2024	0.22 (0.17, 0.20)	
>175 cm	1082	0.47 (0.42, 0.52)	775	0.33 (0.29, 0.37)	753	0.18 (0.13, 0.22)	
21/3 cm	1002	Interaction P=0.01	,,,,	Interaction P=0 94	,55	Interaction P=0 19	
Prepregnancy							
weight (kg)							
<65 kg	4163	0.53 (0.51, 0.56)	2742	0.36 (0.32, 0.41)	2672	0.21 (0.16, 0.25)	
65-75 kg	2472	0.53 (0.49, 0.57)	1680	0.33 (0.27, 0.39)	1623	0.17 (0.11, 0.24)	
>75 kg	1153	0.48 (0.43, 0.52)	768	0.35 (0.27, 0.42)	738	0.12 (0.04, 0.20)	
5		Interaction P=0.03		Interaction P=0.31		Interaction P=0.01	
Prepregnancy body	/						
mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )							
Normal	5545	0.53 (0.51, 0.55)	3731	0.36 (0.33, 0.40)	3634	0.21 (0.18, 0.25)	
Overweight	1694	0.54 (0.50, 0.58)	1094	0.35 (0.28, 0.42)	1049	0.16 (0.09, 0.23)	
Obesity	549	0.50 (0.43, 0.57)	365	0.35 (0.24, 0.45)	351	0.13 (0.03, 0.24)	
,		Interaction P=0.60		Interaction P=0.42		Interaction P=0.11	
Parity							
Nulliparous	4409	0.52 (0.49, 0.54)	2858	0.37 (0.33, 0.41)	2765	0.17 (0.13, 0.21)	
Multiparous	3379	0.55 (0.52, 0.58)	2332	0.34 (0.30, 0.39)	2268	0.22 (0.18, 0.27)	
		Interaction P=0.06		Interaction P=0.47		Interaction P=0.13	
Highest completed							
education							
Primary school	908	0.58 (0.52, 0.63)	559	0.37 (0.28, 0.46)	526	0.25 (0.16, 0.35)	
Secondary							
school	3642	0.53 (0.51, 0.56)	2459	0.35 (0.31, 0.40)	2370	0.19 (0.15, 0.23)	
Higher educatior	1 <i>3238</i>	0.52 (0.49, 0.55)	2172	0.37 (0.32, 0.42)	2137	0.20 (0.15, 0.25)	
		Interaction P=0.10		Interaction P=0.80		Interaction P=0.58	
Ethnicity							
European	4465	0.52 (0.49, 0.54)	3091	0.39 (0.35, 0.43)	3018	0.21 (0.17, 0.25)	
Non-European	3323	0.55 (0.53, 0.58)	2099	0.33 (0.28, 0.37)	2015	0.19 (0.14, 0.24)	
		Interaction P=0.04		Interaction P=0.03		Interaction P=0.57	
Alcohol							
consumption							
No	3839	0.54 (0.51, 0.56)	2552	0.34 (0.30, 0.39)	2431	0.21 (0.16, 0.26)	
Yes	3949	0.53 (0.50, 0.56)	2638	0.38 (0.34, 0.43)	2602	0.19 (0.14, 0.24)	
		Interaction P=0.72		Interaction P=0.21		Interaction P=0.56	
Smoking habits							
None	5796	0.53 (0.51, 0.56)	3888	0.34 (0.31, 0.38)	3766	0.19 (0.15, 0.22)	
Yes	1992	0.52 (0.48, 0.56)	1302	0.39 (0.33, 0.45)	1267	0.21 (0.14, 0.27)	
		Interaction P=0.61		Interaction P=0.17		Interaction P=0.61	
Folic acid							
supplement use							
Preconception	3019	0.51 (0.48, 0.54)	2061	0.35 (0.29, 0.41)	2025	0.20 (0.14, 0.25)	
First 10 weeks	2444	0.53 (0.50, 0.57)	1642	0.38 (0.31, 0.44)	1596	0.19 (0.13, 0.25)	
None	2325	0.56 (0.53, 0.59)	1488	0.36 (0.30, 0.42)	1412	0.21 (0.16, 0.27)	
		Interaction P=0.03		Interaction P=0.73		Interaction P=0.73	

<sup>1</sup>Values are regression coefficients (95% confidence interval) for length during different periods of gestation. Estimates are based on multiple imputed data.

# Chapter 3.4

# First trimester fetal growth and cardiovascular risk factors in childhood

Vincent W.V. Jaddoe Layla L. de Jonge Albert Hofman Oscar H. Franco Eric A.P. Steegers Romy Gaillard

Adapted from BMJ. 2014;348:g14



# Abstract

**Objective:** To examine whether first trimester fetal growth restriction correlates with cardiovascular outcomes in childhood.

**Design:** Population based prospective cohort study.

Setting: City of Rotterdam, the Netherlands.

**Participants:** 1184 children with first trimester fetal crown to rump length measurements, whose mothers had a reliable first day of their last menstrual period and a regular menstrual cycle.

**Main outcomes measures:** Body mass index, total and abdominal fat distribution, blood pressure, and blood concentrations of cholesterol, triglycerides, insulin, and C-peptide at the median age of 6.0 (90% range 5.7-6.8) years. Clustering of cardiovascular risk factors was defined as having three or more of: high android fat mass; high systolic or diastolic blood pressure; low high density lipoprotein cholesterol or high triglycerides concentrations; and high insulin concentrations.

**Results:** One standard deviation score greater first trimester fetal crown to rump length was associated with a lower total fat mass (-0.30 % (95% Confidence Interval (CI): -0.57, -0.03)), android fat mass (-0.07 % (95% CI: -0.12, -0.02)), android/gynoid fat mass ratio (-0.53 (95% CI: -0.89, -0.17)), diastolic blood pressure (-0.43 mmHg (95% CI: -0.84, -0.01)), total cholesterol (-0.05 mmol/L (95% CI: -0.10, 0)), low density lipoprotein cholesterol (-0.04 mmol/L (95% CI: -0.09, 0) and risk of clustering of cardiovascular risk factors (relative risk: 0.81 (95% CI: 0.66, 1.00)) in childhood. Additional adjustment for gestational age and weight at birth changed these effect estimates only slightly. Childhood body mass index fully explained the associations of first trimester fetal crown to rump length with childhood total fat mass. First trimester fetal growth was not associated with other cardiovascular outcomes. Longitudinal growth analyses showed that compared with school age children without clustering of cardiovascular risk factors, those with clustering had a smaller first trimester fetal crown to rump length and lower second and third trimester estimated fetal weight but higher weight growth from the age of 6 months onwards.

**Conclusions:** Impaired first trimester fetal growth is associated with an adverse cardiovascular risk profile in school age children. Early fetal life might be a critical period for cardiovascular health in later life.

# Introduction

Fetal developmental adaptations in response to adverse environmental exposures may permanently affect the structure and function of cardiovascular organs.<sup>1</sup> These adaptations may lead to increased risks of cardiovascular disease in adulthood.<sup>1</sup> Human development rates are highest during the first trimester of pregnancy.<sup>2</sup> This period includes the embryonic phase and is essential for development of fetal cardiovascular and metabolic organs.<sup>3</sup> Therefore, the first trimester of pregnancy may be a critical period for cardiovascular health in childhood and adulthood.

In obstetric care practice, first trimester fetal crown to rump length is commonly used for dating pregnancy, assuming no growth variation.<sup>3</sup> However, among pregnant women with a known first day of the last menstrual period and a regular cycle, fetal crown to rump length can be used as a first trimester growth outcome.<sup>4</sup> First trimester fetal growth seems to be influenced by maternal age, ethnicity, parity, blood pressure, haemoglobin concentrations, smoking, and folic acid supplement use and is associated with increased risks of adverse birth outcomes.<sup>4-8</sup> Whether first trimester fetal growth restriction is associated with risk factors for cardiovascular disease in later life remains unknown.

In a population based prospective cohort study among 1184 mothers with a known first day of the last menstrual period and a regular cycle, and their children, we examined the associations of first trimester fetal crown to rump length with cardiovascular risk factors in childhood. Cardiovascular outcomes of interest included body mass index, body fat distribution, blood pressure, lipid concentrations, and insulin measures, which are known risk factors for cardiovascular disease in adulthood and track from childhood to adulthood.<sup>9,10</sup>

# Methods

# Design and population

This study was nested in the Generation R Study, a population based prospective cohort study from early pregnancy onwards in Rotterdam, the Netherlands.<sup>11</sup> Participating mothers gave written consent.<sup>12</sup> Enrolment in the full Generation R Study was aimed at early pregnancy but allowed until birth. In total, 8880 mothers were enrolled in the full study during pregnancy. Of these mothers, 4685 did not have a fetal crown to rump length measurement, mainly because of a later enrolment in the study.<sup>4,10</sup> Of all 4195 mothers with a fetal crown to rump length measurement, 2576 were not eligible for the nested study because their fetal crown to rump length measurements were not within the range of 10 weeks 0 days to 13 weeks 6 days or they had an unknown first day of last menstrual period or an irregular menstrual cycle.<sup>4</sup> Of the remaining 1619 eligible mothers who had a first trimester crown to rump length measurement, had a known gestational age based on the last menstrual period, and gave birth to a singleton live

born child, 1184 participated with their children in detailed follow-up measurements at the age 6 years (**Supplementary Figure S3.4.1**).

#### First trimester fetal crown to rump length

We measured first trimester fetal crown to rump length in the gestational age range of 10 weeks 0 days to 13 weeks 6 days in a true mid-sagittal plane with the genital tubercle and the fetal spine longitudinally in view.<sup>4,13</sup> First day of the last menstrual period came from the referring letter from the community midwife or hospital.<sup>4</sup> We confirmed this date with the mother at the ultrasound visit and obtained additional information on the regularity and duration of the menstrual cycle. Intra-class correlation coefficients for intra-observer and inter-observer reproducibility of crown to rump length measurements were 0.998 and 0.995.<sup>14</sup> As previously described, we constructed gestational age adjusted standard deviation scores for first trimester fetal crown to rump length.<sup>4</sup>

# Fetal and childhood growth

We measured second and third trimester fetal head circumference, abdominal circumference, and femur length to the nearest millimetre by using standardised ultrasound procedures.<sup>15</sup> We used the Hadlock formula to calculate estimated fetal weight.<sup>16</sup> Sex, date of birth, and birth anthropometrics (length, weight) came from registries. Well trained staff in community health centres measured childhood growth characteristics (weight, length) by using standardised procedures at the ages of 6, 12, 24, 36, and 48 months.<sup>9</sup> For all fetal, birth, and childhood growth characteristics, we used reference growth charts to construct standard deviation score values with a commercially available package (Growth Analyser 3.0, Dutch Growth Research Foundation, Rotterdam, Netherlands).<sup>15,17</sup>

#### Childhood cardiovascular outcomes

We invited all children to a dedicated research facility in the Erasmus University Medical Center, Sophia Children's Hospital for detailed measurements at the age of 6 years. We measured height and weight and calculated body mass index. We measured body fat by dual energy x ray absorptiometry (iDXA, General Electrics, 2008, Madison, WI, USA). We calculated total fat mass as a percentage of total body weight measured by absorptiometry. We calculated android and gynoid fat mass as a percentage of total fat mass, as well as their ratio.<sup>18</sup> We used the android/gynoid fat mass ratio as a measure of body fat distribution, as we did not measure waist/hip ratio. Higher waist/hip ratio and android/gynoid fat mass ratio reflect an adverse body fat distribution and are associated with mortality in adults and insulin resistance in children, respectively.<sup>19,20</sup> We measured systolic and diastolic blood pressure at the right brachial artery, four times at one minute intervals, by using the validated automatic sphygmomanometer Datascope Accutor Plus (Paramus, NJ, USA).<sup>21</sup> We selected a cuff with a width approximately 40%

of the arm circumference and long enough to cover 90% of the arm circumference. We obtained venous blood samples after 30 minutes' fasting from the children and measured total cholesterol, low density lipoprotein cholesterol, high density lipoprotein cholesterol, triglycerides, insulin, and C-peptide concentrations.

We used the previously described definition of childhood metabolic syndrome phenotype to define children with clustering of cardiovascular risk factors.<sup>22</sup> We defined children with clustering of cardiovascular risk factors as those with three or more of the following components: android fat mass percentage 75<sup>th</sup> centile or above, systolic or diastolic blood pressure 75<sup>th</sup> centile or above; high density lipoprotein cholesterol 25<sup>th</sup> centile or below or triglycerides 75<sup>th</sup> centile or above, and insulin concentration 75<sup>th</sup> centile or above. We used android fat mass percentage as proxy for waist circumference, as waist circumference was not available.<sup>20</sup>

# Covariates

We obtained information on maternal age, ethnicity, educational level, parity, folic acid supplementation, and smoking by questionnaire at enrolment.<sup>11</sup> Maternal height and weight were measured and body mass index was calculated at enrolment. We measured maternal blood pressure with the validated oscillometric sphygmomanometer (OMRON Healthcare Europe B V, Hoofddorp, Netherlands) and documented the mean value of two blood pressure readings.<sup>23</sup>

# Statistical analysis

Firstly, we used first trimester fetal crown to rump length standard deviation scores as a continuous variable, to analyse the linear associations of first trimester fetal crown to rump length with childhood outcomes. Using mean plots and one way analysis of variance tests, we observed that the best fitting trend lines for these associations were linear. The model fit and explained variance did not improve with addition of a quadratic term to the multivariate regression models. To further explore non-linearity and for presentation purposes, we also categorized first trimester fetal crown to rump length in fifths and examined the associations of fifths of first trimester fetal crown to rump length standard deviation score with childhood outcomes by using multivariate regression models. For these analyses, we constructed standard deviation score values ((observed value–mean)/SD) for the childhood outcome measures to enable comparison of effect estimates for the different outcomes. We did not create age adjusted standard deviation scores, as the childhood outcomes were measured in a small age range without changes in standard deviation.

Secondly, we used different linear regression models to examine the associations of first trimester fetal crown to rump length standard deviation score with childhood outcomes and the role of fetal and childhood growth in these associations. We used four different models. The basic model was adjusted for duration of last menstrual cycle and child's sex and age at outcome measurement. Childhood height was included in all models on fat mass outcomes to take account of skeletal growth.<sup>24</sup> The confounder model was additionally adjusted for maternal and childhood covariates including maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, prepregnancy body mass index, diastolic blood pressure, smoking during pregnancy, folic acid supplement use, and duration of breastfeeding. We selected these confounders on the basis of their associations with the outcomes of interest or a change in effect estimate of more than 10%. **Supplementary Tables S3.4.1-S3.4.3** show the associations of each confounder with the outcomes of interest. We considered the confounder models to be the main models. Next, these models were additionally adjusted for gestational age at birth and birth weight to explore whether any association was explained by later fetal growth (fetal pathway model) and for child's current body mass index to explore whether any association was explained by current childhood size (childhood pathway model).

Thirdly, we examined the association of first trimester fetal crown to rump length standard deviation scores continuously and in fifths with the risk of childhood clustering of cardiovascular risk factors. We used a multivariate generalised linear model with a Poisson assumption, log linear link function, and robust standard errors estimation to calculate adjusted relative risks.<sup>25</sup> Subsequently, we explored the longitudinal length and weight growth patterns from first trimester onwards until the age of 6 years for children with and without clustering of cardiovascular risk factors. For this analysis, we used repeated measurement regression models, which take into account the correlation between repeated growth measurements of the same participant.<sup>26,27</sup>

For all analyses, the percentages of missing values of covariates were lower than 20%. We imputed missing data of the covariates by using multiple imputations.<sup>28</sup> Five datasets were created and analysed together. We used SAS version 9.2 for the repeated measurement analysis and SPSS 17.0 for other analyses.

# Results

#### Participants' characteristics and non-response

**Table 3.4.1** shows the maternal, fetal, and childhood characteristics. The specific fetal and childhood growth characteristics are shown in **Supplementary Table S3.4.4**. As only mothers with fetal crown to rump length measurement between 10 and 14 weeks of gestation and a known and reliable first day of last menstrual period were eligible for this analysis, we did several non-response analyses. **Supplementary Tables S3.4.5-S3.4.7** show results from these analyses. Compared with mothers with a first trimester fetal crown to rump length measurement (n = 4195), those without this measurement (n = 4685) were on average younger, shorter, and heavier; had a lower blood pressure; and were less frequently highly educated and European. We found no difference in birth weight (**Supplementary Table S3.4.5**).

Among mothers with a first trimester fetal crown to rump length measurement, we found similar differences between those without (n = 2576) and with (n = 1619)

information about their known last menstruation (**Supplementary Table S3.4.6**). Of the eligible group of 1619 mothers and children, 1184 participated in the follow-up studies at the age of 6 years. Mothers of children not participating in these follow-up studies (n = 435) were on average younger, were less frequently higher educated and European, and less frequently used folic acid supplements. Their children were more frequently breast fed. We found no differences in gestational age and weight at birth (**Supplementary Table S3.4.7**).

<b>Table 3.4.1.</b> Maternal, fetal and childhood characteristics ( <i>n</i> = 118-	Maternal, fetal and childhood characteristics (n = 2	1184)
---	--	-------

Characteristic	Value
Maternal characteristics	
Age median (90% range) vr	31 3 (22 7 38 1)
Height mean (SD) cm	168 8 (7 0)
Prenregnancy weight mean (SD) kg	66.9 (11.8)
Proprogramcy body mass index mean (SD), $ka/m^2$	22.4 (2.0)
Costational ago at intaka madian (00% ranga) w/ra	23.4 (3.5) 12.4 (10.5, 12.0)
Gestational age at intake, median (90% range), wks	12.4(10.5, 15.9)
Disetelia blood pressure, mean (SD), mmla	110.7 (12.4)
Diastolic blood pressure, mean (SD), mining	09.1 (9.4)
Parity, numparous, No. (%)	/1//11/9 (60.8)
Education, No. (%)	507/4455 (42.0)
Primary or secondary school	507/1155 (43.9)
Higher education	648/1155 (56.1)
Race / Etnnicity, No. (%)	
Dutch, other European	855/11/5 (/2.8)
Non-European	320/11/5 (27.2)
Smoking habits, No. (%)	
None	820/1060 (77.4)
Yes	240/1060 (22.6)
Folic acid supplement use, No. (%)	
No use	119/949 (12.5)
First 10 weeks use	294/949 (31.0)
Preconception use	536/949 (56.5)
Fetal characteristics	
Gestational age at fetal crown to rump length measurement, median (90% range), wks	12.4 (11.0, 13.9)
First trimester fetal crown to rump length, mean (SD), mm	61 (11)
Birth and infant characteristics	
Males No. (%)	575 (48.6)
Gestational age at hirth median (90% range) wks	40 1 (37 0 42 0)
Birth weight mean (SD) g	3456 (551)
Ever breastfeeding No. (%)	5 135 (551)
No	80/1046 (7.6)
Yes	966/1046 (92.4)
Breastfeeding duration mean (SD) months	5 3 (3 8)
	515 (515)
Childhood characteristics	
Age at follow up, median (90% range), yr	6.0 (5.7, 6.8)
Height, mean (SD), cm	119.0 (5.5)
Weight, mean (SD), kg	22.8 (3.7)
Body mass index, mean (SD), kg/m²	16.1 (1.7)
Total fat mass, mean (SD), %	24.6 (5.2)
Android fat mass, mean (SD), %	3.8 (0.9)
Gynoid fat mass, mean (SD), %	15.3 (1.6)
Android/gynoid fat mass ratio, mean (SD)	0.25 (0.1)
Systolic blood pressure, mean (SD), mmHg	102.6 (8.1)
Diastolic blood pressure, mean (SD), mmHg	60.7 (6.8)
Cholesterol, mean (SD), mmol/L	4.2 (0.7)

Characteristic	Value	
Low Density Lipoprotein cholesterol, mean (SD), mmol/L	2.4 (0.6)	
High Density Lipoprotein cholesterol, mean (SD), mmol/L	1.3 (0.3)	
High Density / Low Density Lipoprotein cholesterol, mean (SD)	0.6 (0.2)	
Triglycerides, median (90% range), mmol/L	1.0 (0.4, 2.1)	
Insulin, median (90% range), pmol/L	118.2 (25.9, 342.4)	
C-peptide, median (90% range), nmol/L	1.0 (0.4, 1.9)	
Cardiovascular risk factor clustering, No. (%)	81/745 (10.9)	

#### Table 3.4.1. Maternal, fetal and childhood characteristics (*n* = 1184)<sup>1</sup> (continued)

<sup>1</sup>Values represent mean (SD), median (90% range) or number of subjects (valid %).

#### First trimester fetal crown to rump length and cardiovascular risk factors

Figure 3.4.1 shows that compared with children in the highest fifth of first trimester fetal crown to rump length, those in the lowest fifth tended to have higher total fat mass percentage, android/gynoid fat mass ratio, diastolic blood pressure, and total cholesterol (all P for trend <0.05). First trimester fetal crown to rump length was not associated with insulin or C-peptide concentrations. Results for C-peptide are not shown. Table 3.4.2 shows that in the confounder models, one standard deviation score greater first trimester fetal crown to rump length was associated with a lower total fat mass (-0.30 % (95% Confidence Interval (CI): -0.57, -0.03)), android fat mass (-0.07 % (95% CI: -0.12, -0.02)), android/gynoid fat mass ratio (-0.53 (95% CI: -0.89, -0.17)), diastolic blood pressure (-0.43 mmHg (95% CI: -0.84, -0.01)), total cholesterol (-0.05 mmol/L (95% CI: -0.10 to 0)), and low density lipoprotein cholesterol (-0.04 mmol/L (95% CI: -0.09 to 0)) in childhood. Additional adjustment for gestational age and weight at birth only slightly changed these effect estimates. Childhood body mass index fully explained the associations of first trimester fetal crown to rump length with childhood total fat mass. First trimester fetal crown to rump length was not associated with childhood body mass index, systolic blood pressure, or concentrations of triglycerides or insulin.

#### First trimester fetal crown to rump length and clustering of cardiovascular risk factors

One standard deviation score greater first trimester fetal crown to rump length was associated with a lower risk of clustering of cardiovascular risk factors (relative risk (RR): 0.81 (95% CI: 0.66, 1.00)) in childhood (**Figure 3.4.2**). When we compared fifths, we observed that compared with children in the lowest fifth of first trimester fetal crown to rump length, those in the highest fifth tended to have lower risks of clustering of cardiovascular risk factors (15.5% v 5.6% for lowest and highest fifth; RR: 0.50 (95% CI: 0.22, 1.10) (**Figure 3.4.2**). Adjustment for gestational age and weight at birth changed these effect estimates only slightly (**Supplementary Figure S3.4.2**).



Figure 3.4.1. First-trimester fetal growth and cardiovascular risk factors in childhood (n = 1184)

Values are linear regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) that reflect the difference in childhood outcomes expressed as standard deviation scores (SDS) between first-trimester fetal crown to rump length (CRL) quintiles as compared to the reference group (highest quintile). Estimates are based on multiple imputed data. Models were adjusted for child's sex and age at measurement, and for maternal duration of last menstrual cycle, age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, prepregnancy body mass index, diastolic blood pressure, smoking during pregnancy, folic acid supplement use and breastfeeding duration. Models for total fat mass and android/gynoid fat mass ratio were additionally adjusted for current childhood height. Trend lines are only given when P-value for linear trend <0.05.

		Difference (95% Confid	lence Interval)	in cardiovascular risk fac	tors per SDS-c	hange in tirst-trimester feta	I crown to r	ump length	
	и	Basic model	P-value	Confounder model <sup>2</sup>	P-value	Fetal pathway model <sup>3</sup>	P-value	Childhood pathway model <sup>4</sup>	P-value
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	1181	-0.06 (-0.16, 0.04)	0.23	-0.04 (-0.14, 0.05)	0.38	-0.08 (-0.18, 0.02)	0.10		
Total fat mass (%)	1152	-0.41 (-0.70, -0.13)	0.01	-0.30 (-0.57, -0.03)	0.03	-0.31 (-0.59, -0.04)	0.03	-0.16 (-0.36, 0.04)	0.11
Android fat mass (%)	1151	-0.08 (-0.14, -0.03)	<0.01	-0.07 (-0.12, -0.02)	0.01	-0.07 (-0.12, -0.01)	0.02	-0.04 (-0.08, 0)	0.07
Gynoid fat mass (%)	1151	0.05 (-0.04, 0.14)	0.27	0.05 (-0.04, 0.14)	0.32	0.05 (-0.04, 0.14)	0.25	0.06 (-0.03, 0.15)	0.17
Android/gynoid fat mass ratio (%)	1151	-0.62 (-0.98, -0.26)	<0.01	-0.53 (-0.89, -0.17)	<0.01	-0.52 (-0.88, -0.16)	<0.01	-0.38 (-0.68, -0.08)	0.01
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	1125	-0.22 (-0.70, 0.27)	0.39	-0.10 (-0.59, 0.39)	0.69	-0.09 (-0.58, 0.41)	0.74	-0.01 (-0.50, 0.47)	0.96
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	1125	-0.51 (-0.92, -0.10)	0.02	-0.43 (-0.84, -0.01)	0.04	-0.42 (-0.84, 0)	0.05	-0.40 (-0.81, 0.02)	0.06
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	794	-0.05 (-0.10, 0)	0.04	-0.05 (-0.10, 0)	0.04	-0.06 (-0.10, -0.01)	0.03	-0.05 (-0.10, 0)	0.04
HDL cholesterol (mmol/L)	794	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.01)	0.29	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.01)	0.27	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.01)	0.25	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.01)	0.23
LDL cholesterol (mmol/L)	793	-0.04 (-0.08, 0)	0.06	-0.04 (-0.09, 0)	0.06	-0.04 (-0.09, 0)	0.06	-0.04 (-0.09, 0)	0.06
HDL/LDL cholesterol ratio	786	0.01 (-0.01, 0.02)	0.20	0.01 (-0.01, 0.03)	0.21	0.01 (-0.01, 0.03)	0.19	0.01 (-0.01, 0.03)	0.22
Triglyceride (mmol/L) <sup>5</sup>	789	0.01 (-0.03, 0.04)	0.71	0.00 (-0.03, 0.04)	0.86	0.01 (-0.03, 0.04)	0.76	0.01 (-0.03, 0.04)	0.69
Insulin (pmol/L) <sup>5</sup>	785	-0.01 (-0.07, 0.05)	0.66	-0.02 (-0.08, 0.04)	0.49	-0.02 (-0.08, 0.04)	0.54	-0.01 (-0.07, 0.05)	0.63
<sup>1</sup> Values are regression coefficient: was adjusted for duration of last	s (95% Co menstrui	nfidence Interval) that re al cycle_and child's sex	eflect the diffe	erence in childhood outo	omes per stan Models for fa	idard deviation score first-t it mass outcomes were ac	rimester fe	tal crown to rump length. Ba diusted for current childhoc	sic model
							a diminipination of		

<sup>2</sup> confounders include maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, prepregnancy body mass index, diastolic blood pressure, smoking during pregnancy and folic acid supplement use and breastfeeding duration.<sup>3</sup> Model additionally adjusted for gestational age and weight at birth.<sup>4</sup> Model additionally adjusted for childhood current body mass index. <sup>5</sup> Variables were log-transformed.

**Table 3.4.2.** First-trimester fetal growth and childhood cardiovascular risk factors  $(n = 1184)^1$ 

**Figure 3.4.3** shows the longitudinal growth in fetal and childhood length and weight from first trimester fetal crown to rump length onwards in children with clustering of cardiovascular risk factors, compared with those without clustering of cardiovascular risk factors. First trimester fetal crown to rump length tended to be smaller in children with clustering of cardiovascular risk factors (difference –0.16 (95% CI: –0.36 to 0.03 standard deviation scores)). Estimated fetal weight, but not femur length, until birth tended to be smaller in children with clustering of cardiovascular risk factors. From the age of 6 months onwards, children with clustering of cardiovascular risk factors at age 6 years had a higher length and weight, with larger effect estimates for weight. The effect estimates were not materially affected by additional adjustment for potential confounders (**Supplementary Table S3.4.8**).





Values are Relative Risks (RR) (95% Confidence Interval) from generalized linear models that reflect the risk of childhood clustering of cardiovascular risk factors for first-trimester fetal crown to rump length quintiles, as compared to the reference group (lowest quintile). Estimates are based on multiple imputed data. Clustering of cardiovascular risk factors was defined as having 3 or more following components: android fat mass percentage  $\geq 75^{th}$  percentile; systolic or diastolic blood pressure  $\geq 75^{th}$  percentile; HDL-cholesterol  $\leq 25^{th}$  percentile or triglycerides  $\geq 75^{th}$  percentile; and insulin level  $\geq 75^{th}$  percentile (22]. Model was adjusted for child's sex and age at measurement, maternal duration of last menstrual cycle, age, educational level, ethnicity, prepregnancy body mass index, diastolic blood pressure, smoking during pregnancy, folic acid supplement use, and breastfeeding duration.



Figure 3.4.3. Fetal and childhood length and weight growth from first trimester onwards in children with clustering of cardiovascular risk factors (n = 745)

Values are regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) that reflect the difference in length and weight standard deviation score (SDS) from first trimester onwards for children with clustering of cardiovascular risk factors, as compared to children without such clustering. Models were adjusted for maternal duration of last menstrual cycle, and child's sex and age at outcome measurements. Length and weight growth characteristics used in the models: Fetal period: first trimester: crown to rump length as both length and weight measure (starting point); second and third trimester: femur length and seitimated fetal weight; At birth: birth length and birth weight; During childhood: length and weight. Clustering of cardiovascular risk factors was defined as having 3 or more following components: android fat mass percentage  $\ge 75^{th}$  percentile; systolic or diastolic blood pressure  $\ge 75^{th}$  percentile; HDL-cholesterol  $\le 25^{th}$  percentile or triglycerides  $\ge 75^{th}$  percentile; and insulin level  $\ge 75^{th}$  percentile [22].

#### Discussion

We observed that smaller first trimester fetal size was associated with an adverse body fat distribution, higher diastolic blood pressure, and an adverse blood cholesterol profile in childhood. First trimester fetal growth restriction was also associated with an increased risk of clustering of these cardiovascular risk factors in childhood. These associations were not explained by maternal, birth, and childhood characteristics.

#### Interpretation of main findings

Adverse fetal exposures may lead to early developmental adaptations, including changes in the anatomy, physiology, and metabolism of various organ systems.<sup>1</sup> These adaptations may be beneficial for short term survival but may have adverse consequences at birth and in later life, such as increased risks of low birth weight and common diseases

in adulthood.<sup>1</sup> Studies showing consistent associations of low birth weight with increased risks of cardiovascular disease strongly support this hypothesis.<sup>29,30</sup> Clearly, low birth weight is not the causal factor leading to diseases in later life. Birth weight is merely an endpoint of different fetal exposures and growth patterns and the starting point of childhood growth. Most children with a low birth weight have a catch-up growth leading to a normal weight from the age of 2 years onwards.<sup>31</sup> Longitudinal studies also showed that the risk of cardiovascular disease is highest among adults born with a low birth weight who had a high postnatal weight gain.<sup>32,33</sup> These results suggest that a low birth weight as a result of restricted fetal environment may specifically lead to cardiovascular disease in later life, when postnatal life is characterized by a relatively high body mass index as a result of an affluent environment.<sup>1</sup> Not much is known about the specific fetal growth patterns leading to cardiovascular disease in later life.

Rates of growth and development are much higher in fetal life than in childhood. The highest development rates are in the first trimester of pregnancy, which includes the embryonic phase.<sup>2</sup> Studies in spontaneously conceived pregnancies and in pregnancies resulting from assisted reproductive technology observed that first trimester fetal growth restriction was associated with increased risks of prematurity and small size for gestational age at birth.<sup>4,7,8</sup> We also observed that smaller first trimester fetal crown to rump length led to compensatory accelerated childhood growth.<sup>4</sup> High rates of childhood weight gain may subsequently lead to development of cardiovascular risk factors in later life.

The study reported here shows for the first time that first trimester fetal crown to rump length is also associated with an adverse cardiovascular risk profile in childhood. Smaller first trimester fetal crown to rump length was associated with higher total fat mass percentage, android/gynoid fat mass ratio, diastolic blood pressure, and total cholesterol concentration in childhood. These associations were observed across the full range of first trimester fetal crown to rump length and not in the extremes only. Also, these associations were independent of potential maternal and childhood confounders and were changed only slightly by adjustment for gestational age and weight at birth and childhood body mass index. First trimester fetal growth was not associated with childhood body mass index, systolic blood pressure, or concentrations of triglycerides, insulin, or C-peptide. The observed associations suggest that the first trimester of pregnancy is a critical period for cardiovascular health in later life. Previous studies have shown that risk factors for cardiovascular disease in childhood track into adulthood and are related to development of cardiovascular disease in later life.<sup>9,10,34</sup> Thus, cardiovascular disease may have at least part of its origins in the first trimester of pregnancy or even the preconception period. The developmental mechanisms that explain the associations of first trimester fetal growth and risk factors for cardiovascular disease are not known, but they may include changes in methylation of DNA and expression of RNA in response to a suboptimal fetal environment.<sup>1</sup> More detailed first trimester ultrasound studies are needed to assess early cardiovascular and metabolic developmental adaptations.

The results from this study are important from an aetiological perspective. They suggest that the first trimester might be a critical period for cardiovascular and metabolic function. However, we acknowledge that the observed effect estimates were small and reflect subclinical changes in cardiovascular and metabolic function in school age children. None of the children had known cardiovascular disease. Previous longitudinal studies have shown tracking of cardiovascular and metabolic risk factors from childhood to adulthood.<sup>9,10</sup> Also, adiposity in school age children is related to cardiovascular disease in later life.<sup>34</sup> Further follow-up studies are needed to explore whether suboptimal first trimester development really is a risk factor for clinically manifest cardiovascular and metabolic disease in adulthood.

#### Strengths and limitations

This study was nested in a large population based prospective cohort study. In the full study, enrolment was aimed at early pregnancy but allowed until birth. As this study was specifically focused on the long term effects of variation in first trimester fetal growth, only a subgroup of mothers with a first trimester fetal crown to rump length measurement between 10 and 14 weeks of gestation and a known and reliable first day of last menstrual period was eligible. As a result of these necessary selection criteria, the eligible mothers reflect a small fraction of the full study population. Of all eligible mothers, 73% participated with their children in the follow-up studies at the age of 6 years. The non-response analyses showed that mothers not included in the analyses were on average younger, shorter, and heavier; had a lower blood pressure; were less frequently high educated and European; and less frequently used folic acid supplements. Their children were more frequently breastfed. Our effect estimates would be biased if the associations differ between participants included and not included in the analysis. Although this seems unlikely, we cannot exclude it. We found no differences in first trimester fetal crown to rump length or birth weight between children with and without participation in the follow-up studies. More importantly, the selection of the study sample might have affected the generalizability of the results. The study population is a rather healthy and relatively highly educated population. Whether the observed associations are similar in high risk populations should be studied further.

We tested the associations of first trimester fetal crown to rump length with several cardiovascular and metabolic outcomes that track from childhood to adulthood and are risk factors for cardiovascular disease in adulthood. The large number of statistical tests that we did may have led to false positive associations. However, because of the correlations between the cardiovascular and metabolic outcomes, we did not adjust the analyses for multiple testing. We measured first trimester fetal growth by fetal crown to rump length and used the first day of the last menstrual period to determine gestational age. Misclassification of gestational age might still be a problem, as the post-conception age depends on the timing of ovulation and implantation, which we were unable to measure.<sup>35</sup> Several maternal factors, such as maternal age and smoking, are associated with the duration of the follicular phase, after which ovulation occurs. Recall bias may
also affect the dating of the last menstrual period.<sup>36</sup> However, all analyses were adjusted for the duration of last menstrual cycle, which is strongly associated with the timing of ovulation. Even with a known and reliable date of last menstrual period, a certain fraction of women with regular cycles have early or delayed ovulation. We did a sensitivity analysis with a restriction to participants who had a gestational age based on last menstruation within seven days of a gestational age based on crown to rump length (93%). This analysis did not materially change our effect estimates for the childhood outcomes. The analyses were adjusted for several maternal and childhood confounders. Although we observed that stepwise adjustment for various different potential maternal and childhood confounders did not strongly change the effect estimates, residual confounding may still be a concern, as in any observational study.

#### Conclusions

These results suggest that the first trimester of pregnancy may be a critical period for development of cardiovascular risk factors in later life. The observed associations are primarily important from an aetiological perspective. Further studies are needed to identify the underlying causal biological mechanisms and long term consequences. Future strategies to improve cardiovascular health may start from early pregnancy onwards or even before conception.

#### References

- Gluckman PD, Hanson MA, Cooper C, Thornburg KL. Effect of in utero and early-life conditions on adult health and disease. N Engl J Med 2008;359:61-73.
- 2. Livingstone C, ed. Human embryology. 3rd ed. Elsevier, 2001.
- 3. Robinson HP. Sonar measurement of fetal crown-rump length as means of assessing maturity in first trimester of pregnancy. Br Med J 1973;4:28-31.
- 4. Mook-Kanamori DO, Steegers EA, Eilers PH, Raat H, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Risk factors and outcomes associated with first-trimester fetal growth restriction. JAMA 2010;303:527-34.
- 5. Bukowski R, Smith GC, Malone FD, Ball RH, Nyberg DA, Comstock CH, et al. Human sexual size dimorphism in early pregnancy. Am J Epidemiol 2007;165:1216-8.
- Bottomley C, Daemen A, Mukri F, Papageorghiou AT, Kirk E, Pexsters A, et al. Assessing first trimester growth: the influence of ethnic background and maternal age. Hum Reprod 2009;24:284-90.
- Smith GC, Smith MF, McNay MB, Fleming JE. First-trimester growth and the risk of low birth weight. N Engl J Med 1998;339:1817-22.
- Bukowski R, Smith GC, Malone FD, Ball RH, Nyberg DA, Comstock CH, et al. Fetal growth in early pregnancy and risk of delivering low birth weight infant: prospective cohort study. BMJ 2007;334:836.
- Williams CL, Hayman LL, Daniels SR, Robinson TN, Steinberger J, Paridon S, et al. Cardiovascular health in childhood: a statement for health professionals from the Committee on Atherosclerosis, Hypertension, and Obesity in the Young (AHOY) of the Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young, American Heart Association. Circulation 2002;106:143-60.
- Hayman LL, Meininger JC, Daniels SR, McCrindle BW, Helden L, Ross J, et al. Primary prevention of cardiovascular disease in nursing practice: focus on children and youth: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Committee on Atherosclerosis, Hypertension, and Obesity in Youth of the Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young, Council on Cardiovascular Nursing, Council on Epidemiology and Prevention, and Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism. Circulation 2007;116:344-57.
- Jaddoe VW, van Duijn CM, Franco OH, van der Heijden AJ, van lizendoorn MH, de Jongste JC, et al. The Generation R Study: design and cohort update 2012. Eur J Epidemiol 2012;27:739-56.

- 12. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. JAMA 2000;284:3043-5.
- Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists. Routine ultrasound screening in pregnancy: protocol, standards and training. RCOG, 2000.
- 14. Verburg BO, Mulder PG, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW, Witteman JC, Steegers EA. Intra- and interobserver reproducibility study of early fetal growth parameters. Prenat Diagn 2008;28:323-31.
- Verburg BO, Steegers EA, De Ridder M, Snijders RJ, Smith E, Hofman A, et al. New charts for ultrasound dating of pregnancy and assessment of fetal growth: longitudinal data from a population-based cohort study. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2008;31:388-96.
- Hadlock FP, Harrist RB, Sharman RS, Deter RL, Park SK. Estimation of fetal weight with the use of head, body, and femur measurements—a prospective study. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1985;151:333-7.
- Niklasson A, Ericson A, Fryer JG, Karlberg J, Lawrence C, Karlberg P. An update of the Swedish reference standards for weight, length and head circumference at birth for given gestational age (1977-1981). Acta Paediatr Scand 1991;80:756-62.
- Helba M, Binkovitz LA. Pediatric body composition analysis with dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry. Pediatr Radiol 2009;39:647-56.
- Pischon T, Boeing H, Hoffmann K, Bergmann M, Schulze MB, Overvad K, et al. General and abdominal adiposity and risk of death in Europe. N Engl J Med 2008;359:2105-20.
- 20. Aucouturier J, Meyer M, Thivel D, Taillardat M, Duché P. Effect of android to gynoid fat ratio on insulin resistance in obese youth. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2009;163:826-31.
- 21. Wong SN, Tz Sung RY, Leung LC. Validation of three oscillometric blood pressure devices against auscultatory mercury sphygmomanometer in children. Blood Press Monit 2006;11:281-91.
- 22. Steinberger J, Daniels SR, Eckel RH, Hayman L, Lustig RH, McCrindle B, et al. Progress and challenges in metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Atherosclerosis, Hypertension, and Obesity in the Young Committee of the Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young; Council on Cardiovascular Nursing; and Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism. Circulation 2009;119:628-47.
- 23. Gaillard R, Bakker R, Willemsen SP, Hofman A, Steegers EA, Jaddoe VW. Blood pressure tracking during pregnancy and the risk of gestational hypertensive disorders: the Generation R Study. Eur Heart J 2011;32:3088-97.
- 24. Wells JC. A critique of the expression of paediatric body composition data. Arch Dis Child 2001;85:67-72.
- Spiegelman D, Hertzmark E. Easy SAS calculations for risk or prevalence ratios and differences. Am J Epidemiol 162:199-200.
- 26. Goldstein H. Multilevel statistical methods. 2nd ed. Edward Arnold, 1995.
- 27. Royston P, Ambler G, Sauerbrei W. The use of fractional polynomials to model continuous risk variables in epidemiology. Int J Epidemiol 1999;28:964-74.
- 28. Sterne JA, White IR, Carlin JB, Spratt M, Royston P, Kenward MG, et al. Multiple imputation for missing data in epidemiological and clinical research: potential and pitfalls. BMJ 2009;338:b2393.
- Huxley R, Owen CG, Whincup PH, Cook DG, Rich-Edwards J, Smith GD, et al. Is birth weight a risk factor for ischemic heart disease in later life? Am J Clin Nutr 2007;85:1244-50.
- Whincup PH, Kaye SJ, Owen CG, Huxley R, Cook DG, Anazawa S, el al. Birth weight and risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. JAMA 2008;300:2886-97.
- 31. Taal HR, van der Heijden AJ, Steegers EA, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Small and large size for gestational age at birth, infant growth and childhood overweight. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2013;21:1261-8.
- 32. Barker DJ, Osmond C, Forsén TJ, Kajantie E, Eriksson JG. Trajectories of growth among children who have coronary events as adults. N Engl J Med 2005;353:1802-9.
- Bhargava SK, Sachdev HS, Fall CH, Osmond C, Lakshmy R, Barker DJ, et al. Relation of serial changes in childhood bodymass index to impaired glucose tolerance in young adulthood. N Engl J Med 2004;350:865-75.
- 34. Franks PW, Hanson RL, Knowler WC, Sievers ML, Bennett PH, Looker HC. Childhood obesity, other cardiovascular risk factors, and premature death. N Engl J Med 2010;362:485-93.
- 35. Liu Y, Gold EB, Lasley BL, Johnson WO. Factors affecting menstrual cycle characteristics. Am J Epidemiol 2004;160:131-40.
- 36. Savitz DA, Terry JW Jr, Dole N, Thorp JM Jr, Siega-Riz AM, Herring AH. Comparison of pregnancy dating by last menstrual period, ultrasound scanning, and their combination. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2002;187:1660-6.

## Supplementary Material

Supplementary Figure S3.4.1. Participants flow chart in the Generation R Study, Rotterdam, the Netherlands





Supplementary Figure S3.4.2. First-trimester fetal growth and clustering of cardiovascular risk factors adjusted for gestational age and weight at birth  $(n = 745)^1$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values are Relative Risks (95% Confidence Interval) from generalized linear models that reflect the risk of childhood clustering of cardiovascular risk factors for first-trimester fetal crown to rump length SDS quintiles, as compared to the reference group (lowest quintile). Model was adjusted for child's sex and age at measurement, maternal duration of last menstrual cycle, age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, prepregnancy body mass index, diastolic blood pressure, smoking during pregnancy, folic acid supplement use, breastfeeding duration and gestational age and weight at birth (fetal pathway model).

	Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	Total fat mass (%)	Android/gynoid fat mass ratio (%)
Duration of menstrual cycle, days	0.03 (-0.04, 0.10)	-0.08 (-0.30, 0.14)	0.03 (-0.23, 0.28)
Child sex		( , , ,	,,
Boys	Reference	Reference	Reference
Girls	-0.22 (-0.42, 0.03)*	4.19 (3.64, 4.75)*	0.39 (-0.30, 1.09)
Childhood age at outcome measurement.vr	0.63 (0.41, 0.85)*	1.43 (0.66, 2.20)*	1.41 (0.51, 2.31)*
Maternal age. vr	-0.03 (-0.05, -0.01)*	-0.16 (-0.22, -0.09)*	-0.13 (-0.21, -0.05)*
Education		( , , ,	( , , ,
Primary	0.91 (0.45, 1.37)*	3.04 (1.69, 4.40)*	1.44 (-0.21, 3.09)
Secondary	0.37 (0.17, 0.57)*	1.95 (1.33, 2.57)*	1.48 (0.75, 2.21)*
Higher	Reference	Reference	Reference
Ethnicity	-	-	-
Dutch or European	Reference	Reference	Reference
Non – European	0.40 (0.19, 0.62)*	1.44 (0.77, 2.11)*	0.90 (0.12, 1.68)*
Parity			
Nulliparous	Reference	Reference	Reference
Multiparous	0.02 (-0.17, 0.22)	-0.79 (-1.41, -0.18)*	-0.45 (-1.17, 0.26)
Prepregnancy body mass index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	0.13 (0.10, 0.15)*	0.33 (0.25, 0.41)*	0.27 (0.18, 0.36)*
Diastolic blood pressure, mmHg	0.01 (0, 0.02)*	0.04 (0.01, 0.08)*	0.02 (-0.02, 0.06)
Smoking			
Yes	0.34 (0.09, 0.58)*	1.16 (0.26, 2.06)*	1.85 (0.91, 2.79)*
No	Reference	Reference	Reference
Folic acid supplement use			
Yes	Reference	Reference	Reference
No	0.36 (0.15, 0.57)*	1.48 (0.84, 2.11)*	1.30 (0.56, 2.05)*
Breastfeeding duration, month	-0.02 (-0.05, 0.01)	-0.09 (-0.18, 0)	-0.08 (-0.18, 0.03)
Childhood height at outcome measurement, cm	-	0.13 (0.07, 0.18)*	0.11 (0.05, 0.18)*
Gestational age at birth, wks	-0.03 (-0.09, 0.03)	-0.12 (-0.30, 0.05)	-0.33 (-0.53, -0.13)*
Birth weight, SD	0.25 (0.15, 0.35)*	-0.17 (-0.47, 0.13)	-0.14 (-0.49, 0.21)
Childhood body mass index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	-	1.98 (1.84, 2.12)*	2.10 (1.93, 2.27)*

**Supplementary Table S3.4.1.** Associations of covariates with childhood body fat outcomes  $(n = 1184)^{1}$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values are regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) from univariate regression models and reflect differences in childhood body fat distribution measures per unit change of each covariate and for different categories of each covariate as compared to the reference group. \*P-value <0.05.

#### CHAPTER 3.4

Supplementary	/ Table S3.4.2.	Associations of	covariates	with c	hildhood	blood	pressure (	n = 1125	$)^1$
Supprententury	1 1 1 1 1 2 3 3 1. 2.	71330010113 01	covariates	WICH C	manoou	bioou	pressure (	11 1120	1

	Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)
Duration of menstrual cycle, days	-0.01 (-0.35, 0.34)	0.10 (-0.19, 0.39)
Child sex		
Boys	Reference	Reference
Girls	0.12 (-0.83, 1.07)	0.35 (-0.45, 2.14)
Childhood age at outcome measurement, yr	3.05 (1.89, 4.21)*	1.40 (0.41, 2.39) *
Maternal age, yr	-0.14 (-0.24, -0.03)*	-0.12 (-0.21, -0.03)*
Education		
Primary	2.65 (0.43, 4.87)*	3.25 (1.43, 5.07)*
Secondary	1.25 (0.26, 2.24)*	1.32 (0.49, 2.15)*
Higher	Reference	Reference
Ethnicity		
Dutch or European	Reference	Reference
Non – European	1.68 (0.62, 2.73)*	1.51 (0.63, 2.40)*
Parity		
Nulliparous	Reference	Reference
Multiparous	-0.69 (-1.66, 0.29)	-0.88 (-1.70, -0.06)*
Prepregnancy body mass index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	0.25 (0.12, 0.38)*	0.12 (0.01, 0.23)*
Diastolic blood pressure, mmHg	0.10 (0.05, 0.15)*	0.07 (0.02, 0.11)*
Smoking		
Yes	0.75 (-0.39, 1.88)	0.67 (-0.30, 1.65)
No	Reference	Reference
Folic acid supplement use		
Yes	Reference	Reference
No	1.61 (0.51, 2.71)*	0.56 (-0.35, 1.47)
Breastfeeding duration, month	-0.07 (-0.20, 0.06)	-0.09 (-0.20, 0.03)
Childhood height at outcome measurement, cm	-	-
Gestational age at birth, wks	-0.23 (-0.51, 0.04)	-0.03 (-0.26, 0.20)
Birth weight, SD	-0.35 (-0.82, 0.12)	-0.32 (-0.72, 0.08)
Childhood body mass index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	1.25 (0.98, 1.52)*	1.40 (0.42, 2.39)*

<sup>1</sup>Values are regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) from univariate regression models and reflect differences in childhood blood pressure per unit change of each covariate and for different categories of each covariate as compared to the reference group. \*P-value <0.05.

	Total cholesterol (mmol/l)	<b>Triglycerides<sup>2</sup></b> (mmol/l)	<b>Insulin<sup>2</sup></b> (pmol/l)
Duration of menstrual cycle, days	0.01 (-0.03, 0.04)	0.01 (-0.02, 0.03)	0.02 (-0.02, 0.06)
Child sex		· · · · · ·	( , , ,
Boys	Reference	Reference	Reference
Girls	0.12 (0.03, 0.21)*	0.08 (0.02, 0.15)*	0.04 (-0.07, 0.15)
Childhood age at outcome measurement, yr	-0.01 (-0.12, 0.09)	-0.02 (-0.10, 0.05)	0.08 (-0.05, 0.21)
Maternal age, yr	0 (-0.01, 0.01)	0 (-0.01, 0.01)	-0.01 (-0.02, 0.01)
Education			
Primary	0 (-0.23, 0.23)	-0.04 (-0.13, 0.21)	0.09 (-0.21, 0.39)
Secondary	0.05 (-0.04, 0.15)	0.01 (-0.06, 0.08)	0 (-0.12, 0.12)
Higher	Reference	Reference	Reference
Ethnicity			
Dutch or European	Reference	Reference	Reference
Non – European	0.12 (0.01, 0.22)*	0 (-0.07, 0.08)	-0.09 (-0.22, 0.04)
Parity			
Nulliparous	Reference	Reference	Reference
Multiparous	-0.02 (-0.11, 0.08)	-0.01 (-0.08, 0.05)	0.05 (-0.06, 0.16)
Prepregnancy body mass index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	0 (-0.01, 0.01)	-0.01 (-0.02, 0)*	0 (-0.01, 0.02)
Diastolic blood pressure, mmHg	0 (-0.01, 0)	0 (-0.01, 0)	0 (-0.01, 0.01)
Smoking			
Yes	-0.03 (-0.17, 0.10)	-0.04 (-0.12, 0.05)	0.11 (-0.03, 0.25)
No	Reference	Reference	Reference
Folic acid supplement use			
Yes	Reference	Reference	Reference
No	0.04 (-0.06, 0.14)	0.04 (-0.03, 0.11)	-0.04 (-0.16, 0.08)
Breastfeeding duration, month	-0.01 (-0.02, 0)	0 (-0.01, 0.01)	-0.01 (-0.02, 0.01)
Childhood height at outcome measurement, cm	-	-	-
Gestational age at birth, wks	0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)	0 (-0.03, 0.02)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.05)
Birth weight, SD	0 (-0.05, 0.05)	-0.04 (-0.07, 0)	-0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)
Childhood body mass index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	0.03 (0, 0.06)*	0.02 (0, 0.04)	0.08 (0.05, 0.12)*

Supplementary Table S3.4.3. Associations of covariates with childhood metabolic outcomes  $(n = 789)^{1}$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values are regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) from univariate regression models and reflect differences in childhood blood levels per unit change of each covariate and for different categories of each covariate as compared to the reference group. <sup>2</sup>Variables were log-transformed \*P-value <0.05.

### Supplementary Table S3.4.4. Fetal and childhood growth characteristics $(n = 1184)^1$

Characteristics	Value
Fetal growth characteristics	
First trimester	
Gestational age, median (90% range), wks	12.4 (11.0, 13.9)
First trimester fetal crown to rump length, mean (SD), mm	61 (11)
Second trimester	
Gestational age, median (90% range), wks	20.4 (19.1, 22.2)
Femur length, mean (SD), mm	33 (3)
Estimated fetal weight, mean (SD), g	372 (74)
Third trimester	
Gestational age, median (90% range), wks	30.3 (29.1, 32.1)
Femur length, mean (SD), mm	58 (3)
Estimated fetal weight, mean (SD), g	1630 (241)
Birth	
Gestational age, median (90% range), wks	40.1 (37.0, 42.0)
Male sex, No (%)	575 (48.6)
Birth weight, mean (SD), g	3456 (551)
Childhood growth characteristics	
6 months	
Age at follow up, median (90% range), mo	6.2 (5.5, 7.3)
Height, mean (SD), cm	67.7 (2.5)
Weight, mean (SD), kg	7.8 (0.9)
12 months	
Age at follow up, median (90% range), mo	11.1 (10.2, 12.3)
Height, mean (SD), cm	74.4 (2.6)
Weight, mean (SD), kg	9.6 (1.1)
24 months	
Age at follow up, median (90% range), mo	25.0 (23.5, 27.3)
Height, mean (SD), cm	88.3 (3.4)
Weight, mean (SD), kg	12.9 (1.5)
36 months	
Age at follow up, median (90% range), mo	37.1 (35.5, 39.9)
Height, mean (SD), cm	97.3 (3.6)
Weight, mean (SD), kg	15.2 (1.8)
48 months	
Age at follow up, median (90% range), mo	46.0 (44.8, 47.9)
Height, mean (SD), cm	103.2 (4.1)
Weight, mean (SD), kg	16.9 (2.2)
72 months	
Age at follow up, median (90% range), mo	73.2 (68.9, 81.4)
Height, mean (SD), cm	119.0 (5.5)
Weight, mean (SD), kg	22.8 (3.7)

<sup>1</sup>Values represent mean (SD), median (90% range) or number of subjects (valid %).

Supplementary Table S3.4.5. Non-response analysis for first-trimester crown to rump length measurement in full cohort

 $(n = 8880)^1$ 

	First trimester	No first trimester	
	CRL measurement	CRL measurement	
	n = 4195	n = 4685	P-value <sup>4</sup>
Maternal characteristics			
Age, median (90% range), yr	30.5 (21.1, 37.2)	29.9 (19.8, 38.4)	<0.01
Height, mean (SD), cm	167.8 (7.3)	167.1 (7.5)	< 0.01
Prepregnancy weight, mean (SD), kg	66.4 (12.6)	66.2 (13.0)	0.64
Prepregnancy body mass index, mean (SD), kg/m <sup>2</sup>	23.5 (4.2)	23.8 (4.5)	0.02
Gestational age at intake, median (90% range), wks <sup>2</sup>	12.5 (9.9, 14.9)	16.8 (12.6, 24.6)	< 0.01
Systolic blood pressure, mean (SD), mmHg	116.2 (12.3)	114.7 (12.3)	< 0.01
Diastolic blood pressure, mean (SD), mmHg	68.8 (9.6)	67.4 (9.5)	< 0.01
Parity, nulliparous, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>	1743 (42.0)	2152 (46.7)	< 0.01
Education, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>			
Primary or secondary school	2080 (53.3)	2604 (62.6)	< 0.01
Higher education	1826 (46.7)	1553 (37.4)	
Race / Ethnicity, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>			
Dutch, other European	2563 (64.7)	2153 (50.8)	< 0.01
Non-European	1397 (35.3)	2089 (49.2)	
Smoking habits, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>			
None	2715 (74.7)	2983 (76.1)	0.49
Yes	920 (25.3)	935 (23.9)	
Folic acid supplement use, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>			
No use	683 (21.4)	1245 (37.0)	< 0.01
First 10 weeks use	1007 (31.5)	1033 (30.7)	
Preconception use	1504 (47.1)	1088 (32.3)	
Fetal characteristics			
Second trimester estimated fetal weight,			
mean (SD), g	369 (78)	396 (110)	< 0.01
Third trimester estimated fetal weight,			
mean (SD), g	1607 (245)	1623 (285)	<0.01
Birth characteristics			
Males, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>	2072 (50.4)	2295 (50.6)	0.81
Gestational age, median (90% range), wks <sup>2</sup>	40.1 (36.9, 42.0)	40.0 (36.4, 42.1)	< 0.01
Birth weight, mean (SD), g	3421 (566)	3398 (562)	0.08

<sup>1</sup>Values are mean (standard deviation). <sup>2</sup>Median (90% range). <sup>3</sup>Values are observed number and valid percentage. <sup>4</sup>Differences in subject characteristics between the groups were evaluated using one-way ANOVA tests for continuous variables and chi-square tests for proportions.

#### CHAPTER 3.4

Supplementary Table S3.4.6. Non-response analysis for first-trimester crown to rump length with and without information about last menstrual period and singleton live-born child  $(n = 4195)^{1}$ 

	Known last menstrual period and singleton live-born child	Unknown last menstrual period and singleton live-born child	
	n = 1619	n = 2576	P-value <sup>4</sup>
Maternal characteristics			
Age, median (90% range), yr	31.4 (21.9, 37.9)	29.8 (20.6, 37.0)	< 0.01
Height, mean (SD), cm	168.7 (7.0)	167.2 (7.5)	< 0.01
Prepregnancy weight, mean (SD), kg	66.9 (11.8)	66.2 (13.1)	0.22
Prepregnancy body mass index, mean (SD), kg/m <sup>2</sup>	23.4 (3.8)	23.6 (4.5)	0.07
Gestational age at intake, median (90% range), wks <sup>2</sup>	12.4 (10.6, 13.9)	12.5 (9.6, 15.1)	0.01
Systolic blood pressure, mean (SD), mmHg	116.8 (12.5)	115.8 (12.2)	< 0.01
Diastolic blood pressure, mean (SD), mmHg	69.1 (9.4)	68.7 (9.8)	0.16
Parity, nulliparous, No. (%)³	956 (59.4)	1451 (57.1)	0.15
Education, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>			
Primary or secondary school	703 (45.4)	1377 (58.4)	< 0.01
Higher education	845 (54.6)	981 (41.6)	
Race / Ethnicity, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>			
Dutch, other European	1106 (70.7)	1457 (60.8)	< 0.01
Non-European	458 (29.3)	939 (39.2)	
Smoking habits, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>			
None	1110 (76.8)	1605 (73.3)	0.13
Yes	336 (23.2)	584 (26.7)	
Folic acid supplement use, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>			
No use	192 (14.7)	491 (26.0)	< 0.01
First 10 weeks use	415 (31.8)	592 (31.3)	
Preconception use	696 (53.4)	808 (42.7)	
Fetal characteristics			
Second trimester estimated fetal weight,			
mean (SD), g	371 (74)	368 (81)	0.33
Third trimester estimated fetal weight,			
mean (SD), g	1622 (240)	1598 (247)	<0.01
Birth characteristics			
Males, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>	802 (49.5)	1270 (50.9)	0.39
Gestational age, median (90% range), wks <sup>2</sup>	39.9 (37.1, 42.0)	39.8 (36.7, 42.0)	0.04
Birth weight, mean (SD), g	3453 (565)	3402 (564)	< 0.01

<sup>1</sup>Values are mean (standard deviation). <sup>2</sup>Median (90% range). <sup>3</sup>Values are observed number and valid percentage. <sup>4</sup>Differences in subject characteristics between the groups were evaluated using one-way ANOVA tests for continuous variables and chi-square tests for proportions.

	Follow-up	Loss to follow-up	
	at 6 years	at 6 years	
	n = 1184	n = 435	P-value <sup>4</sup>
Maternal characteristics			
Age, median (90% range), yr	31.3 (22.7, 38.1)	29.7 (5.0)	< 0.01
Height, mean (SD), cm	168.8 (7.0)	168.5 (7.1)	0.43
Prepregnancy weight, mean (SD), kg	66.9 (11.8)	66.0 (11.9)	0.22
Prepregnancy body mass index, mean (SD), kg/m <sup>2</sup>	23.4 (3.9)	23.2 (3.7)	0.29
Gestational age at intake, median (90% range), wks <sup>2</sup>	12.4 (10.5, 13.9)	12.4 (10.9, 13.9)	0.84
Systolic blood pressure, mean (SD), mmHg	116.7 (12.4)	116.8 (12.8)	0.87
Diastolic blood pressure, mean (SD), mmHg	69.1 (9.4)	69.1 (9.6)	0.93
Parity, nulliparous, No. (%) <sup>°</sup>	717 (60.8)	237 (55.2)	0.04
Education, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>			
Primary or secondary school	507 (43.9)	198 (49.5)	0.02
Higher education	648 (56.1)	202 (50.5)	
Race / Ethnicity, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>			
Dutch, other European	855 (72.8)	258 (63.1)	< 0.01
Non-European	320 (27.2)	151 (36.9)	
Smoking habits, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>			
None	820 (77.4)	290 (75.1)	0.38
Yes	240 (22.6)	96 (24.9)	
Folic acid supplement use, No. (%) <sup>3</sup>			
No use	119 (12.5)	73 (20.6)	< 0.01
First 10 weeks use	294 (31.0)	121 (34.2)	
Preconception use	536 (56.5)	160 (45.2)	
Fotal characteristics		. ,	
First trimester crown to rumn length mean (SD) mm	61 (11)	61 (11)	0.44
Second trimester estimated fetal weight mean (SD), g	372 (74)	368 (73)	0.34
Third trimester estimated fetal weight, mean (SD), g	1630 (241)	1599 (238)	0.02
Pirth and infant characteristics			
		226 (52.1)	0.21
Males, NO. (%)	5/5 (48.6)	226 (52.1)	0.21
Birth weight mean (SD) g	40.1 (37.0, 42.0) 3456 (551)	40.5 (57.1, 42.1)	0.89
Ever breastfeeding, No. (%)	5450 (551)	5444 (002)	0.70
No	80 (7 6)	36 (12 6)	0.01
Voc	966 (92 4)	250 (12.0)	0.01
Proactfooding duration moon (SD) mo	E 2 /2 0)	1 6 (2 9)	0.02

Supplementary Table S3.4.7. Non-response analysis for loss to follow-up at the age of 6 years  $(n = 1619)^{1}$ 

<sup>1</sup>Values are mean (standard deviation). <sup>2</sup>Median (90% range). <sup>3</sup>Values are observed number and valid percentage. <sup>4</sup>Differences in subject characteristics between the groups were evaluated using one-way ANOVA tests for continuous variables and chi-square tests for proportions.

#### CHAPTER 3.4

	SDS - difference (95% Confidence Interval) in growth characteristics in children with clustering of cardiovascular risk factors		
	Length (SDS)	Weight (SDS)	
Gestational age			
12 weeks	-0.12 (-0.39, 0.15)	-0.08 (-0.35, 0.18)	
20 weeks	-0.11 (-0.32, 0.10)	-0.15 (-0.36, 0.06)	
30 weeks	-0.10 (-0.31, 0.12)	-0.24 (-0.44, -0.03)	
40 weeks	-0.09 (-0.39, 0.22)	-0.32 (-0.59, -0.05)	
Childhood age			
6 months	0.02 (-0.18, 0.23)	0.24 (-0.04, 0.51)	
12 months	0.07 (-0.14, 0.27)	0.31 (0.03, 0.58)	
24 months	0.16 (-0.04, 0.36)	0.45 (0.18, 0.72)	
36 months	0.26 (0.05, 0.45)	0.59 (0.32, 0.86)	
48 months	0.35 (0.15, 0.55)	0.73 (0.45, 1.00)	
72 months	0.54 (0.32, 0.75)	1.09 (0.71, 1.31)	

**Supplementary Table S3.4.8.** Fetal and childhood length and weight growth in children with clustering of cardiovascular risk factors adjusted for confounders (n = 745)<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Values are based on repeated linear regression models. Regression coefficients (95% Confidence Interval) reflect the difference in length and weight standard deviation score for children with clustering of cardiovascular risk factors, as compared to children without such clustering. Models are adjusted for duration of last menstrual cycle, child's sex and age at outcome measurements, maternal age, educational level, ethnicity, parity, prepregnancy body mass index, diastolic blood pressure, smoking during pregnancy and folic acid supplement use, and breastfeeding duration. Length and weight growth characteristics used in the models: Fetal period: first trimester: crown to rump length as both length and weight measure (starting point); second and third trimester: femur length and estimated fetal weight; At birth: birth length and birth weight; During childhood: length and weight. Clustering of cardiovascular risk factors, was defined as having 3 or more following components: android fat mass percentage  $\geq$ 75<sup>th</sup> percentile; systolic or diastolic blood pressure  $\geq$ 75<sup>th</sup> percentile; HDL-cholesterol  $\leq$ 25<sup>th</sup> percentile or triglycerides  $\geq$ 75<sup>th</sup> percentile; and insulin level  $\geq$ 75<sup>th</sup> percentile [22].

# Chapter 4

# General discussion



#### Introduction

Cardiovascular disease is a major public health problem in the general adult population.<sup>1</sup> Cardiovascular and metabolic diseases have the largest clinical impact at older ages, and research into risk factors for cardiovascular and metabolic diseases has mostly been focused on adults. However, in the last decades, an accumulating body of evidence suggested that cardiovascular health in younger age groups also has major public health implications.

Cardiovascular health status of women of reproductive age may influence pregnancy outcomes. To meet the increasing metabolic demands of the mother and fetus, adaptions occur in the maternal circulation and metabolism during pregnancy. Normally, these adaptations lead to a better placental perfusion and nutrient supply to the fetus. Suboptimal adaptations may lead to increased risks of pregnancy complications<sup>2</sup>, which may have long-term maternal and offspring consequences. Women who had pregnancy complications have higher risks of cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes many decades after their pregnancy.<sup>3-5</sup> Also, children born with a low and high birth weight have higher risks of obesity, cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes in adulthood.<sup>6-10</sup> Based on these findings, it has been hypothesized that adverse exposures, acting at different stages of fetal and early postnatal development, lead to permanent adaptations in the structure, physiology and function of various organ systems. This early programming contributes to short-term survival, but increases the susceptibility of cardiovascular and metabolic disease in later life.<sup>11</sup> Thus, cardiovascular health and disease in pregnant women and their children is important for short-term and long-term maternal and childhood health outcomes.

The aim of the studies presented in this thesis was to identify maternal physical factors at the start of pregnancy, placental and fetal factors and critical developmental periods during pregnancy associated with cardiovascular health outcomes in mothers and children. This chapter provides a general discussion of the main findings of the studies in this thesis, discusses general methodological issues and provides suggestions for future research.

#### Interpretation of main findings

#### Maternal influences

Various adverse maternal socio-demographic and lifestyle-related characteristics have been associated with the risk of adverse maternal and fetal pregnancy outcomes, but less is known about the role of maternal physical factors at the start of pregnancy. Identifying factors associated with cardiovascular health in pregnant women and their children, may help to develop future preventive strategies that improve pregnancy outcomes and maternal and offspring cardiovascular health outcomes.

#### Maternal blood pressure during pregnancy

Blood pressure is used as a screening method in obstetric care to detect or predict gestational hypertensive disorders, but the predictive accuracy of blood pressure measurement in early pregnancy remains unclear.<sup>12</sup> Tracking analyses focus on the maintenance of one's relative position in a population distribution of values over time, and can be used as a concept to examine the predictability of future values by early measurements.<sup>13</sup>

We examined whether maternal blood pressure tracks throughout pregnancy, whether this tracking is influenced by maternal characteristics and how it is associated with the risk of gestational hypertensive disorders. We observed moderate correlation coefficients between first and third trimester for systolic and diastolic blood pressure. Maternal age, height, gestational weight gain and ethnic background influenced these correlation coefficients. Furthermore, systolic and diastolic blood pressure changes from second to third trimester, but not from first to second trimester, were positively associated with the risks of gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia. In this thesis, we did not study the associations of maternal blood pressure during pregnancy and gestational hypertensive disorders with childhood outcomes. A previous study performed within the same study cohort, has shown that higher maternal blood pressure levels during pregnancy were associated with impaired fetal growth from the third trimester onwards.<sup>14</sup> An increase in blood pressure from second trimester to third trimester was associated with an increased risk of adverse birth outcomes.<sup>14</sup> This latter study, as well as several other studies also showed that offspring from mothers who had pre-eclampsia had a higher risk of being born preterm and small for their gestational age and a higher risk of higher blood pressure in later life.<sup>14-16</sup> These findings suggest that maternal blood pressure development during pregnancy is important for both maternal and fetal pregnancy complications, and childhood cardiovascular outcomes.

- Maternal blood pressure tracks moderately during pregnancy and is influenced by maternal characteristics.
- Second to third trimester increases in systolic and diastolic blood pressure are associated with an increased risk of gestational hypertensive disorders.

#### Maternal parity

#### Background

There is a strong increase in the prevalence of one-child families in Western countries, which may partly be due to the decline in fertility rate and changes in social attitudes.<sup>17</sup> Although maternal parity cannot be modified, obtaining a better understanding of its impact on maternal and childhood outcomes is important for developing strategies for identification of individuals at high risk of adverse outcomes.

#### Parity and maternal outcomes

Maternal nulliparity is suggested to be an important risk factor for maternal pregnancy complications, including gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia.<sup>18,19</sup> A systematic review of 52 observational studies showed that nulliparity is associated with an almost 3-times higher risk of pre-eclampsia.<sup>18</sup> Several studies have also suggested that blood pressure levels during pregnancy are higher among nulliparous women, but other studies observed no differences in blood pressure levels.<sup>20-22</sup> These differences may be explained by differences in study population, sample size, adjustment for confounding factors and the use of office or ambulatory blood pressure measurements. Inconsistent differences in placental vascular function among nulliparous and multiparous women have also been reported, with several studies suggesting that nulliparity is associated with an increased risk of uterine artery notching.<sup>23,24</sup> We observed that nulliparous pregnant women have higher blood pressure levels from first trimester onwards and higher risks of third trimester uterine artery notching, and gestational hypertensive disorders. The first pregnancy might thus be a major risk factor for maternal hemodynamic maladaptations and hypertensive complications.

#### Parity and childhood outcomes

Children from nulliparous mothers are generally smaller than children from multiparous mothers.<sup>25</sup> Differences in birth weight between firstborn and second-born children have been reported up to approximately 200 grams, which is of similar magnitude as the influence of maternal smoking during pregnancy on birth weight.<sup>25-27</sup> Among multiparous mothers only, there is a much smaller increase in birth weight with each following pregnancy.<sup>26</sup> Less is known about the associations of maternal parity with fetal growth in different trimesters of pregnancy. As low birth weight and small size for gestational age at birth are associated with increased risks of cardiovascular disorders in later life, it has been hypothesized that maternal parity may also be associated with long-term cardiovascular health in the offspring. A recent study among 1.065.710 Swedish men reported that birth order was negatively associated with body mass index in youngadulthood.<sup>28</sup> Next to the reported associations of maternal parity with body mass index in the offspring, it has also been shown that body fat mass level in early adulthood is influenced by maternal parity, independent of birth weight and current lifestyle-related factors.<sup>29</sup> However, these findings, as well as suggested associations of maternal parity with other cardiovascular risk factors, are inconsistent.<sup>30-34</sup> In our study, we observed that children of nulliparous mothers had slower fetal growth rates from third trimester onwards and accelerated infant growth rates. Maternal nulliparity was associated with increased risks of adverse birth outcomes, childhood adiposity and adverse childhood metabolic profile in the offspring. Among multiparous mothers only, increasing parity tended to be associated with a decreasing risk of adverse health outcomes in offspring. These associations of maternal parity with birth and childhood outcomes were not explained by socio-demographic and lifestyle-related factors, and associations with childhood outcomes were also independent of birth weight. These findings suggest that the first pregnancy may have persistent growth and cardiovascular consequences for the offspring.

#### Underlying mechanisms

The mechanisms underlying these associations are largely unknown, but are likely to partly reflect maternal health status, social and behavioral factors which differ among nulliparous and multiparous women. However, next to these factors, biological mechanisms may also play a role, as associations with maternal, birth and early-childhood outcomes remained after adjustment for confounding factors. Biological mechanisms may involve persistent changes in the maternal vasculature following the first pregnancy, which leads to a more favorable environment for both placental development, fetal nutrition and fetal development in following pregnancies.<sup>35</sup> Further studies are needed to obtain further insight in these underlying mechanisms.

- Nulliparous pregnant women have higher blood pressure levels throughout pregnancy and higher risks of gestational hypertensive disorders.
- Maternal nulliparity is associated with increased risks of adverse birth outcomes, accelerated infant growth, childhood adiposity and an adverse childhood metabolic profile in the offspring.
- The first pregnancy might be an important risk factor for maternal and offspring cardiovascular health outcomes.

#### Maternal prepregnancy body mass index and gestational weight gain

#### Background

Worldwide, there is a strong increase in overweight and obesity prevalences among women of reproductive age.<sup>36</sup> Maternal prepregnancy obesity is an important risk factor for gestational hypertensive disorders, gestational diabetes and delivering large size for gestational age infants, but associations with other pregnancy complications are less consistent.<sup>37</sup> In addition, maternal prepregnancy obesity is strongly associated with the risk of obesity in the offspring.<sup>38</sup>

Next to maternal prepregnancy obesity, weight gain during pregnancy may also affect maternal and childhood outcomes.<sup>39,40</sup> The US Institute of Medicine (IOM) has established guidelines, which define optimal ranges of maternal weight gain during pregnancy, according to a mother's prepregnancy body mass index.<sup>41</sup> The guidelines have been established based on evidence from observational studies, relating gestational weight gain to maternal postpartum weight retention, infant size at birth and caesarean delivery, and childhood obesity.<sup>41</sup> Excessive gestational weight gain according to the IOM criteria is common, and associated with the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes.<sup>42</sup> As the IOM gestational weight gain, it is not possible to study the separate effects of maternal prepregnancy body mass index and gestational weight gain on different

maternal and childhood outcomes.<sup>43</sup> Total gestational weight gain reflects multiple components including actual maternal fat accumulation, but also pregnancy-related volume expansion and growth of the fetus, placenta and uterus. Gestational weight gain in different periods of pregnancy partly reflects different components.<sup>41,44</sup> Maternal gestational weight gain in early-pregnancy relatively largely reflects maternal fat deposition, whereas weight gain in mid- and late-pregnancy largely reflects maternal and amniotic fluid expansion, and growth of the fetus, placenta and uterus.<sup>41,44</sup> Examining the associations of critical periods of gestational weight gain with maternal and childhood outcomes may provide further insight in the underlying mechanisms.<sup>45,46</sup>

#### Prepregnancy body mass index, gestational weight gain and pregnancy outcomes

Results presented in this thesis showed that the risks of maternal prepregnancy overweight and obesity were higher among lower educated, non-European origin, and multiparous mothers and mothers with an obese partner. The risk of excessive gestational weight gain according to the IOM-criteria was higher among European origin, nulliparous, high dietary intake and smoking women, and among women having an obese partner. Maternal prepregnancy overweight and obesity were strongly associated with increased risks of gestational hypertensive disorders, gestational diabetes, caesarean delivery, large size for gestational age infants, and overweight and obesity in the offspring. Higher prepregnancy body mass index was also associated with both higher systolic and diastolic blood pressure in all trimesters. The difference in blood pressure between body mass index groups was already present from first trimester onwards and remained stable throughout pregnancy.

Excessive gestational weight gain according to the IOM criteria was associated with increased risks of gestational hypertension, caesarean delivery, large size for gestational age infants and overweight in the offspring. The risks of delivering a small size for gestational age or preterm born infant were lower among women who gained weight excessively. As compared to prepregnancy overweight and obesity, excessive gestational weight gain had a limited influence on adverse pregnancy outcomes.

Weight gain in early pregnancy was associated with the risk of gestational diabetes and gestational hypertension, whereas weight gain in late-pregnancy was associated with the risk of pre-eclampsia and gestational hypertension. Higher weight gain in early, mid- and late-pregnancy was associated with a lower risk of delivering a small size for gestational age infant, and a higher risk of delivering a large size for gestational age infant, with strongest effects for weight gain in mid- and late-pregnancy. Few studies have examined the associations of critical periods of gestational weight gain with pregnancy outcomes, and these studies have mainly focused on birth weight as an outcome.<sup>47-49</sup> Further research is important to explore reversed causation and to examine underlying mechanisms.

#### Prepregnancy body mass index and childhood outcomes

Maternal prepregnancy body mass index is strongly associated with body mass index in the offspring.<sup>38</sup> Whether these associations reflect direct intrauterine, causal

mechanisms remains unclear. An approach used in epidemiological studies to obtain further insight into causality is a sibling comparison study, which by design controls for environmental characteristics as well as maternal genotype that are similar within siblings.<sup>50</sup> Sibling studies among offspring from mothers who had high levels of prepregnancy weight loss due to gastrointestinal bypass surgery observed that the prevalence of overweight and obesity and adverse cardiovascular outcomes was higher in children born to mothers before surgery than those born to mothers after surgery. These findings suggest that some of the effect of maternal obesity on offspring outcomes may be through direct intra-uterine mechanisms.<sup>51,52</sup> However, it remains unclear whether this is similar across the whole distribution of maternal prepregnancy body mass index. A large study among 280.866 singleton-born Swedish men observed that a higher maternal body mass index in early pregnancy was associated with higher offspring body mass index at the age of 18 years in the whole cohort and between non-siblings, but not within-siblings, which suggests that the association may be explained by confounding environmental characteristics.<sup>53</sup>

Another approach to obtain further insight into causality of the associations of maternal prepregnancy body mass index with childhood cardiovascular outcomes involves comparing the strength of associations of prepregnancy body mass index from both mother and father with childhood outcomes.<sup>54</sup> Stronger associations for maternal prepregnancy body mass index suggest direct intra-uterine mechanisms may be involved, whereas similar or stronger associations for paternal body mass index suggest a role for shared family-based, lifestyle-related characteristics or genetic factors. Thus far, studies comparing associations of maternal and paternal body mass index with childhood body mass index have shown conflicting results.<sup>55-62</sup> In our contemporary study, we observed that both maternal and paternal prepregnancy body mass index were associated with increased adiposity levels and an adverse cardiovascular profile in offspring, with stronger associations present for maternal prepregnancy body mass index. These associations were not explained by maternal pregnancy complications, gestational weight gain or birth characteristics, but were largely mediated by childhood body mass index. These findings suggest that maternal prepregnancy body mass index is an important risk factor for cardiovascular health of offspring, and that at least part of the underlying mechanisms for this association may involve direct intra-uterine mechanisms.

#### Gestational weight gain and childhood outcomes

Increased maternal gestational weight gain may influence long-term cardiovascular health of offspring.<sup>63</sup> Most studies that reported these associations used the IOM criteria for excessive gestational weight gain or total gestational weight gain.<sup>64-71</sup> Studies using more detailed assessment methods for gestational weight gain have also suggested associations of gestational weight gain with offspring outcomes.<sup>45,72,73</sup> A sibling comparison study among 146.894 singleton-born Swedish men showed that among overweight and obese mothers, higher total gestational weight gain is associated with higher offspring body mass at the age of 18 years among siblings, suggesting a possible intra-uterine effect.<sup>73</sup> A study among 5154 UK mother-offspring pairs showed that

gestational weight gain in the first 14 weeks of pregnancy, when maternal fat gain is a relatively large component of gestational weight gain, tended to be positively associated with offspring body mass index, waist circumference and fat mass at 9 years, but after 14 weeks of gestation, only high levels of gestational weight gain were associated with offspring adiposity measures.<sup>45</sup> In this thesis, we observed that higher maternal gestational weight gain in early-pregnancy, but not in mid- and late-pregnancy, is associated with increased adiposity levels and an adverse cardiovascular profile in childhood. These associations were independent from maternal prepregnancy weight and weight gain in other periods, and not explained by pregnancy complications or birth and infant growth characteristics. Excessive gestational weight gain according to the IOM criteria was also associated with the risk of childhood overweight and clustering of cardiovascular risk factors. The associations of maternal prepregnancy weight with childhood adiposity and cardiovascular outcomes were stronger than those for gestational weight gain, but did not explain or modify the associations of gestational weight gain with these outcomes. These findings suggest that maternal weight gain in early pregnancy may be a critical period for childhood outcomes.

#### Underlying mechanisms

The possible mechanisms underlying the associations of maternal prepregnancy body mass index and gestational weight gain with childhood outcomes may involve increased placental transfer of nutrients to the developing fetus. This transfer may subsequently affect fetal development, fetal fat deposition and the development of the hypothalamic -endocrine system that controls appetite and energy metabolism.<sup>74,75</sup> Epigenetic mechanisms may also play an important role.<sup>75</sup> In animal models, effects of nutritional exposures on epigenetic changes have been shown.<sup>75</sup> Thus far, no large-scale studies among humans have been performed focused on epigenetic changes in response to maternal weight during pregnancy. It has been suggested that maternal prepregnancy obesity and excessive gestational weight gain may also have an intergenerational effect, in which these factors lead to an adverse in utero environment which may permanently affect growth and development of specifically female offspring, altering her metabolism in such a way as that she provides an adverse environment for her fetus.<sup>76</sup> Since an increasing number of women are overweight and obese at the start of pregnancy and gain an excessive amount of weight during pregnancy, their effect on offspring development in fetal and early postnatal life may contribute to the continuation of the obesity epidemic.43

- Maternal prepregnancy obesity and excessive gestational weight gain are associated with maternal socio-demographic, lifestyle, and genetic factors and with increased risks of adverse maternal, fetal and childhood outcomes.
- Both higher maternal and paternal prepregnancy body mass index are associated with increased adiposity levels and an adverse cardiovascular profile in offspring, with stronger associations present for maternal prepregnancy body mass index. These associations are largely mediated by childhood body mass index.
- Increased maternal weight gain in early pregnancy is associated with an adverse cardiovascular profile in childhood. This association is largely mediated by childhood body mass index.

#### Placental and fetal influences

#### Placental vascular function

#### Background

The placenta forms the active interface between the maternal and fetal blood circulations and regulates both maternal physiological changes during pregnancy as well fetal nutrient supply and fetal development.<sup>77</sup> The placenta is likely to play a key role in the development of maternal and fetal pregnancy complications.<sup>78,79</sup> The placenta may also play an important role in the developmental origins hypothesis.<sup>77,80</sup> Animals studies have shown that fetal growth restriction due to reduced uterine artery perfusion during late gestation is associated with an increased blood pressure and cardiovascular risk in later life.<sup>81,82</sup> Previous studies among adults suggested associations of both low and high placental weight with adverse cardiovascular outcomes in later life, but results are not consistent.<sup>80</sup> Placental weight is only a crude measure of placental growth and more detailed measures of placental function, assessed during pregnancy, might give further insight in long-term consequences of placental dysfunction.<sup>77</sup>

Abnormal early placentation can lead to higher uterine and umbilical artery resistance patterns, which can be measured by Doppler waveforms. Normally, during the first half of pregnancy, there is a decrease in uterine artery and umbilical artery resistance indices, which is in line with the physiological changes that occur during placentation.<sup>83</sup> Abnormal uterine artery and umbilical artery waveforms during pregnancy indicate an impaired uteroplacental and fetoplacental circulation. The utero-placental vascular resistance, a parameter primarily of the maternal circulation, may increase as a result of impaired placentation or impaired maternal hemodynamic adaptations.<sup>83,84</sup> Increased feto-placental vascular resistance, primarily a parameter of the fetal circulation, may occur as a result of impaired placentation or suboptimal fetal vascular development.<sup>84</sup> Studies, often performed among high-risk populations, have shown that abnormal mid-pregnancy uterine and umbilical artery resistance indices as well as uterine artery notching are associated with the risk of pre-eclampsia and fetal growth retardation.<sup>84,85</sup>

#### Placental vascular dysfunction and pregnancy outcomes

In this thesis, we examined whether uterine and umbilical artery resistance indices are influenced by maternal socio-demographic and lifestyle-related characteristics, whether they track from the second trimester to the third, and whether they are associated with the risk of maternal and fetal pregnancy complications. We observed that placental resistance indices are influenced by maternal parity, use of folic acid supplements and maternal smoking during pregnancy. The influence of these maternal characteristics on utero-placental and feto-placental circulation may be part of the underlying mechanisms that relate these maternal characteristics to the risk of adverse birth outcomes. We further showed that the uterine artery resistance index tracks moderately from the second trimester to the third. Already small variations in placental resistance indices in second and third trimester are associated with increased risks of adverse pregnancy complications.

#### Placental vascular dysfunction and childhood outcomes

We examined whether small variations in third trimester placental resistance indices are associated with fetal and childhood growth and cardiovascular development. As the placental vascular bed forms an important component of the fetal vascular system, and the largest variation is expected in third trimester, we hypothesized that especially changes in third trimester feto-placental vascular resistance may lead to fetal growth and cardiovascular system adaptations.<sup>86</sup> We observed that higher third trimester umbilical artery and uterine artery resistance indices were associated with lower fetal growth rates in third trimester, resulting in a smaller size at birth. Differences in length and weight growth characteristics became smaller from the age of 6 months onwards but persisted until the age of 6 years. Higher third trimester feto-placental vascular resistance, was associated with childhood cardiovascular adaptations. These associations were only partly explained by birth weight, and tended to be stronger among girls than among boys.

#### Underlying mechanisms

The mechanisms underlying these associations of impaired placentation and maternal and childhood outcomes are not well-understood. It has been suggested that oxidative stress due to impaired placental transfusion may be an important factor in the development of pregnancy complications.<sup>78,87</sup> Oxidative stress may also play a role in the observed long-term childhood cardiovascular consequences of impaired third trimester feto-placental vascular resistance.<sup>88-90</sup> Feto-placental vascular resistance is related to fetal vascular function and a determinant of fetal cardiac afterload.<sup>77,91,92</sup> Thus, alterations in feto-placental vascular function may affect fetal development and be a marker of fetal vascular adaptations. The observed associations tended to be stronger among girls than among boys. Sex differences in developmental programming of cardiovascular

#### CHAPTER 4

risk factors in children merits further study, as findings are inconsistent.<sup>93,94</sup> Further studies with a longer follow-up are needed to examine whether feto-placental vascular resistance is also associated with cardiovascular adaptations at later ages, and whether these associations are different among boys and girls.

- Placental resistance indices are influenced by maternal socio-demographic and lifestyle characteristics and track moderately from the second trimester to the third.
- Increased placental resistance indices in the second and third trimesters are associated with increased risks of adverse pregnancy outcomes.
- Higher third trimester feto-placental vascular resistance, but not uteroplacental vascular resistance, is associated with an adverse cardiovascular profile in childhood.

#### Fetal and early childhood growth

#### Background

In obstetric care, fetal ultrasound measurements are important examinations during pregnancy for identifying fetuses at risk of adverse outcomes. Poor fetal growth in second and third trimester of pregnancy is associated with increased risks of stillbirth, preterm birth, low birth weight, small size for gestational age at birth and long-term adverse health outcomes.<sup>11,95</sup> First trimester fetal growth is commonly used for pregnancy dating, assuming there is no growth variation in early fetal life. However, among pregnant women with a known first day of the last menstrual period and a regular cycle, fetal crown to rump length can also be used as a first trimester growth outcome.<sup>96,97</sup>

Recent studies observed associations of first trimester fetal growth restriction with the risk of preterm birth and small size for gestational age at birth.<sup>96,98</sup> Repeated ultrasound measurements in different trimesters of pregnancy enable tracking studies and identification of critical fetal periods for later development.

#### Fetal growth throughout gestation

Not much is known about the correlations of longitudinal fetal growth measurements from early pregnancy onwards with adverse birth outcomes, especially among low-risk populations. Tracking analyses can be used to assess the stability of fetal growth characteristics throughout pregnancy. Two previous studies performed among low-risk populations suggested that tracking of fetal growth characteristics is not common during pregnancy.<sup>99,100</sup> We observed that fetal growth characteristics track moderately throughout gestation, with stronger tracking coefficients present in later pregnancy. This lower tracking of fetal growth during early pregnancy as compared to late pregnancy may partly be due to measurement error related to fetal ultrasound assessment, which is relatively higher in early pregnancy, but may also suggests that a fetus does not have a stable growth trajectory from early pregnancy onwards. Maternal socio-

demographic and lifestyle-related characteristics did not materially influence fetal growth tracking coefficients, which may suggest that the influence of maternal characteristics on fetal growth trajectories is relatively small, or that potential growth adaptations due to maternal characteristics are already occurring in early pregnancy. First, second and third trimester fetal growth characteristics were associated with the risk of adverse birth outcomes, with the strongest associations present for third trimester fetal growth characteristics are needed to examine whether serial fetal ultrasound measures add to the prediction of adverse birth outcomes.

#### First trimester fetal growth and childhood outcomes

Impaired fetal growth may also be associated with increased susceptibility for cardiovascular disease in later life.<sup>11</sup> Both low and high birth weight are associated with cardiovascular disease in adulthood. Also, studies have shown that variation in fetal growth and early childhood growth is associated with differences in body composition, hemodynamic and metabolic adaptions.<sup>101-104</sup> Thus, these studies suggest that there may be critical periods of growth in early life that influence the development of cardiovascular disease in later life. In this thesis, we examined the associations of first trimester fetal growth with cardiovascular risk factors in childhood. The highest development rates are in the first trimester of pregnancy, which includes the embryonic phase.<sup>105</sup> Previously, we have already shown that first trimester fetal growth seems to be influenced by maternal socio-demographic and lifestyle-related characteristics and is associated with adverse birth outcomes and accelerated postnatal growth.<sup>96</sup> In this thesis, we observed that smaller first trimester fetal size was associated with an adverse body fat distribution, higher diastolic blood pressure, and an adverse blood cholesterol profile in childhood. First trimester fetal growth restriction was also associated with an increased risk of clustering of these cardiovascular risk factors in childhood. These associations were not explained by maternal, birth, and childhood characteristics. The observed associations suggest that the first trimester of pregnancy is a critical period for cardiovascular health in later life. The underlying mechanisms may include changes in methylation of DNA and expression of RNA in response to a suboptimal fetal environment.<sup>11</sup> More detailed first trimester fetal ultrasound studies are needed, that take into account timing of ovulation and implantation, to obtain further insight in these observed associations.<sup>106</sup>

- Fetal growth characteristics track moderately throughout gestation, with stronger tracking coefficients present in later pregnancy. Maternal socio-demographic and lifestyle-related characteristics do not materially influence fetal growth tracking coefficients.
- First, second and third trimester fetal growth characteristics are associated with the risk of adverse birth outcomes.
- Impaired first trimester fetal growth is associated with an adverse cardiovascular risk profile in school age children.

#### Methodological considerations

Specific strengths and limitations for the studies presented in this thesis have been described in **Chapter 2** and **Chapter 3** of this thesis. In the following paragraphs, general methodological considerations regarding selection bias, information bias and confounding are discussed.

#### Selection bias

Selection bias may occur if the association between the determinant and outcome of interest is different in subjects who participate in the study and those who were eligible for the study, but do not participate in the study. Of all children eligible at birth, the overall response to participate in the Generation R Study was 61%. The percentages of women from ethnic minority groups and of lower socioeconomic status were lower than expected from the population figures in Rotterdam.<sup>107</sup> Also, participating women had less pregnancy complications, such as gestational hypertensive disorders, preterm birth and low birth weight, which suggests a selection towards a relatively more affluent and healthy population. This selection towards a more affluent and healthy population may have led to lower prevalence rates, and subsequently reduced statistical power. Also, it may affect the generalizability of our findings to other, less healthy and affluent populations. However, several studies have shown that in cohort studies associations are not strongly influenced by selective non-participation at baseline, and we therefore consider it unlikely that our results are biased by selective non-response at baseline.<sup>108,109</sup>

Next to selective non-response at baseline, selection bias may also occur due to selective loss to follow-up. Loss to follow-up would lead to selection bias if associations would be different between those included in the analyses and those loss to follow-up. In the studies presented in this thesis, loss to follow-up at birth was low. At the age of 6 years, children and their mothers were invited to participate in detailed body fat and cardiovascular follow-up measurements. The response rate at this follow-up was approximately 70%. A lower percentage of children participated in blood sample measurements at the age of 6 years, which was mainly due to non-consent for venous puncture or crying of the child. Mothers from children who did not visit the research center more frequently had unhealthy lifestyle habits and were less well educated than the total study population. Overall, the selective loss to follow-up towards a more healthy population may have biased our effect estimates, but this bias is difficult to quantify.

#### Information bias

Information bias is a bias that arises in a study because of misclassification of determinant or outcome measurements.<sup>110</sup> Misclassification of either determinant or outcome can be classified as non-differential or differential. Non-differential misclassification involves misclassification where the determinant status is not related to the outcome status, and vice versa. Non-differential misclassification generally leads to an underestimation or dilution of the effect estimates. Differential misclassification involves misclassification of determinant status related to the outcome status, and vice versa. Differential misclassification may lead to biased results, which can be either overestimated or underestimated.

Exposure data used in our studies were collected longitudinally and before assessment of the outcomes. Also, both parents as well as data collectors were unaware of the specific research questions under study. This makes differential misclassification of the exposure unlikely. However, non-differential misclassification might have occurred. Underreporting of adverse lifestyle-related factors might have occurred and led to an underestimation or overestimation of the observed effects. For example, in the studies presented in this thesis, information of maternal prepregnancy weight and maximum weight during pregnancy was self-reported. Self-reported weight tends to be underestimated especially in case of higher maternal weight, which might have led to an underestimation of observed effects for maternal prepregnancy body mass index and maximum gestational weight gain, but to an overestimation of the effect of gestational weight gain in early pregnancy. Also, pregnancy dating for most women was performed using ultrasound measurements of crown-rump length or biparietal diameter at the first visit. This method might be better than dating by last menstrual period, but neglects variation in early fetal growth. As a consequence, growth variation in second and third trimester might be underestimated and random measurement error in estimation of pregnancy duration may have occurred. Random measurement error in determinants may also have affected our tracking analyses. In most of our studies, the outcome was assessed using medical records, or standardized hands-on assessments of body composition and cardiovascular development. Furthermore, the observers were blinded to the exposure status, which makes differential misclassification of the outcomes less likely.

#### Confounding

A confounding factor is an extraneous variable associated with both the determinant and the outcome, and this variable is not an intermediate variable in the causal pathway between the exposure and the outcome.<sup>110</sup> If a confounding factor is not taken into account, this may lead to a biased effect estimate of the association between the determinant and the outcome. In this thesis, we used two approaches to deal with confounding in the studied associations. First, we adjusted all analyses for multiple potential confounders. We selected covariates based on previous studies, their associations with the outcomes of interest or a change in effect estimate of more than 10%. In most of the studies presented in this thesis, adjustment for potential confounders only moderately affected the effect estimates, which suggest that the observed associations are possibly true associations between the determinants and the outcomes. Although information about many potential confounders was available in the studies performed in this thesis, residual confounding may still be an issue, as in any observational study. Also, information about several confounding variables was self-reported and measurement error of the confounding variables might have occurred. Residual confounding may have led to an overestimation of the observed effect estimates. Second, we

assessed the associations of both maternal and paternal exposures during pregnancy. A similar effect size for the maternal and paternal association would suggest that the association of the maternal exposure with childhood outcomes is explained by unmeasured environmental factors, rather than direct intra-uterine mechanisms.

#### Future research

#### Maternal, placental and fetal exposures

We described associations of maternal, placental and fetal influences with maternal and childhood outcomes. Due to the observational design of our study, we cannot establish causality of the observed associations. A randomized controlled trial is the preferred study design to establish causality. Long-term follow-up studies of participants in ongoing or completed randomized controlled trials that aim to improve diet in overweight and obese pregnant women or aim to limit gestational weight gain are important.<sup>43,111,112</sup> These trials, that have originally been established to assess the influence of these interventions on perinatal outcomes, provide an unique opportunity to examine whether maternal obesity and gestational weight gain are causally related to childhood cardiovascular risk factors.<sup>43</sup> In addition, these trials provide further insight whether maternal lifestyle modification is effective for reducing long-term adverse cardiovascular outcomes in the offspring.<sup>43</sup> Thus far, these randomized controlled trials have suggested that dietary interventions during pregnancy may lead to a small reduction in the amount of gestational weight gain.<sup>111,112</sup> However, whether they also have a beneficial effect on maternal and childhood outcomes remains unclear. Many randomized controlled trials have started their interventions from the second trimester onwards.<sup>111,112</sup> Our findings in this thesis, as well as findings from other observational studies, highlight the importance for intervention trials also focused on the preconception or early pregnancy period.

Next to randomized controlled trials, which are not possible for all exposures studied in this thesis, long term follow-up of observational birth cohorts is necessary. Especially, observational studies that are able to use more sophisticated methods to obtain further insight into causality are important. Comparing effect size of maternal-offspring and paternal-offspring associations provides a method to separate intra-uterine mechanisms from associations explained by confounding familial and environmental characteristics.<sup>54</sup> Thus, future studies should aim to also include fathers in the study with similar assessment of exposures as among mothers, to allow these types of comparison studies. Mendelian randomization studies use genetic variants, which are robustly associated with the exposure of interest and not affected by confounding, as an instrumental variable for an specific exposure, to examine whether an exposure is causally related to the outcome.<sup>113</sup> Sibling comparison studies control for confounders as it is assumed that potential family-based confounders will be similar among siblings.<sup>50</sup> For the latter two methods, large sample sizes are necessary for sufficient statistical power, and

therefore collaborative efforts between multiple cohort studies in meta-analyses with sufficient large sample size are necessary.

More detailed assessment of the studied exposures might also provide further insight in the studied associations. To study the associations of maternal parity with childhood outcomes in further detail, studies with larger sample size are needed that can exclude only-child children from their analyses to distinguish effects of firstborn status and only-child status on childhood outcomes, and that can better explore the effect of family size. For gestational weight gain, studies are needed that have repeated maternal weight measurements during pregnancy available. More detailed measurement of the different components of gestational weight gain, including maternal fat accumulation, pregnancy-related hemodynamic adaptations and fetal growth, is necessary. The transfer of nutrients by the placenta does not only depend upon placental vascular function, but also on placental structure and function. It has been suggested that a 'placental phenotype', which constitutes of a combination of placental measures including placental morphology, blood flow and placental nutrient transporter activity and expression, provides a better proxy for the intrauterine environment than birth weight, and may give further insight in developmental programming of cardiovascular disease.<sup>77</sup> It is thus important that further studies also focus on other aspects of placental function, and the combination of these features. Fetal growth is the largest in absolute terms in third trimester, and this is the period when placental nutrient transfer must be sufficient to meet fetal requirements. As the placental function develops progressively during pregnancy, this placental capacity is already developed in earlier gestation. Maternal characteristics that affect the placenta in early pregnancy may thus have consequences for placental function in later pregnancy.<sup>114</sup> Further studies are needed that examine the influence of maternal exposures on placental function throughout gestation. Obtaining a better understanding of the role of the placenta in maternal and childhood outcomes, may also provide new targets for intervention. Due to strong advances in imaging techniques, it is possible to visualize embryonic development in further detail, which may provide further insight in our observed associations of first trimester fetal growth with childhood cardiovascular risk factors.<sup>115</sup>

Epigenetics is becoming increasingly of interest as an underlying mechanism in the developmental origins hypothesis.<sup>116</sup> Epigenetic mechanisms involve a range of modifications to DNA and associated proteins that together regulate gene activity. Environmental influences in early life may induce epigenetic changes, and thereby affect the risk of cardiovascular disease in later life.<sup>116,117</sup> Animals studies provide support for epigenetic modifications due to environmental exposures in early life.<sup>116</sup> In the placenta, it has been shown that there is an accumulation of environmentally induced changes in DNA methylation patterns throughout pregnancy.<sup>118</sup> Lower methylation of the IGF2 gene, an important factor in human growth and development, was found in adults exposed to undernutrition during the Dutch Famine.<sup>119</sup> These findings suggest that epigenetic modifications induced by early environmental factors may have phenotypic consequences throughout the life course. Future studies are needed to obtain further insight in the role of epigenetics, and critical periods for epigenetic variations, as

underlying mechanisms for associations of early life exposures and cardiovascular risk factors and disease in later life.

#### Maternal and childhood outcomes

In this thesis, we studied the associations of maternal, placental and fetal influences with several maternal and childhood cardiovascular outcomes. We studied the associations of several maternal risk factors with maternal blood pressure development during pregnancy, gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia. However, we did not have information available about different sub-types of pre-eclampsia. As early-onset preeclampsia is strongly related to maternal and perinatal morbidity and mortality, it is of interest to examine the associations of maternal risk factors with different sub-types of pre-eclampsia in further detail.<sup>120</sup> Childhood outcomes studied in this thesis were childhood body composition, blood pressure, left ventricular mass, lipids and insulin levels. Further additional measurements of childhood body composition and cardiovascular development might provide further insight in the underlying mechanisms linking early life exposures to obesity and cardiovascular disease in later life. In the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis, endothelial dysfunction and impaired vascular reactivity induced by dyslipidemia play an important role.<sup>121,122</sup> Ultrasound assessment of endothelial function and intima media thickness may be used as preclinical markers of atherosclerosis. The microvasculature is an important component related to hypertension.<sup>123</sup> Using retinal vascular imaging the microvasculature in children can be studied. Also, imaging techniques, such as magnetic resonance imaging, are of interest to obtain further insight in detailed body fat distribution and cardiovascular development.

This thesis provides further insight in the associations of physical maternal factors, placental and fetal factors with maternal and childhood cardiovascular health outcomes. However, the significance of our findings with regard to the risk of cardiovascular disease in later life remains unclear. Multiple studies have shown that pregnancy complications, including gestational hypertensive disorders, gestational diabetes and fetal growth restriction are associated with an increased risk of chronic disease in women in later life.<sup>124-128</sup> However, the mechanisms underlying these associations remain unclear. It is likely that common predisposing risk factors associated with the risk of pregnancy complications.<sup>129</sup> However, further studies are needed to examine whether there are additional factors during pregnancy that might partly explain these associations, whether pregnancy complications can be used as a screening method to identify women at increased risk of cardiovascular disease in later life, and possibilities for prevention among these women.<sup>129</sup>

The observed effect estimates for the associations of maternal, placental and fetal influences with childhood cardiovascular risk factors were small to moderate, and are mainly of interest from a cardiovascular developmental perspective. Previous studies have shown that childhood cardiovascular risk factors tend to track into adulthood.<sup>130,131</sup> Also, adiposity in school age children is related to cardiovascular disease in

later life.<sup>104,132</sup> Thus, these findings suggest that even subclinical differences in risk factors for cardiovascular disease in childhood are related to the development of cardiovascular disease in later life. However, their effects on the risk of cardiovascular disease should be further studied. To gain more insight in the longitudinal associations between maternal, placental and fetal influences and childhood adiposity and cardiovascular development, detailed body composition and cardiovascular measurements should be performed throughout the life course.

#### **Clinical implications**

We identified several maternal, placental and fetal factors associated with an increased risk of adverse maternal and childhood cardiovascular outcomes. These findings may be important for identification of high-risk individuals and for the development of preventive strategies or interventions already from early pregnancy onwards. Pregnancy is an important period where women are likely to be more motivated to make lifestyle changes. Based on our findings, early pregnancy seems to be a critical period for health outcomes in pregnant women and their children. Preventive strategies focused on improving maternal health status in the preconception period and in early pregnancy may help to improve maternal pregnancy outcomes and cardiovascular health status of the offspring. Further studies are needed to obtain improved guidelines for optimal amounts of weight gain during pregnancy for both maternal and childhood short-term and long-term outcomes.

#### Conclusion

Findings from this thesis suggest that maternal, placental and fetal influences are associated with maternal and childhood cardiovascular health outcomes. Although the observed associations were relatively small to moderate, they may be important for the burden of cardiovascular disease on a population level. Health of the mother in early pregnancy may have important cardiovascular health consequences for mother and child.

#### References

- 1. Mendis S, Puska P, Norrving B. Global atlas on cardiovascular disease prevention and control. World Health Organization, 2011.
- 2. Magnussen EB, Vatten LJ, Lund-Nilsen TI, Salvesen KA, Davey Smith G, Romundstad PR. Prepregnancy cardiovascular risk factors as predictors of pre-eclampsia: Population based cohort study. BMJ. 2007;335:978.
- Bellamy L, Casas JP, Hingorani AD, Williams DJ. Pre-eclampsia and risk of cardiovascular disease and cancer in later life: Systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2007;335:974.
- Mannisto T, Mendola P, Vaarasmaki M, Jarvelin MR, Hartikainen AL, Pouta A, Suvanto E. Elevated blood pressure in pregnancy and subsequent chronic disease risk. Circulation. 2013;127:681-690.

- National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases. National diabetes statistics fact sheet: general information and national estimates on diabetes in the United States B, MD: US Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, 2005.
- Barker DJ, Osmond C. Infant mortality, childhood nutrition, and ischaemic heart disease in england and wales. Lancet. 1986;1:1077-1081.
- Barker DJ, Winter PD, Osmond C, Margetts B, Simmonds SJ. Weight in infancy and death from ischaemic heart disease. Lancet. 1989;2:577-580.
- 8. Whincup PH, Kaye SJ, Owen CG, Huxley R, Cook DG, Anazawa S, Barrett-Connor E, Bhargava SK, Birgisdottir BE, Carlsson S, de Rooij SR, Dyck RF, Eriksson JG, Falkner B, Fall C, Forsen T, Grill V, Gudnason V, Hulman S, Hypponen E, Jeffreys M, Lawlor DA, Leon DA, Minami J, Mishra G, Osmond C, Power C, Rich-Edwards JW, Roseboom TJ, Sachdev HS, Syddall H, Thorsdottir I, Vanhala M, Wadsworth M, Yarbrough DE. Birth weight and risk of type 2 diabetes: A systematic review. JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association. 2008;300:2886-2897.
- 9. Curhan GC, Willett WC, Rimm EB, Spiegelman D, Ascherio AL, Stampfer MJ. Birth weight and adult hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and obesity in us men. Circulation. 1996;94:3246-3250.
- Curhan GC, Chertow GM, Willett WC, Spiegelman D, Colditz GA, Manson JE, Speizer FE, Stampfer MJ. Birth weight and adult hypertension and obesity in women. Circulation. 1996;94:1310-1315.
- 11. Gluckman PD, Hanson MA, Cooper C, Thornburg KL. Effect of in utero and early-life conditions on adult health and disease. N Engl J Med. 2008;359:61-73.
- 12. Cnossen JS, Vollebregt KC, de Vrieze N, ter Riet G, Mol BW, Franx A, Khan KS, van der Post JA. Accuracy of mean arterial pressure and blood pressure measurements in predicting pre-eclampsia: Systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2008;336:1117-1120.
- 13. Twisk JWR. Applied Longitudinal Data Analyses for Epidemiology: A Practical Guide. New York: Cambridge University Press; 2003.
- 14. Bakker R, Steegers EA, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Blood pressure in different gestational trimesters, fetal growth, and the risk of adverse birth outcomes: The generation r study. Am J Epidemiol. 2011;174:797-806.
- Ray JG, Burrows RF, Burrows EA, Vermeulen MJ. Mos hip: Mcmaster outcome study of hypertension in pregnancy. Early Hum Dev. 2001;64:129-143.
- Geelhoed JJ, Fraser A, Tilling K, Benfield L, Davey Smith G, Sattar N, Nelson SM, Lawlor DA. Pre-eclampsia and gestational hypertension are associated with childhood blood pressure independently of family adiposity measures: The avon longitudinal study of parents and children. Circulation. 2010;122:1192-1199.
- 17. United nations. New york: United nations; 2007. World population ageing.
- Duckitt K, Harrington D. Risk factors for pre-eclampsia at antenatal booking: Systematic review of controlled studies. BMJ. 2005;330:565.
- 19. Eskenazi B, Fenster L, Sidney S. A multivariate analysis of risk factors for pre-eclampsia. JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association. 1991;266:237-241.
- Strevens H, Wide-Swensson D, Ingemarsson I. Blood pressure during pregnancy in a swedish population; impact of parity. Acta obstetricia et gynecologica Scandinavica. 2001;80:824-829.
- Christianson RE. Studies on blood pressure during pregnancy. I. Influence of parity and age. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1976;125:509-513.
- 22. Ayala DE, Hermida RC. Influence of parity and age on ambulatory monitored blood pressure during pregnancy. Hypertension. 2001;38:753-758.
- 23. Prefumo F, Bhide A, Sairam S, Penna L, Hollis B, Thilaganathan B. Effect of parity on second-trimester uterine artery doppler flow velocity and waveforms. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2004;23:46-49.
- 24. Hafner E, Schuchter K, Metzenbauer M, Philipp K. Uterine artery doppler perfusion in the first and second pregnancies. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2000;16:625-629.
- 25. Gluckman PD, Hanson MA. Maternal constraint of fetal growth and its consequences. Seminars in fetal & neonatal medicine. 2004;9:419-425.
- 26. Hinkle SN, Albert PS, Mendola P, Sjaarda LA, Yeung E, Boghossian NS, Laughon SK. The association between parity and birthweight in a longitudinal consecutive pregnancy cohort. Paediatric and perinatal epidemiology. 2014;28:106-115.
- Wilcox MA, Chang AM, Johnson IR. The effects of parity on birthweight using successive pregnancies. Acta obstetricia et gynecologica Scandinavica. 1996;75:459-453.
- Jelenkovic A, Silventoinen K, Tynelius P, Myrskyla M, Rasmussen F. Association of birth order with cardiovascular disease risk factors in young adulthood: A study of one million swedish men. PLoS One. 2013;8:e63361.
- 29. Reynolds RM, Osmond C, Phillips DI, Godfrey KM. Maternal bmi, parity, and pregnancy weight gain: Influences on offspring adiposity in young adulthood. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010;95:5365-5369.
- Ayyavoo A, Savage T, Derraik JG, Hofman PL, Cutfield WS. First-born children have reduced insulin sensitivity and higher daytime blood pressure compared to later-born children. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98:1248-1253.
- Whincup PH, Cook DG, Shaper AG. Early influences on blood pressure: A study of children aged 5-7 years. BMJ. 1989;299:587-591.
- Siervo M, Horta BL, Stephan BC, Victora CG, Wells JC. First-borns carry a higher metabolic risk in early adulthood: Evidence from a prospective cohort study. PLoS One. 2010;5:e13907.

- Wells JC, Hallal PC, Reichert FF, Dumith SC, Menezes AM, Victora CG. Associations of birth order with early growth and adolescent height, body composition, and blood pressure: Prospective birth cohort from brazil. Am J Epidemiol. 2011;174:1028-1035.
- 34. Howe LD, Hallal PC, Matijasevich A, Wells JC, Santos IS, Barros AJ, Lawlor DA, Victora CG, Smith GD. The association of birth order with later body mass index and blood pressure: A comparison between prospective cohort studies from the united kingdom and brazil. International journal of obesity. 2013.
- 35. Khong TY, Adema ED, Erwich JJ. On an anatomical basis for the increase in birth weight in second and subsequent born children. Placenta. 2003;24:348-353.
- Black RE, Victora CG, Walker SP, Bhutta ZA, Christian P, de Onis M, Ezzati M, Grantham-McGregor S, Katz J, Martorell R, Uauy R, Maternal, Child Nutrition Study G. Maternal and child undernutrition and overweight in low-income and middleincome countries. Lancet. 2013;382:427-451.
- 37. Wolfe H. High prepregnancy body-mass index--a maternal-fetal risk factor. N Engl J Med. 1998;338:191-192.
- Yu Z, Han S, Zhu J, Sun X, Ji C, Guo X. Pre-pregnancy body mass index in relation to infant birth weight and offspring overweight/obesity: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2013;8:e61627.
- Siega-Riz AM, Viswanathan M, Moos MK, Deierlein A, Mumford S, Knaack J, Thieda P, Lux LJ, Lohr KN. A systematic review of outcomes of maternal weight gain according to the institute of medicine recommendations: Birthweight, fetal growth, and postpartum weight retention. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2009;201:339 e331-314.
- 40. Tie HT, Xia YY, Zeng YS, Zhang Y, Dai CL, Guo JJ, Zhao Y. Risk of childhood overweight or obesity associated with excessive weight gain during pregnancy: A meta-analysis. Archives of gynecology and obstetrics. 2014;289:247-257.
- 41. Institute of medicine (us) and national research council (us) committee to reexamine iom pregnancy weight guidelines; Rasmussen KM, Yaktine al, editors. Weight gain during pregnancy: Reexamining the guidelines. Washington (dc): National academies press (us); 2009.
- 42. Stotland NE, Cheng YW, Hopkins LM, Caughey AB. Gestational weight gain and adverse neonatal outcome among term infants. Obstetrics and gynecology. 2006;108:635-643.
- Lawlor DA. The society for social medicine john pemberton lecture 2011. Developmental overnutrition--an old hypothesis with new importance? International journal of epidemiology. 2013;42:7-29.
- 44. National research council. Nutrition during pregnancy: Part i: Weight gain, part ii: Nutrient supplements. Washington, dc: The national academies press, 1990.
- 45. Fraser A, Tilling K, Macdonald-Wallis C, Sattar N, Brion MJ, Benfield L, Ness A, Deanfield J, Hingorani A, Nelson SM, Smith GD, Lawlor DA. Association of maternal weight gain in pregnancy with offspring obesity and metabolic and vascular traits in childhood. Circulation. 2010;121:2557-2564.
- 46. Gillman MW. Gestational weight gain: Now and the future. Circulation. 2012;125:1339-1340.
- 47. Abrams B, Selvin S. Maternal weight gain pattern and birth weight. Obstetrics and gynecology. 1995;86:163-169.
- Strauss RS, Dietz WH. Low maternal weight gain in the second or third trimester increases the risk for intrauterine growth retardation. The Journal of nutrition. 1999;129:988-993.
- 49. Drehmer M, Duncan BB, Kac G, Schmidt MI. Association of second and third trimester weight gain in pregnancy with maternal and fetal outcomes. PLoS One. 2013;8:e54704.
- 50. Frisell T, Oberg S, Kuja-Halkola R, Sjolander A. Sibling comparison designs: Bias from non-shared confounders and measurement error. Epidemiology. 2012;23:713-720.
- 51. Kral JG, Biron S, Simard S, Hould FS, Lebel S, Marceau S, Marceau P. Large maternal weight loss from obesity surgery prevents transmission of obesity to children who were followed for 2 to 18 years. Pediatrics. 2006;118:e1644-1649.
- 52. Smith J, Cianflone K, Biron S, Hould FS, Lebel S, Marceau S, Lescelleur O, Biertho L, Simard S, Kral JG, Marceau P. Effects of maternal surgical weight loss in mothers on intergenerational transmission of obesity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009;94:4275-4283.
- Lawlor DA, Lichtenstein P, Langstrom N. Association of maternal diabetes mellitus in pregnancy with offspring adiposity into early adulthood: Sibling study in a prospective cohort of 280,866 men from 248,293 families. Circulation. 2011;123:258-265.
- 54. Brion MJ. Commentary: Can maternal-paternal comparisons contribute to our understanding of maternal prepregnancy obesity and its association with offspring cognitive outcomes? International journal of epidemiology. 2013;42:518-519.
- Lawlor DA, Smith GD, O'Callaghan M, Alati R, Mamun AA, Williams GM, Najman JM. Epidemiologic evidence for the fetal overnutrition hypothesis: Findings from the mater-university study of pregnancy and its outcomes. Am J Epidemiol. 2007;165:418-424.
- 56. Kivimaki M, Lawlor DA, Smith GD, Elovainio M, Jokela M, Keltikangas-Jarvinen L, Viikari JS, Raitakari OT. Substantial intergenerational increases in body mass index are not explained by the fetal overnutrition hypothesis: The cardiovascular risk in young finns study. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2007;86:1509-1514.
- Lawlor DA, Timpson NJ, Harbord RM, Leary S, Ness A, McCarthy MI, Frayling TM, Hattersley AT, Smith GD. Exploring the developmental overnutrition hypothesis using parental-offspring associations and fto as an instrumental variable. PLoS medicine. 2008;5:e33.

- Veena SR, Krishnaveni GV, Karat SC, Osmond C, Fall CH. Testing the fetal overnutrition hypothesis; the relationship of maternal and paternal adiposity to adiposity, insulin resistance and cardiovascular risk factors in indian children. Public health nutrition. 2013;16:1656-1666.
- 59. Davey Smith G, Steer C, Leary S, Ness A. Is there an intrauterine influence on obesity? Evidence from parent child associations in the avon longitudinal study of parents and children (alspac). Archives of disease in childhood. 2007;92:876-880.
- Patel R, Martin RM, Kramer MS, Oken E, Bogdanovich N, Matush L, Smith GD, Lawlor DA. Familial associations of adiposity: Findings from a cross-sectional study of 12,181 parental-offspring trios from belarus. PLoS One. 2011;6:e14607.
- Fleten C, Nystad W, Stigum H, Skjaerven R, Lawlor DA, Davey Smith G, Naess O. Parent-offspring body mass index associations in the norwegian mother and child cohort study: A family-based approach to studying the role of the intrauterine environment in childhood adiposity. Am J Epidemiol. 2012;176:83-92.
- 62. Murrin CM, Kelly GE, Tremblay RE, Kelleher CC. Body mass index and height over three generations: Evidence from the lifeways cross-generational cohort study. BMC public health. 2012;12:81.
- 63. Poston L. Gestational weight gain: Influences on the long-term health of the child. Current opinion in clinical nutrition and metabolic care. 2012;15:252-257.
- 64. Wrotniak BH, Shults J, Butts S, Stettler N. Gestational weight gain and risk of overweight in the offspring at age 7 y in a multicenter, multiethnic cohort study. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2008;87:1818-1824
- 65. Oken E, Rifas-Shiman SL, Field AE, Frazier AL, Gillman MW. Maternal gestational weight gain and offspring weight in adolescence. Obstetrics and gynecology. 2008;112:999-1006.
- Mamun AA, O'Callaghan M, Callaway L, Williams G, Najman J, Lawlor DA. Associations of gestational weight gain with offspring body mass index and blood pressure at 21 years of age: Evidence from a birth cohort study. Circulation. 2009;119:1720-1727.
- 67. Hull HR, Thornton JC, Ji Y, Paley C, Rosenn B, Mathews P, Navder K, Yu A, Dorsey K, Gallagher D. Higher infant body fat with excessive gestational weight gain in overweight women. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2011;205:211 e211-217.
- Schack-Nielsen L, Michaelsen KF, Gamborg M, Mortensen EL, Sorensen TI. Gestational weight gain in relation to offspring body mass index and obesity from infancy through adulthood. International journal of obesity. 2010;34:67-74.
- Ensenauer R, Chmitorz A, Riedel C, Fenske N, Hauner H, Nennstiel-Ratzel U, von Kries R. Effects of suboptimal or excessive gestational weight gain on childhood overweight and abdominal adiposity: Results from a retrospective cohort study. International journal of obesity. 2013;37:505-512.
- Crozier SR, Inskip HM, Godfrey KM, Cooper C, Harvey NC, Cole ZA, Robinson SM. Weight gain in pregnancy and childhood body composition: Findings from the southampton women's survey. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2010;91:1745-1751.
- Hochner H, Friedlander Y, Calderon-Margalit R, Meiner V, Sagy Y, Avgil-Tsadok M, Burger A, Savitsky B, Siscovick DS, Manor O. Associations of maternal prepregnancy body mass index and gestational weight gain with adult offspring cardiometabolic risk factors: The jerusalem perinatal family follow-up study. Circulation. 2012;125:1381-1389.
- 72. Margerison-Zilko CE, Shrimali BP, Eskenazi B, Lahiff M, Lindquist AR, Abrams BF. Trimester of maternal gestational weight gain and offspring body weight at birth and age five. Maternal and child health journal. 2012;16:1215-1223.
- Lawlor DA, Lichtenstein P, Fraser A, Langstrom N. Does maternal weight gain in pregnancy have long-term effects on offspring adiposity? A sibling study in a prospective cohort of 146,894 men from 136,050 families. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2011;94:142-148.
- 74. Drake AJ, Reynolds RM. Impact of maternal obesity on offspring obesity and cardiometabolic disease risk. Reproduction. 2010;140:387-398.
- 75. Alfaradhi MZ, Ozanne SE. Developmental programming in response to maternal overnutrition. Frontiers in genetics. 2011;2:27.
- 76. Catalano PM. Obesity and pregnancy--the propagation of a viscous cycle? J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88:3505-3506.
- 77. Jansson T, Powell TL. Role of the placenta in fetal programming: Underlying mechanisms and potential interventional approaches. Clinical science. 2007;113:1-13.
- Jauniaux E, Poston L, Burton GJ. Placental-related diseases of pregnancy: Involvement of oxidative stress and implications in human evolution. Human reproduction update. 2006;12:747-755.
- Gebb J, Dar P. Colour doppler ultrasound of spiral artery blood flow in the prediction of pre-eclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction. Best practice & research. Clinical obstetrics & gynaecology. 2011;25:355-366.
- 80. Godfrey KM. The role of the placenta in fetal programming-a review. Placenta. 2002;23 Suppl A:S20-27.
- Alexander BT. Placental insufficiency leads to development of hypertension in growth-restricted offspring. Hypertension. 2003;41:457-462.
- Jansson T, Lambert GW. Effect of intrauterine growth restriction on blood pressure, glucose tolerance and sympathetic nervous system activity in the rat at 3-4 months of age. Journal of hypertension. 1999;17:1239-1248.
- Burton GJ, Woods AW, Jauniaux E, Kingdom JC. Rheological and physiological consequences of conversion of the maternal spiral arteries for uteroplacental blood flow during human pregnancy. Placenta. 2009;30:473-482.
- 84. Baschat AA, Hecher K. Fetal growth restriction due to placental disease. Semin Perinatol. 2004;28:67-80.
- 85. Cnossen JS, Morris RK, ter Riet G, Mol BW, van der Post JA, Coomarasamy A, Zwinderman AH, Robson SC, Bindels PJ, Kleijnen J, Khan KS. Use of uterine artery doppler ultrasonography to predict pre-eclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction: A systematic review and bivariable meta-analysis. Cmaj. 2008;178:701-711.
- Verburg BO, Jaddoe VW, Wladimiroff JW, Hofman A, Witteman JC, Steegers EA. Fetal hemodynamic adaptive changes related to intrauterine growth: The generation r study. Circulation. 2008;117:649-659.
- 87. Burton GJ, Jauniaux E. Oxidative stress. Best practice & research. Clinical obstetrics & gynaecology. 2011;25:287-299.
- Wadsack C, Desoye G, Hiden U. The feto-placental endothelium in pregnancy pathologies. Wiener medizinische Wochenschrift. 2012;162:220-224.
- Guvendag Guven ES, Karcaaltincaba D, Kandemir O, Kiykac S, Mentese A. Cord blood oxidative stress markers correlate with umbilical artery pulsatility in fetal growth restriction. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2013;26:576-580.
- Pisaneschi S, Strigini FA, Sanchez AM, Begliuomini S, Casarosa E, Ripoli A, Ghirri P, Boldrini A, Fink B, Genazzani AR, Coceani F, Simoncini T. Compensatory feto-placental upregulation of the nitric oxide system during fetal growth restriction. PLoS One. 2012;7:e45294.
- 91. Thompson JA, Regnault TR. In utero origins of adult insulin resistance and vascular dysfunction. Semin Reprod Med. 2011;29:211-224.
- 92. Thornburg KL, O'Tierney PF, Louey S. Review: The placenta is a programming agent for cardiovascular disease. Placenta. 2010;31 Suppl:S54-59.
- Clifton VL. Review: Sex and the human placenta: Mediating differential strategies of fetal growth and survival. Placenta. 2010;31 Suppl:S33-39.
- 94. Aiken CE, Ozanne SE. Sex differences in developmental programming models. Reproduction. 2013;145:R1-13.
- 95. Smith-Bindman R, Chu PW, Ecker J, Feldstein VA, Filly RA, Bacchetti P. Adverse birth outcomes in relation to prenatal sonographic measurements of fetal size. J Ultrasound Med. 2003;22:347-356; quiz 357-348.
- 96. Mook-Kanamori DO, Steegers EA, Eilers PH, Raat H, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Risk factors and outcomes associated with first-trimester fetal growth restriction. JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association. 2010;303:527-534.
- van Uitert EM, Exalto N, Burton GJ, Willemsen SP, Koning AH, Eilers PH, Laven JS, Steegers EA, Steegers-Theunissen RP. Human embryonic growth trajectories and associations with fetal growth and birthweight. Human reproduction. 2013;28:1753-1761.
- Smith GC, Smith MF, McNay MB, Fleming JE. First-trimester growth and the risk of low birth weight. N Engl J Med. 1998;339:1817-1822.
- 99. Bjornerem A, Johnsen SL, Nguyen TV, Kiserud T, Seeman E. The shifting trajectory of growth in femur length during gestation. Journal of bone and mineral research.2010;25:1029-1033.
- Hindmarsh PC, Geary MP, Rodeck CH, Kingdom JC, Cole TJ. Intrauterine growth and its relationship to size and shape at birth. Pediatr Res. 2002;52:263-268.
- 101. McCarthy A, Hughes R, Tilling K, Davies D, Smith GD, Ben-Shlomo Y. Birth weight; postnatal, infant, and childhood growth; and obesity in young adulthood: Evidence from the barry caerphilly growth study. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2007;86:907-913.
- 102. Ong KK, Ahmed ML, Emmett PM, Preece MA, Dunger DB. Association between postnatal catch-up growth and obesity in childhood: Prospective cohort study. BMJ. 2000;320:967-971.
- 103. Huxley RR, Shiell AW, Law CM. The role of size at birth and postnatal catch-up growth in determining systolic blood pressure: A systematic review of the literature. Journal of hypertension. 2000;18:815-831.
- Bhargava SK, Sachdev HS, Fall CH, Osmond C, Lakshmy R, Barker DJ, Biswas SK, Ramji S, Prabhakaran D, Reddy KS. Relation of serial changes in childhood body-mass index to impaired glucose tolerance in young adulthood. N Engl J Med. 2004;350:865-875.
- 105. Livingstone C, ed. Human embryology. 3rd ed. Elsevier, 2001.
- 106. Jukic AM, Wilcox AJ. The events of early pregnancy: Prying open the black box. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2012;40:617-618.
- 107. Jaddoe VW, Mackenbach JP, Moll HA, Steegers EA, Tiemeier H, Verhulst FC, Witteman JC, Hofman A. The generation r study: Design and cohort profile. Eur J Epidemiol. 2006;21:475-484.
- Nohr EA, Frydenberg M, Henriksen TB, Olsen J. Does low participation in cohort studies induce bias? Epidemiology. 2006;17:413-418.
- Nilsen RM, Vollset SE, Gjessing HK, Skjaerven R, Melve KK, Schreuder P, Alsaker ER, Haug K, Daltveit AK, Magnus P. Selfselection and bias in a large prospective pregnancy cohort in norway. Paediatric and perinatal epidemiology. 2009;23:597-608.
- 110. Rothman kj. Epidemiology: An introduction. New york: Oxford university press. 2002.
- 111. Tanentsapf I, Heitmann BL, Adegboye AR. Systematic review of clinical trials on dietary interventions to prevent excessive weight gain during pregnancy among normal weight, overweight and obese women. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2011;11:81.
- 112. Thangaratinam S, Rogozinska E, Jolly K, Glinkowski S, Roseboom T, Tomlinson JW, Kunz R, Mol BW, Coomarasamy A, Khan KS. Effects of interventions in pregnancy on maternal weight and obstetric outcomes: meta-analysis of randomised evidence. BMJ. 2012;344:e2088.

- 113. Smith GD, Ebrahim S. Mendelian randomization: Prospects, potentials, and limitations. International journal of epidemiology. 2004;33:30-42.
- 114. Lewis RM, Demmelmair H, Gaillard R, Godfrey KM, Hauguel-de Mouzon S, Huppertz B, Larque E, Saffery R, Symonds ME, Desoye G. The placental exposome: Placental determinants of fetal adiposity and postnatal body composition. Annals of nutrition & metabolism. 2013;63:208-215.
- 115. Verwoerd-Dikkeboom CM, Koning AH, Hop WC, van der Spek PJ, Exalto N, Steegers EA. Innovative virtual reality measurements for embryonic growth and development. Human reproduction. 2010;25:1404-1410.
- Hanson M, Godfrey KM, Lillycrop KA, Burdge GC, Gluckman PD. Developmental plasticity and developmental origins of non-communicable disease: Theoretical considerations and epigenetic mechanisms. Progress in biophysics and molecular biology. 2011;106:272-280.
- 117. Waterland RA, Michels KB. Epigenetic epidemiology of the developmental origins hypothesis. Annual review of nutrition. 2007;27:363-388.
- Novakovic B, Yuen RK, Gordon L, Penaherrera MS, Sharkey A, Moffett A, Craig JM, Robinson WP, Saffery R. Evidence for widespread changes in promoter methylation profile in human placenta in response to increasing gestational age and environmental/stochastic factors. BMC genomics. 2011;12:529.
- 119. Heijmans BT, Tobi EW, Stein AD, Putter H, Blauw GJ, Susser ES, Slagboom PE, Lumey LH. Persistent epigenetic differences associated with prenatal exposure to famine in humans. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2008;105:17046-17049.
- 120. Raymond D, Peterson E. A critical review of early-onset and late-onset pre-eclampsia. Obstetrical & gynecological survey. 2011;66:497-506.
- 121. Davignon J, Ganz P. Role of endothelial dysfunction in atherosclerosis. Circulation. 2004;109:III27-32.
- 122. Bots ML, Baldassarre D, Simon A, de Groot E, O'Leary DH, Riley W, Kastelein JJ, Grobbee DE. Carotid intima-media thickness and coronary atherosclerosis: Weak or strong relations? European heart journal. 2007;28:398-406.
- 123. Ding J, Wai KL, McGeechan K, Ikram MK, Kawasaki R, Xie J, Klein R, Klein BB, Cotch MF, Wang JJ, Mitchell P, Shaw JE, Takamasa K, Sharrett AR, Wong TY, Meta-Eye Study G. Retinal vascular caliber and the development of hypertension: A meta-analysis of individual participant data. Journal of hypertension. 2014;32:207-215.
- 124. Smith GC, Pell JP, Walsh D. Pregnancy complications and maternal risk of ischaemic heart disease: A retrospective cohort study of 129,290 births. Lancet. 2001;357:2002-2006.
- 125. Bonamy AK, Parikh NI, Cnattingius S, Ludvigsson JF, Ingelsson E. Birth characteristics and subsequent risks of maternal cardiovascular disease: Effects of gestational age and fetal growth. Circulation. 2011;124:2839-2846.
- 126. Mongraw-Chaffin ML, Cirillo PM, Cohn BA. Pre-eclampsia and cardiovascular disease death: Prospective evidence from the child health and development studies cohort. Hypertension. 2010;56:166-171.
- Smith GD, Whitley E, Gissler M, Hemminki E. Birth dimensions of offspring, premature birth, and the mortality of mothers. Lancet. 2000;356:2066-2067.
- Bellamy L, Casas JP, Hingorani AD, Williams D. Type 2 diabetes mellitus after gestational diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet. 2009;373:1773-1779.
- 129. Rich-Edwards JW, Fraser A, Lawlor DA, Catov JM. Pregnancy characteristics and women's future cardiovascular health: An underused opportunity to improve women's health? Epidemiologic reviews. 2014;36:57-70.
- Chen X, Wang Y. Tracking of blood pressure from childhood to adulthood: A systematic review and meta-regression analysis. Circulation. 2008;117:3171-3180.
- 131. Juhola J, Magnussen CG, Viikari JS, Kahonen M, Hutri-Kahonen N, Jula A, Lehtimaki T, Akerblom HK, Pietikainen M, Laitinen T, Jokinen E, Taittonen L, Raitakari OT, Juonala M. Tracking of serum lipid levels, blood pressure, and body mass index from childhood to adulthood: The cardiovascular risk in young finns study. The Journal of pediatrics. 2011;159:584-590.
- Franks PW, Hanson RL, Knowler WC, Sievers ML, Bennett PH, Looker HC. Childhood obesity, other cardiovascular risk factors, and premature death. N Engl J Med. 2010;362:485-493.

# Chapter 5

## Summary/Samenvatting



SUMMARY

#### Summary

**Chapter 1** describes the background and hypothesis for the studies presented in this thesis. Cardiovascular disease is a major public health problem in the general adult population. Because of the clinical impact that cardiovascular and metabolic diseases have at older ages, research into risk factors for cardiovascular and metabolic diseases has mostly been focused on adults. However, in the last decades, an accumulating body of evidence suggested that cardiovascular health in younger age groups also has major long-term public health implications. In women of reproductive age, cardiovascular health status may complicate pregnancy. Suboptimal maternal adaptions during pregnancy are related to the development of pregnancy complications, which may have long-term maternal and offspring cardiovascular health consequences. Large-scale epidemiological studies have shown that children born with a low and high birth weight have higher risks of cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes in adulthood. Based on these findings, it has been hypothesized that adverse exposures, acting at different stages of fetal and early postnatal development, lead to permanent adaptations in the structure, physiology and function of various organ systems. This early programming contributes to short-term survival, but increases the susceptibility of cardiovascular and metabolic disease in later life. Thus, cardiovascular health and disease in pregnant women and their children is important for clinically relevant, adverse short-term and long-term health outcomes. Identifying factors influencing cardiovascular health in pregnant women and their children, may help to develop future preventive strategies that improve cardiovascular health throughout the life course and in future generations. Therefore, studies presented in this thesis were designed to identify maternal, placental and fetal factors and critical developmental periods during pregnancy associated with cardiovascular health outcomes in mothers and children.

The studies presented in this thesis were embedded in the Generation R Study, a population-based prospective cohort study from fetal life onwards in Rotterdam, The Netherlands. The Generation R Study is designed to identify early environmental and genetic determinants of growth, development and health in fetal life and childhood.

In **Chapter 2**, studies on maternal influences on maternal and childhood outcomes are described. In **Chapter 2.1**, we found that maternal systolic and diastolic blood pressure tracked moderately during pregnancy. Blood pressure tracking coefficients were lower in younger, shorter, and non-European women and in women with higher gestational weight gain. Second to third trimester increases in systolic and diastolic blood pressure were associated with an increased risk of gestational hypertensive disorders.

In **Chapter 2.2**, we examined the associations of maternal parity with maternal pregnancy-related hemodynamic adaptations, placental vascular function and pregnancy complications. We observed that nulliparous pregnant women had a higher systolic and diastolic blood pressure level in each trimester of pregnancy, and a higher risk of third trimester uterine artery notching, which reflects an abnormal waveform resulting from increased blood flow resistance. Nulliparous women also had a higher risk of gestational

hypertensive disorders. The first pregnancy might thus be a major risk factor for maternal hemodynamic maladaptations and vascular complications. Next, we further explored the associations of maternal parity with childhood outcomes (**Chapter 2.3**). We observed that offspring from nulliparous mothers have lower fetal growth rates from third trimester onwards and increased risks of being born preterm and small for their gestational age, but a lower risk of being born large for their gestational age. Also, offspring from nulliparous mothers have accelerated infant growth rates and higher risks of childhood overweight and an adverse childhood metabolic profile. These findings suggest that maternal nulliparity may have persistent cardiovascular consequences for the offspring.

In Chapter 2.4 we described the associations of maternal prepregnancy body mass index and gestational weight gain with maternal and fetal pregnancy complications. We observed that maternal socio-demographic, lifestyle, and genetic factors were associated with the risks of prepregnancy overweight and obesity and excessive gestational weight gain. Maternal overweight and obesity were strongly associated with increased risks of gestational hypertensive disorders, gestational diabetes, caesarean delivery, large size for gestational age infants, and overweight and obesity in the offspring. Excessive gestational weight gain was associated with increased risks of gestational hypertension, caesarean delivery, large size for gestational age infants and overweight in the offspring. As compared to prepregnancy overweight and obesity, excessive gestational weight gain tended to have a limited influence on adverse pregnancy outcomes. In Chapter 2.5, we examined the associations of maternal prepregnancy body mass index with the risk of gestational hypertensive disorders in further detail. We observed that a higher maternal prepregnancy body mass index was associated with both higher systolic and diastolic blood pressure levels in all trimesters of pregnancy. The difference in blood pressure between body mass index categories was already present from first trimester onwards and remained stable throughout pregnancy.

In Chapter 2.6 and 2.7, the associations of maternal prepregnancy body mass index and gestational weight gain with childhood outcomes are described. We observed that higher maternal and paternal prepregnancy body mass index were associated with an adverse cardiovascular profile in the offspring, with stronger associations present for maternal prepregnancy body mass index. The associations of maternal prepregnancy body mass index with childhood outcomes were not explained by maternal pregnancy complications, maternal gestational weight gain, birth characteristics or infant growth. The associations of maternal prepregnancy body mass index with childhood fat mass measures and cardiovascular outcomes attenuated after adjustment for childhood current body mass index. These findings suggest that maternal prepregnancy body mass index may influence cardiovascular health of offspring partly through direct intrauterine mechanisms. In Chapter 2.7, we showed that, independent from maternal prepregnancy weight and weight gain in other periods, higher weight gain in early-pregnancy was associated with a higher childhood body mass index, a higher total fat mass percentage, an adverse body fat distribution, a higher systolic blood pressure, and higher insulin and C-peptide levels. Also, higher weight gain in early-pregnancy, but not in mid- or latepregnancy, was associated with increased risks of childhood overweight and clustering of cardiovascular risk factors. Thus, the effects of gestational weight gain on childhood outcomes may vary during pregnancy. Our results suggest that especially early pregnancy might be a specific and independent critical period for gestational weight gain.

In **Chapter 3**, we describe studies focused on the associations of placental hemodynamic function and fetal growth with maternal and childhood outcomes. In Chapter 3.1, we examined the influence of second and third trimester placental hemodynamic function on maternal and fetal pregnancy complications. We showed that placental resistance indices were influenced by maternal socio-demographic and lifestyle-related characteristics. Uterine artery resistance index tracked moderately from the second trimester to the third, whereas umbilical artery pulsatility index tracked poorly from the second trimester to the third. Higher placental resistance indices in the second and third trimesters and persistence in the highest tertile of uterine artery resistance index from the second trimester to the third were associated with increased risks of preeclampsia, preterm birth, and small size for gestational age at birth. We also explored whether impaired third trimester placental vascular function was associated with childhood outcomes (Chapter 3.2). We observed that higher third trimester umbilical and uterine artery vascular resistance were associated with lower fetal length and weight growth in third trimester, resulting in a smaller size at birth among boys and girls. These differences in length and weight growth became smaller from the age of 6 months onwards, but were still present at the age of 6 years. Higher third trimester umbilical artery vascular resistance, but not uterine artery vascular resistance, was associated with a higher childhood body mass index, higher total fat mass percentage, higher android/gynoid fat mass ratio, higher systolic blood pressure, and with a lower left ventricular mass. These associations were not explained by birth weight. Stronger associations tended to be present among girls as compared with boys.

In **Chapter 3.3** we showed that fetal growth characteristics tracked moderately throughout gestation, with stronger tracking coefficients present in later pregnancy. Tracking coefficients were not materially influenced by maternal socio-demographic and lifestyle characteristics. First, second and third trimester fetal growth characteristics were associated with the risk of adverse birth outcomes. In **Chapter 3.4**, we observed that smaller first trimester fetal size was associated with an adverse body fat distribution, higher diastolic blood pressure, and an adverse blood cholesterol profile in childhood. First trimester fetal growth restriction was also associated with an increased risk of clustering of these cardiovascular risk factors in childhood. These associations were not explained by maternal, birth, and childhood characteristics. Thus, these findings suggest that the first trimester might be a critical period for cardiovascular and metabolic function in later life.

In **Chapter 4** we provide a general discussion in which the studies described in this thesis are described in broader context, and implications and suggestions for future research are discussed.

In conclusion, findings from this thesis suggest that maternal, placental and fetal influences are associated with maternal and childhood cardiovascular health outcomes.

Although the observed associations were relatively small to moderate, they may be important for cardiovascular disease on a population level. Based on our findings, early pregnancy seems to be a critical period for health outcomes in pregnant women and their children. Preventive strategies should focus on improving maternal health status in the preconception period and in early pregnancy to improve maternal pregnancy outcomes and cardiovascular health status of the offspring. Health of the mother in early pregnancy may have important cardiovascular health consequences for mother and child.

SAMENVATTING

### Samenvatting

Hoofdstuk 1 beschrijft de achtergrond en hypothese voor de studies beschreven in dit proefschrift. Hart- en vaatziekten vormen een groot probleem voor de volksgezondheid. Vanwege de klinische impact van cardiovasculaire ziekten op oudere leeftijd, is onderzoek naar risicofactoren van cardiovasculaire ziekten voornamelijk gericht op volwassenen. Echter, in de laatste decennia, heeft een groot aantal studies aangetoond dat de cardiovasculaire gezondheid in jongere leeftijdsgroepen ook grote gevolgen heeft op lange termijn voor de volksgezondheid. Bij vrouwen van reproductieve leeftijd is de cardiovasculaire gezondheidsstatus van belang omdat dit de zwangerschap kan compliceren. Suboptimale maternale fysiologische aanpassingen tijdens de zwangerschap kunnen leiden tot zwangerschapscomplicaties, die op de lange termijn cardiovasculaire consequenties kunnen hebben voor zowel moeder als kind. Grootschalige epidemiologische studies hebben aangetoond dat kinderen, geboren met een laag en hoog geboortegewicht, een hoger risico hebben op het ontwikkelen van hart- en vaatziekten en diabetes mellitus type 2 op volwassen leeftijd. Gebaseerd op deze bevindingen is de hypothese ontwikkeld dat ongunstige factoren, tijdens verschillende stadia van de foetale en vroege postnatale ontwikkeling, leiden tot blijvende aanpassingen in de structuur, fysiologie en functie van verschillende orgaansystemen. Deze vroege programmering draagt bij aan de overleving op de korte termijn, maar verhoogt het risico op cardiovasculaire aandoeningen op latere leeftijd. Cardiovasculaire gezondheidsstatus van zwangere vrouwen en hun kinderen is dus belangrijk voor klinisch relevante, korteen lange-termijn gezondheidsuitkomsten. Het identificeren van factoren, die van invloed zijn op de cardiovasculaire gezondheid van zwangere vrouwen en hun kinderen, kan bijdragen aan het ontwikkelen van strategieën om de cardiovasculaire gezondheid gedurende het hele leven en in toekomstige generaties te verbeteren. Daarom was het doel van de studies, gepresenteerd in dit proefschrift, om maternale, placentale en foetale factoren en kritieke ontwikkelingsperioden tijdens de zwangerschap, geassocieerd met cardiovasculaire gezondheidsuitkomsten bij moeders en kinderen, te identificeren.

De studies, beschreven in dit proefschrift, zijn onderdeel van het Generation R onderzoek, een populatie-gebaseerd prospectief cohort onderzoek vanaf het foetale leven tot in de jongvolwassenheid in Rotterdam, de tweede grootste stad van Nederland. Het Generation R onderzoek heeft tot doel factoren van invloed op de groei, ontwikkeling en gezondheid in het foetale leven en de kindertijd te identificeren.

In **hoofdstuk 2** worden studies over maternale invloeden op moeder en kinduitkomsten beschreven. In **hoofdstuk 2.1** tonen we aan dat maternale systolische en diastolische bloeddruk matig tracken tijdens de zwangerschap. Het tracken van bloeddruk was verminderd bij jongere, kortere, en niet-Europese vrouwen en bij vrouwen met een hogere gewichtstoename tijdens de zwangerschap. Verhoging van de systolische en diastolische bloeddruk van het tweede naar het derde trimester was geassocieerd met een verhoogd risico op hypertensieve aandoeningen tijdens de zwangerschap.

In hoofdstuk 2.2 onderzochten we de associaties van maternale pariteit met maternale zwangerschaps-gerelateerde hemodynamische aanpassingen, bloedstroomsnelheidsprofielen van de arteria uterina en hypertensieve zwangerschapscomplicaties. We vonden dat nullipare vrouwen een hogere systolische en diastolische bloeddruk in elk trimester van de zwangerschap hadden, en een hoger risico op een vroegdiastolische indeuking, ook wel notch genoemd, in het bloedstroomsnelheidsprofiel van de arteria uterina in het derde trimester. Nullipare vrouwen hadden ook een hoger risico op hypertensieve zwangerschapscomplicaties. De eerste zwangerschap is dus mogelijk een belangrijke risicofactor voor maternale hemodynamische maladaptaties en vasculaire complicaties tijdens de zwangerschap. Vervolgens hebben we de associaties van maternale pariteit met kinduitkomsten onderzocht (hoofdstuk 2.3). We lieten zien dat de kinderen van nullipare moeders een verminderde foetale groei hebben vanaf het derde trimester. Ook hebben zij een hoger risico op vroeggeboorte en een te laag geboortegewicht voor de zwangerschapsduur. Deze kinderen hebben echter een lager risico op een te hoog geboortegewicht voor de zwangerschapsduur. Kinderen van nullipare moeders hebben een versnelde groei in de eerste 24 maanden van het leven, een hoger risico op overgewicht en een ongunstig metabool profiel op de kinderleeftijd. Deze bevindingen suggereren dat maternale nullipariteit langdurige cardiovasculaire gevolgen kan hebben voor kinderen.

In hoofdstuk 2.4 beschrijven we de associaties van maternale body mass index voor de zwangerschap en gewichtstoename tijdens de zwangerschap met maternale en foetale zwangerschapscomplicaties. We zagen dat maternale sociaal-demografische factoren, leefstijlfactoren en genetische factoren geassocieerd waren met het risico op overgewicht en obesitas voor de zwangerschap en een overmatige gewichtstoename tijdens de zwangerschap. Maternaal overgewicht en obesitas voor de zwangerschap waren sterk geassocieerd met een verhoogd risico op zwangerschapshypertensie, preeclampsie, zwangerschapsdiabetes, het ondergaan van een keizersnede, het krijgen van een kind met een hoog geboortegewicht, en een hoger risico op overgewicht en obesitas bij hun kinderen. Overmatige gewichtstoename tijdens de zwangerschap was ook geassocieerd met een verhoogd risico op zwangerschapshypertensie, het ondergaan van een keizersnede, het krijgen van een kind met een hoog geboortegewicht en een hoger risico op overgewicht op de kinderleeftijd. In vergelijking met overgewicht en obesitas voor de zwangerschap, waren de associaties van overmatige gewichtstoename tijdens de zwangerschap met nadelige zwangerschapsuitkomsten minder sterk. In hoofdstuk 2.5 werden de associaties van maternale body mass index voor de zwangerschap met het risico op hypertensieve aandoeningen tijdens de zwangerschap meer in detail onderzocht. We vonden dat een hogere maternale body mass index voor de zwangerschap geassocieerd was met zowel hogere systolische als diastolische bloeddruk in alle trimesters van de zwangerschap. Het verschil in bloeddruk tussen body mass index groepen was al aanwezig vanaf het eerste trimester en bleef stabiel gedurende de zwangerschap.

SAMENVATTING

In hoofdstuk 2.6 en 2.7 beschrijven we de associaties van maternale body mass index voor de zwangerschap en gewichtstoename tijdens de zwangerschap met kinduitkomsten. We zagen dat hogere body mass index van zowel de moeder als de vader geassocieerd was met een ongunstig cardiovasculair profiel bij de kinderen. Body mass index van de moeder was sterker geassocieerd met nadelige kinduitkomsten dan body mass index van de vader. De associaties van maternale body mass index voor de zwangerschap met de cardiovasculaire gezondheid van het kind werden niet verklaard door maternale zwangerschapscomplicaties, maternale gewichtstoename tijdens de zwangerschap, geboortefactoren of groei van het kind in de eerste 24 maanden. De associaties van maternale body mass index voor de zwangerschap met gedetailleerde vetuitkomsten en cardiovasculaire uitkomsten bij het kind zwakten wel af na correctie voor huidig body mass index van het kind. Deze bevindingen suggereren dat maternale body mass index voor de zwangerschap van invloed is op de cardiovasculaire gezondheid van hun kinderen, mogelijk voor een deel via directe intra-uteriene mechanismen. In hoofdstuk 2.7 hebben we aangetoond dat een hogere maternale gewichtstoename aan het begin van de zwangerschap was geassocieerd met een hogere body mass index en totale vetmassa, een ongunstigere androïde/gynoïde vet-ratio, meer subcutaan en preperitoneaal buikvet, een hogere systolische bloeddruk en hogere insuline- en C-peptidelevels van het kind op de leeftijd van 6 jaar. Deze bevindingen waren onafhankelijk van het gewicht van de moeder voor de zwangerschap en van gewichtstoename later in de zwangerschap. Ook was hogere gewichtstoename in het begin van de zwangerschap, maar niet later in de zwangerschap, geassocieerd met een verhoogd risico op overgewicht en clustering van cardiovasculaire risicofactoren bij kinderen. De effecten van gewichtstoename tijdens de zwangerschap op cardiovasculaire gezondheid van het kind, kunnen dus afhankelijk zijn van de periode waarin de gewichtstoename plaatsvindt. Onze resultaten suggereren dat specifiek de vroege zwangerschap een kritieke periode is voor gewichtstoename tijdens de zwangerschap.

In hoofdstuk 3 beschrijven we studies gericht op de hemodynamische functie van de placenta en groei van de foetus, in relatie tot moeder- en kinduitkomsten. In hoofdstuk 3.1 onderzochten we de invloed van tweede en derde trimester bloedstroomsnelheidsprofielen van de arteria uterina en arteria umbilicalis op maternale en foetale zwangerschapscomplicaties. We toonden aan dat de bloedstroomsnelheidsprofielen werden beïnvloed door sociaal-demografische en leefstijl-gerelateerde factoren van de moeder. Tracking van de resistance index van arteria uterina van tweede naar derde trimester was matig, en tracking van de resistance index van de arteria umbilicalis van tweede naar derde trimester was laag. Hogere placentale resistance indices in het tweede en derde trimester van de zwangerschap waren geassocieerd met een hoger risico op preeclampsie, vroeggeboorte en een te laag geboortegewicht voor de zwangerschapsduur. We zagen ook dat een hogere vaatweerstand in de arteria umbilicalis en arteria uterina in het derde trimester van de zwangerschap geassocieerd was met een verminderde foetale lengtegroei en gewichtstoename in het derde trimester, wat resulteert in een kleiner kind bij de geboorte bij zowel jongens als meisjes. Deze verschillen in lengte en gewicht werden kleiner vanaf de leeftijd van 6 maanden, maar waren nog steeds

aanwezig op de leeftijd van 6 jaar. Een hogere vaatweerstand in de arteria umbilicalis in het derde trimester, maar niet een verhoogde vaatweerstand in de arteria uterina, was geassocieerd met een hogere body mass index, een hogere totale vetmassa, een ongunstigere androïde/gynoïde vet-ratio, een hogere systolische bloeddruk, en met een lagere linker ventrikel massa op de kinderleeftijd. Deze associaties werden niet verklaard door geboortegewicht. Sterkere associaties leken aanwezig te zijn bij meisjes dan bij jongens (hoofdstuk 3.2).

In hoofdstuk 3.3 hebben we laten zien dat de foetale groeimetingen matig tracken gedurende de zwangerschap, waarbij tracking sterker aanwezig was later in de zwangerschap. Tracking coëfficiënten werden niet sterk beïnvloed door maternale sociaaldemografische factoren en leefstijlfactoren. Eerste, tweede en derde trimester foetale groeimetingen waren geassocieerd met het risico op ongunstige geboorte-uitkomsten. In hoofdstuk 3.4 hebben we aangetoond dat een kleinere foetale grootte in het eerste trimester van de zwangerschap geassocieerd was met een ongunstige verdeling van lichaamsvet, hogere diastolische bloeddruk en een ongunstig cholesterolprofiel op de kinderleeftijd. Eerste trimester foetale groeivertraging was ook geassocieerd met een verhoogd risico op clustering van deze cardiovasculaire risicofactoren op de kinderleeftijd. Deze associaties werden niet verklaard door maternale factoren, geboortefactoren of kindfactoren. Deze bevindingen suggereren dat het eerste trimester een kritieke periode zou kunnen zijn voor cardiovasculaire en metabolische functie op latere leeftijd.

In **hoofdstuk 4** worden de in dit proefschrift beschreven studies in een bredere context beschouwd, en implicaties en suggesties voor toekomstig onderzoek besproken.

Concluderend suggereren de bevindingen van dit proefschrift dat maternale, placentale en foetale factoren geassocieerd zijn met cardiovasculaire gezondheidsuitkomsten in moeder en kind. Hoewel de waargenomen associaties relatief van kleine grootte zijn, zijn ze mogelijk belangrijk voor het verklaren van hart- en vaatziekten op populatieniveau. Op basis van onze bevindingen, blijkt de vroege zwangerschap een kritieke periode voor gezondheidsuitkomsten van zwangere vrouwen en hun kinderen te zijn. Preventieve strategieën moeten zich daarom ook richten op het verbeteren van de maternale gezondheidsstatus in de preconceptionele periode en in het begin van de zwangerschap om maternale zwangerschapsuitkomsten en de cardiovasculaire gezondheid van kinderen te verbeteren.

## Chapter 6

Authors' affiliations Publication list About the author PhD portfolio Dankwoord

## Authors' affiliations

*Department of Biostatistics, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, The Netherlands* LR Arends, SP Willemsen

Department of Epidemiology, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, The Netherlands R Bakker, B Durmuş, JF Felix, OH Franco, R Gaillard, O Gisthi, A Hofman, VWV Jaddoe, LL de Jonge, AA Rurangirwa

Department of Epidemiology, Harvard School of Public Health, Boston, USA MA Williams

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, The Netherlands EAP Steegers

Department of Pediatrics, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, The Netherlands L Duijts, B Durmuş, R Gaillard, O Gisthi, VWV Jaddoe, LL de Jonge, JC de Jongste, AA Rurangirwa

Department of Public Health, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, The Netherlands JP Mackenbach

Institute of Psychology, Erasmus University Rotterdam, Rotterdam, The Netherlands LR Arends

*The Generation R Study Group, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, The Netherlands* R Bakker, B Durmuş, R Gaillard, O Gisthi, VWV Jaddoe, LL de Jonge, AA Rurangirwa

## **Publication list**

#### First author

- Gaillard R, Steegers EA, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Associations of maternal obesity with blood pressure and the risks of gestational hypertensive disorders. The Generation R Study. *J Hypertens*. 2011;29(5):937-44.
- Gaillard R, Bakker R, Steegers EA, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Maternal age during pregnancy is associated with third trimester blood pressure level: the Generation R study. *Am J Hypertens*. 2011;24(9):1046-53.
- 3. **Gaillard R**, Bakker R, Willemsen SP, Hofman A, Steegers EA, Jaddoe VW. Blood pressure tracking during pregnancy and the risk of gestational hypertensive disorders: the Generation R Study. *Eur Heart J*. 2011;32(24):3088-97.
- 4. **Gaillard R**, de Ridder MA, Verburg BO, Witteman JC, Mackenbach JP, Moll HA, Hofman A, Steegers EA, Jaddoe VW. Individually customised fetal weight charts derived from ultrasound measurements: the Generation R Study. *Eur J Epidemiol*. 2011;26(12):919-26.
- Gaillard R, Arends LR, Steegers EA, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Second- and third-trimester placental hemodynamics and the risks of pregnancy complications: The Generation R Study. Am J Epidemiol. 2013;177(8):743-54.
- Gaillard R, Durmuş B, Hofman A, Mackenbach JP, Steegers EA, Jaddoe VW. Risk factors and outcomes of maternal obesity and excessive weight gain during pregnancy. *Obesity*. 2013;21(5):1046-55.
- 7. **Gaillard R**, Steegers EA, Tiemeier H, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Placental vascular dysfunction, fetal and childhood growth and cardiovascular development: The Generation R Study. *Circulation*. 2013;128(20):2202-10.
- Gaillard R, Steegers EA, Duijts L, Felix JF, Hofman A, Franco OH, Jaddoe VW. Childhood cardiometabolic outcomes of maternal obesity during pregnancy: The Generation R Study. *Hypertension*. 2014:63(4):683-91.
- 9. **Gaillard R**, Eilers PH, Yassine S, Hofman A, Steegers EA, Jaddoe VW. Risk factors and consequences of maternal anaemia and elevated haemoglobin levels during pregnancy: a population-based prospective cohort study. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol.* 2014;28(3):213-26.
- Gaillard R, Steegers EA, De Jongste JC, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Tracking of fetal growth characteristics during different trimesters and the risks of adverse birth outcomes. *Int J Epidemiol.* 2014. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyu036.
- 11. **Gaillard R**, Jaddoe VW. Assessment of fetal growth by customised growth charts. *Ann Nutr Metab.* In press.
- 12. **Gaillard R**, Rurangirwa AA, Williams MA, Hofman A, Mackenbach JP, Franco OH, Steegers EA, Jaddoe VW. Associations of maternal parity with fetal and childhood growth, and cardiometabolic risk factors in childhood. The Generation R Study. *Hypertension*. In press.
- 13. **Gaillard R**, Steegers EA, Hofman A, Franco OH, Jaddoe VW. Maternal weight gain in different periods of pregnancy and childhood cardio-metabolic outcomes. The Generation R Study. *Submitted.*

#### Co-author

- 14. Bouthoorn SH, **Gaillard R**, Steegers EA, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW, van Lenthe FJ, Raat H. Ethnic differences in blood pressure and hypertensive complications during pregnancy: the Generation R study. *Hypertension*. 2012;60(1):198-205.
- Rurangirwa AA, Gaillard R, Steegers EA, Hofman A, Jaddoe VW. Hemodynamic adaptations in different trimesters among nulliparous and multiparous pregnant women; the Generation R study. Am J Hypertens. 2012;25(8):892-9.
- 16. Lewis RM, Demmelmair H, **Gaillard R**, Godfrey KM, Hauguel-de Mouzon S, Huppertz B, Larque E, Saffery R, Symonds ME, Desoye G. The placental exposome: placental determinants of fetal adiposity and postnatal body composition. *Ann Nutr Metab*. 2013;63(3):208-215.
- Leermakers ET, Sonnenschein-van der Voort AM, Gaillard R, Hofman A, de Jongste JC, Jaddoe VW, Duijts L. Maternal weight, gestational weight gain and preschool wheezing. The Generation R Study. *Eur Respir J.* 2013;42(5):1234-43.
- Godoy GA, Korevaar TI, Peeters RP, Hofman A, de Rijke YB, Bongers-Schokking JJ, Tiemeier H, Jaddoe VW, Gaillard R. Maternal thyroid hormones during pregnancy, childhood adiposity and cardiovascular risk factors: the Generation R Study. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*. 2014. doi: 10.1111/ cen.12399.
- 19. Jaddoe VW, de Jonge LL, Hofman A, Franco OH, Steegers EA, **Gaillard R**. First-trimester fetal growth restriction and cardiovascular risk factors in childhood. *BMJ*. 2014;348:g14.
- Durmuş B, Heppe DH, Taal HR, Manniesing R, Raat H, Steegers EA, Hofman A, Gaillard R, Jaddoe VW. Parental smoking during pregnancy, body fat distribution and cardio-metabolic risk factors in school-age children. The Generation R Study. *Int J Obes. 2014.* doi: 10.1038/ ijo.2014.9.
- 21. Tromp II, **Gaillard R**, Kiefte-de Jong JC, Steegers EA, Jaddoe VW, Duijts L, Hofman A, de Jongste JC, Moll HA. Maternal hemoglobin levels during pregnancy and asthma in childhood: The Generation R Study. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2014; 112(3):263-5.
- Durmuş B, Heppe DH, Gishti O, Manniesing R, Abrahamse-Berkeveld M, van der Beek EM, Hofman A, Duijts L, Gaillard R, Jaddoe VW. Total and abdominal fat outcomes in school-age children associated with infant breastfeeding patterns. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2014. doi: 10.3945/ ajcn.113.075937.
- 23. Gishti O, **Gaillard R**, Manniesing R, Abrahamse-Berkeveld M, van der Beek EM, Heppe DH, Steegers EA, Hofman A, Duijts L, Durmuş B, Jaddoe VW. Fetal and infant growth patterns associated with total and abdominal fat distribution in school-age children. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2014;jc20134345.
- Bouthoorn SH, van Lenthe FJ, Gaillard R, Hofman A, Steegers EA, Jaddoe VW, Raat H. Socioeconomic inequalities in placental vascular resistance: a prospective cohort study. *Fertil Steril*. 2014. pii: S0015-0282(14)00139-3.
- Bakker H, Gaillard R, Franco OH, Hofman A, van der Heiden AJ, Steegers EA, Taal HR, Jaddoe VW. Fetal and infant growth patterns and kidney function at school age. J Am Soc Nephrol. In press.
- 26. Gishti O, **Gaillard R**, Durmuş B, Hofman A, Duijts L, Franco OH, Jaddoe VW. Infant diet and metabolic outcomes in school-age children. The Generation R Study. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* In press.

## About the author

Romy Gaillard was born March 13<sup>th</sup> 1988 in Schiedam, The Netherlands. She graduated from secondary school (gymnasium) at the Groen van Prinsterer Lyceum in Vlaardingen in 2006. In the same year, she started her medical education at the Erasmus University, Rotterdam, The Netherlands. During the second year of her medical education, she was invited to participate in the Master of Science program Health Sciences, specialisation Clinical Epidemiology, at the Netherlands Institute for Health Sciences. As part of the Master of Science program, she participated in a summer course at the Harvard School of Public Health, Boston, MA, USA. In 2010, she obtained her 'doctoral' degree in medicine cum laude, and started her Master of Science research project at the department of Epidemiology, within the Generation R Study. In 2011, she received her Master of Science degree in Clinical Epidemiology and expanded her research project in her current PhD-project entitled 'Cardiovascular health in pregnant women and their children' under supervision of Prof. dr. V.W.V. Jaddoe (Departments of Epidemiology and Pediatrics) and Prof. dr. E.A.P. Steegers (Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology). The results of this work are presented in this dissertation. During her PhD-project, she received a grant from the EarlyNutrition Brain Mobility program enabling her to work as a research fellow at the department of Epidemiology and Project Viva at the Harvard School of Public Health, Boston, MA, USA under supervision of Prof. M.A. Williams and Prof. dr. M.W. Gillman, respectively. From September 2014 onwards, she will work as a research fellow at the Raine Study, Perth, Australia (under supervision of dr. R.C. Huang) for a period of two months, after which she will start her medical internships. She expects to graduate as a medical doctor in 2016.

## PhD Portfolio

#### Summary PhD training and teaching activities

Name PhD student:	Romy Gaillard
Erasmus MC Department:	Epidemiology
Research School:	Netherlands Institute for Health Sciences
PhD period:	May 2011 - June 2014
Promotors:	Prof. dr. V.W.V. Jaddoe, Prof. dr. E.A.P. Steegers

#### 1. PhD training

	Year	Workload (ECTS)
General courses		
Master's degree Health Sciences, specialization Clinical Epidemiology, NIHES, Erasmus University Rotterdam, the Netherlands	2008-2011	-
Principles of Research in Medicine and Epidemiology		0.7
Introduction to Data-analysis		1.0
Regression Analysis		1.9
Methods of Clinical Research		0.7
Clinical Trials		0.7
Topics in Meta-analysis		0.7
Survival Analysis		1.9
Case-control Studies		0.7
Study Design		4.3
Introduction to Public Health		0.7
Methods of Health Services Research		0.7
Introduction to Decision-making in Medicine		0.7
Topics in Health and Diseases in the Elderly		0.7
Advanced courses		
Missing values in Clinical Research		0.7
Courses for the Quantitative Researcher		1.4
Analysis of Growth Data		0.6
Introduction to Clinical Research		0.9
Advanced Topics in Decision-making in Medicine		1.9
Pharmaco-epidemiology and Drug Safety		1.9
Intervention Research and Clinical Trials		0.9
Diagnostic Research		1.9
Advanced Topics in Clinical Trials		1.9
Advanced Analysis of Prognosis Studies		0.9
Prognosis Research		0.9
Principles and Epidemiologic Data-analysis		0.9
Planning and Evaluation of Screening		1.4
Summer Programme at Harvard School of Public Health, Boston, USA	2010	4.0
General academic skills		
Scientific Writing in English for Publication, Erasmus MC, the Netherlands		2.0
Instellingsgebonden regelgeving en stralingshygiëne niveau 5R, Frasmus MC, the Netherlands	2011	0.7

	Year	Workload (ECTS)
Seminars and workshops		
Dag voor de jonge onderzoeker, NVK, Veldhoven, the Netherlands	2011	0.5
Invitational Conference 'Opsporing van foetale groeivertraging' KNOV, Utrecht, the Netherlands	2012	0.5
Generation R research meetings, Erasmus MC, The Netherlands	2011-2012	1.0
Seminars at the department of Epidemiology, Erasmus MC, The Netherlands	2011-2012	1.0
Seminars at the department of Epidemiology, Harvard School of Public Health, Boston, USA	2013-2014	1.0
Stress and Health Disparities Symposium, Harvard Catalists, Harvard School of Public Health, Boston, USA	2013	0.5
1 <sup>st</sup> Asia Working Group on Growth, Danone, Singapore	2013	0.2
(Inter)national congresses and presentations		
Invited speaker		
Child Growth Trajectory Workshop, Munich, Germany. Oral presentation	2013	1.4
19e Nederlands/Vlaams Doelencongres Infertiliteit, Gynaecologie en	2013	1.4
Obstetrie, Rotterdam, The Netherlands. Oral presentation	2014	1.4
Power of programming, Munich, Germany. Oral presentation	2014	1.4
Other		
Conference of Epidemiological Studies in Europe, Paphos, Cyprus. Oral presentation	2010	1.4
Early Genetics Consortium Meeting, London, United Kingdom. Oral presentation	2012	0.7
Early Nutrition Project. Research Workshop on Assessing Early Growth and Adiposity, Obergurgl, Austria. <i>Oral presentation</i>	2012	1.4
Werkgroep Epidemiologie Nederland, Rotterdam, the Netherlands. Oral presentation	2012	1.4
XVIII ISSHP World Congress, Geneva, Switzerland. Oral and poster presentation	2012	1.4
Early Nutrition Project. Placenta Research Workshop, Seggau, Austria. Oral presentation	2012	1.4
Generation R Research Meeting, Erasmus MC, the Netherlands.	2012	1.0
Developmental Origins of Health and Disease (DOHaD), Rotterdam,	2012	1.4
the Netherlands. Oral presentation		
3 <sup>ra</sup> Biannual Early Nutrition meeting, Copenhagen, Denmark.	2013	0.7
Poster presentation		
Sophia onderzoekersdag, Rotterdam, the Netherlands. Poster presentation	2013	0.7
Developmental Origins of Health and Disease (DOHaD), Singapore.	2013	0.7
rusier presentation Farly Nutrition Project Anthronometry and Rody Composition Workshop	2013	1 /
Amsterdam, the Netherlands. Oral presentation	2012	1.4
Nutrition and Growth Conference, Barcelona, Spain.	2014	1.4
Oral and poster presentation		

	Year	Workload (ECTS)
International research projects		
International research project at Harvard School of Public Health, Boston, USA Manuscript: Maternal inflammation during pregnancy and childhood adiposity & Maternal parity and birth outcomes. A sibling-comparison study.	2013-2014	
Scholarships and grants		
Early Nutrition Brain Mobility Grant, €42.000 Vereniging Trustfonds Erasmus Universiteit Rotterdam, several travel grants	2013 2010-2013	
Other		
Reviewed articles for Plos One, Am J Hypert, Eur J Epidemiol, Hypertension METC application for 'Generation R Focus at 9 visit' Participation in organizing DOHaD conference, Rotterdam, the Netherlands		
2. Teaching		
Supervising Master's and Bachelor's theses		
Akashi A. Rurangirwa, Clinical Epidemiology, Nihes, the Netherlands. Project title: Hemodynamic adaptations in different trimesters among nullipa- rous and multiparous pregnant women & Associations of maternal parity with fetal and childhood growth, and cardio-metabolic risk factors	2011-2012	4.0
Siham Yassine, Medical student, Erasmus MC, the Netherlands. Project title: Risk factors and consequences of maternal anaemia and elevated haemoglo- bin levels during pregnancy	2012	2.0
Guilherme A.F. Godoy, Medical student, Federal University of Minas Gerais, Brazil. Project title: <i>Maternal thyroid hormones during pregnancy, childhood</i> <i>adiposity and cardiovascular risk factors</i>	2013	2.0
Olta Gishti, Clinical Epidemiology, Nihes, the Netherlands. Project title: <i>Body</i> mass index, total and abdominal body fat distribution and cardiovascular risk factors in school-age children	2013	2.0
Fernanda M. Collares, Medical student, Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil. Project title: <i>Maternal thyroid hormones, obesity and weight gain</i> <i>during pregnancy</i>	2014	2.0
Aleksandra Jelena, Medical student, University of Belgrade, Serbia. Project title: Maternal fatty acids during pregnancy and childhood blood pressure	2014	2.0
Sunayna Bahadoer, Student Health Sciences, VU, The Netherlands. Project title: <i>Ethnic differences in maternal obesity during pregnancy</i>	2014	2.0

DANKWOORD

### Dankwoord

Zittend in the Green Tea in Boston, met mijn boekje bij de drukker, is dan eindelijk het moment daar om mijn dankwoord te schrijven. Het laatste hoofdstuk van mijn proefschrift voelt ook als het meest bijzondere hoofdstuk om te schrijven. De afgelopen jaren zijn een ontzettend leuke en leerzame tijd geweest, die ik absoluut niet had willen missen. Nu deze periode is afgerond, wil ik hier dan ook graag iedereen hartelijk bedanken die heeft bijgedragen aan dit proefschrift.

Als eerste wil ik natuurlijk alle Generation R deelnemertjes en hun ouders hartelijk bedanken voor het deelnemen aan dit onderzoek. Zonder jullie inzet en betrokkenheid zouden er geen data verzameld kunnen worden en zou er geen Generation R zijn. Veel dank ook aan de ouders, die ons tijdens onze huisbezoeken op zulke onverwachte tijdstippen zo gastvrij ontvingen, en wederom bereid waren mee te doen aan Generation R.

In het bijzonder wil ik mijn promotoren bedanken, Prof.dr. Jaddoe en Prof.dr. Steegers. Beste Vincent, toen ik 4 jaar geleden bij jou als jonge student begon aan mijn masterstage, had ik geen idee dat dit uiteindelijk zou uitmonden in dit proefschrift. Bedankt voor alle mogelijkheden die ik heb gekregen binnen Generation R en de fijne begeleiding. De afgelopen jaren heb je me enorm geënthousiasmeerd voor wetenschappelijk onderzoek. Je betrokkenheid, kritische en snelle commentaar op papers, de ideeën voor papers die vaak al op tafel lagen, terwijl andere nog niet eens waren uitgewerkt, hebben er toe geleid dat ik met veel plezier heb gewerkt aan dit proefschrift en hier ook ontzettend veel van heb geleerd. Al weet je denk ik al, dat ik dit hier niet kan schrijven, zonder er toch ook iets bij te zeggen over de 'klusjes', die op de een of andere manier vaak weer mijn kant op kwamen. Hiervan zei jij dan altijd dat 'dit absoluut niet veel werk was', en tja, laten we het er maar op houden dat dit toch enigszins een understatement was. Ontzettend bedankt voor de fijne samenwerking de afgelopen jaren, en ik hoop zeker dat we dit in toekomst kunnen voortzetten. Beste Eric, ook u wil ik heel hartelijk bedanken voor de betrokkenheid bij mijn promotietraject. Bedankt voor uw enthousiasme voor het onderzoek en het waardevolle en duidelijke commentaar vanuit gynaecologisch perspectief, op zowel de manuscripten als tijdens alle G&O overleggen.

Beste Prof.dr. Hofman, dank voor uw bereidheid zitting te nemen in de kleine commissie en het secretarisschap op u te nemen. Beste Prof.dr. Reiss, dank u voor het plaatsnemen in de kleine commissie en het beoordelen van het proefschrift. Prof.dr. Franco, Prof.dr. Rings, Prof.dr. Roseboom, hartelijk dank voor uw bereidheid mijn proefschrift door te nemen en voor het plaatsnemen in de grote commissie. Prof. Lawlor, thank you for taking part in the PhD-committee.

A special word of thanks to Prof. Michelle Williams and Prof.dr. Matthew Gillman; Dear Michelle, thank you very much for the opportunity to work at the department of Epidemiology of the Harvard School of Public Health. Also, thank you for taking part in the small committee and evaluating my thesis. Dear Matt, I would like to thank you very much for the opportunity to work at Project Viva, and for the opportunity to write a manuscript with Project Viva data. My stay in Boston was one of the highlights of my Phd-period. It has been a great learning experience and an inspiring period.

Ik wil graag alle co-auteurs bedanken voor hun input op de manuscripten de afgelopen jaren. Lidia Arends, Maria de Ridder en Paul Eilers, bedankt voor de altijd snelle hulp bij mijn statistische vragen. Kamran Ikram, bedankt voor de hulp bij de retinafoto's, jammer dat het niet op tijd klaar was.

Dan alle lieve collega's met wie ik afgelopen jaren heb doorgebracht bij Generation R. Inmiddels ben ik al weer zolang bij Generation R dat het er iets teveel zijn geworden om iedereen hier

persoonlijk op te noemen. Bedankt voor alle gezelligheid op de afdeling, de koffietjes, borrels, gezellige congressen en de vriendschappen die er zijn ontstaan. Een aantal collega's wil ik in het bijzonder bedanken; Rachel, bedankt voor de fijne begeleiding toen ik als student bij Generation R begon. Ik kon altijd met al mijn vragen bij jou terecht, en ik heb veel van je geleerd. Jouw begeleiding in die periode is nog steeds een voorbeeld voor mij voor het begeleiden van studenten. Jessica, bedankt voor de gezellige koffiemomentjes en dat ik altijd bij jou terecht kon met onderzoeksvragen of andere dingen. Büşra, dankjewel voor het gezellige diner na je promotie, ik vond het erg leuk om hier bij te zijn! Jammer dat we maar zo kort tegelijk bij Generation R waren. Rob en Janine, bedankt voor de genetische hulp. Irene, I wonder how big the (statistical) probability is of running into a colleague in Toronto...Thanks for the fun evenings in Boston. Agnes, Ilse en Marjolein, in mijn eerste jaar waren wij de 'vaste kamerbewoners' van de flexplek. Agnes, bureaumaatje op de flexplek, we zijn met zijn tweeën bij Generation R begonnen, en we hebben dat jaar daar alle 'eerste onderzoeksdingen' samen gedaan. Dankjewel dat ik als paranimf bij je mocht staan tijdens jouw promotie! Ilse, bedankt voor de gezelligheid en alle mental support tijdens mijn promotietraject. Ik hoop dat we dit ook tijdens onze co-schappen kunnen volhouden. Succes met het afronden van jouw promotietraject! Marjolein, bedankt voor de gezellige huisbezoekavonden en alle koffietjes samen ook met Selma. Edith en Denise, na het jaartje op de flexplek, kwam ik bij jullie op de eerste echte promovendi-kamer. Dank jullie wel voor de fijne sfeer en gezelligheid op de kamer, het was fijn om bij jullie op de kamer te komen. Denise, toen we later nog met zijn tweetjes op de kamer overbleven, kletsten we misschien af en toe ietsje te veel...? Dankjewel voor de gezellige tijd en dat we het echt altijd over van alles op onze kamer konden hebben. Heel veel succes met de laatste loodjes van je promotietraject, ik kijk uit naar jouw mooie proefschrift! Ralf, in deze periode leek het soms alsof ook jij tot onze kamergenoten behoorde, zo vaak was je op onze kamer. Bedankt voor alle gezellige uurtjes die we al kletsend (of roddelend zoals jij het noemde in jouw proefschrift) met zijn drieën hebben doorgebracht. Ik hoop dat we binnenkort eindelijk echt weer eens kunnen koffie drinken. Gerard, Hanneke en Michelle, ook jullie bedankt voor de gezellige tijd op de kamer, waarbij we hard konden werken en ook altijd even tijd hadden voor kletspraatjes (of een soort van klaagmomentje, Hanneke). Zoe en later ook Tim, bedankt dat ik altijd mocht binnenvallen als kamergenoot het afgelopen jaar als ik weer eens in Nederland was. Rob, Denise, Edith, Layla en Agnes, bedankt voor de gezellige week op Cyprus (mijn eerste congres behoort nog steeds tot een van de leukste congresweekjes!) Martijn, Marjolein en Olta, ons congresweekje in Singapore in het '... hotel' met kakkerlakken, ons 'bounty huis' vol met mieren en ons 'bounty strand' naast de vuilnisbelt, het was een ervaring die ik zeker niet snel meer zal vergeten! Bedankt voor deze gezellige week. Trudy, Lisan en Olta, bedankt voor de gezellige (tapas)avondjes in Barcelona.

Ik wil hier ook graag alle studenten bedanken met wie ik de afgelopen jaren heb samengewerkt: Akashi, Siham, Guilherme (thanks for your hard work from Brazil to finish the revision on time!), Olta, Fernanda, Aleksandra en Sunayna. Bedankt voor jullie enthousiasme voor het onderzoek, de fijne samenwerking en de mooie artikelen die ik met jullie heb mogen schrijven! I especially would like to thank Akashi and Olta; Dear Akashi, in the beginning we had to get used to some cultural differences, but I really enjoyed working together during your stay in the Netherlands. Thank you for the nice conversations we have had, also on non-research related topics and your Rwandan gifts, which are still kept in my kitchen. Good luck with your PhD-thesis, I am looking forward to reading your articles on Pubmed. I wish you all the best for the future! Dear Olta, while working with you, I sometimes felt like I was constantly running behind, as you work faster on papers and revisions and respond faster to email than anyone I have worked with before. It has been very nice working with you and I am looking forward to all of your next articles (on retina finally!) and of course your PhD thesis! Dankjewel!

Ook alle onderzoeksmedewerkers, huisbezoekers en bureaumedewerkers van Generation R wil ik heel hartelijk bedanken: zonder jullie zou al deze dataverzameling binnen Generation R niet mogelijk zijn! Alle collega's van focus, bedankt voor jullie inzet en enthousiasme dag in, dag uit, op het onderzoekscentrum, en natuurlijk voor de gezellige tijd die ik daar met jullie gehad heb! Yvonne, dankjewel voor je enorme hartelijkheid op focus en de etentjes. Rebecca en Sonja, bedankt voor de hulp met de huisbezoeken en de gezellige kletsmomentjes. Dolinda, bedankt voor alle retinafoto's die je hebt gescoord. Clau, ik heb veel bewondering voor alle energie die jij al jaren in Generation R steekt, soms zelfs een beetje ten koste van jezelf. Ontzettend bedankt voor alle data die je altijd zo super snel aanleverde en de hulp met de huisbezoeken, maar vooral voor de gezellige etentjes, kletsuurtjes in het AE-gebouw en je lieve 'mental support' aan het einde van mijn promotietraject! Patricia, bedankt voor je geduld met de huisbezoeken, je altijd snelle hulp met van alles, ook terwijl ik in Boston zat, en natuurlijk het even kletsen op het secretariaat. Ronald, bedankt voor je interesse in mijn promotietraject, je relaxedheid als ik soms wat gestrest was..., de visjes op vrijdag (en het wielrennen), de gezellige metroritjes naar Schiedam en alle gezellige borrels. Natalia, erg jammer dat ik niet meer even bij je kan binnenlopen voor een theetje en kletspraatje, dankjewel voor je betrokkenheid de afgelopen jaren.

My Boston colleagues; Dear Grape team, thank you very much for the warm welcome at the Harvard School of Public Health! Bizu, thank you for the help with the logistics and your day to day interest in my projects, Adaeze, thank you for your endless patience while helping me with my computer, and for taking me to all the ('food-related') seminars, Xiaoli, thank you for the Chinese luck nod, it is hanging on my door, and I am hoping it will bring me some luck during my defense, Yasmin, thanks for the fun Italian/Brazilian bbq afternoon and good luck with the exams, Qiuyue, good luck with your PhD-thesis, and of course Miguel Angel, thank you for all the nice coffees and lunches, for not selling my stuff on Ebay..., and for all your help with any statistical question I had. I learned a lot about statistics from you. I wish you all, all the best for future! Dear Project Viva team, thank you for the nice time I had at Project Viva. Sheryl, thank you for all the analyses you did for the papers, and it was great to see Alec's performance. Wei, thanks for the stroop cookies, and all the fun things we did in Boston. All the best in Michigan!

Uiteraard wil ik hier ook graag mijn paranimfen bedanken; Lieve Selma, vanaf het begin dat je bij Generation R kwam trok ik graag met je op door je altijd aanwezige optimisme en nuchtere kijk op alles. Bedankt voor de leuke papers die we samen hebben geschreven, de koffietjes op werk, het gezellige congres in Genève (waar ik ook heb geleerd dat je nooit wraps moet kopen op het vliegveld van Genève...) en onze tijd in Boston. Ik ben ontzettend blij dat we uiteindelijk samen naar Boston zijn gegaan (ook al hebben we hierdoor dan misschien een beursje misgelopen). Het waren met afstand mijn leukste maanden in Boston! Ik hoop dat we straks eindelijk tijd hebben om de foto's uit te wisselen en cookies te eten! Lieve Lisan, ik leerde je kennen door alle avondhuisbezoeken die we deden. Bedankt voor deze gezellige avonden in de auto (en dat je bij me in de auto durfde te stappen terwijl ik ongeveer een dag mijn rijbewijs had), al het behang afkrabben in mijn nieuwe huis (al waren wij iets beter in ijs eten dan behang afkrabben), en alle onderzoeks- en niet-onderzoeksgerelateerde kletsende uurtjes die we hebben doorgebracht. Ik waardeer je altijd kritische blik, eerlijkheid en sterke mening over ongeveer alle gespreksonderwerpen die we gehad hebben (en oké, soms heet dit toch ook wel gewoon eigenwijs). Ik hoop dat we straks weer tijd hebben om te borrelen! Meiden, ontzettend bedankt voor de hulp in de laatste fase van mijn promotietraject en ik vind het heel fijn dat jullie bij mij staan tijdens mijn verdediging.

Tot slot wil ik natuurlijk graag vrienden en familie hartelijk bedanken voor de interesse afgelopen jaren in mijn onderzoek, en voor alle gezellige dingen buiten het promotietraject om! Denise, bedankt voor de gezellige tijd in de collegebanken en de mooie reizen die we gemaakt hebben. Ik vond het ontzettend leuk en een eer om jouw paranimf te zijn bij jouw promotie! Lisette, vanaf het eerste jaar van geneeskunde trokken we samen op. Bedankt voor de gezellige tijd en alle gezellige borrelavondjes, ik hoop dat er nog veel zullen volgen. Anna, bedankt voor de hulp met de borrellocatie, ik hoop dat ik je straks als buurvrouw weer wat vaker tegenkom. Lieve Jo, al vanaf het begin van de middelbare school gaan we met elkaar om, en al zien we elkaar tegenwoordig minder vaak dan vroeger, het is altijd als van ouds. Ik ben heel blij dat wij er altijd voor elkaar zijn om de bijzondere momenten (gelukkig zijn jij en Casper niet helemaal in het geheim getrouwd...!) en soms ook minder leuke momenten te delen. Ik hoop dat dit nog heel lang zo zal blijven! Ik ben weer thuis en heb eindelijk tijd om naar jullie nieuwe huis te komen kijken en voor alle andere dingen die we nog zouden gaan doen.

Lieve Linda, mijn 'kleine zusje' en eigenlijk ook mijn derde, altijd positieve paranimf, ontzettend bedankt voor alle hulp de afgelopen jaren als ik weer eens ruzie had met een lijntje in een van mijn figuren, maar vooral voor je betrokkenheid in deze periode en al je hulp afgelopen maanden met de lay-out van mijn boekje. Zonder jouw hulp had ik nu nog steeds vastgezeten bij Figure 1.1. Na lang twijfelen heb je er toch voor gekozen geneeskunde te gaan studeren in plaats van Engels, maar ik vind het erg leuk dat er toch nog een klein beetje van jouw passie voor Engels in mijn boekje terugkomt. Ik ben echt trots op alles wat je tot nu toe hebt gedaan, en ik ben heel benieuwd naar wat je in de toekomst nog allemaal zult gaan doen! Lieve papa en mama, bedankt voor al jullie steun, hulp en liefde afgelopen jaren en dat jullie altijd bij alles voor mij klaar staan. Ik vind het heel erg leuk dat jullie vorig jaar mee zijn geweest naar Boston, en dat jullie hebben kunnen zien waar ik afgelopen tijd heb doorgebracht. Sorry voor de hectiek die ik afgelopen jaar meebracht als ik vanuit Boston weer even naar huis kwam (om vervolgens bijna direct weer door te vliegen naar een andere bestemming), maar mijn boekje is nu eindelijk klaar hoor... Dank jullie wel dat jullie er altijd voor mij en Linda zijn!

Inmiddels staan er 3 lege koffiebekers op tafel en schijnt dan toch ook eindelijk in Boston de zon....Ook mijn dankwoord is klaar....

The Road goes ever on and on Down from the door where it began. Now far ahead the Road has gone, And I must follow, if I can, Pursuing it with eager feet, Until it joins some larger way Where many paths and errands meet. And whither then? I cannot say.

J.R.R. Tolkien

~

